
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Board of Commissioners Commissioner Lee Hearn


Discussion on how the Board wishes to proceed in its efforts to hire a new County Administrator.


County Administrator Jack Krakeel recently announced that he will be retiring from Fayette County on June 30. The Board of 


Commissioners needs to have a discussion on how and when to proceed with the process of finding a replacement for that position.


Discussion. If the Board reaches a consensus on how to proceed, direction can be given.


Some funds may be needed for advertising costs, expenses related to interviewing candidates, consultant fees, etc. which can only be 


known once the Board determines how to proceed with the process. Such funds can come from the county's reserve funds. 


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of the Water System's request to authorize the Chairman to sign a Release for Construction Agreement, an Underground 


Distribution Construction Agreement, and an Easement Agreement between Fayette County and Georgia Power for electrical service to 


be supplied to the Lake McIntosh Raw Water Pump Station, contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


The Lake McIntosh Raw Water Pump Station requires electrical service to be installed.  Georgia Power requires that three documents, 


namely, a Release for Construction Agreement, an Underground Distribution Construction Agreement, and an Easement Agreement be 


signed by the Chairman of Fayette County in order for begin the work of installing the electrical service.


Approval of the Water System's request to authorize the Chairman to sign a Release for Construction Agreement, an Underground 


Distribution Construction Agreement, and an Easement Agreement between Fayette County and Georgia Power for electrical service to 


be supplied to the Lake McIntosh Raw Water Pump Station, contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012

















































		Water- Lake McIntosh Easement Agenda Request File.pdf

		Water- Lake McIntosh Easement Backup

		Backup Lake Mc1 easement

		Backup Lake Mc2 easement

		Backup Lake Mc3 easement








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Resolution 2012-11 approving proposed amendments to the Fayette County Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Element, 


and Future Land Use Map and Narrative by providing for the consideration of rezoning an Illegal Nonconforming Lot to a Legal 


Nonconforming Lot Status (LNS) sub-category of the same zoning district based on certain factors.


Fayette County currently requires that illegal conforming lots be brought into zoning compliance before building permits for principal or 


accessory structures can be issues.  In many cases, this requires the lot to be rezoned to a zoning district that it can comply with in terms 


of lot size, lot width, etc.  A problem arises when a rezoning request does not comply with the Future Land Use Plan.  The proposed 


amendments were presented at the Board of Commissioners Workshops held on October 5, 2011 and January 4, 2012.  With the 


pending adoption of proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance regarding the consideration of rezoning an Illegal Nonconforming 


Lot to a Legal Nonconforming Status (LNS) sub-category of the same zoning district, an amendment to the Land Use Element, Future 


Land Use Map and Narrative is required in order to not nullify the Land Use Plan.  At the Board of Commissioner's Workshop held on 


April 4, 2012, staff was given permission to advertise the proposed amendments for May 2012.


Adoption of Resolution 2012-11 approving proposed amendments to the Fayette County Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Element, and 


Future Land Use Map and Narrative by providing for the consideration of rezoning an Illegal Nonconforming Lot to a Legal 


Nonconforming Lot Status (LNS) sub-category of the same zoning district based on certain factors.


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, April 4, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, May 24, 2012

























		Planning and Zoning- Comprehe...ement Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Comprehensive Plan Land Use Element Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also 


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Consideration of staff's recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to develop the specification package and to issue bids for the 
replacement of the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) System at a cost of $12,900.


The SCADA System provides a system-wide ability for the water plants, distribution centers, water plant operators and other Water 
System staff and equipment to work together as a unit.  As an example, the SCADA allows plant operator to look at different screens that 
indicate water levels in tanks, that show what is occurring at the plant, and allows one plant can see what the other plant is pumping. 
 
Fayette County's current SCADA System was installed in 1986, but since that time technology has changed.  Specifically, the radio 
frequency used by the SCADA System needs to be upgraded because the Federal Communication Commission (FCC) has discontinued 
the use of the older frequencies.   
 
The estimated cost for upgrading the SCADA System is approximately $200,000.  The Water System would transition from using analog 
equipment to using digital equipment, would replace all remote telemetry units, and would upgrade the equipment at each water plant 
which would include including replacing the antennas.   
 
This request was voted upon at the May 10, 2012 Board of Commissioners' meeting resulting in a 2-2-0 vote meaning no action was 
taken.  Chairman Frady was not present for that meeting or vote.


Approval of staff's recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to develop the specification package and to issue bids for the replacement 
of the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) System at a cost of $12,900.


Funds are available in the Renewal and Extension Fund.  Mallett Consulting's Design Fee for this request if $12,900.00


Yes May 2, 2012, May 10, 2012


No


Yes


No


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Staff respectfully requests that this item be reconsidered by the full Board of Commissioners.


Old BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Dennis Dutton


Consideration of Ordinance Number 2012-09 approving proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 20, 


Zoning Ordinance regarding Articles 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 11.


On December 9, 2010, the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance was adopted, in its entirety, at which time it became Chapter 20 of the 


Fayette County Code of Ordinances.  Since that time, staff has continued reviewing the Zoning Ordinance and numerous "housekeeping" 


adjustments to the Zoning Ordinance have been made.  Furthermore, staff has continued to identify other areas that need attention.  This 


request includes a number of proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance, including significant changes to the regulations for 


Telecommunications Towers and Antennas. 


 


  At the April 4, 2012 Workshop, the Board authorized staff to advertise the proposed amendments for a Public Hearing to be held by the 


Planning Commission on May 3, 2012 and by the Board of Commissioners on May 24, 2012.   


 


Adoption of Ordinance Number 2012-09 approving proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 20 


regarding Articles 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 11.


N/A


Yes Friday, May 4, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


The Planning Commission unanimously (5-0) recommended approval, INCLUDING THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS REGARDING A 


SMOKING LOUNGE.  A "strike through" or edited version of Ordinance 2012-09 is available upon request.


Public HearingThursday, May 24, 2012







 


 


1


STATE OF GEORGIA 


COUNTY OF FAYETTE 


 


 ORDINANCE NO.  2012 – 09 


 


AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE FAYETTE COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 20. 
ZONING ORDINANCE (2010), AS AMENDED, SPECIFICALLY ARTICLE III.  DEFINITIONS; 
ARTICLE IV.  ESTABLISHMENT OF DISTRICTS; ARTICLE V.  GENERAL PROVISIONS; ARTICLE 
VI.  DISTRICT USE REQUIREMENTS; ARTICLE VII. CONDITIONAL USES, NONCONFORMANCES, 
TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR OVERLAY ZONE, AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS; ARTICLE IX.  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS; AND ARTICLE XI.  POLICIES, 
PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS GOVERNING AMENDMENTS; TO PROVIDE FOR 
SEVERABILITY; TO REPEAL CONFLICTING LAWS, ORDINANCES, AND RESOLUTIONS; TO 
PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES ALLOWED BY LAW. 


  


 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority of Fayette County is the Board of 
Commissioners thereof; 
 


 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to amend the provision that provides for the 
regulation of land development as allowed by the State of Georgia; 
 


 WHEREAS, the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Fayette County, Georgia shall be 
improved and protected by adoption and implementation of this Ordinance. 
 


BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF FAYETTE COUNTY AND 


IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED BY AUTHORITY THEREOF: 


 


Section 1.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE III.  DEFINITIONS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, enacting a new 


ARTICLE III.  DEFINITIONS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE III.   DEFINITIONS 
  


Sec. 3-1.  Words and terms not explicitly defined in this Ordinance shall have the meaning given by 
common and ordinary use as defined in Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary.  The word “shall” is 
always mandatory while the word “may” is merely discretionary.   The following specific definitions 
shall apply: 


  
 Accessory.  A use or structure customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal use or structure 


and located on the same lot as such principal use or structure. 
 


Acquisition of Property for a Public Purpose.  The acquisition of property by an entity with the power 
of eminent domain. 


  
 Acre, gross.  A measure of land equal to 43,560 square feet. 
 
 Acre, net.  A gross acre less: street rights-of-way, both public and private; all land located within the 


100 year floodplain; all water/stormwater impoundments; and all lands proposed to be dedicated to a 
governing authority. 


 







 


 


2


 Adult Day Care Facility.  Adult day care facilities shall include any building, or portion thereof, used 
to house four (4) or more adults requiring care, maintenance, and supervision for part of a day. 


 
 Agriculture.  The raising of soil crops, including forestry and landscape planting materials, and/or 


livestock in a customary manner on lots of land at least five (5) acres in size, including all associated 
activities.   


 
Aircraft.  Any machine, whether heavier or lighter than air, used or designated for navigation of, or 
flight in the air. 
 
Aircraft Landing Area.  Areas designed for safe landing and departures, including runways and 
heliports. 
 


 Aircraft Hangar.   A fully enclosed structure with operational doors designed to store aircraft and the 
associated equipment or supplies needed for the operation and maintenance of the aircraft. 
 
Airplane.  A fixed-winged aircraft that is supported in flight by dynamic reaction of the air against its 
wings. 
 


 Alteration.  Any construction or renovation to an existing structure, other than repair. 
 


Amphitheater.  An open-air facility primarily used for entertainment purposes, commonly with tiers of 
seats facing a performance stage. 
 


 Animal.  For the purpose of this ordinance, the word animal shall mean either a domestic dog (canis 
familiaris) or domestic cat (felis catus.)  It shall not include livestock (see Livestock.) The number of 
animals kept shall be limited to three (3).  


   
 Animal, Wild.  This shall include any species or family or breed (including hybrids) of wild animals 


listed by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources (DNR) as being wild per OCGA Title 27, 
Chapter 5 as presently stated and as hereafter amended.  


  
Antenna.  A device used to transmit and/or receive radio-frequency signals, microwave signals, or 
other signals transmitted to or from other antennas.  
  
Apiary.  A place where honeybees and beehives are kept.  (Adopted 07/28/11) 
 
Aquaculture.  The hatching, raising, and breeding of fish and/or aquatic plants for food or fiber. 
 
Artist Studio.  A structure accommodating the practice of the full spectrum of the arts including, but 
not limited to: fine arts, visual arts, and performing arts. 


 
 Athletic Facility.  An area designated for athletic activity. 
  
 Automobile Service Station.  A land use where gasoline, oils, greases, batteries, tires, and general 


automobile accessories may be provided, but where no part of the premises is used for the storage or 
dismantling of wrecked or junked vehicles. 


 
Auxiliary Structure.  A structure which is allowed incidental and secondary to a residence. 


 
 


 







 


 


3


Banquet Hall.  A facility which is rented by individuals or groups to accommodate private functions 
including, but not limited to:  banquets, weddings and/or wedding receptions, anniversaries, and other 
similar celebrations. 


  
 Basement.  That portion of a building that is partially or completely below grade as defined and 


regulated in the International Residential Code. 


  


 Bed and Breakfast.  (see Hotel) 
  


Beehive.  A structure intended for the housing of bees.  (Adopted 07/28/11) 
 
Boat House.  A structure built in or over a waterway to house a boat.  


 
Bona-fide purchaser in good faith.  A person who purchases or acquires, in some other manner, a 
property in good faith, without the knowledge of any illegal non-conformances.    


 
 Breezeway.  A roofed, open-sided or screened passageway connecting two (2) structures, such as a 


house and a garage. 
  
 Buffer.  A portion of a lot which is set aside to provide a separation of uses from abutting lots.  
 
 Building.  Any structure having a roof supported by columns or walls and intended for the shelter, 


housing or enclosure for any person, animal, livestock, process, equipment, goods or property of any 
kind. 


  
 Building Height.  The vertical distance of a building measured from the median height of the basement 


level or crawl space to the midpoint of the highest roof. The midpoint shall be measured from the 
ceiling joist of the highest floor level to the top of the highest roof surface. For structures constructed 
without a basement or crawl space, the measurement will be taken beginning at the ground floor level. 
Architectural features, which are not utilized for habitable space, shall not be included in the 
calculation of building height (see Tower Height.) 


  
 Building Line, Front.  A line running parallel to the street which touches the nearest point of the 


principal structure to the street.   
 
 Building, Principal.  A building in which the principal use of the lot is conducted. 
  
 Cabana/Pool House.  An open, partially, or totally enclosed structure used in conjunction with a pool 


or lake/pond, commonly containing a changing area, and/or seating area, and/or a restroom.   
  
 Campground Facilities.  Any lot where two (2) or more recreational vehicles and/or tents (which are 


normally associated with outdoor camping) are parked and/or erected for short-term occupancy.  
  
 Care Home.  A convalescent center, nursing home, rest home, home for the aged, assisted living 


facility, or similar use established and operated on a profit or non-profit basis to provide lodging 
and/or meals and/or domiciliary care for aged, infirm, chronically ill, or convalescent persons.   


  
 Carport, attached.  A roofed, open-sided motor vehicle shelter, formed by extension of a roof from a 


building in a residential zoning district.   
  
 Carport, detached.  A roofed, open-sided motor vehicle shelter.   
  







 


 


4


 Cemetery.  A burial ground. 
 


Cemetery or Burial Ground, Legal Nonconforming.  An existing cemetery or burial ground 
established before the effective date of November 13, 1980, or subsequent amendments which fail to 
comply with the provisions herein.  These cemeteries or burial grounds could be active, inactive, or 
abandoned. 


  
 Child Care Facility.  An agency, organization, or individual providing care for four (4) or more 


children not related by blood or marriage or not the legal wards of the attendant adult and would 
include those providers that offer pre-primary, Pre-K, and/or kindergarten instruction.  
 


Child Care, In-Home. A custodial care business, conducted as a home occupation in a residential 
dwelling, where not more than three (3) children, not related to the operator, are received for 
temporary care during the day only, whether for compensation, reward, or otherwise, and in full 
compliance with all applicable state requirements and/or certifications. The children of the owner are 
not included in the count. 


  
 Church or other Place of Worship.  A building used for public worship, including, but not limited to: 


temple, synagogue, pagoda, shrine, cathedral, tabernacle, and mosque/masjid.  
 
 Clinic.  An establishment where medical or dental patients are admitted for examination and 


treatment, but where there is no overnight lodging. 
  
 Club or Lodge, Private.  All incorporated or unincorporated associations for civic, social, cultural, 


religious, fraternal, literary, political, recreational, or like activities, operated for the benefit of the 
members and not open to the general public. 
 


Common Area.  Any part of a development that is not part of a building lot and is designated for the 
common usage of the development (see Open Space.)   
 


Convenience Store.  A small retail establishment that offers convenience goods for sale, such as 
prepackaged food items, beverages, tobacco, personal care items, and other household goods. 


  
 County Engineer.  The official to whom the responsibilities normally associated with this title has 


been delegated. 
 


Covered Patio or Covered Deck, detached.  An open or partially enclosed structure consisting of a 
roof with supporting posts/columns commonly containing a seating/dining area, and/or outdoor 
kitchen, and/or spa/hot tub.   
 


Cultural Facility.  A facility for social, intellectual, artistic and/or scientific exposition such as 
museums, performing arts theaters, botanical gardens, and zoological parks. 


  
 Curb Cut.  The point at which vehicular access is provided to a lot from an adjoining street. 
  
 Daylight Hours.  That period of time beginning 30 minutes before sunrise and ending 30 minutes after 


sunset. 
  
 Day Spa.  An establishment offering massage therapy performed by a licensed massage therapist 


pursuant to OCGA 43-24A-1, et seq, that in addition may also offer beauty care, body treatments, and 
the retail sales of related products. 


  







 


 


5


 Density.  The number of dwelling units per net acre. 
  
 Density, High.  High density is defined as more than four (4) dwelling units per net acre. 
  
 Density, Low.   Low density is one (1) dwelling unit or fewer per two (2) net acres. 
  
 Density, Medium.  Medium density is one (1) to three (3) dwelling units per net acre. 


 


Dog Pen/Run.  For the purposes of Article V. Accessory Structures and Uses, a dog pen/run is an 
outside open air enclosure, consisting of 400 square feet or less, used for the purpose of containing 
dogs. 


  
 Drive-In.  A retail or service enterprise wherein service is provided to customers who remain in their 


vehicles. 
  
 Drive-Thru.  An opening in the wall of a building or structure designed and intended to be used to 


provide service to customers who remain in their vehicles. 
  
 Dwelling.  A building or portion of a building, designed for, or occupied for residential purposes 


constituting a residence. 
  
 Dwelling, Multi-Family.  A dwelling designed for three (3) or more families living independently of 


each other. 
  
 Dwelling, Single-Family.  A detached dwelling designed for a single family. 
  
 Dwelling, Townhouse.  One (1) of a series of three (3) or more attached dwelling units on separate lots 


which are separated from each other by party wall partitions extending at least from the lowest floor 
level to the roof. 


  
 Dwelling, Two-Family.  A building containing two (2) single-family dwelling units totally separated 


from each other by an un-pierced wall extending from ground to roof. 
  
 Dwelling Unit.  Any building which contains living facilities, including provisions for sleeping, eating, 


and sanitation for not more than one (1) family. 
 


Educational/Instructional Facility.  A specialized training establishment. 
  
 FAA.  The Federal Aviation Administration. 
  
 Facility.  The area established to serve a particular use or purpose. 
 
 Family.  One (1) or more persons occupying a single dwelling unit, provided that all persons are 


related by blood or marriage, or are lawful wards, and shall also include a group of persons, not 
exceeding four (4), living and cooking together as a single, nonprofit housekeeping unit. The members 
of said group need not be related by blood or marriage or be lawful wards, where said group is 
occupying a single dwelling unit.    


  
 Farm. A lot devoted to the raising of agricultural products and/or livestock. 
  
 FCC.   The Federal Communications Commission. 
  







 


 


6


 Fence.  Structures made of posts, columns, boards, wire, pickets, wrought iron, or rails.   
  
 Financial Institution.  Any trust company, savings bank, industrial bank, savings and loan association, 


building and loan association, commercial bank, credit union, federal association, investment company 
or other business association, which is chartered under federal or state law, solicits, receives or accepts 
money or its equivalent on deposit and loans money as a regular business.  


  
 Floor Area, Accessory Structure.  The sum of the horizontal areas of several floors of the structure 


under roof, excluding any space where the floor-to-ceiling height is less than six (6) feet.  
  
 Floor Area, Principal Structure.  The area of a dwelling exclusive of unheated space shall be 


measured from the face of the exterior walls.  Unheated space shall include, but not be limited to: attic, 
basement, garage, carport, patios, and open porches.  
                                                                                                                                                              


Front Door.  The main entrance to a residence or building which is normally oriented to a street. 
  
 Gazebo.   A freestanding, circular roofed structure open on all sides, but enclosed by a railing, and 


used for outdoor seating in residential zoning districts. 
  


 Governing Authority.  The Fayette County Board of Commissioners. 
 


Grocery Store.  A retail establishment which primarily sells food and household goods, but is 
substantially larger and carries a broader range of merchandise than a convenience store. 
 


Helicopter.  A rotary winged aircraft that depends principally upon the lift generated by one (1) or 
more engine-driven rotors rotating on a substantially vertical axis for its primary means of propulsion. 
 


Heliport.  An area of land, water, or structure used for the sole purpose of landing and takeoff of 
helicopters. 
 


Home Occupation.  An occupation operated within a dwelling by residents of the dwelling. 
  
 Horse Quarters. A structure used to house horses in the residential zoning districts. 


 


Horse Stable.   A structure used to house and/or board horses in an A-R Zoning District. 
  
 Hospital.  Any institution receiving in-patients, providing a staffed 24-hour emergency care facility, 


and authorized under Georgia law to render medical, surgical, and/or obstetrical care.  The term 
"hospital" shall include a sanitarium, with an approved Certificate of Need (CON) from the State 
Health Planning Agency, for the treatment and care of various forms of mental illness, but shall not 
include office facilities for the private practice of medicine, dentistry or psychiatry. 


  
 Hotel. A building in which overnight accommodations are provided to the public and the innkeeper.  


The term "hotel" includes the terms "motel" and “bed and breakfast”. 
  
 Industrialized Building.   Any structure or component thereof which is wholly or in substantial part 


made, fabricated, formed, or assembled in manufacturing facilities for installation on a non-residential 
building site and has been manufactured in such a manner that all parts or processes cannot be 
inspected at the installation site without disassembly, damage to, or destruction thereof. 


  
 







 


 


7


 Junk/Auto Grave Yard.  Property used for outdoor storage, keeping, abandonment, sale or resale of 
junk, including scrap metal, rags, paper or other scrap materials, used lumber, salvaged house 
wrecking and structural steel materials and equipment, or for the dismantling, demolition, or 
abandonment of automobiles or other vehicles or machinery or parts thereof. 
 


Junked Automobile.  (see Vehicle, Abandoned) 
 


Kennel.  Any location where any combination of animals are kept in excess of three (3) shall be 
deemed to be a kennel.  This definition does not include a location where one (1) litter of dogs or cats 
of not more than six (6) months of age are kept.    
 


Kindergarten.  (see School, Private) 
  
 Landscape Areas.  A maintained area of grass and/or ornamental planting materials. 
  
 Livestock.  Animals including, but not limited to:  horses, cattle, goats, sheep, pigs, pot bellied pigs, 


chickens, ducks, geese, mules, rabbits, emu/ostrich, buffalo, chinchilla, fox, mink or other fur-bearing 
animal, and llamas. This term shall be deemed to specifically exclude domestic dogs and domestic 
cats.  


  
 Loading Space.  Space logically and conveniently located for pick-up and delivery service, scaled to 


the vehicles expected to be used, and accessible to such vehicles at all times. 
  
 Lot.  A tract of land of varying size which is designated as a single unit of property. 
  
 Lot, Corner.  A lot located at the intersection of two (2) streets. 
  
 Lot Depth.  The distance between the front and rear lot lines. 
  
 Lot, Interior.  A lot which has frontage on only one (1) street. 
  
 Lot, Landlocked.  A lot of record having no frontage on a street. 
  
 Lot, Through.   A lot, other than a corner lot, having frontage on more than one (1) street. 
  
 Lot Width, Minimum.   The minimum distance between side lot lines either measured in a straight line 


parallel to the street right-of-way or tangent and perpendicular to the mid-point of the right-of-way in 
the case of the turn around portion of a cul-de-sac along the front minimum building line (see graphic.) 







 


 


8


 
  
  
 Lot of Record.  An area designated as a separate and distinct lot of land on a recorded subdivision plat 


approved in accordance with the Fayette County Subdivision Regulations (see County Code), or in a 
legally recorded deed.  
 


 Manufactured Home Park.  Any lot where two (2) or more manufactured homes are installed for 
living purposes, including any land or structure used by occupants of manufactured homes on such 
premises. 
 


Manufactured Home Space.  A plot of ground within a manufactured home park designed to 
accommodate a single manufactured home. 
 


Manufactured Housing.  Manufactured housing means a structure, transportable in one (1) or more 
sections, which, in the traveling mode, is 320 or more square feet and which is built on a permanent 
chassis and is designed to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation when 
connected to the required utilities and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and electrical 
systems contained therein.  For the purposes of this ordinance, the term "mobile home" shall be 
construed to mean "manufactured housing" or "manufactured home." 


  
Massage Therapy.  Massage therapy performed by a licensed massage therapist pursuant to OCGA 
43-24A-1, et seq.  


  
 Mini-storage Facility.   Storage facilities which are leased to the public. 
 


Motel. (see Hotel) 
 







 


 


9


Museum.  A permanent institution in the service of society and of its development, open to the public, 
which acquires, conserves, researches, communicates, and exhibits the tangible and intangible heritage 
of humanity and its environment, for the purpose of education, study, and enjoyment. 


  
 Non-Emergency Medical Transport Service.  A service licensed by the State of Georgia under OCGA 


31-11-1 through 31-11-82 as applicable and as administered by the Department of Human Resources 
providing prearranged non-emergency medical transport.  
 


Nonconformance, Illegal.  A lot, use, building, or structure established after the effective date of 
November 13, 1980, or subsequent amendments which fail to comply with the provisions herein. 
 


Nonconformance, Legal.  A legally existing lot, use, building or structure which fails to comply with 
the provisions herein, as of  the effective date of November 13, 1980, or as the result of subsequent 
amendments, or due to the acquisition of property for a public purpose, a rezoning, or a variance. 


  
 Open Space.  Land within and related to a development, not individually owned or dedicated for 


public use, that is designed and intended for the common use or enjoyment of the residents and their 
guests of the development and may include such complementary structures and improvements as are 
necessary and appropriate (see Common Area.) 
 


Overlay Zone.  A zone that imposes a set of requirements in addition to those set out by the underlying 
zoning district. 
 


Parking Garage/Lot.   A structure, lot or any portion thereof which is open to the public in which one 
(1) or more vehicles are housed or kept, not intending exhibition or showroom or storage or cars for 
sale. 


  
 Parking Space.  An area for off-street motor vehicle parking. 
  
 Pavilion.  A freestanding roofed structure generally supported by poles and open on the sides with a 


permanent foundation that is used for picnic/social gatherings. 
 


Planning Commission.   The commission to which the responsibilities associated with the Planning 
Commission has been delegated. 
 


Playhouse.  A small house-like structure designed for children to play in. 
 
 Pole Barn.  A large structure consisting of a roof supported by poles for the storage of farm products, 


feed, or the housing of farm animals or farm equipment, in agricultural zoning districts. 
 


Pool House.  (see Cabana/Pool House) 
 


Porte Cochere.  An extension of the roof projecting over a driveway at an entrance of a building and 
sheltering those getting in or out of vehicles.  Also called a carriage porch.   


  
 Public Utility Facility.   A location of or for public utilities, such as an electric substation or a location 


where a business organization (as an electric company) performing a public service and subject to 
special governmental regulation and the public service commission.     


  
  







 


 


10


 Public Water Facilities.  Mains and service lines owned and operated by the Fayette County Water 
System, or, when approved by the County Commissioners, a private water system operating under the 
direct supervision of the Department of Natural Resources. 


  
 Recycling Facility.  A facility engaged in the collection, separation, storage and processing (baling, 


compacting, grinding, or shredding) of household and office type recyclable materials only (aluminum 
and tin cans, cardboard, glass containers, magazines, newspaper, paper, plastic containers and 
telephone books) to facilitate the shipment of such materials to an industrial end-user. 
 


Runway Safety Area.  A cleared, drained, graded, and stable area symmetrically located about the 
runway, the dimensions of which include the runway width, and which is suitable for an airplane to 
overrun should it accidentally veer off the pavement. 
 


Sales, Garage/Yard.   Garage/yard sales shall include all sales entitled "garage sale", "lawn sale", 
"attic sale", "rummage sale", “moving sale”, or “estate sale”. 
 


School, Private.  An elementary (kindergarten thru sixth grade that may, in conjunction,  provide  pre-
primary and Pre-K instruction), middle or high school, supported with private funds, providing a 
curriculum that meets State Board of Education requirements, including schools serving school age 
children with special needs. 
 


School, Trade/Vocational.  (see Educational/Institutional Facility) 
 


Service Area.  A designated space, generally out-of-doors, utilized for utility areas, storage and pickup, 
and for the delivery of goods and services to any building or land use. 
 


Setback.  The area as designated by this ordinance in which a structure may not be erected, as 
measured from the property boundaries of the lot or from the buffer line if a buffer is required. 


  
 Sewer System, Central Sanitary.  Collection of sanitary sewage via a pipe network, transportation to a 


common collection point and treatment to required Department of Natural Resources criteria prior to 
release.    


  


 Shooting Range, Indoor.  An indoor facility for the safe shooting of firearms, including both facilities 
which are open to the general public or open only to private membership. 


 
 Shooting Range, Outdoor.  An outdoor facility for the safe shooting of firearms, including both 


facilities which are open to the general public or open only to private membership. 
 


Smoking Lounge.  An establishment dedicated, in whole or in part, to the sale and/or smoking of legal 
substances, including but not limited to, establishments known commonly as cigar stores/lounges, 
hookah lounges, tobacco clubs, etc. 


  
 Solar Farm.  Any lot where more than three (3) ground mounted solar panels exceeding 200 


cumulative square feet, or where more than 900 cumulative square feet of ground mounted solar 
panels are located. 


  
 Solar Panel.  A device consisting of an array of connected solar cells or photovoltaic cells that convert 


solar energy (light from the sun) into heat or electricity. 
  
 Special Event.  A temporary, short-term event commonly held by a religious, educational, or 


community organization or a promotional event to attract attention to a place of business. 







 


 


11


 


Split Zoning.  A lot divided by more than one (1) zoning district. 
  
 Stadium, Athletic.  An open-air facility, primarily for the viewing of athletic events, usually with tiers 


of seats rising around a field or court. 
  
 Story.  The portion of a building, other than a basement, included between the surface of any floor and 


the surface of the floor next above it. 
  
 Street.  A public or private thoroughfare or road, often paved, used for vehicular access to other 


streets and/or properties.  Streets may be: 1) owned and operated/maintained by Fayette County (i.e., 
those within a public right-of-way); 2) privately owned but open for public use and maintained by 
Fayette County (i.e., those within a prescriptive easement); or 3) privately owned and maintained (i.e., 
a private road.)  Public streets are designated by type on the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. 


  
 Street, Access.  A street that provides for access to lots. 
  
 Street, Private.  A street used for access that is not owned or maintained by a governmental agency 


such as the County, a municipality, the State or Federal Government. 
  
 Street, Public. A street that is used for travel by the general public, that is owned or maintained by a 


governmental agency such as the County, a municipality, the State or Federal Government. 
  
 Structure.  A combination of materials assembled for use or occupancy, whether installed on, above, 


or below the surface of land or water.  For the purposes of this ordinance, structures include, but not 
limited to:  buildings, manufactured homes, towers, recreational courts, and swimming pools, but do 
not include driveways, signs, septic systems, walls, or fences.  


  
 Subdivision.  All divisions of a lot or land into a minimum of two (2) or more lots. 


 


Swimming Pool Screened Enclosure.  A structure or part thereof, in whole or in part, self-supporting 
and having walls of insect screening and a roof of insect screening, commonly made of plastic, 
aluminum, or similar lightweight material.   
 


Taxi Service.  A service that offers transportation in passenger vehicles to persons in return for 
remuneration.  This does not include Charter Motor Coach Service. 


  
 Thoroughfare, Major.  A street designated on the Thoroughfare Plan as a Major Arterial, Minor 


Arterial, Proposed Minor Arterial, Collector, and Proposed Collector. 
  
 Thoroughfare, Minor.  A street designated on the Thoroughfare Plan as a County Local or Internal 


Local.   
 
 Tot lot.  An improved and equipped play area which may consist of swings, slides, sandboxes, 


climbing apparatus, and/or benches for small children, usually up to elementary school age. 
  
 Tower.  Any structure that is designed and constructed primarily for the purpose of supporting one (1) 


or more antennas, including self supporting lattice towers, guyed towers, or monopole towers.  The 
term includes radio and television transmission towers, microwave towers, common carrier towers, 
cellular telephone towers, and alternative tower structures.  


  







 


 


12


 Tower  Facility.  The area containing a tower, antennas, all accessory equipment cabinets or buildings, 
and required security fencing, excluding tower anchors.  (Amended 05/26/11) 


  
 Tower Height.  When referring to a tower or tower facilities, the distance measured from ground level 


to the highest point on the tower or other structure, even if said highest point is an antenna (see 
Building Height.) 
 


Tower, Planned.  Any tower that is in the public hearing procedure, site application review process, or 
has been approved, but not yet constructed (see Article V.) 


  
 Tower Structure, Alternative.  Tower structures designed to diminish, camouflage, or conceal the 


appearance of antennas or towers including:  monopine (man-made pine trees), free-standing clock 
towers, and bell towers, light poles, flag poles, internal antenna towers (a/k/a “slick stick”) including 
cylindrical unicells and/or similar alternative design tower structures.  (Amended 05/26/11) 


  
 Towers and Antennas, Pre-Existing.  Any tower or antenna permitted prior to December 10, 1998. 


 


Townhouse.  (see Dwelling, Townhouse) 
  
 Trailer, Temporary.  A vehicle designed for towing, not intended for use as a dwelling, and restricted 


to such uses as a construction office/storage facility, real estate sales office, and operations office or 
classrooms pending construction of a permanent facility. 
 


Training Center.  A facility used for business or professional conferences, seminars, and training 
programs. 
 


Training Facility, Indoor.  A structure used for indoor training. 
 


Tutoring.  The provision of instruction. 
  
 Uses, Conditional.  Those uses that are allowed in a particular zoning district, but only under certain 


specified conditions. 
  
 Uses, Permitted.  Those uses that are allowed in a particular zoning district as a matter of right. 
  


Uses, Principal.  The main purpose for which a lot is intended and for which it may be used. 
  
 Variance.  A modification of the terms of this ordinance granted by the Zoning Board of Appeals in 


accordance with criteria as set forth herein. 
  
 Vehicle, Abandoned.  A vehicle which does not bear a license plate with a current decal affixed 


thereto, if required, unless said vehicle is stored within a completely enclosed building, stored on a 
permitted auto sales lot and is in satisfactory operating condition, or stored at a Junk Yard and/or Auto 
Grave Yard (see Article VII.) 


  
 Vehicle/Boat Sales.  A business establishment primarily involved in the sale of automobiles, trucks, 


farm equipment, heavy construction equipment, motorcycles, boats, recreational vehicles or trailers, or 
other vehicles, excluding manufactured homes. 
 


Vehicle, Business.  Any vehicle used for business purposes, whether or not the owner is a private or 
governmental entity, except that school buses shall be excluded.   
 







 


 


13


Vehicle, Passenger.  A wheeled motor vehicle for transporting passengers which is designed to run 
primarily on roads, principally for the transport of people rather than goods, and shall exclude a 
charter motor coach. 


  
 Vehicle, Recreational.  A self-propelled or towed vehicle used as a temporary dwelling for travel and 


recreational purposes.   
 


Walkway.  A passage to provide walking access, such as walks, paths, and steps. 
 


Wall.   Structures made of masonry or concrete, commonly used as an enclosure for a lot.   
  
 Warehouse.  A building devoted to retention of goods, merchandise, supplies or other materials 


produced on site or received in shipment for ultimate sale or shipment elsewhere. 
  
 Water Distribution System, Central.  Mains and service lines owned and operated by the Fayette 


County Water System, or when approved by the County Commissioners, a private water system 
operating under the direct supervision of the Department of Natural Resources. 


  
 Water Impoundment.  A body of water confined by a dam, dike, floodgate, or other barrier. 


 


Weight, Curb.  The total weight of a vehicle with standard equipment, all necessary operating 
consumables (e.g. motor oil and coolant), a full tank of fuel, while not loaded with either passengers or 
cargo. 
 


Wind Farm.  Any lot where more than one (1) wind turbine for the purpose of generating electricity is 
located. 


  


 Wind Turbine.  A freestanding alternate energy device which converts wind energy into electrical 
energy.  A windmill shall also be deemed a wind turbine when used in association with an agricultural 
operation. 


  
 Yard.  A required open space on a lot that is left unoccupied with structures and facilities, except as 


otherwise permitted herein. 
 
 Yard, Front.  The area between a property line adjacent to a thoroughfare and the building line, 


extending the full width of the lot. 
  
 Yard, Rear.  The area between the rear property line and the rear building line, extending the full 


width of the lot. 
  


 Yard, Side.  The area between the side property line and the side building line, extending from the 
front yard to the rear yard. 


  
 Zoning Administrator.  The person who has been designated by the Board of Commissioners to 


administer the enforcement of this Ordinance. 
 


Zoning Board of Appeals.  The board to which the responsibilities associated with the Zoning Board 
of Appeals has been delegated. 


 


Section 2.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE IV.  ESTABLISHMENT OF DISTRICTS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, 







 


 


14


enacting a new ARTICLE IV.  ESTABLISHMENT OF DISTRICTS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE IV.   ESTABLISHMENT OF DISTRICTS 
 


Sec. 4-1.  Zoning Districts.   
For the purposes of this Ordinance, the unincorporated areas of Fayette County are divided into zoning 
districts designated as follows: 
 
 1.  A-R  Agricultural - Residential District (Sec. 6-1) 


  2. C-S  Conservation Subdivision  (Sec. 6-2)   
 3. EST  Estate Residential District       (Sec. 6-3) 
 4. R-85  Single Family Residential District    (Sec. 6-4) 
 5. R-80  Single Family Residential District   (Sec. 6-5) 
 6. R-78  Single Family Residential District      (Sec. 6-6) 
 7. R-75  Single Family Residential District     (Sec. 6-7) 
 8. R-72  Single Family Residential District     (Sec. 6-8) 
 9. R-70  Single Family Residential District     (Sec. 6-9) 
10. R-55  Single Family Residential District      (Sec. 6-10) 
11. R-50  Single Family Residential District      (Sec. 6-11) 
12. R-45  Single Family Residential District     (Sec. 6-12) 
13. R-40  Single Family Residential District (Sec. 6-13) 
14. R-20  Single Family Residential District      (Sec. 6-14) 
15. DR-15  One and Two Family Residential  (Sec. 6-15) 
   District 
16. RMF  Multi Family Residential District      (Sec. 6-16) 
17. MHP  Manufactured Home Park District      (Sec. 6-17) 
18. O-I  Office - Institutional District       (Sec. 6-18) 
19. C-C  Community Commercial District        (Sec. 6-19) 
20. C-H  Highway Commercial District      (Sec. 6-20) 
21. L-C  Limited Commercial District        (Sec. 6-21) 
22. M-1  Light Industrial District       (Sec. 6-22) 
23. M-2  Manufacturing and Heavy Industrial    (Sec. 6-23) 


    District 
24. BTP  Business Technology Park  (Sec. 6-24)   
25. PUD  Planned Unit Development         (Sec. 6-25) 


 


The Legal Nonconforming Status (LNS) designation, as administered in Article VI, shall be considered a sub-
category of the particular zoning district.   


 


Sec. 4-2.  Maps.  
The location and boundaries of each zoning district are shown on a map entitled the "The Official 
Zoning Map of Fayette County, Georgia".  The Official Zoning Map and all explanatory materials 
accompanying it were adopted on November 13, 1980, became effective on November 13, 1980, and 
are hereby made a part of this ordinance. The Official Zoning Map shall be maintained in an accurate, 
up-to-date condition for public inspection during normal business hours.  


 


Sec. 4-3.  Amendments.  
If, in accordance with the provisions herein, amendments are made to the aforementioned maps, the 
Zoning Administrator shall record such amendment on the appropriate map and indicate thereon the 
effective date of the amendment. 


 


 


 







 


 


15


Sec. 4-4.  Boundary Rule.   
Where uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of any zoning district, the following rules shall 
apply unless otherwise specifically indicated: 


A. Where the zoning district boundaries are indicated on the official zoning map as 
approximately following the centerlines of a street, road, highway, railroad right-of-
way line, stream bed, river bed, corporate city limits line, or land lot line, then such 
lines shall be construed to be the zoning district boundary lines.   


B. Where the zoning district boundaries are indicated on the official zoning maps as 
being set back from a street, road, highway, railroad, stream or river and parallel 
thereto, then such boundaries shall be construed as being at the scaled distance from 
the centerline of same and parallel thereto. 


C. Where a zoning district boundary, enacted by the adoption of the Fayette County 
Zoning Ordinance and Official Zoning Map on November 13, 1980, divides a lot, the 
Zoning Administrator may, administratively change the zoning of the smaller portion 
of said lot to coincide with the zoning of the larger portion of said lot.  Said 
administrative rezoning, by the Zoning Administrator, shall take place prior to 
submittal of a Preliminary Plat, Final Plat, Minor Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, and/or 
building permit, as applicable.  Any changes in boundaries which occur pursuant to 
this provision shall be reported to the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners. 


D. Any development that involves multiple lots to be utilized as one (1) lot shall be 
required to be combined prior to submittal of a Preliminary Plat, Final Plat, Minor 
Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, and/or building permit, as applicable.  In addition, any 
development which results in or is located on a lot with multiple zonings shall be 
rezoned to one (1) zoning district prior to submittal of a Preliminary Plat, Final Plat, 
Minor Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, and/or building permit, as applicable. Any existing 
development/structure developed on multiple lots utilized as one (1) lot or located on 
a lot with multiple zonings which was approved through a Preliminary Plat, Final 
Plat, Minor Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, and/or building permit, as applicable, prior to 
the adoption of this regulation on December 9, 2010, shall be allowed to continue 
development within the boundary established by said approved Preliminary Plat, 
Final Plat, Minor Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, and/or building permit.  


E. Corporate Limits.  Any lot divided by corporate limits (city or county) shall fully 
meet the requirements of Fayette County, on the portion of the lot that is within 
unincorporated Fayette County for the purposes of a building permit.  All corporate 
limits dividing a lot will be viewed in the same manner as a property line.  Setbacks 
are measured from corporate city limit lines and/or county boundary lines. 


 


Section 3.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE V.  GENERAL PROVISIONS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, enacting a new 


ARTICLE V.  GENERAL PROVISIONS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE V.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 


Sec. 5-1.  Conflicting Requirements.   


Should any requirements conflict within this ordinance or with any other County requirements, the most 
restrictive shall apply. 


 


Sec. 5-2.  Use.   


No land, building, or structure shall be used in any manner or for any purpose that is inconsistent with this 
ordinance, or amendment thereto, except as otherwise provided herein.  In addition, no building or structure 
shall be erected, moved, altered, or enlarged in any manner that is inconsistent with this ordinance, or 
amendment thereto, except as otherwise provided herein. 







 


 


16


 


 


Sec. 5-3.  Use, Prohibited.   


If either a use or class of uses is not specifically indicated as being permitted in a zoning district, either as a 
matter of right or as a conditional use, then such use, class of uses, or structures for such uses shall be 
prohibited in such zoning district, except as otherwise provided herein. 
 


Sec. 5-4.  Principal Structure or Use.   


In all residential or agricultural-residential zoning districts, no more than one (1) principal structure or use  
shall be located on a lot, except as otherwise provided herein.  In all non-residential zoning districts, no more 
than one (1) principal use shall be located on a lot.  The principal use on a non-residentially zoned lot shall 
either be either non-residential or residential, but not both, except as otherwise provided herein. 


 


Sec. 5-5.  Use on a Lot.   


Construction of buildings, structures, and establishment of uses shall occur only upon a lot as required herein.  


  


Sec. 5-6.  Reduction of Lot Area.   


No lot shall be reduced in size so that the lot size, width or depth, size of yard, lot area per family, or any other 
requirement of this ordinance is not maintained. This restriction shall not apply when a portion of a lot is 
acquired for a public purpose. 
 


Sec. 5-7.  Height and Density.   


No building or other structure shall hereafter be erected or altered so as to: 
A. Exceed the height limit; or 
B. Accommodate or house a greater number of families per lot than allowed. 


 


Sec. 5-8.  Street Frontage for Access.     
A. For access purposes, all residential or non-residential lots shall have frontage on a street 


and/or a cul-de-sac that is either:        
1. A public street; or 
2. A private street built to County standards and deeded to the property owners’ 


association or the homeowners’ association through a recorded warranty deed which 
the owner of any lot within the subdivision is required to join.  (Amended 08/25/11) 


B. All residential lots shall have at least 100 feet of immediate frontage on a street. This 100 foot 
width shall be maintained from the lot’s frontage on the street to the body of the lot where the 
minimum lot width is met.  This requirement shall be met unless: 
1. The lot is "Landlocked Property" as provided in Article V.; or 
2. The lot fronts only the turn-around portion of a cul-de-sac.  Each lot which fully 


fronts the turn-around portion of a cul-de-sac shall have a minimum of 50 feet of 
street frontage and this provision shall be limited to a maximum of four (4) lots. 


C. All nonresidential lots shall have at least 125 feet of frontage on a street.  This 125 foot width 
shall be maintained from the lot’s frontage on the street to the body of the lot where the 
minimum lot width is met.  This requirement shall be met unless: 
1. The lot is "Landlocked Property" as provided in Article V.; or 
2. The lot fronts only the turn-around portion of a cul-de-sac.  Each lot which fully 


fronts the turn-around portion of a cul-de-sac shall have a minimum of 50 feet of 
street frontage and this provision is limited to a maximum of four (4) lots.   


 


Sec. 5-9.  Encroachment on Public Rights-of-Way.   


No building, structure (including prohibited mailbox supports as described in Article V.), wall or fence, service 
area or required off-street parking and loading facilities, except driveways and associated headwalls, shall be 
permitted to encroach on public rights-of-ways. 







 


 


17


 


     
Sec. 5-10.  Requirements for Moving a Building.   


No dwelling unit or other permanent structure shall be relocated in the County unless, when relocated, it meets 
all requirements herein and other applicable County code requirements. 
 


Sec. 5-11.  Buildings under Construction.   


Nothing in this ordinance shall require any change in the construction or intended use of a building which is 
legally under construction or for which a building permit has been issued as of the effective date of November 
13, 1980, including amendments, and the construction of which shall be diligently pursued until completion. 


 


Sec. 5-12.  Yard not to be Encroached Upon.   


No yard shall be encroached upon or reduced in any manner except in conformity with the setback, off-street 
parking spaces, and such other regulations required for the zoning district in which such building is located.  
Landscaping, driveways, vehicle parking areas, multi-use path connections, walkways and associated steps, 
boat docks and bridges, retaining walls, walls and fences, curbs, and planted buffer strips shall not be 
construed to be encroachments.   
 


Sec. 5-13.  Permitted Encroachments of Yards and Setbacks.   


Architectural features connected to a structure such as cornices, eaves, steps, landings, ramps, gutters, and fire 
escapes may project not more than three (3) feet beyond any required setback line, except where such 
projections would obstruct driveways.  One (1) flagpole per lot shall also be allowed to encroach into the front 
yard setback, provided it is not located within 15 feet of the right-of-way.  Flagpoles which encroach the front 
yard setback shall be required to have a signed and sealed affidavit from an architect or engineer registered in 
the State of Georgia with the actual location and setback of the flagpole and inspection approval of the footing 
to be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department prior to placement of the flagpole.    
 


Sec. 5-14.  Yard Service, Required Open Space to one (1) building.   


No part of any yard, other open space, or off-street parking or loading space required, about or in connection 
with, any building, structure, or use shall be included as part of a required yard, open space, off-street parking, 
or loading space similarly required for any other building, structure, or use except as provided herein. 
 


Sec. 5-15.  Side and Rear Yards and Buffers Not Required Next to Railroad.   


Within any non-residential zoning district, side yards, rear yards, and buffers shall not be required adjacent to 
railroad rights-of-way. 
 


Sec. 5-16.  Structures Permitted above the Height Limit.   


The height limit shall not apply to structures and architectural features not intended for human occupancy, 
including, but not limited to: a spire, belfry, cupola, dome, monument, water tower,  observation tower, 
telecommunication tower, chimney, smoke stack, conveyer, mast or aerial, heating, ventilation, and air 
conditioning (HVAC) equipment, elevator equipment, roofed solar panels, satellite/telecommunications 
equipment, and parapet wall not extending more than four (4) feet above the roof line of the building.  A 
freestanding flagpole is also permitted above the height limit, provided the total height is under 70 feet.  Total 
height shall be measured from the finished grade at the location of the flagpole to the highest point.   
 


Sec. 5-17.   Front Yard Setback and Common Area.   


The front yard setback shall be measured from the street right-of-way (existing or required, whichever is 
greater.)  Street right-of-way is based on the classification of the street (see County Code, Development 
Regulations and Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.)  When a common area, open space, or conservation area 
is located between a lot and the street, the setback on the lot shall be measured from the right-of-way as a front 
yard setback or from the common area as a side or rear setback and whichever is greater shall apply as enacted 
October 1, 2008.   







 


 


18


 
 


Sec. 5-18.  Lot Width, Minimum.   


The lot width at the building line shall be met for a depth of 80 feet. The principal structure shall be 
constructed within this area provided the required setbacks are met.  Accessory structures do not have to 
comply with the lot width at the building line; however, they shall comply with the required setbacks and 
location requirements. 
 


Sec. 5-19.  Additions to a Single Family Structure.  


A. All additions to a single-family dwelling shall be attached to the primary structure, via either a 
heated corridor that shall be attached to the primary residence at a location that is currently 
heated and that has minimum interior dimensions of six (6) feet in width and eight (8) feet in 
height, or by a direct access common wall.   


B. Porte Cochere.  A porte cochere shall be attached at an entrance of a single-family dwelling 
and shall meet the following standards:   
1. Shall consist of a singular roof line that is consistent with the single-family dwelling 


roof design, and supported by posts/columns and shall remain open on the remaining 
three (3) sides;  


2. Shall be consistent with the architectural character/facade of the single-family 
dwelling; and  


3. A porte cochere shall not be utilized as a carport, garage, storage building, open 
storage, or living area.    


 


Sec. 5-20.  Accessory Structures and Uses.   


A. The following accessory structures and uses are permitted in A-R and all residential zoning 
districts.   
1. Well/pump house; 


  2. Guest house; 
  3. Greenhouse (for private use); 
  4. Swimming pool, hot tub, pool deck, pool equipment enclosure, and pool screen 


enclosure; 
  5. Garage; 
  6.  Recreational court; 
  7.  Gazebo; 
  8. Cabana/pool house, boat house, covered patio, and covered deck; 
  9. Storage building;  
10. Carport; 
11. Solar panel (ground-mounted); 
12. Wind turbine/windmill (ground-mounted); 
13. Aircraft Hangar, detached (see Article VII.);  
14. Dog house and dog pen/run; 
15. Playhouse;  


 16.       Outdoor kitchen and/or fireplace; 
 17.  Patio; and 


 18.  Underground storm shelter. 
 Farm outbuildings, including horse stables, auxiliary structures, and commercial greenhouses 


are regulated as Conditional Uses under Article VII. and shall be allowed in the A-R Zoning 
District only. One (1) semi-trailer may be utilized as a farm outbuilding provided the property 
is zoned A-R and the semi-trailer is being used to store agricultural items. These regulations 
shall not apply to those nonresidential uses allowed in A-R and residential zoning districts. 


 
 







 


 


19


B. Structure Limitations.  Construction of an accessory structure shall occur concurrently with or 
after the construction of the principal structure.  Accessory structures shall not be used as 
dwelling units or for lodging purposes, except a guest house. 


C. Number and Size.  The number and size of accessory structures shall conform to the 
requirements described herein.   
1. Accessory structures shall be limited to one (1) of the following options: 


a. Two (2) accessory structures, per individual lot, that shall not exceed a 
combined total of 1,800 square feet of floor area (see Total Square Footage.) 
The square footage of the largest accessory structure shall not exceed the 
total square footage of the principal structure.  One (1) of these accessory 
structures may include up to 700 square feet of heated and finished floor 
area to be   utilized as a guest house.  An accessory structure combined with 
a guest house, under this option, shall be deemed as one (1) accessory 
structure; or 


b. One (1) accessory structure, per individual lot, not to exceed 1,800 square 
feet of floor area (see Total Square Footage), or the total square footage of 
the principal structure, whichever is less.  This accessory structure may 
include up to 700 square feet of heated and finished floor area to be utilized 
as a guest house.  An accessory structure combined with a guest house, 
under this option, shall be deemed as one (1) accessory structure. 


2. At least 50 percent of the square footage of an accessory structure building shall be 
fully enclosed, except as otherwise provided herein.  Said enclosed area shall be 
surrounded by connecting adjacent walls constructed of solid materials attached to 
the foundation and roof. 


3. A well/pump house, dog house, or playhouse consisting of 70 square feet or less; dog 
pen/run consisting of 200 square feet or less; swimming pool,  hot tub, or recreational 
court; Aircraft Hangar, Farm Outbuilding, Commercial Greenhouse, Horse Stable, or 
Auxiliary Structure (as regulated under Article VII.); ground/pole mounted solar 
panel consisting of less than 200 square feet or ground-mounted wind 
turbine/windmill; uncovered outdoor kitchen, fireplace, or patio; underground storm 
shelter; or beehive shall not be included in determining the number of accessory 
structures provided herein.   


4. Total Square Footage.  When both of the following criteria are met, the upper level 
space shall be included in the total square footage of the structure:   a) the upper level 
space is accessed by permanent stairs; and b) that portion of the upper level space 
where the ceiling width, measured at least seven (7) feet in height, is more than 50 
percent of the ceiling width measured at least five (5) feet in height.  


 D. Location on Lot.  Accessory structures shall conform to the dimensional requirements within 
each zoning district.  No structure shall be located in the front yard except:  a detached garage 
(see 1. and 2. below for requirements); well/pump house consisting of 70 square feet or less; 
or farm outbuildings, including horse stables, auxiliary structures, and commercial 
greenhouses located in an A-R Zoning District, where the lot consists of five (5) acres or 
more.  A well/pump house of 70 square feet or less may be located within the setbacks.  On a 
single frontage lot, the area between the street and the front building line shall be treated as a 
front yard with regard to the location of accessory structures. On a corner lot, the area between 
both of the streets and both of the front building lines shall be treated as a primary front yard 
and a secondary front yard with regard to the location of accessory structures.  On a through 
lot, the area between the street from which the lot is accessed and the front building line shall 
be treated as a front yard with regard to the location of accessory structures. 
1. Detached Garage located in the Front Yard of a Single Frontage Lot and a Through 


Lot.  A detached garage located in the front yard shall meet the following 
requirements:   







 


 


20


 a.  Shall not exceed 900 square feet of floor area; 
 b. Located no more than 35 feet from the principal structure;  
  c. Shall not exceed 23 feet in height; 


d. No more than 50 percent of the footprint of the garage may be located 
beyond the front building line of the principal structure; 


    e. The width of the portion of the garage facing the street shall not exceed 60 
percent of the width of the principal structure; and 


f. No portion of the garage may be located directly between the principal 
structure and the street. 


2. Detached Garage Located in the Front Yard of a Corner Lot.   
 a.  Primary front yard.   The location of the front door of the principal structure 


shall establish the primary front yard.  If the front door is not oriented to a 
street, the driveway access shall be utilized to establish the primary front 
yard.  The primary front yard is the area between the street and the front 
building line in which an accessory structure is prohibited, except in the case 
of a detached garage which shall comply with the requirements of a single 
frontage lot; and 


 b.  Secondary front yard.  Consequently, the other frontage shall be the 
secondary front yard.  The secondary front yard is the area between the street 
and the front building line in which an accessory structure is prohibited, 
except in the case of a detached garage which shall comply with the 
following requirements: 


 i. Shall not exceed 900 square feet of floor area; 
 ii. Located no more than 35 feet from the principal structure; and 
 iii. Shall not exceed 23 feet in height. 


3. Architectural Standards for a Detached Garage located in all Front Yards.  The 
garage shall maintain a residential character. Elevation drawings denoting 
compliance with the following requirements shall be submitted as part of the building 
permit application: 
a. The design of the garage shall match with the general architectural style 


inherent in the existing principal structure, including, but not limited to:  
roof pitch, roof facade, facade, residential windows, and residential doors. 


b. The garage shall have at least one (1) opening for vehicular access. 
c. A separate electrical meter is not permitted, unless otherwise required per the 


Building Permits and Inspections Department. 
d. The garage shall be connected to the principal structure by at least one (1) of 


the following: 
i. An attached or detached breezeway.  Said breezeway shall be a 


minimum of six (6) feet in width and a minimum of eight (8) feet in 
height (interior measurement.) A detached breezeway shall be 
constructed within six (6) inches of the principal structure and the 
garage; or 


ii. An attached raised deck.  Said attached raised deck shall be a 
minimum height of 15 inches.  The deck shall have a minimum 
width of six (6) feet.  Said deck shall have guard rails measuring a 
minimum of three (3) feet in height; or 


 iii. An attached or detached pergola. Said pergola shall consist of 
parallel colonnades supporting an open roof of beams and crossing 
rafters, shall be a minimum of six (6) feet in width and a minimum 
of eight (8) feet in height (interior measurement.)  A detached 
pergola shall be constructed within six (6) inches of the principal 
structure and the garage. 







 


 


21


E. Guest houses.  Only one (1) guest house is allowed per individual lot.  Any living area 
included in an accessory structure is a guest house.  A guest house shall not be used as tenant 
space.  A guest house shall not exceed 700 square feet of heated and finished floor area. 


F. Architectural standards.  All accessory structures of 200 square feet or greater, except a 
detached garage located in the front yard, shall be constructed in a residential character 
consisting of a façade of fiber-cement siding, wood siding, wood textured vinyl siding, 
brick/brick veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, stucco, or synthetic stucco, or finished/baked 
enamel aluminum/metal siding which establishes a horizontal pattern.  These standards shall 
not apply to an addition to an existing accessory structure that is nonconforming in terms of 
these standards.  Any addition to an existing nonconforming accessory structure shall match 
the architectural design of the existing nonconforming accessory structure.  Elevation drawing 
denoting compliance shall be submitted as part of the building permit application. 


G. Temporary accessory storage.  Portable on demand storage units are only allowed on a 
temporary basis and only in conjunction with an ongoing a renovation project for the purpose 
of storage of household items for a period not to exceed one (1) year. Portable on demand 
storage units are defined as any container, storage unit, or other portable structure, other than 
an accessory building or shed complying with all building codes used to store household 
items.  Only two (2) portable on demand storage units are allowed per lot.   


H. Carport.  The carport shall be used to house motor vehicles and trailers only.  Carports shall 
be constructed of the same material or types of material as the principal structure on the 
property, or of metal. 


I. Cabana/pool house, boat house, covered patio, and covered deck.  The cabana, covered 
patio, and covered deck may contain an outdoor kitchen, fireplace, spa/hot tub, 
bathroom/changing room, and/or pool pump/filter but shall not be utilized as a carport, 
garage, storage building, open storage, or living area. Said structures shall, at a minimum, 
consist of a roof with supporting posts/columns, not to exceed one (1) story, and comply with 
the Architectural Standards for an accessory structure 200 square feet or greater.  


J. Swimming pool, pool deck, pool equipment enclosure, and pool screened enclosure.  The 
pool deck, pool equipment enclosure, and pool screened enclosure shall comply with the 
required setbacks.  A pool screen enclosure shall be constructed with insect screening 
commonly made of plastic, aluminum, or similar lightweight material and shall be exempt 
from the architectural requirements herein.  


 K. Solar panels (ground-mounted.)  Ground-mounted solar panels shall be limited to three (3) 
per lot, the total cumulative square footage of ground-mounted solar panels shall not exceed 
900 square feet, shall not exceed 10 feet in height, shall comply with the required setbacks, 
and shall comply with the location of an accessory structure/use.  Ground-mounted solar 
panels consisting of less than 200 cumulative square feet shall not count toward the number of 
accessory structures/uses.   Ground-mounted solar panels consisting of 200 cumulative square 
feet up to a maximum of 900 cumulative square feet shall be counted as one (1) accessory 
structure/use. 


 L. Wind turbines/windmill (ground-mounted.) Wind turbines/windmills shall not exceed 70 feet 
in height.  The setbacks shall be equal to the height of the wind turbine, including the blades, 
or the applicable zoning district setbacks, whichever are greater.  Each lot is limited to one (1) 
ground-mounted wind turbine/windmill.  The ground-mounted wind turbine/windmill shall 
not count toward the number of accessory structures/uses. All anchors for guyed towers shall 
meet the setbacks for the applicable zoning districts. 


M. Nonconformance.  All accessory structures or uses which had a building permit issued prior to 
January 24, 2008, are legally non-conforming and shall be allowed to be maintained and 
rebuilt to current size and in the existing location.  All accessory structures or uses permitted 
after January 24, 2008, shall comply with the current requirements.  


 
 







 


 


22


Sec. 5-21.  Pavilion.   


A pavilion is an accessory structure which is allowed in non-residential zoning districts, except as otherwise 
provided herein. 


 


Sec. 5-22.  Walls, Fences, and Entrance Structures located in a front yard in A-R and all residential 


zoning districts and Residential and Nonresidential Subdivision Entrance Walls and Fences. 


 A. All walls and fences shall comply with the following: 
1. No wall or fence shall be constructed in a public right-of-way, and such wall or fence 


shall not be constructed any closer than three (3) feet from any fire hydrant.  Walls 
and fences in the right-of-way shall be removed. 


2. Any vehicular driveway shall have a minimum clearance of 14 feet in width and 14 
feet in height to allow for the passage of emergency vehicles. 


3. All walls and fences shall be maintained and repaired as required in the International 
Property Maintenance Code. 


4. A Zoning Compliance Certificate will be required for all walls and fences located in 
a front yard prior to construction.  A scaled drawing shall be submitted to the 
Planning and Zoning Department which shall include, but not be limited to:  wall 
and/or fence elevations, location, height of wall/fence, posts/columns, and 
ornamental statues, figurines, and light fixtures, visibility, spacing over the entire 
linear footage of wall/fence, changes in grade, building materials, and other 
requirements of the ordinance. 


B. Walls and Fences not exceeding four (4) feet in height shall comply with the following: 
1. A wall or fence shall be constructed of brick/brick veneer, stucco, synthetic stucco, 


rock, stone, cast-stone, wood, wrought iron, chain link or other similar wire materials, 
or other architecturally engineered facades which match these materials.  Barbed wire 
and electric fences are prohibited, except as otherwise provided herein (see 
Exemptions.) 


2. Posts or columns, light fixtures, ornamental statues, and figurines shall not be 
included in the measurement of the four (4) foot wall height. 


C. Walls and Fences exceeding four (4) feet in height shall comply with the following: 
1. A wall and/or fence shall be constructed of brick/brick veneer, stucco, synthetic 


stucco, rock, stone, cast-stone, wood, wrought iron, or other architecturally 
engineered facades which match these materials.  Barbed wire and electric fences are 
prohibited, except as otherwise provided herein (see Exemptions.) 


2. A solid wall and/or fence shall not exceed four (4) feet in height and any portion of a 
wall and/or fence higher than four (4) feet shall have a minimum visibility of 50 
percent which shall be uniformly spaced over the entire linear footage of the wall 
and/or fence.  Columns and posts shall not be included in this calculation. 


3. A vehicular entry structure shall not be subject to the four (4) foot wall and fence 
requirement or the minimum visibility of 50 percent within 35 feet of either side of 
the driveway.  


D. Walls and fences that cannot meet height requirements due to changes in grade shall make 
adjustments to each section (as created by the columns or posts) of the wall or fence to meet 
the requirements to the greatest degree possible.  In some cases, this will result in a stair-step 
pattern as the wall or fence moves along the grade. 


E. Exemptions. 
 The following shall be exempt from the above requirements: 


1. In any residential zoning district where horses are kept in accordance with 
Article V., a wall or fence made of chain link or other wire materials is 
exempt from the four (4) foot maximum height requirement and shall not 
exceed a maximum of five (5) feet in height in a front yard. 


 







 


 


23


2. Where the use of the property is for farming in an A-R zoning district, 
including the raising and selling of crops and/or livestock, the property is 
exempt from the four (4) foot maximum height requirement, and exempt 
from the construction requirements of brick/brick veneer, stucco, synthetic 
stucco, rock, stone, cast-stone, wood, wrought iron, or other architecturally 
engineered facades which match these materials. 


 3. Walls and Fences in any residential or A-R zoning district. 
a. On a corner lot, in order to reduce road noise, a solid wall and/or 


fence along a street which is classified as an Arterial or Collector 
per the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan shall be exempt from the 
four (4) foot maximum height requirement and the 50 percent 
visibility requirement.  However, this exemption shall not apply to 
the street which the front door of the residence is facing.  


b. Where a temporary fence is used in conjunction with a construction 
site, said fence is exempt from the requirements of this section. 


c. A fence required for a telecommunication tower site shall comply 
with the requirements of Article V. and shall be exempt from the 
requirements of this section. 


d. A wall or fence used in conjunction with a storm water facility shall 
be exempt from the requirements of this section. 


e. A wall or fence used in conjunction with any non-residential 
Permitted Use or Conditional Use, including but not limited to:  an 
Animal Hospital, Kennel, Cemetery and Mausoleum, Church or 
Other Place of Worship, Colleges and Universities, Day Care 
Facility, Private School, Telephone, and Electric or Gas Sub-Station 
or other Public Utility Facilities shall be exempt from the 
requirements of this section. 


f. With regard to the location of a wall or fence, a through lot shall be 
exempt from the four (4) foot maximum height requirement and the 
minimum 50 percent visibility requirement, except for the area 
between the street from which the lot is accessed and the front 
building line, which shall be treated as a front yard.    


  F. Residential and Nonresidential Subdivision Entrance Walls and Fences. 


Subdivision Entrance Walls and Fences shall be placed on common property under the 
ownership of the Home Owners Association (HOA) or the Property Owners Association 
(POA.)  Common property shall be shown on the Preliminary Plat and/or Final Plat and/or 
Minor Subdivision Plat.  Said walls and fences shall not be subject to the four (4) foot height 
or 50 percent visibility requirements, but shall be constructed of brick/brick veneer, stucco, 
synthetic stucco, rock, stone, cast-stone, wood, wrought iron, or other architecturally 
engineered facades which match these materials.  (Note: Check with the Building Permits 
and Inspections Department for any permitting requirements for walls/fences/subdivision 
entrances.) 


G. Nonconformance. 
All walls and fences which were lawfully built and existing on October 1, 2008, and which do 
not conform with the provisions of this Article, shall be allowed to remain in place and shall 
be considered to be a legally existing non-conforming wall or fence.  Additionally, any walls 
or fences built prior to October 1, 2008, that were in compliance with all codes and 
ordinances when it was built except for the height of the wall or fence, and which do not 
conform with the provisions of this Article, shall be considered a legally existing non-
conforming wall or fence and shall be allowed to remain in place.  All walls and fences built 
after October 1, 2008, shall comply with this Article. 


 







 


 


24


Sec. 5-23.  Sales, Garage/Yard.    
A maximum of three (3) garage/yard sales consisting of a maximum of three (3) days each within a 12 month 
period shall be allowed per residential lot. 
 


Sec. 5-24.  Architectural Yard Features.   


Architectural yard features shall not be located within the right-of-way, shall not be required to comply with 
the setback requirements, and shall include, but not be limited to:  1) landscaping features such as planters, 
arbors, and trellises; 2) water features shall include, but not be limited to: fountains, waterfalls, and decorative 
man-made ponds such as koi ponds; and/or 3) sculptures.   
All associated mechanical and electrical equipment shall be screened with vegetation or housed in an 
equipment cabinet not to exceed 70 square feet.  Landscaping features, such as arbors or trellises, shall not 
exceed 10 feet in height as measured at the highest point.  Landscaping planters shall not exceed four (4) feet 
in height at the highest point.  Sculptures shall not exceed 20 feet in height or the highest point of the roof of 
the principle structure, whichever is less.  (Note:  Check with the Building Permits and Inspections Department 
for any permitting requirements.) 
 


Sec 5-25.  Parking of Business Vehicles.   


In any residential district, except A-R on lots of 10 acres or larger, no business vehicle exceeding 8,000 pounds 
(curb weight) shall be allowed to park either on lots so zoned or on streets abutting such lots except during 
daylight hours and only for the purpose of making deliveries, making pickups, and providing services.  
Business vehicles weighing less than 8,000 pounds shall not be parked on streets abutting such lots.  This 
provision shall not be construed as restricting in any way the normal business vehicle activity associated with 
development and construction.  School buses shall be exempt (see Article III.)  This provision shall not be 
allowed in conjunction with a home occupation (see Article VII.) 
 


Sec. 5-26.  Access to Thoroughfares.   


Lots containing non-residential uses shall be provided with a convenient vehicle turn-around which shall be of 
adequate design to permit vehicles to enter streets in a forward manner. 
 


Sec. 5-27.  Raising and Keeping of Horses in Residential Districts.  


The raising and keeping of no more than one (1) horse on a lot consisting of a minimum of three (3) acres and 
one (1) additional horse for each additional acre shall be allowed on any lot for which single-family residential 
is a permitted use (EST, R-85, R-80, R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70,    R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, PUD-PRD, and 
C-S.)   An accessory structure related to the shelter of horses shall be allowed, as long as, such accessory 
structure complies with Article V.  The boarding of horses and commercial riding lessons shall be prohibited.  
 


5-28.  Beekeeping.  Beekeeping shall be allowed on any lot for which single-family residence is a Permitted 
Use (C-S, EST, R-85, R-80, R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, and PUD-PRD) under the 
following conditions:  (Adopted in its entirety 07/28/11) 


A. All beehives shall meet the setbacks for the applicable zoning district. 
B. The beekeeper shall have 30 days from the time of a complaint to bring the beehive(s) into 


compliance. 
C. The on-premise sale of honey produced on the premises shall be allowed.  Approval of a 


Home Occupation shall not be required. 
 


Sec. 5-29.  Wild Animals.   


All wild animals categorized as inherently dangerous that require a license or permit and liability insurance per 
OCCG Title 27, Chapter 5, shall be prohibited in all residential and A-R zoning districts. 
 


Sec. 5-30.  Mailbox Supports.   


The use of massive supports that, when struck, could damage vehicles and cause serious injury to vehicle 
occupants, are prohibited.  Concrete posts, brick bases, iron pipes and similar miscellaneous items, such as 







 


 


25


farm equipment or supports filled with concrete cannot be used for mailbox supports. This restriction shall not 
apply on streets with a classification of Internal Local (see Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.)   


 


5-31. Recreational Vehicle.   


One (1) recreational vehicle, when utilized for temporary occupancy, shall be allowed to be parked in any 
zoning district on a lot which contains a single-family dwelling or in any residential zoning district.  The 
duration shall not exceed 14 days and said duration shall be allowed two (2) times per year.  Recreational 
vehicles shall include camping trailers and travel trailers in addition to self-propelled vehicles which do not 
exceed eight and one-half (8.5) feet in width, when in travel mode, and 45 feet in length, not including the 
towing vehicle. 
 


Sec. 5-32.  Site Plan Requirement.   
All proposed non-residential development shall be depicted on a Site Plan consistent with the requirements 
listed in the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
 


Sec. 5-33.  Septic Systems and Drain Field Lines.   


Septic systems, including drain field lines, shall be set back a minimum of 10 feet from the property line.  In 
the case where a buffer is required, septic systems, including drain field lines, shall be set back a minimum of 


25 feet from the property line (see Buffer.) 
 


Sec. 5-34.  Buffer.   


A buffer shall provide a separation of uses from abutting properties and a visual screen through the use of 
natural vegetation or other means, including, replanting or supplemental plantings (see County Code, 
Development Regulations, for planting requirements.)  Other visual screening elements or noise attenuation 
devices, such as walls or berms, may be utilized in addition to the vegetation in the buffer.   Stormwater 
retention and detention facilities may be located in a buffer but shall be set back a minimum of 25 feet from the 
property line.  Said 25 feet, as measured from the property line, shall be for the aforementioned required 
natural vegetation, landscape plantings, and other visual screening elements or noise attenuation devices only.  
Multi-use path connections and utilities (including underground stormwater piping) may be located anywhere 


within the buffer (see Septic Systems and Drain Field Lines.)  A buffer shall not be required along the 
common boundary where the side or rear yard abuts property owned by the Board of Commissioners, the 
Board of Education, a municipality,  the State of Georgia or Federal Government that is in a residential or A-R 
zoning district.  This provision shall apply to all buffers required by the Zoning Ordinance. 


 


Sec. 5-35.  Landscaping and Buffer Requirements.   


A nonresidential structure/use allowed in a residential zoning district shall comply with the planting 
requirements for the buffer and landscape areas of the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
 


Sec. 5-36.  Road Side Sales.    


Sales of goods or services from a temporary location along a public right-of-way where business is transacted 
outside of an approved permanent structure are prohibited.  Mobile ice cream vendors, mobile food venders 
which serve building sites, and vendors located at special events shall be exempt. 


 


Sec. 5-37.  Nonresidential Screening required.   


Any outside service area, refuse/dumpster area, storage area, or outside equipment area shall be screened from 
view in accordance with Article V. 


 


Sec. 5-38.  Refuse/Dumpster Area.   


The refuse/dumpster area used in conjunction with non-residential uses shall only be located to the side or rear 
of the principal structure, comply with the setbacks and/or buffer requirements, and be screened per Article V. 
 
 







 


 


26


Sec 5-39.  Screening Standards.   
Walls and fences or combinations thereof shall achieve 100 percent screening prior to the issuance of any 
applicable Planning and Zoning Department approval and/or Certificate of Occupancy.  Walls and fences 
required for screening purposes shall be limited to wood, brick, stone, concrete or concrete block (with 
architectural treatment), or any such wall or fence combined with vegetative screening materials which shall be 
compatible with or enhance the appearance of adjoining properties.  Chain link fences with slat inserts may be 
utilized to establish a screen in the M-1 and M-2 Zoning Districts. 


 


Sec. 5-40.  Outside Storage.   


Outside storage of merchandise, equipment, and parts shall be allowed in the side and rear yards subject to 
such requirements to the extent indicated below, as long as, such storage is screened in accordance with Article 
V.  Storage contained in a structure which is not enclosed by walls shall be deemed outside storage. Outside 
storage is allowed only within the M-1, M-2, C-C, and C-H Zoning Districts.   
 


Sec. 5-41.  Outside Display Exempt from Screening.   


Outside display of vehicles, for lease or sale, including, but not limited to:  motorcycles, boats, recreational 
vehicles, farm equipment, utility trailers, heavy equipment, manufactured homes, and landscape plants shall be 
exempt from the setback and screening requirements of this ordinance, subject to the minimum landscape and 
buffer requirements.  Merchandise which is moved inside on a daily basis shall be exempt from the setback and 


screening requirements; however, such display shall comply with all minimum landscape and buffer 
requirements. Outside sales display shall be exempt from screening; however, the outside sales display shall 
comply with the required setbacks, buffers, and landscape requirements.  The outside installation and display 
of products shall be limited to those items generally utilized outside, including, but not limited to:  swimming 
pools, spas/hot tubs, patios and patio accessories, and/or children’s play equipment. 
 


Sec. 5-42.  Office Trailer.   


The temporary use of a trailer for an office during a development and/or construction period shall require a 
permit to be issued by the Zoning Administrator prior to locating the trailer on a site.  Said permit shall require 
a fee as established by the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County and shall specify the precise location of 
the trailer meeting all applicable setbacks. Said permit shall be issued for a six (6) month period.  Renewals of 
additional six (6) month periods are available, so long as there is a current Land Disturbance Permit, 
Preliminary Plat, Final Plat, Minor Subdivision Plat, Site Plan, or building permit for the property. 
   


Sec. 5-43.  Temporary Classrooms.   


The temporary use of a trailer for classrooms shall require a permit issued by the Zoning Administrator.  Said 
permit shall require a fee established by the Board of Commissioners. It shall be demonstrated on a site plan 
that such a use will comply with all zoning requirements.  Required on-site parking for temporary classrooms 
shall be provided prior to the issuance of any temporary classroom permit. Each trailer shall be approved for 
occupancy by the Fire Marshal.  Site is defined, for the purpose of this Section, to be the entire area indicated 
on an approved overall site plan. 
Initial Placement of Temporary Classrooms.  Upon the issuance of a building permit for the principal structure 
on-site, a maximum of four (4) temporary classroom permits may be issued for a period not to exceed two (2) 
years, or 30 days after the issuance of any type of Certificate of Occupancy on-site should that occur prior to 
the two (2) year deadline.   
Subsequent Placement of Temporary Classrooms.   Upon issuance of a building permit for an expansion on-
site, additional temporary classroom permits may be issued, the number of which shall be based on the 
following:   one (1) temporary classroom per 2,000 square feet of proposed addition devoted to classroom use, 
with a maximum of four (4) temporary classrooms.   Subsequent temporary classroom permits may be issued 
for the expansion period and shall expire in one (1) year, and may be renewed for a six (6) month period due to 
documented construction delays, with no further extensions.  


 


 







 


 


27


Sec. 5-44.  Standards for Telecommunications Antennas and Towers.   (Amended 05/26/11) 
A. Purpose and Intent.  The purpose of this ordinance is to establish minimum development standards for 


the regulation of commercial telecommunications transmission towers, including, but not limited to: 
cellular and Personal Communications Systems (PCS) towers, broadcasting towers, two-way radio 
towers, fixed-point microwave dishes, commercial satellites and receiving dishes, and related 
equipment cabinets and/or buildings.  The  intent of this ordinance is: (1) to implement the provisions 
of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, on a local level; (2) to control placement of towers and 
antennas in a way that minimizes the adverse visual impact to nearby properties by locating towers and 
antennas in non-residential areas or in areas where the adverse impact on the community is minimal; 
and (3) to advocate the shared use of existing and planned tower sites through co-location, thereby 
discouraging the proliferation of towers throughout Fayette County.   


B. Authority.  Only the Board of Commissioners has the authority to reduce or waive the requirements 
under this section through the public hearing procedure. 


C. Applicability.     


1. District Height Limitations.  Height limits specified for each zoning district shall not apply to 
towers and antennas.  The requirements set forth herein shall govern the height of towers and 
antennas. 


2. Governmentally Owned Property.  These requirements shall not apply to any governmentally 
owned property, including: properties owned by the Board of Commissioners, Board of 
Education, or a municipality, as well as, the State or Federal government, that are used for the 
location of any tower facility.   


3. Amateur Radio Antennas.  This ordinance shall not govern any amateur radio tower, or the 
installation of any antenna, that is less than 70 feet in height and is owned and operated by a 
federally-licensed amateur radio station operator. 


4. Pre-Existing Towers and Antennas.   
a. Any tower or antenna which existed prior to May 24, 2012, that does not comply 


with the requirements herein shall be deemed legally nonconforming.  Any 
enlargement of a pre-existing tower or tower facility, shall meet the requirements 
herein.  Co-location of an antenna which does not increase the height of the tower or 
placement of additional equipment cabinets or buildings within the existing tower 
facility shall be allowed under the provisions of Site Plan Requirements. 


b. Replacement of a pre-existing legally nonconforming tower structure is permitted 
provided that all of the following apply:  
i. The replacement tower is constructed within 25 feet of the existing tower 


and is not greater in height than the existing tower. 
ii. The tower being replaced is removed from site within 90 calendar days from 


the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy for the replacement tower; 
iii. Additional co-location opportunities on the new tower are made available 


with the minimum users required based on tower height; and 
iv. A site plan indicating the location of the replacement tower shall be required. 


D. General Requirements. 


1. Towers and tower facilities shall be on a lot which meets the minimum requirements for the 
zoning district in which it is located.  Towers and tower facilities may be located on a lot 
containing another use.  Towers and tower facilities may occupy a leased area being a portion 
of the lot. 


2. Internal setbacks for towers, tower facilities, and anchors shall be measured to the boundaries 
of the lot, not the boundaries of the leased area.  Setbacks for towers shall be measured from 
the base of the tower. 
a. All towers shall be set back from all adjoining properties zoned residential or A-R a 


distance equal to the height of the tower plus 10 feet. 
b. All towers shall be set back from all adjoining properties zoned non-residential a 


distance of 100 feet. 







 


 


28


c. All towers shall be set back from the street right-of-way (existing or required, 
whichever is greater) a distance equal to the height of the tower.  Street right-of-way 
is based on the classification of the street (see County Code, Development 
Regulations.) 


d. All towers, excluding alternative tower structures, shall be set back from any off-site 
residence a distance equal to three (3) times the tower height or a minimum of 500 
feet, whichever is greater.  


e. Any tower facility and anchors for guyed towers shall comply with the minimum 
required setbacks and/or buffers of the applicable zoning district. 


f. All towers shall be set back from all adjacent municipalities and counties a minimum 
distance of 1,000 feet. 


3. Towers located on the same lot as a private school or day care center shall be set back a 
distance equal to the height of the tower from all facilities, excluding parking areas. This 
provision shall not apply to an alternative tower structure which is allowed in conjunction 
with a Private School Conditional Use. 


4. All towers, excluding alternative tower structures, shall be structurally designed to 
accommodate the following minimum numbers of carriers based on height of the tower: 
a. up to 70 feet: one (1) carrier; 
b. greater than 70 up to 120 feet:  two (2) carriers;  
c. greater than 120 feet up to 150 feet:  three (3) carriers; 
d. greater than 150 feet up to 180 feet:  four (4) carriers;  
e. greater than 180 feet up to 250 feet:  five (5) carriers; and  
f. greater than 250 feet:  six (6) carriers. 


5. All tower facilities, excluding tower facilities associated with alternative tower structures, 
shall be enclosed by a steel chain link fence not less than eight (8) feet in height, with slat 
inserts for screening.  Access to the telecommunication tower shall be through a locking gate. 
In addition, a minimum of three (3) strands of barbed wire shall be used along the top of the 
fence to prevent unauthorized access to the tower. 


6. A landscaped strip 10 feet in width surrounding the perimeter of the tower facility shall be 
required. Landscaping shall be staggered double rows of evergreen trees a minimum of six (6) 
feet in height when planted and spaced every 10 feet on center.  Landscaping shall be 
installed on the outside of the required security fence.  Existing mature tree growth and 
natural land forms on the site shall be preserved to the maximum extent possible.  In some 
cases, such as towers sited on large wooded lots, the Zoning Administrator may determine 
that natural growth around the property perimeter may be sufficient in lieu of the required 
landscaping. If existing vegetation is to remain and requested to count toward the landscaping 
requirements, all such information, including location, size, and type of vegetation shall be 
indicated on the site/landscape plan.  These requirements shall not apply to a tower facility 
associated with an alternative tower structure. 


7. Maximum height for all towers and antennas is 500 feet.  Tower height shall be measured 
from the natural grade of the ground at the location of the tower to the highest point of the 
tower, including any antenna.  If minimal grading (elevation of one [1] to two [2] feet above 
natural grade) is required to level the ground for the tower base, tower height shall be 
measured from the finished grade approved by the County Engineer. 


8. No signage, other than required safety signage, shall be placed on a tower structure or 
antenna. 


9. Aesthetics and Lighting Requirements.  The following compatibility standards shall govern 
the aesthetics and lighting of any tower facility, including the installation of antennas on 
towers. 
a. Towers shall either maintain a galvanized steel finish or, subject to any applicable 


standards of the FAA, be painted a neutral color, so as to reduce visual obtrusiveness. 
 







 


 


29


b. If an antenna is installed on a structure other than a tower, the antenna and equipment 
cabinets shall be architecturally compatible with, the color and texture of the 
supporting structure. Roof mounted equipment cabinets shall be screened so as to 
make the equipment visually unobtrusive. 


c. Towers shall not be artificially lighted, unless required by the FAA or other 
applicable authority 


10. Removal of Abandoned Antennas and Towers.  Prior to the abandonment of any tower or 
antenna, a copy of the notice of Intent to Abandon required by the FCC shall also be 
submitted to the Fayette County Planning and Zoning Department.  Any antenna or tower, 
including pre-existing towers and antennas, that is not in use for a continuous period of 12 
months shall be considered abandoned, and the owner of such antenna or tower shall remove 
same within 90 days of receipt of notice from the governing authority notifying the owner of 
such abandonment.  If there are two (2) or more users of a single tower, then this provision 
shall not become effective until all users cease using the tower. 


11. Performance Bond Required.  Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for a new 
tower structure, every applicant shall be required to deposit a performance bond with Fayette 
County.  The amount of the bond shall be equal to 10 percent of the total construction cost or 
a minimum of $5,000, whichever is greater.  Such bond shall be required upon compliance 
with all aspects of this section and shall be applicable to any assignee and owner of any 
permit granted hereunder, or any employee, contractor, subcontractor, or other party 
performing services in connection with any Certificate of Zoning Compliance issued by the 
Planning and Zoning Department.  The required performance bond shall be released only 
upon demolition of the tower and restoration of the site to the pre-development conditions.  
The approved format of the bond is available in the Planning and Zoning Department. 


E. Supplemental Requirements. In addition to the General Requirements above, the following 
Supplemental Requirements shall apply as specified below. 
1. Highway Corridor.   Locating towers along the following highway corridors is permitted as 


an overlay zone provided all the following requirements are met: 
a. The State and County Highways included within the Highway Corridor are S.R. 54, 


S.R. 85, S.R. 92, S.R. 74, S.R. 314, S.R. 279, S.R. 138, and 85 Connector. 
b. The Highway Corridor tower overlay zone permits towers in any zoning district when 


located within 1,000 feet of the right-of-way on either side of the aforementioned 
roads in unincorporated areas of Fayette County. 


c. Towers in excess of 250 feet in height in the Highway Corridor shall require public 
hearings before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners. 


d. All new towers, excluding alternative tower structures, located within the Highway 
Corridor that are 70 feet or greater in height shall not be located within one (1) statute 
mile from any existing or planned towers (within any local government jurisdiction) 
that are 70 feet or greater in height.  This minimum distance requirement shall not 
apply from existing governmentally-owned towers where co-location is not permitted 
or from alternative tower structures. 


2. Outside of the Highway Corridor. 
a. Outside of the Highway Corridor, a tower may be located only in the following 


zoning districts: 
Manufacturing and Heavy Industrial District (M-2); 
Light Industrial District (M-1); 
Highway Commercial District (C-H); 
Community Commercial District (C-C); 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) excluding PUD-PRD; 
Agricultural Residential (A-R); and 
R-70 Single-Family Residential District. 


 







 


 


30


b. Towers in excess of 180 feet in height outside of the Highway Corridor shall require 
public hearings before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners. 


c. All new towers, excluding alternative tower structures,  located  outside of the 
Highway Corridor that are 70 feet or greater in height shall not be located within one 
and one-half (1.50) statute miles from any existing or planned towers (within any 
local government jurisdiction) that are 70 feet or greater in height.  This minimum 
distance requirement shall not apply from existing government-owned towers where 
co-location is not permitted or from alternative tower structures. 


3. Alternative Tower Structures. 


a. The purpose of an alternative tower structure is to diminish, camouflage, or conceal 
the appearance of towers and antennas to reduce the visual impact on surrounding 
properties and streets. Depending on the nature of the site, the proposed alternative 
tower structure shall be appropriate and in character with its surroundings.  For 
example, the use of a monopine is more fitting on a site with stands of mature trees; 
whereas, the use of a flag pole or light pole alternative tower structure is more 
suitable for the developed portion of a site. 


b. Alternative tower structures shall comply with the General Requirements herein with 
the exception of the setback requirements from off-site residences, security fencing 
requirements, landscape requirements, and tower separation requirements of both the 
Highway Corridor and outside of the Highway Corridor.  Alternative tower structures 
shall be allowed in the Highway Corridor, outside of the Highway Corridor in the 
zoning districts listed herein, and in conjunction with the following existing 
Conditional Uses: 
i. Church or Other Place of Worship; 
ii. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas;  
iii. Private School; and 
iv. Telephone, Electric, or Gas Sub-Station or Other Public Utility Facilities. 


c. Alternative tower structures, in conjunction with the above listed Conditional Uses, 
shall meet the setbacks established in the General Requirements or the Conditional 
Use setbacks, whichever is greater. 


d. An alternative tower in excess of 120 feet in height shall require public hearings 
before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners. 


e. A maximum of one (1) alternative tower structure shall be allowed per lot.  
f. The alternative tower structure shall match the visual simulation depiction and 


engineering detail and specification drawings from the manufacturer/supplier of the 
alternative tower structure specifically proposed for the site. 


g. Design Review and Approval Process:  Alternative tower structures shall go through 
a Design Review and Approval Process before the Planning Commission.  
The purpose of this Design Review and Approval Process is to determine that the 
alternative tower structure type is appropriate for the site and surrounding area and 
set requirements for the alternative tower structure type, placement on the site, 
equipment structures, fencing and landscaping. 
The Design Review and Approval Process application shall include the following: 
i. An analysis of the nature and character of the site and how the alternative 


tower structure is appropriate in context to the site and the view from 
surrounding properties and streets;  


ii. A visual simulation consisting of color photographs of the proposed site with 
the existing view and with a depiction of the proposed tower, from a 
minimum of four (4) distinct quadrants (generally north, east, south, and 
west), to demonstrate the visual impact on surrounding properties and 
streets; and 


 







 


 


31


iii. Engineering detail and specification drawings from the manufacturer/ 
supplier of the alternative tower structure specifically proposed for the site 
which shall indicate all applicable requirements herein. 


h. Monopine Towers. 
i. Monopine towers shall maintain the natural conical appearance of a loblolly 


pine tree. Antennas shall be placed a minimum of five (5) feet below the top 
of the tower, as measured from the highest point of the antenna to maintain 
said appearance. 


ii. Foliage shall be green in color and the tower shall be brown in color.   The 
antennas shall be green to blend with the foliage and the foliage shall extend 
a minimum of one (1) foot beyond the antennas. The foliage shall be UV 
resistant to reduce degradation and fading and constructed to withstand 
winds of 110 MPH, certification of such shall be supplied with the 
application.   Foliage shall be placed on the tower down to the height of the 
foliage of surrounding trees.  The structure shall have sufficient limbs at the 
time of initial installation so that there is no gap between the existing canopy 
and the lower most limbs of the monopine. 


iii. The installation of the foliage on the monopine shall be installed prior to 
final inspections.  Foliage on the monopine shall be maintained and/or 
replaced to the specifications established by the engineering detail and 
specification drawings from the manufacturer/supplier of the alternative 
tower structure specifically proposed for the site to retain the screening of 
the antennas.  Upon notice from the County that the foliage is in need of 
maintenance and/or replacement, the tower owner shall have 90 days to 
make such repairs. 


i. Flag pole and light pole alternative tower structures shall utilize internal antennas and 
slick stick design.  Flag poles utilized as an alternative tower structure shall be 
exempt from Article V. General Provisions, Structures Permitted above the Height 


Limit.  
F. Public Hearings Required to Reduce or Waive Requirements. 


1. Public hearings before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners are necessary 
to reduce or waive requirements for a proposed tower, antenna, or equipment cabinet or 
building that cannot comply with the General Requirements, and/or Supplemental 
Requirements.  The procedure for said public hearings shall follow the procedure for rezoning 
(see Article XI.)  Applicants shall apply for public hearings through the Planning and Zoning 
Department.  The application with deadline submittal and public hearing dates is available in 
the Planning and Zoning Department. The application shall include the following:  
a. A scaled Concept Plan, drawn on the signed/sealed survey, graphically indicating the 


lot and leased area, total tower height including antennas, type and design of the 
tower structure, the boundary of the tower facility, all applicable setbacks (both on 
and off-site), ingress/egress, landscaping areas, and zoning of the subject property 
and adjacent property; 


b. Inventory of Existing or Planned Tower Sites.  When a proposed tower cannot meet 
the separation requirements between towers, an Inventory of Existing or Planned 
Tower Sites shall be required to sufficiently demonstrate that no existing or planned 
tower can accommodate the proposed antenna. Each applicant for a new tower shall 
contact the owners of all existing and planned tower sites, including those located 
within all adjacent municipalities and counties that are within the search area of the 
applicant=s proposed tower location. The inventory shall be prepared by a radio 
frequency engineer.  The inventory shall include the following information: 
i. All tower owners and the number of carriers for each tower site; 
ii. The site location, total height, and design type of each tower; 







 


 


32


iii. Details of all existing and planned towers or structures located within the 
search area and the ability of such to meet the applicant=s engineering 


requirements, including, but not limited to: sufficient height, structural 
support strength, and electromagnetic interference with antenna(s) on the 
existing towers or structures; 


iv. Other limiting factors that render existing towers and structures unsuitable; 
and 


v. Letters of rejection for requests to co-locate on all existing and planned 
towers within the search area of the proposed tower. 


The County will engage an independent expert review of the Inventory of Existing 
and Planned Tower Sites.  If the actual cost to the county for independent expert 
review of the document is greater than the application fee, the applicant shall be 
billed for the difference and payment shall be made prior to the hearing before the 
Board of Commissioners.  An Inventory of Existing and Planned Tower Sites which 
is lacking of the information above, as determined by the independent expert, shall 
require a resubmittal of the lacking information and postpone the tower application to 
the next scheduled cycle of public hearings.  The Inventories of Existing or Planned 
Tower Sites are available as an information source to assist other applicants applying 
for approval under this ordinance, provided; however, that the Planning and Zoning 
Department is not, by sharing such information, in any way representing or 
warranting that such sites are available or suitable.     


c. A balloon test shall be conducted prior to the public hearings.  The balloon shall be 
flown for a minimum of four (4) daylight hours from the location of the proposed 
tower, at the requested height.  The application shall include the date and time of the 
balloon test and an alternative date, in case of inclement weather. The initial balloon 
test shall be held on a Saturday and the alternative date may be held on any day of the 
week.  A sign announcing the dates of the balloon test shall be posted on the property 
by the County a minimum of five (5) calendar days prior to the initial balloon test; 
and 


d. The applicant shall submit a visual simulation, based on the balloon test, a minimum 
of seven (7) calendar days prior to the Planning Commission public hearing.  Failure 
to meet this deadline will postpone the tower application to the next scheduled cycle 
of public hearings.   The visual simulation shall consist of color photographs of the 
proposed site with the existing view and with a depiction of the proposed tower, from 
a minimum of four (4) distinct quadrants (generally north, east, south, and west), to 
demonstrate the visual impact on surrounding properties and streets.  An Affidavit 
certifying that the correct location and height of the tower were utilized in the balloon 
test shall be submitted with the visual simulation photographs. 


2. Factors Considered in Public Hearing Applications.  The following factors shall be 
considered when evaluating a tower application: 
a. Height of the proposed tower; 
b. Distance of the tower to residential structures and residential zoning district 


boundaries; 
c. Nature of uses on adjacent and nearby properties; 
d. Topography of the site and its effect on the efficiency of the tower in terms of 


coverage; 
e. Surrounding tree coverage and foliage and its effect on the efficiency of the tower in 


terms of coverage, as well as, its effect on the visual impact of the tower on 
surrounding properties and streets; 


f. Design of the tower, with particular reference to design characteristics that have the 
effect of reducing or eliminating visual obtrusiveness; 


g. Proposed ingress and egress; and 







 


 


33


h. The degree of the tower’s compliance with the one (1) statute mile separation (inside 
the Highway Corridor) or one and one-half (1.5) statute mile separation (outside the 
Highway Corridor.) 


  In granting its approval to waive or reduce requirements, the County, through the Board of 
Commissioners or its designee, may impose conditions that are necessary to minimize the 
adverse effect of a proposed tower or antenna on adjoining property. A site application shall 
be submitted within 60 days of the date of approval by the Board of Commissioners or the 
proposed tower will no longer be deemed a planned tower. 


G. Site Application Requirements.  All applicants for new tower construction shall include the following:  
a. completed application forms signed and notarized; 
b. proof of ownership of the parent tract (latest recorded Warranty Deed);  
c. site plan prepared by an Engineer, Architect, or Landscape Architect registered by the State of 


Georgia; 
d. landscape plans (see General Requirements); 


 e. provide number of carriers based on maximum height of tower; 
 f. a lease agreement with a minimum of one (1) carrier. 


Site Plan Requirements.  All tower applicants for new towers shall be required to submit a scaled site 
plan which complies with all applicable requirements of the Development Regulations (see County 
Code.)  Additional information indicated on the site plan shall include: 
a. a signed/sealed survey by a land surveyor registered in the State of Georgia of the parent tract, 


leased area, and ingress/egress easement, indicating the metes and bounds for each; 
b. total tower height including antennas; 
c. type and design of any tower facility, including  location of equipment buildings or cabinets; 


 d. distance from nearest off-site residences; 
e. fencing and gate details; 
f. all applicable setbacks for the tower, tower facility, and anchors for guyed tower, as 


applicable; 
g. distance from existing and planned towers ; 
h. zoning and acreage of parent tract;  
i. zoning of  adjacent property; and  
j. other information necessary to assess compliance with this ordinance.   
Any information of an engineering nature that the applicant submits, whether civil, mechanical, or 
electrical, shall be certified by a licensed professional engineer.  Site plan submittal shall include 
completion of a tower application, signed and notarized by both the property owner and the tower 
company representative/agent.  


H. Installing an Antenna on an Existing Structure or Co-locating or Replacing an Antenna on an 


Existing Tower. The following scenarios shall not require submittal of a site application or site plan: 
a. Installing an antenna on an existing structure, so long as said installation adds no more than 


20 feet to the height of said existing structure (including buildings, light/utility poles, water 
towers, or other free standing non-residential structures excluding signs and towers.) 


b. Co-locating or replacing an antenna on any existing tower, so long as, said installation does 
not increase the height of the tower and/or exceed the maximum height of administrative 
tower approval for that location and complies with all applicable conditions of approval 


associated with the tower site.  


c. Enlargement of an existing equipment building, or placement of additional equipment 
cabinets or buildings at a tower site which does not require an enlargement of the existing 
tower facility. 


Prior to the co-location or replacement of any antenna on an existing tower, enlargement of an existing 
equipment building, or placement of additional equipment cabinets or buildings at a tower site, the 
applicant shall provide written notice to the Zoning Administrator. The notice shall include a depiction 
of the location, size, and configuration of such antenna on the existing tower and equipment location 
within the existing tower facility in reference to an existing site plan and a copy of the FCC license. A 







 


 


34


Certificate of Zoning Compliance shall be issued by the Zoning Administrator upon satisfaction of all 
applicable requirements, and any applicable building permits/inspections shall be required subsequent 
to the issuance of the Certificate of Zoning Compliance. 


I. Site Application Timeframes. An application shall not be accepted for review unless, at minimum, it 
includes completed application forms (signed and notarized), proof of ownership of the parent tract (latest 
recorded Warranty Deed) and site plan prepared (sealed and signed) by an Engineer, Architect or 
Landscape Architect registered by the state of Georgia.  The Zoning Administrator has 30 days to 
determine if an application is complete. Upon notice that an application is incomplete, the applicant has 30 
days to submit all necessary information to complete the application.  Failure to complete the application in 
this timeframe shall result in an automatic withdrawal of the application and the proposed tower will no 
longer be deemed a planned tower and a site application shall not be submitted for the same property for 
60 days. 
The County shall act on applications for co-locations within 90 days and all other applications within 150 
days.  If the Zoning Administrator requests additional information within the 30 day review period as 
mentioned above, the time it takes the applicant to respond will not count towards the 90 or 150 day 
timeframe limits. 


J. FAA Determination.  Prior to the approval and issuance of the certificate of Zoning Compliance, a 
copy of a FAA Determination including “Does Not Exceed, “Exceeds But Okay”, or “Determination 
of No Hazard” shall be submitted within the 90 or 150 day timeframe limits, as applicable.  Failure to 
submit the determination in these timeframes shall result in an automatic withdrawal of the 
application, and the proposed tower will no longer be deemed a planned tower, and a site application 
shall not be submitted for the same property for 60 days.  Any tower that receives a “Determination of 
Hazard” shall be denied. 


K. FCC License.  Prior to the approval and issuance of the Certificate of Zoning Compliance, a copy of 
the FCC License shall be submitted within the 90 or 150 day timeframe limits, as applicable.  Failure 
to submit the copy of FCC License in these timeframes shall result in an automatic withdrawal of the 
application, and the proposed tower will no longer be deemed a planned tower, and a site application 
shall not be submitted for the same property for 60 days. 


L. Private Airport or Heliport Zone.  A one (1) statute mile zone is established around any private airport 
or heliport that is registered with the FAA to prevent a hazard to aviation operations. Since the FAA 
does not make a determination for a private airport or heliport, a supplemental Federal Aviation 
Regulations Part 77/FAA Form 7460 study and a “No Hazard” letter prepared by a firm on the GDOT 
prequalified 1.08 Airport Master Planning list shall be submitted within the 90 or 150 day timeframe 
limits for an antenna or a tower that is proposed within this zone, as applicable.  Any tower that creates 
a hazard for a private airport or heliport shall be denied.  


M. Tower Approval Expiration.  Approval of a site application by the applicable departments for a tower 
shall expire 12 months from the date of approval and will no longer be deemed a planned tower, 
unless a Certificate of Occupancy has been issued for the tower or the building permit remains active. 


 


Section 4.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE VI.  DISTRICT USE REQUIREMENTS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, 


enacting a new ARTICLE VI.  DISTRICT USE REQUIREMENTS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE VI.  DISTRICT USE REQUIREMENTS 


 
The purpose of this Article is to delineate the uses and requirements of the established zoning districts.  The 
Legal Nonconforming Status (LNS) designation, as administered in Article VII, shall be considered a sub-
category of the particular zoning district.   
 


Sec. 6-1.  A-R Agricultural - Residential District. 


A. Description of District. This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a very 
low density single-family residential and agricultural character and designed to protect against 







 


 


35


the depreciating effects of small lot, residential development and those uses which are 
incompatible with such a residential and agricultural environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the A-R Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); 
3. Growing of crops and the on-premise sale of produce and agricultural products, 


provided 50 percent of the produce/products sold shall be grown on-premise;    
4. Plant nurseries and greenhouses (no sales of related garden supplies); and  
5. Raising of livestock; aquaculture, including pay fishing; apiary (all beehives shall 


comply with the required setbacks); and the sale thereof. (Amended 07/28/11) 
C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the A-R Zoning 


District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
 1.  Aircraft Landing Area;  
 2. Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-commercial), or Veterinary Clinic; 


                           3. Cemetery;  
 4. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
 5. Colleges and University, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and/or stadium; 
  6. Commercial Driving Range and Related Accessories; 
 7. Day Care Facility (Nursery School); 
 8. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
 9. Farm Outbuildings, including Horse Stables, Auxiliary Structures, and Commercial 


Greenhouses;    
  10. Golf Course (minimum 18-hole regulation) and Related Accessories; 


11. Home Occupation; 
  12. Horse Show, Rodeo, Carnival, and/or Community Fair; 


13. Hospital; 
14. Kennel (see Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial, and/or 


Veterinary Clinic);   


15. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium; 


16. Processing, packaging, or handling of perishable agricultural products (i.e. fruits and 
vegetables) which are grown on premises; 


17. Recreation centers and similar institutions owned by non-profit organizations as so 
registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office; 


18. Religious Tent Meeting; and 
19. Shooting Range, Outdoor. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the A-R Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 217,800 square feet (five [5] acres) 
2. Lot width: 250 feet 
3. Floor area: 1,200 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 100 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 75 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 75 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 50 feet 
 







 


 


36


7. Height limit:    
 a. 35 feet as defined in Article III.   


b. The limitation on height shall not apply to agricultural structures such as 
storage barns, silos, or other types of structure not normally designed for 
human occupation except that when an agricultural structure exceeds the 
maximum building height the minimum distance from property lines to any 
building shall be increased one (1) foot for every two (2) feet or part thereof 
of building height over 35 feet.      


E. Special Regulations.  Prior to the issuance of development and/or building permits, a Site 
Plan shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator and approved by the appropriate County 
officials.  This requirement shall apply to all Permitted Uses and Conditional Uses allowed in 
the A-R Zoning District except single-family dwellings; accessory buildings and uses; 
growing crops and the on-premise sale of produce at agricultural stands of 100 square feet or 
less of floor area; growing and seasonal sale of Christmas trees; plant nursery, landscape tree 
farm, or commercial greenhouse operations existing prior to the effective date of June 26, 
2003; and the raising and/or selling of livestock.  


 


Sec. 6-2.  C-S, Conservation Subdivision      
A. Purpose. The intent of this section is to create a residential Conservation Subdivision 


procedure.  A Conservation Subdivision is a residential subdivision where lots are reduced in 
size and clustered to protect the natural attributes of the site and provide open space.  This 
open space will be protected from development in perpetuity and will be utilized to protect 
water quality, water bodies, wetlands, riparian buffers, woodlands, archaeological resources, 
historic resources, agricultural areas and scenic areas.  This open space will also provide flood 
protection, a reduction in soil erosion and be utilized for recreation.  The aforementioned 
attributes should be taken into consideration in the design of the subdivision.  The first step in 
designing a Conservation Subdivision is to locate and delineate the area and natural attributes 
to be preserved.  The residential lots are located outside of this area.   In addition, the 
clustering of lots can result in lower infrastructure costs both for installation and maintenance. 
The creation of the Conservation Subdivision (C-S) Zoning District is to assist Fayette County 
in fulfilling the goal of permanently protecting greenspace in the county. The Conservation 
Subdivision Zoning District is intended for those areas designated Low Density Residential (l 
unit/1 to 2 acres) and Rural Residential (1 unit/2 to 3 acres) on the Fayette County Land Use 
Plan Map.     


B. Rezoning Requirements. The following is required for a rezoning petition for the 
Conservation Subdivision Zoning District in addition to what is normally required for a 
rezoning petition: 
1. A petition for the Conservation Subdivision Zoning District will require a Yield Plan. 


The number of lots allowed in a Conservation Subdivision will be determined by a 
Yield Plan which is a conventional subdivision design based on the dimensional 
requirements of the R-70 Zoning District.  This concept is referred to as Neutral 
Density.  The Yield Plan shall contain the check list requirements available in the 
office of the Zoning Administrator.  The rezoning petition shall not be filed with the 
Planning and Zoning Department until the Yield Plan has been approved by the 
applicable departments. 


2. A Development Plan shall be required for the rezoning petition.  The Development 
Plan, as approved, shall establish the layout and uses planned for the development.  
Any change in the approved Development Plan, which affects the intent and 
character of the development, the density or land use pattern, the location or 
dimensions of streets, or similar substantial changes, shall be reviewed and approved 
by the Board of Commissioners upon the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission.  A petition for a revision of the Development Plan shall be supported 







 


 


37


by a written statement as to why the revisions are necessary. 
Each Conservation Subdivision shall consist of two areas: the Residential Area and 
the Conservation Area.  The Conservation Area will consist of the environmentally 
sensitive areas including waterways, water bodies, watershed protection areas, 
floodplains, wetlands, riparian buffers and woodlands, as well as agricultural areas, 
existing agricultural structures and historical structures.  The Conservation Area will 
remain in a natural and undisturbed state with minimal improvements. 
In addition to what is normally required on the Development Plan, the Development 
Plan shall include the following; 
a. A delineation of the attributes (see Purpose) of the site which will be 


preserved; 
b. A delineation of the Residential Area and the Conservation Area including 


the acreage within each area; 
c. Uses and improvements planned for the Conservation Area with the acreage 


devoted to each; and 
d. Indicate and label existing structures to remain.  


C. Uses Permitted within the Residential Area of a Conservation Subdivision.  The following 
permitted uses shall be allowed in the Residential Area of the C-S Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; and 
2. Residential accessory structures and uses (see Article V.) 


D. Conditional Uses Permitted within the Residential Area of a Conservation Subdivision.  The 
following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the Residential Area of C-S Zoning District 
provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, Nonconformances, 
Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development Standards, herein are 
met: 
1. Home Occupation; 


  2. Horse Quarters; and 


3. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas. 
E. Uses Permitted within the Conservation Area of a Conservation Subdivision.  The following 


permitted uses and structures shall be allowed in the Conservation Area of the C-S Zoning 
District: 
1. Trails and paths (impervious trails and paths are limited to five [5] percent of the 


Conservation Area and trails and paths shall comply with the Watershed Protection 
Ordinance);  


2. Picnic areas which can include picnic tables, grills, benches, playground equipment 
(swing sets, slides, etc.)  Picnic areas and one (1) covered picnic pavilion are required 
to be setback 50 feet from any residential property line and are limited to five (5) 
percent of the Conservation Area.  The covered picnic pavilion shall be limited to a 
maximum of 900 square feet; 


3. Community gardens for the use of the residents of the subdivision only; 
4. The maintenance of existing orchards and groves including the harvesting of fruit and 


nuts; 
5. The maintenance of existing pastures including the harvesting of hay; and 
6. The maintenance of existing farm fields used for row crops including the harvesting 


of crops.  Said fields shall be outside of watershed protection areas as described in 
the Watershed Protection Ordinance.  All areas within a watershed protection area 
can no longer be used for row crops.  The area within a watershed protection area 
could be used in accordance with 6. above. 


F. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements within the Residential 
Area in the C-S Zoning District shall be as follows: 
 
 







 


 


38


1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 
a. Where central sanitary sewage or central water distribution system is 


provided:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 
b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 


system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 
2. Lot width per dwelling unit: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 150 feet 
ii. Collector: 150 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 2,100 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 20 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


G. Use of Existing Structure.  The preservation of existing historic residential structures listed in 
the Architectural Survey of Fayette County is encouraged as these structures can be used as 
residences or community facilities for the subdivision.  Existing residential structures used for 
a community facility shall meet all applicable building and safety codes and will be regulated 
as a Conditional Use under Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas. The 
preservation of existing agricultural structures is also encouraged as they will assist in 
maintaining a rural character.  The use of these residential and agricultural structures will be 
subject to the approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals in terms of nonconformance with this 
zoning district.   


H. Conservation Area Requirements.  The Conservation Area of the subdivision shall meet the 
following requirements: 
1. Ownership. Title to the Conservation Area shall be conveyed to one (1) of the 


following entities: 
a. A Home Owners Association that has been established according to OCGA 


44-3-220; or 
b. A Conservation Trust organization approved by the Fayette County Board of 


Commissioners; or 
c. The Fayette County Board of Commissioners (for Conservation Areas with 


no structures only.) 
2. Size. Each development eligible for treatment as a Conservation Subdivision shall 


place at least 40 percent of the total subject property into the Conservation Area not 
withstanding the yield plan.  This area shall be described by metes and bounds. 


3. Permanent Protection.   Each Conservation Area regardless of ownership shall have 
a conservation easement as approved by the county attorney filed in the records of the 
Fayette County Clerk of Superior Court.  The easement shall reserve the 
Conservation Area to conservation uses as defined herein in perpetuity. 


 
Sec. 6-3.  EST, Estate Residential District      


A. Purpose.  An Estate Residential subdivision is a residential subdivision where lots are 
reduced in size and clustered to provide conservation area.  Each Estate Residential 
subdivision will consist of two (2) areas, a residential area and a conservation area.  The 
conservation area will be protected from development in perpetuity by an easement or deed 
restriction.  The conservation area will be utilized for approved recreation for the residents of 







 


 


39


the subdivision. The clustering of lots can result in lower infrastructure costs both for 
installation and maintenance.   The Estate Residential Zoning District is intended for those 
areas designated Agricultural Residential (1 unit/5 acres) on the Fayette County Land Use 
Plan Map.  The creation of the EST Estate Residential District is to assist Fayette County in 
permanently protecting greenspace in the county.    


B. Rezoning Requirements. The following is required for a rezoning petition for the Estate 
Residential Zoning District in addition to what is normally required for a rezoning petition: 
1. A petition for the Estate Residential Zoning District will require a Yield Plan. The 


number of lots allowed in a Estate Residential Zoning District will be determined by 
a Yield Plan which is a conventional subdivision design based on the dimensional 
requirements of the A-R Zoning District.  This concept is referred to as Neutral 
Density.  The Yield Plan shall contain the check list requirements available in the 
office of the Zoning Administrator.  The rezoning petition shall not be filed with the 
Planning and Zoning Department until the Yield Plan has been approved by the 
applicable departments. 


2. A Development Plan shall be required for the rezoning petition.  The Development 
Plan, as approved, shall establish the layout and uses planned for the development.  
Any change in the approved Development Plan, which affects the intent and 
character of the development, the density or land use pattern, the location or 
dimensions of streets, or similar substantial changes, shall be reviewed and approved 
by the Board of Commissioners upon the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission.  A petition for a revision of the Development Plan shall be supported 
by a written statement as to why the revisions are necessary. 
Each EST Subdivision shall consist of two (2) areas: the residential area and the 
conservation area.  The conservation area will consist of the environmentally 
sensitive areas, including waterways, water bodies, watershed protection areas, 
floodplains, wetlands, riparian buffers and woodlands, as well as, agricultural areas 
existing agricultural structures and historical structures.  The conservation area will 
remain in a natural and undisturbed state with minimal improvements.  In addition to 
what is normally required on the Development Plan, the Development Plan shall 
include the following: 
a. A delineation of the attributes (see Purpose) of the site which will be 


preserved; 
b. A delineation of the residential area and the conservation area including the 


approximate acreage within each area;    
c. Uses and improvements planned for the conservation area with the acreage 


devoted to each; and    
   d. Indicate and label existing structures to remain. 


C. Rezoning Requirements. The following is required for a rezoning petition for the 
Conservation Subdivision Zoning District in addition to what is normally required for a 
rezoning petition: 
1. A petition for the Conservation Subdivision Zoning District will require a Yield Plan. 


The number of lots allowed in a Conservation Subdivision will be determined by a 
Yield Plan which is a conventional subdivision design based on the dimensional 
requirements of the R-70 Zoning District.  This concept is referred to as Neutral 
Density.  The Yield Plan shall contain the check list requirements available in the 
office of the Zoning Administrator.  Staff analysis of the Yield Plan will add an 
additional month to the normal rezoning schedule.  The rezoning petition shall not be 
filed with the Planning and Zoning Department until the Yield Plan has been 
approved by the applicable departments. 


2. A Development Plan shall be required for the rezoning petition.  The Development 
Plan, as approved, shall establish the layout and uses planned for the development.  







 


 


40


Any change in the approved Development Plan, which affects the intent and 
character of the development, the density or land use pattern, the location or 
dimensions of streets, or similar substantial changes, shall be reviewed and approved 
by the Board of Commissioners upon the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission.  A petition for a revision of the Development Plan shall be supported 
by a written statement as to why the revisions are necessary. 
Each Conservation Subdivision shall consist of two areas: the Residential Area and 
the Conservation Area.  The Conservation Area will consist of the environmentally 
sensitive areas including waterways, water bodies, watershed protection areas, 
floodplains, wetlands, riparian buffers and woodlands, as well as agricultural areas, 
existing agricultural structures and historical structures.  The Conservation Area will 
remain in a natural and undisturbed state with minimal improvements and will be 
regulated in a manner consistent with the Georgia Greenspace Program requirements 
to the greatest degree possible.   
In addition to what is normally required on the Development Plan, the Development 
Plan shall include the following; 
a. A delineation of the attributes (see Purpose) of the site which will be 


preserved; 
b. A delineation of the Residential Area and the Conservation Area, including 


the acreage within each area; 
c. Uses and improvements planned for the Conservation Area with the acreage 


devoted to each; and 
d. Indicate and label existing structures to remain 


D. Uses Permitted within the Residential Area of an Estate Residential Subdivision.  The 
following permitted uses shall be allowed in the Residential Area of the Estate Residential 
Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; and 
2. Residential accessory structures and uses (see Article V.) 


E. Conditional Uses. The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the residential area of 
EST Zoning District, provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
2. Home Occupation; and 


  3. Horse Quarters. 
F. Uses Permitted within the Conservation Area of an Estate Residential Subdivision.  The 


following permitted uses and structures shall be allowed in the conservation area of the Estate 
Residential Zoning District:    
1.  Trails and paths (impervious trails and paths are limited to five [5] percent of the 


conservation area and trails and paths shall comply with the Watershed Protection 
Ordinance);      


2. Picnic areas which can include picnic tables, grills, benches, playground equipment 
(swing sets, slides, etc.)   Picnic areas and one (1) covered picnic pavilion are 
required to be setback 50 feet from any residential property line and are limited to 
five (5) percent of the conservation area.  The covered picnic pavilion shall not 
exceed a maximum of 900 square feet;     


3. Community gardens for the use of the residents of the subdivision only; 
4. The maintenance of existing orchards and groves including the harvesting of fruit and 


nuts; 
5. The maintenance of existing pastures including the harvesting of hay; and 
6. The maintenance of existing farm fields used for row crops including the harvesting 


of crops.  Said fields shall be outside of watershed protection areas as described in 







 


 


41


the Watershed Protection Ordinance.  All areas within a watershed protection area 
can no longer be used for row crops.  The area within a watershed protection area 
could be used in accordance with 5. above.  


G. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements within the Residential 
Area in the Estate Residential Zoning District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 108,900 square feet (two and one half [2.5] acres) 
2. Lot width per dwelling unit: 160 feet 
3. Floor area: 2,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


H. Use of Existing Structure.  The preservation of existing historic residential structures listed in 
the Architectural Survey of Fayette County is encouraged as these structures can be used as 
residences or community facilities for the subdivision.  Existing residential structures used for 
a community facility shall meet all applicable building and safety codes and will be regulated 
as a Conditional Use under Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas. The 
preservation of existing agricultural structures is also encouraged as they will assist in 
maintaining a rural character.  The use of these residential and agricultural structures will be 
subject to the approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals in terms of nonconformance with this 
zoning district.   


I. Conservation Area Requirements.  The conservation area of the subdivision shall meet the 
following requirements:    
1. Ownership. Title to the conservation area shall be conveyed to one of the following 


entities:    
a. A Home Owners Association that has been established according to OCGA 


44-3-220;or 
b. A Conservation Trust organization approved by the Fayette County Board of 


Commissioners; or 
c. The Fayette County Board of Commissioners (for conservation areas with no 


structures only.)   
2. Size.   A minimum of 40 percent of the total subject property shall be set aside in 


conservation area.  The conservation area described in its entirety by metes and 
bounds, total acreage and percentage of total subject property shall be submitted to 
the Fayette County Zoning Department in the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat 
stage prior to Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat approval.    


3. Permanent Protection.   Each conservation area regardless of ownership shall have 
an easement or deed restriction as approved by the county attorney filed in the 
records of the Fayette County Clerk of Superior Court.  The easement or deed 
restriction shall reserve the conservation area to uses as defined herein in perpetuity. 


 
Sec. 6-4.  R-85 Single-family Residential District. 


A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures, having a low 
density single-family character and is designed to protect against the depreciating effects of 
small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the R-85 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 







 


 


42


3. Growing crops, gardens. 
C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-85 Zoning 


District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-85 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 130,680 square feet (three [3] acres) 
2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 3,000 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 50 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-5.  R-80 Single-Family Residential District. 
A. Description of District. This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a very 


low density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the depreciating 
effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential 
environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-80 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-80 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
3. Home Occupation; 


  4. Horse Quarters; and 
  5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-80 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling:  130,680 square feet (three [3] acres) 
2. Lot width: 175 feet 
3. Floor area:  2,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 75 feet 







 


 


43


ii. Collector: 75 feet 
b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 


5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 30 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-6.  R-78 Single-family Residential District. 


A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures, having a low 
density single-family character and is designed to protect against the depreciating effects of 
small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the R-78 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-78 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards  are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
4. Horse Quarters; and 
5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-78 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 3,000 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-7.  R-75 Single-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures, having a low 


density single-family character and is designed to protect against the depreciating effects of 
small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the R-75 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-75 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 







 


 


44


3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-75 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 2,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-8.  R-72 Single-family Residential District. 


A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a low 
density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the depreciating 
effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential 
environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-72 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-72 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
3. Home Occupation; 
4. Horse Quarters; and   
5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-72 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit:  87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
2. Lot width: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 175 feet 
ii. Collector: 175 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 150 feet 
3. Floor area: 2,100 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 







 


 


45


6. Side yard setback: 25 feet     
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-9.  R-70 Single-Family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a low 


density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the depreciating 
effects of excessive densities and development and those uses incompatible with such a 
residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-70 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-70 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-70 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit:  87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
2. Lot width: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 175 feet 
ii. Collector: 175 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 150 feet 
3. Floor area:  1,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-10.  R-55 Single-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a low 


density single-family character and is designed to protect against the depreciating effects of 
small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the R-55 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-55 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 







 


 


46


1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
3. Home Occupation; 


 4. Horse Quarters; and 
5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-55 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 


a. Where central sanitary sewage or central water distribution system is 
provided:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 


b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 
system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 


2. Lot width: 150 feet    
3. Floor area: 2,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 50 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-11.  R-50 Single-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a low 


density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the depreciating 
effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential 
environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following permitted uses shall be allowed in the R-50 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-50 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
3. Home Occupation; 


  4. Horse Quarters; and 
5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-50 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 


a. Where central sanitary sewage or central water distribution system is 
provided:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 


b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 
system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 


 
 







 


 


47


2. Lot width: 
a. Major thoroughfare:  


i. Arterial: 150 feet 
ii. Collector: 150 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 2,100 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 75 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 50 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 20 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-12.  R-45 Single-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a low 


density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the depreciating 
effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a residential 
environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-45 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-45 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-45 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 


a. Where central sanitary sewage or central water distribution system is 
provided:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 


b. Where neither a central sanitary nor central water distribution system is 
provided:  65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 


2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 1,800 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 60 feet 
ii. Collector: 60 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 40 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 40 feet  
6. Side yard setback: 20 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 







 


 


48


Sec. 6-13.  R-40 Single-Family Residential District.     
A.  Description of District.   This district is composed of certain lands and structures in the 


County, having a low density single-family residential character and is designed to protect 
against the depreciating effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with 
such a residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-40 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-40 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium.   


D. Dimensional Requirements.   The minimum dimensional requirements within the    R-40 
Zoning District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 


a. Where central sanitary sewage or central water distribution systems are 
provided:  43,560 square feet  (one [1] acre) 


b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 
system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 


2. Lot Width:   
a. Major thoroughfare:  


i. Arterial: 150 feet 
ii. Collector: 150 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 125 feet  
3. Floor area:  1,500 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 60 feet 
ii. Collector: 60 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 40 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 


 


Sec. 6-14.  R-20 Single-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a 


medium density single-family residential character and designed to protect against the 
depreciating effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a 
residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the R-20 Zoning District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the R-20 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 







 


 


49


Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 


  3. Home Occupation; 
  4. Horse Quarters; and 


5. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the R-20 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area per dwelling unit: 


a. Where a central sanitary sewage or a central water distribution system is 
provided:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 


b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 
system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 


2. Lot width: 
a. Major thoroughfare: 


i. Arterial: 150 feet 
ii. Collector: 150 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 125 feet 
3. Floor area: 1,200 square feet 
4. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 60 feet 
ii. Collector: 60 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 40 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 
 


Sec. 6-15.  DR-15, One and Two-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having a 


high density one and two-family residential character and designed to protect against the 
depreciating effects of small lot development and those uses incompatible with such a 
residential environment. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the DR-15 Zoning 
District: 
1. Single-family dwelling; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); 
3. Growing crops, gardens; and 
4. Two-family dwellings. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the DR-15 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
2. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas; 
3. Home Occupation; and 
4. Private School, including, but not limited to:  classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the DR-15 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 







 


 


50


1. Lot area per dwelling: 
a. Single-family or two-family dwelling with central sanitary sewage or central 


water distribution system:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 
b. Where neither a central sanitary sewage nor a central water distribution 


system is provided: 65,340 square feet (one and one-half [1.5] acres) 
2. Lot width: 


a. Major thoroughfare:  
i. Arterial: 125 feet    
ii. Collector: 125 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 100 feet 
3. Floor area: 


a. Single-family dwelling: 1,200 square feet 
b. Two-family dwelling: 1,800 square feet 


4. Front yard setback: 
a. Major thoroughfare: 


i. Arterial: 50 feet 
ii. Collector: 45 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 40 feet 
5. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
6. Side yard setback: 10 feet 
7. Height limit: 35 feet 
8. Off-street parking: Parking spaces for three (3) motor vehicles per dwelling unit 


 


Sec. 6-16.  RMF, Multi-family Residential District. 
A. Description of District.  The intent of the RMF District is to provide locations in which high 


density residential uses can take place.  The RMF District is designed to promote desirable 
housing conditions for high density residential uses, while minimizing the negative impacts 
associated with said uses on Fayette County's roads, schools, and water supply. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses and Structures shall be allowed in the RMF 
Zoning District: 
1. Apartments; and 
2. Townhouses. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Use shall be allowed in the RMF Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met:  Home Occupation. 


D. Dimensional requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the RMF Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Maximum requirements per development: 


a. Maximum density: five (5) units per gross acre 
b. Maximum number of dwelling units per development: 160 


2. Minimum requirements for a development: 
a. Site area: five (5) acres 
b. Site frontage: 50 feet of immediate frontage on at least one (1) street 


which has been identified as an arterial as specified by the Fayette County 
Thoroughfare Plan. 


c. Peripheral yard requirements: 
i. Front yard: 


(1) Major thoroughfare: 
      (a) State-numbered route: 150 feet 


(b)  Arterial: 100 feet 
(c) Collector: 80 feet 







 


 


51


(2) Minor thoroughfare: 60 feet 
ii. Side yard: 40 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 40 feet 


 
3. Lot Coverage and Minimum Open Space 


a. No more than 40 percent of any development site may be covered with 
buildings, structures or parking areas.  Driveways, sidewalks, covered patios, 
recreation facilities, and swimming pools shall not be computed as lot 
coverage. 


b. Private, usable open space, such as balconies, sundecks or patios shall be 
provided contiguous to each dwelling unit.  The area of such open space 
shall not be less than 10 percent of the floor area of the unit served except 
that balconies shall not be less than five (5) percent. 


c. The minimum distance between buildings, including any projections, shall 
not be less than 50 feet. 


4. Height limit: 35 feet 
5. Floor area: 


a. One bedroom:  600 square feet 
b. Two bedroom: 850 square feet 
c. Three bedroom:  1,200 square feet 


6. Special Location and Spatial Requirements 
a. No more than eight (8) dwelling units shall compose a single building. 
b. Within a townhouse development, no more than three (3) consecutive 


dwelling units which form a part of a single building shall have the same 
front setback or roof line.  Such setback and roof line shall be varied by a 
minimum of 16 inches. 


c. All exterior refuse areas or outside storage shall be screened in accordance 
with Article V. 


d. Recreation facilities, including swimming pools, and common facilities shall 
not be located within 150 feet of any single-family residential district, unless 
the recreational facility is screened from view of the single-family district by 
a principal dwelling or accessory building which exceeds the length of the 
recreational facility by 20 feet in each direction. 


e. At least 15 percent of the total land area shall be reserved for recreation 
available to all residents of the development.  At a minimum, recreation 
areas shall include the following: 
i. One (1) swimming pool at least 1,000 square feet; 
ii. Two (2) standard tennis courts; 
iii. One (1) children's playground; and 
iv. 20 off-street parking spaces. 


f. Parking areas shall not be located within the minimum required peripheral 
front, side, or rear yards of the development.  A minimum of three (3) spaces 
are required per dwelling unit. 


7. Circulation System Requirements 
a. Principal access drives serving more than 10 dwelling units shall be 


constructed to Fayette County public street standards. 
b. Parking areas shall be connected to living units by paved walkways.  


Sidewalks may be required where necessary for safe pedestrian circulation as 
determined by the County Engineer. 


8. Landscape Areas and Buffers.  If a rear or side peripheral yard adjoins a residential 
or A-R zoning district, a minimum buffer of 50 feet shall be provided within the 
required setback.  The front peripheral yard shall be landscaped in accordance with 







 


 


52


the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
9. Subdivisions.  Where developments are designed or otherwise proposed such that 


each dwelling therein is to be sold along with the land on which it sits and any yards, 
such divisions shall comply with the Fayette County Subdivision Regulations. 


 


Sec. 6-17.  MHP Manufactured Home Park District. 


A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures for purpose 
of providing the proper development of manufactured home parks. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted uses shall be allowed in the MHP Zoning District: 
1. Manufactured home park; 
2. Accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); 
3. Office trailer; and 
4. Growing crops, gardens. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the MHP Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Day Care Facility (Nursery School); and 


  2. Home Occupation. 
D. Special Regulations.  The following regulations shall apply to the MHP Zoning District in 


addition to any other applicable regulations herein: 
1. Development Plan:  The applicant shall file a petition with the Zoning Administrator 


for approval of a Manufactured Home Park.  This application shall be supported by 
six (6) copies of a written summary of the development planned, known as a Letter of 
Intent, which shall describe the proposed development in detail and a Site Plan.  The 
Site Plan and Letter of Intent shall present the following information: 
a. A draft of the proposed rules and regulations which shall be established and 


enforced by the management of the Manufactured Home Park;  
b. Existing topographic conditions, including where necessary, contour 


intervals of not less than two (2) feet based on field surveys or 
photogrammetric methods at a minimum scale of one (1) inch equal 100 feet 
(1" - 100'); 


c. The existing and proposed land uses and the approximate location of all 
buildings and structures; 


d. The location of existing and proposed streets and parking areas; 
e. A legal description of the subject property; 
f. Typical elevation drawings, indicating general architectural style and 


building exterior materials, if possible, of all permanent buildings and 
structures to be constructed on the premises; 


g. A statement of the present ownership of all land within the proposed 
development; 


h. A summary of acres, dwelling units, and gross density, as well as a statement 
of the number of acres devoted to buffer areas, and green belts or other 
amenities, such as lakes, etc.; 


i. A description of the phases under which construction shall be programmed, 
depicting the geographical limits of each phase of construction; and 


j. Specific plans for provision of central water and central sanitary sewage 
systems. 


2. Pre-application Conference. Prior to filing a formal application for a 
Manufactured Home Park the applicant is required to appear before the Planning 
Commission in a public hearing in order to provide for review of the general 
character of the proposed Manufactured Home Park development (on the basis of a 







 


 


53


tentative land use sketch, if available), and to obtain information on projected 
programs or improvements, as well as, County requirements. 


3. Approval.  An application for approval of a Manufactured Home Park will be 
considered administratively as a petition for rezoning, and will be subject to the 
procedures established in this Zoning Ordinance.  After review and public hearing, 
the Board of Commissioners may disapprove, approve or approve with modifications 
to the Site Plan and/or Letter of Intent, after receiving the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission. 


4. Use Regulations.  In addition to the above listed permitted uses, the buildings or land 
shall only be used as follows: 
a. Parking and inhabiting of manufactured homes in parks with a minimum of 


50 spaces, provided all facilities shown on the Site Plan submitted to and 
approved by the Board of Commissioners are installed and maintained 
according to the schedule submitted with the Site Plan and stipulations of the 
Letter of Intent; 


b. Recreation facilities, office and/or maintenance and storage buildings, for 
residents of the Manufactured Home Park only.  No repair facilities of any 
type including automobile repair shall be permitted; 


c. Convenience food stores with a maximum of 1,500 square feet including 
inside and outside storage, as an accessory to a Manufactured Home Park as 
designated on an approved Site Plan; 


d. Laundromat, including coin operated dry cleaning, as an accessory to a 
Manufactured Home Park as designated on an approved Site Plan, upon 
approval by the Fayette County Health Department; 


e. The sale or display of a manufactured home, provided each such 
manufactured home offered for sale shall be located on its individual lot and 
connected to all utilities. 


 5. Perimeter Requirements: 
a. A buffer zone having a minimum width of 150 feet shall be provided so as to 


provide a continuous buffer along all side and rear yards of any 
Manufactured Home Park. 


b. A buffer zone having a minimum depth of 100 feet shall extend along the 
entire frontage of any Manufactured Home Park. 


c. Where the existing foliage in the buffer zones is not sufficient to provide and 
maintain an evergreen visual screen between adjacent properties, 
landscaping and planting shall be required sufficient to provide visual 
separation and privacy between a Manufactured Home Park and adjacent 
properties and/or streets. 


6. Storage Requirements.  Each Manufactured Home Park shall provide an area for the 
storage of boats, travel trailers and/or other vehicles which shall be at least 10 percent 
of the gross area of the Manufactured Home Park, provided, however, said 10 percent 
is not located in a flood hazard area. 


 7. Circulation system.  Each Manufactured Home Park shall have a minimum 200 feet 
of frontage and only access an Arterial Thoroughfare.   
a. Each Manufactured Home Park over 20 acres in size shall have a minimum 


of two (2) access streets or drives to provide ingress and egress for vehicular 
traffic. 


b. Provision shall be made for safe, all-weather pedestrian movement within the 
development. 


8. Night Lighting.  Streets, pedestrian walkways and parking areas shall be adequately 
lighted. 


 







 


 


54


9. Garbage Refuse Collection Facilities.  Garbage refuse collection shall be provided by 
the Manufactured Home Park owner. 


10. Utilities.  Each manufactured home shall be connected with water and sanitary 
facilities in a manner approved by the Fayette County Health Department and in 
compliance with the regulations of the Fayette County Water System.  Each 
manufactured home shall be served by electricity and gas.  All utilities shall be 
placed underground. 


11. Recreation Facilities.  A minimum of 10 percent of the gross acreage of the 
Manufactured Home Park shall be provided for common facilities, open space, and 
recreation for the residents of the Manufactured Home Park. 


E. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the MHP Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. No Manufactured Home Park shall be constructed or maintained on a lot consisting 


of a total area of less than 10 acres. 
2. Each manufactured home shall be located on a separate lot as follows: 


a. Each lot shall have a minimum width of 60 feet. 
b. Each lot shall contain a minimum of 6,000 square feet. 
c. Each lot shall provide a paved concrete or all-weather patio area having a 


minimum area of 300 square feet. 
3. Manufactured Home Citing Requirements.  Within 60 days of the citing of a 


manufactured home on its lot, the under-carriage of the manufactured home shall be 
concealed from view, through the use of permanent non-flammable construction 
materials.  No manufactured home or other structure shall be located within: 
a. Four (4) feet of its individual lot line; or 
b. 15 feet of any street or drive within the Manufactured Home Park. 


4. Height Limit:    35 feet 
 


Sec. 6-18.  O-I, Office-Institutional District.    
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures having office 


and institutional uses which are compatible with or provide a transition into low-intensity land 
uses. 


B. Permitted Principal Uses and Structures. The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in 
the O-I Zoning District: 
 1. Office; 
 2. Art gallery; 
 3. Bank and/or financial institution;  
 4. College and/or university, including classrooms and/or administration only; 
 5. Educational/instructional/tutorial facilities, including, but not limited to: academic, 


art, computer, dance, driving and/or DUI, martial arts, music, professional/ 
business/trade, and similar facilities; 


  6. Health club and/or fitness center; 
  7. Insurance carrier, agent, and/or broker; 
  8. Laboratory, medical, and/or dental; 
  9. Legal services; 
10. Massage therapy (see also County Code); 
11. Medical/dental office (human treatment); 


  12. Military recruiting office; 
13. Museum; 
14. Performing arts theater; 


  15. Private School, including classrooms and/or administration only; 
16. Professional services, including, but not limited to: accounting; advertising and 


marketing research services; architectural firms; bookkeeping, tax preparation; 







 


 


55


brokerage firms; computer system software design; consulting services; engineering 
firms; internet and web hosting firms; payroll services; photographic services; 
research services; specialized design services; telemarketing; and translation  and 
interpretation services; and 


17. Real estate agent and/or broker. 
C. Permitted Principal Uses and Structures for Office Parks with at least 100,000 square feet of 


floor area.  In an office park having at least 100,000 square feet of floor area, the following 
retail and service uses shall be permitted as long as collectively such uses comprise no more 
than 10 percent of the total floor area, are located in a building in which office uses comprise 
at least 50 percent of the floor area and have no exterior advertising display: 
 1. Beauty and/or Barber Shop; 
 2. Blueprinting; 
 3. Cafeteria; 
 4. Commercial art and/or drafting service; 
 5. Day care facility; 
 6. Delivery and/or messenger service; 
 7. Drug store; 
 8. Florist; 
 9. Gift shop; 
10. Photocopying and/or reproduction; 
11. Restaurant  (limited to five [5] percent of total floor area of office park and included 


in overall ten [10] percent limitation); 
12. Stenographic and/or typing service; 
13. Teleconferencing center; and 
14. Travel agency and/or ticket office. 


D. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the O-I Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Adult Day Care Facility;    
2. Animal Hospital and/or Veterinary Clinic (with no animal boarding or outdoor runs);  
3. Care Home, Convalescent Center, and/or Nursing Home; 
4. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
5. College and/or University, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium; 
6. Day Care Facility (Nursery School); 
7. Home Occupation;  
8. Hospital; 
9. Hotel and/or Bed and Breakfast; 


  10. Non-Emergency Medical Transport Service;  
11. Private School, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium; 
  12. Religious Tent Meeting; and    
  13. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and/or uses (see Article V.). 


E. Auxiliary Conditional Uses for an Office Building with a minimum of 10,000 square feet of 


floor area.   The following auxiliary permitted uses shall be allowed within the area with a 
land use designation of Office as indicated on the Fayette County Future Land Use Plan map 
defined as that area north of S.R. 54 West, east of Tyrone Road, and west of Sandy Creek 
Road.  This area shall also be known as the Fayette County Community Hospital District 
(Hospital District.)  Such uses will support and shall be compatible with the Fayette County 
Community Hospital, the medical industry, and the development of the office and institutional 
uses planned for this area.  







 


 


56


1. Uses.   
 The following Auxiliary Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the O-I Zoning 


District:    
 a. Durable Medical and Rehabilitation Equipment Sales/Rental (i.e. 


wheelchairs, crutches, etc.); 
 b. Pharmaceutical Sales (for the purpose of filling prescriptions only); 
 c. Counter Service Restaurants, including but not limited to: a bakery, café, 


coffee shop, or deli.  No drive-thru, drive-in, or free standing facilities shall 
be allowed; 


 d.  Optical Care Center to include prescription eyeglass/contact lens sales; 
 e.  Gift Shop for the sale of items usually associated with a medical condition 


and/or hospital stay (i.e. get well cards, etc.); and 
 f.  Floral Sales. 


 2. Auxiliary Conditional Use Limitations 


 a. These Auxiliary Conditional Uses shall be allowed in an office building with 
a minimum of 10,000 square feet and such uses shall comprise no more than 
a total of 20 percent of the total floor area of the building and shall occupy 
space on the first floor of the building.  


 b.  Multiple uses may be permitted concurrently, but may not exceed the 20 
percent limitation. 


 3. Architectural Requirements 
 a. Architecture shall conform to the existing hospital/medical office 


development.  The architectural standards of the Transportation Corridor 
Overlay Zone shall not apply. 


 b.  Elevation drawings shall be submitted as part of site plan approval. 
F. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the O-I Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 


a. Where a central water distribution system is provided:  43,560 square feet 
(one [1] acre) 


b. Where central sanitary sewage and central water distribution systems are 
provided:   21,780 square feet (one-half  [.50] acre) 


2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Outside storage shall not be permitted. 
4. Setbacks, yards adjoining rights-of-way: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 70 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 55 feet 
5. Setbacks, yards not adjoining rights-of-way: 


a. Side yard: 15 feet 
b. Rear yard: 15 feet 


6. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R zoning district, a minimum 
buffer of 30 feet adjacent to such lot line shall be provided in addition to the required 
setback, and the setback shall be measured from the buffer.  Additional buffer and 
setback requirements may be established as a condition of zoning approval. 


7. Height limit: 
a. 40 feet as defined in Article III. 
b. When a structure reaches a minimum height of four (4) floors (including 


basements), it shall be sprinkled.    
8. Use of Existing Structure:  When property containing legally conforming structures, 


under the current zoning, is rezoned to O-I, the dimensional requirements shall be 







 


 


57


reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any encroachment by the 
structures and said structures shall be considered legal nonconforming structures. 


9.  Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area:  60 percent of total lot area 
G. SR 74 North - East Side Special Development District.   The following will apply to the area identified 


in the Fayette County Comprehensive Plan, SR 74 North Overlay District on the east side of SR 74 
North and designated as Special Development District and Office on the Fayette County Future Land 
Use Plan Map. The purpose of this Special Development District is to promote planned office 
development along the frontage of SR 74 North to a depth of approximately 800 feet to fulfill the 
stated goals for the future development of the corridor.  The goals of the SR 74 North Overlay District 
are: (1) to maintain the efficient traffic flow of SR 74 North as the County’s main connection to 
Interstate 85; (2) to enhance and maintain the aesthetic qualities of the corridor, as it is the gateway 
into Fayette County; and (3) to protect existing and future residential areas in the SR 74 North 
corridor. 


 The assemblage of parcels will be necessary in some areas to meet the intent of the Special 
Development District. The minimum requirements for acreage and road frontage will necessitate large 
tracts of land to achieve a reduction in individual curb cuts, consistency and coordination in 
architectural scheme, and capacity to develop a required service road where applicable.   


 1. In a planned office development consisting of a minimum of 10 acres and 600 feet of road 
frontage on SR 74 North, a maximum of 20 percent of the floor area of each individual 
building may consist of businesses providing support services for the larger development.  
Permitted support service uses include: 


 a. Restaurants (no drive-through, drive-in, or free standing facilities shall be allowed);  
  b. Personal services, including, but not limited to: alterations; barber shop; beauty salon; 


clothing/costume rentals; electrolysis and/or hair removal; laundry drop-off/pick-up; 
locksmith; nail salon;  photography studio; shoe repair; and tanning salon; 


  c. Convenience store (no gasoline sales); 
 d. Blueprinting, graphic, and/or copying service;  
 e. Office and/or computer sales and/or service; and 
 f. Cellular phone/communication device sales and/or service. 
 


Sec 6-19.  C-C, Community Commercial District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures providing for 


convenient community shopping facilities having a broad variety of sales and services. 
B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the C-C Zoning District:   


 1. Amusement or recreational facility, indoor or outdoor (see County Code); 
 2. Appliance sales and incidental repair; 
 3. Art studio; 
 4. Auto parts and/or tire sales and installation; 
 5. Bakery; 
 6. Bank and/or financial institution; 


   7. Banquet hall; 
 8. Catering service; 
 9. Church and/or other Place of Worship, excluding outdoor recreation, parsonage, and 


cemetery or mausoleum; 
10. College and/or university, including classrooms and/or administration only; 
11. Copy shop; 
12. Cultural facility; 
13. Day spa; 
14. Department store, variety store, and/or clothing store; 
15. Drug store; 
16. Educational/instructional/tutoring facilities, including, but not limited to: academic, 


art, computer, dance, driving and/or DUI school, martial arts, music, 







 


 


58


professional/business/trade, and similar facilities; 
  17. Electronic sales and incidental repair; 


18. Emission testing facility (inside only); 
19. Firearm sales and/or gunsmith (see County Code); 
20. Florist; 
21. Gift shop; 
22. Grocery store; 


  23. Hardware store; 
  24. Health club and/or fitness center; 


25. Jewelry shop; 
  26.        Laboratory serving professional requirements, (e.g. medical, dental, etc.); 


27. Library; 
28. Medical/dental office (human treatment); 
29. Messenger/courier service; 


  30. Military recruiting office; 
  31. Movie theatre (excluding drive-in); 


32. Museum; 
  33. Office; 


34. Office equipment sales and/or service; 
35. Parking garage/lot; 


  36. Personal services, including, but not limited to:  alterations; barber shop; beauty 
salon; clothing/costume rentals; counseling services; electrolysis and/or hair removal; 
fitness center; laundry drop-off/pick-up; locksmith; nail salon; photography studio; 
shoe repair; and tanning salon. 


  37. Plant nursery, growing crops/garden, and related sales; 
  38. Printing, graphics, and/or reproductions; 


39. Private clubs and/or lodges; 
  40. Private school, including, classrooms and/or administration only; 


41. Radio studio; 
  42. Recording studio (audio and video); 


43. Restaurant, (including drive-in and/or drive thru); 
44. Retail establishment; 
45. Smoking lounge (Subject to state and local tobacco sales and smoking laws); 
46. Taxidermist; and 
47. Television/movie studio.  


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the C-C Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 


    1. Adult Day Care Facility;     
    2. Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial), and/or Veterinary 


Clinic; 
    3. Automobile Service Station, including, gasoline sales and/or inside or outside 


emission testing, in conjunction with a Convenience Store; 
  4. Care Home, Convalescent Center, and/or Nursing Home; 


    5. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 
  6. College and/or University, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and/or stadium; 
  7. Commercial Driving Range and Related Accessories; 
  8. Day Care Facility (Nursery School); 
  9. Dry Cleaning Plant; 
10. Golf Course (minimum 18-hole regulation) and Related Accessories; 







 


 


59


  11. Home Occupation;  
12. Hospital; 
13. Kennel (see Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial), and/or 


Veterinary Clinic); 
14. Laundromat, Self-Service or Otherwise; 
15. Private School, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and/or stadium; 
16. Religious Tent Meeting; 
17. Seasonal Sales, Outdoor; 
18. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and/or uses (see Article V.); and 


  19. Temporary Tent Sales. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the C-C Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 


a. Where a central water distribution system is provided:  43,560 square feet 
(one [1] acre) 


b. Where central sanitary sewage and central water distribution systems are 
provided:  21,780 square feet (one-half  [.50] acre) 


2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 70 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 65 feet 
4. Rear yard setback: 15 feet 
5. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
6. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 


buffer of  50 feet adjacent to the lot line shall be provided in addition to the required 
setback and the setback shall be measured from the buffer. 


7. Height limit: 35 feet 
8. Screening dimensions for parking and service areas as provided in Article V. of the 


Zoning Ordinance and the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
  9. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area: 60 percent of total lot area  
  


Sec 6-20.  C-H Highway Commercial District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures to provide 


and encourage proper grouping and development of roadside uses, which include a wide 
variety of sales and services that will best accommodate the needs of the County and the 
traveling public, reducing traffic congestion, hazards and blight along the public streets. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following uses shall be permitted in the C-H Zoning District:  
  1. Ambulance service, including non-emergency medical transport service; 
  2. Amusement or recreational facility, indoor or outdoor (see County Code); 


    3. Appliance sales and/or repair; 
  4. Armories, for meetings and training military organizations; 
  5. Art studio; 


    6. Auto parts, tire store/installation, brake installation, muffler repair, oil change, tune-
up, and emission testing facilities.  All service, repairs, and diagnostics shall be 
conducted within an enclosed building;  


  7. Bakery; 
    8. Bank and/or financial institution; 
    9. Banquet hall; 
  10. Bookbinding; 







 


 


60


  11. Building, contracting and related activities, (e.g. sales and storage of building 
supplies and materials); 


12. Bus passenger station (pick-up and drop-off only); 
13. Cabinet manufacturing, sales, repair and/or installation; 
14. Car wash and/or detailing facility;     
15. Catering service; 
16. Church and/or other place of worship excluding outdoor recreation, parsonage, and 


cemetery or mausoleum; 
17. Clothing store and/or variety store; 


  18. College and/or university, including classrooms and/or administration only; 
  19. Copy shop; 


20. Cultural facility; 
21. Day spa; 
22. Department store; 
23. Drug store; 
24. Educational/instructional/tutoring facilities, including, but not limited to: academic; 


art; computer; dance; driving and/or DUI; music; professional/business/trade; martial 
arts; and similar facilities; 


25. Electronic sales and/or repair; 
  26. Emission testing facility (inside only); 


27. Engraving; 
28. Firearm sales and/or gunsmith (see County Code); 
29. Flea market, indoor (see County Code); 
30. Florist shop; 
31. Freezer locker service, ice storage; 
32. Freight express office; 
33. Funeral home; 
34. Gift shop; 
35. Glass sales; 
36. Grocery store; 


  37. Hardware store; 
  38. Health club and/or fitness center; 


39. Hotel and/or bed and breakfast; 
40. Jewelry shop; 


  41. Laboratory serving professional requirements, (e.g. medical, dental, etc.); 
42. Library; 
43. Magazine publication and/or distribution; 
44. Manufactured home and/or building sales; 
45. Medical/dental office (human treatment); 
46. Messenger/courier service; 
47. Military recruiting office; 
48. Movie theatre and/or drive-in; 
49. Museum; 
50. Music teaching studio; 
51. Newspaper publication and/or distribution; 


  52. Office; 
53. Office equipment sales and/or service; 
54. Parking garage/lot; 
55. Pawn shops (see County Code); 


  56. Personal services, including, but not limited to:  alterations; barber shop; beauty 
salon; clothing/costume rentals; counseling services; electrolysis and/or hair removal; 
fitness center; laundry drop-off/pick-up; locksmith; nail salon; photography studio; 







 


 


61


shoe repair; and tanning salon. 
57. Pest control; 


  58. Plant nursery, growing crops/garden, and/or related sales; 
  59. Printing, graphics, and/or reproductions; 


60. Private clubs and/or lodges; 
61. Private school, including classrooms and/or administration only; 
62. Recording studio (audio and video); 
63. Radio studio; 
64. Railroad station; 
65. Rent-alls; 
66. Restaurant, including drive-in and/or drive thru; 
67. Retail establishment; 
68. Smoking lounge (Subject to state and local tobacco sales and smoking laws); 
69. Tattoo parlor (see County Code); 
70. Taxidermist; 
71. Taxi service/limousine service/shuttle service (no on-site maintenance and/or repair); 
72. Television/movie studio; 
73. Upholstery shop; and 
74. Utility trailers sales and/or rental. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the C-H Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 


    1. Adult Day Care Facility;    
    2. Amphitheater; 
    3. Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial), and/or Veterinary 


Clinic; 
    4. Automobile, Truck, Farm Equipment, or Motorcycle Sales and Incidental Repairs;  
    5. Automobile Service Station, including gasoline sales and/or inside or outside 


emission testing, in conjunction with a Convenience Store; 
    6. Campground Facilities; 
    7. Care Home, Convalescent Center, and/or Nursing Home; 


  8. Cemetery; 
    9. Charter Motor Coach Service; 
  10. Church and/or other Place of Worship; 


11. College and/or University, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 
housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and/or stadium; 


12. Commercial Driving Range and Related Accessories; 
13. Day Care Facility (Nursery School); 
14. Dry Cleaning Plant; 
15. Experimental Laboratory; 
16. Golf Course (minimum 18-hole regulation) and Related Accessories; 


  17. Home Occupation;  
  18. Horse Show, Rodeo, Carnival, and/or Community Fair; 
  19. Hospital; 


20. Laundromat, Self-Service or otherwise; 
21. Outdoor Amusement Facilities, Rides, Structures over thirty-five (35) feet in height, 


including, but not limited to Bungee and Parachute Jumping; 
22. Private School, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, playground, 


housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and/or stadium; 
  23. Religious Tent Meeting; 
  24. Seasonal Sales, Outdoor; 







 


 


62


  25. Self-Storage Facility;  
  26. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and/or uses (see Article V.);  
  27. Shooting Range, Indoor; 
  28. Stadium, Athletic; and 
  29. Temporary Tent Sales. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the C-H Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 


a. Where a central water distribution system is provided:  43,560 square feet 
(one [1] acre) 


b. Where central sanitary sewage and central water distribution systems are 
provided:  21,780 square feet (one-half [.50] acre) 


2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 70 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 65 feet 
4. Rear yard setback: 15 feet 
5. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
6. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 


buffer of 50 feet adjacent to the lot line shall be provided in addition to the required 
setback and the setback shall be measured from the buffer. 


7. Height limit: 35 feet 
8. Screening dimensions for parking and service areas as provided in Article V. herein 


and the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
9. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area: 60 percent of total lot area 


 


Sec. 6-21.  L-C Limited-Commercial District. 


A. Intent. The intent of the L-C Zoning District is to establish small scale business areas which 
do not generate large amounts of traffic, noise or light.  The L-C Zoning District includes 
small retail and convenience commercial establishments, personal services and business and 
professional offices.  The L-C Zoning District will control architectural character and scale.  
The adaptive use of existing structures is encouraged when possible.  The L-C Zoning District 
would avoid the development of strip commercial businesses. 


B. Permitted Principal Uses.  The following Permitted Principal Uses shall be allowed in the    
L-C Zoning District: 
  1. Antique shop; 
  2. Art and/or crafts studio; 
  3. Bakery; 
  4. Bank and/or financial institution; 
  5. Barber and/or beauty shop; 
  6. Book, stationery, and/or card shop; 


    7. Clothing and accessories; 
  8. Dance school and/or studio; 
  9. Florist shop; 
10. Gift shop; 


  11. Home furnishings and accessories; 
  12. Jewelry shop; 


13. Laundry and/or dry clean pickup station; 
14. Medical/dental office (human treatment); 
15. Music teaching studio; 







 


 


63


16. Office (business and/or professional); 
17. Photography studio; 
18. Restaurant/restaurant takeout (no drive-thru or drive-in allowed.); and 
19. Shoe repair. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the L-C Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
1. Convenience Commercial Establishment; 
2. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and uses (see Article V.); and 
3. Home Occupation. 


D. Regulations. The following regulations shall apply to the L-C Zoning District in addition to 
any other applicable regulations. 
1. These structures shall maintain a residential character.  Elevation drawings denoting 


compliance with the following requirements shall be submitted as part of the Site 
Plan: 
a. A pitched peaked (gable or hip) roof with a minimum pitch of four and one-


half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot and shall be of a type and construction 
complementary to the facade.  A pitched mansard roof facade with a 
minimum pitch of four and one-half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot and a 
minimum height of eight (8) feet around the entire perimeter of the structure 
can be used if the structure is two (2) stories or more or the use of a pitched 
peaked roof would cause the structure to not meet the applicable height limit 
requirements.  The mansard roof facade shall be of a residential character 
with the appearance of shingles, slate or terra cotta; 


b. All buildings shall be constructed in a residential character of fiber-cement 
siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl siding, brick/brick 
veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including synthetic stucco); 


c. Framed doors and windows of a residential character. To maintain a 
residential character, large display windows shall give the appearance of 
smaller individual panes and framing consistent with the standard residential 
grid pattern for doors and windows;  


 d. Accessory structures shall maintain the same architectural character of the 
principal structure, including the pitched peaked (gable or hip) roof with a 
minimum pitch of four and one-half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot, and shall be 
constructed of the same materials or materials which simulate same. An 
elevation drawing denoting compliance with this requirement shall be 
submitted as part of the site plan. 


2. No outside storage will be permitted. 
3. The lot shall have direct access to an Arterial street.   


E. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the L-C Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 


a. Where public water is available:  43,560 square feet (one [1] acre) 
b. Where public water is not available:  65,340 square feet (one and one-half 


[1.5] acres) 
2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 75 feet 
ii. Collector: 60 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 55 feet 







 


 


64


4. Rear yard setback: 15 feet 
5. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
6. Height limit: 35 feet 
7. Floor to Area Ratio: (gross square footage of site x .1 = square footage of structure.)  


The total maximum square footage for all structures combined on the site shall not 
exceed 8,500 square feet.   


8. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 
buffer of 50 feet adjacent to such lot line shall be provided in addition to the required 
setback (the setback shall be measured from the buffer.) 


9. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area: 60 percent of total lot area  
 


Sec. 6-22.  M-1 Light Industrial District. 


A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures which are 
suitable for light industrial development, but where proximity to existing or proposed 
residential or commercial districts make it desirable to limit the manner and extent of 
industrial operations and thereby protect the nearby residential or commercial land.   


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the M-1 Zoning District: 
  1. Ambulance service, including on-emergency medical transport service; 
  2. Amusement and recreational facilities, indoor or outdoor (athletic/sports instruction 


facilities and recreation and athletic fields and facilities) (see County Code); 
  3. Appliance sales and/or repair; 
  4. Architectural and/or design firms;  
  5. Armories, for meeting and training of military organizations; 
  6. Automobile, truck, farm equipment, and heavy equipment sales and repairs, paint 


and/or body shop, parts store including rebuilding of parts, parking lot or garage, 
upholstery shop; 


    7. Blueprinting and/or graphics service;  
  8. Bookbinding; 


    9. Building construction/contracting and related activities;  
  10. Building supply sales; 


11. Bus passenger station; 
  12. Cabinet manufacturing, sales, repair, and/or installation; 
  13. Car wash and/or detailing facility;    


14. Charter motor coach service; 
  15. Copy shop;  


16. Dental laboratory; 
  17. Delivery and/or courier service;  


18. Electronic sales and/or repair; 
  19. Emission Testing Facility (inside only); 
  20. Engineering firms;  
  21. Engraving; 


22. Farmer's market; 
23. Feed and/or fertilizer sales; 
24. Firearm sales and/or gunsmith (see County Code); 


  25. Flooring sales and/or installation;  
26. Freezer locker service; 
27. Freight express office; 
28. Furniture store; 
29. Glass sales; 


  30. Grading service;  
31. Greenhouse; 
32. Home furnishings and accessories; 







 


 


65


33. Horse show and equine activity facilities;   
34. Ice storage; 
35. Insecticide sales and/or storage; 


  36. Janitorial service and/or supply;  
  37. Land development firms;  
  38. Land surveying service;  
  39. Landscaping service;  


40. Light manufacturing, including the following: 
a. Appliance and/or electronic device assembly plant, including the 


manufacturing of parts for appliances and/or electronic devices;  
   b. Assembly of products from previously prepared materials;  


c. Bottling and/or canning plant; 
d. Ceramic products, provided that kilns shall only be by gas and/or electricity; 
e. Construction of signs, including painted signs; 
f. Cooperage; 
g. Ice manufacturing; 
h. Laundry, cleaning and/or dying plants; 
i. Light sheet metal products such as ventilating ducts and eaves;  
j. Manufacturing of food, cosmetic and pharmaceutical products, but not 


including fish and meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar, yeast and rendering 
plants;  


k. Machine/welding shop and related activities;  
   l. Other manufacturing, processing, packaging, or handling of a similar nature 


which shall not emit or produce more smoke, noise, odor, dust, vibration, or 
fumes than the uses listed herein;  


m. Production and/or sales of commercial/industrial hardware, such as tools, 
fasteners, fittings, machine parts, etc.;  


n. Tinsmith and/or roofing service; 
41. Locksmith; 
42. Magazine publication and/or distribution; 
43. Medical laboratory; 


  44. Manufactured home and/or building assembly and/or sales; 
45. Newspaper publication and/or distribution; 


  46. Office equipment service and repair;  
47. Parking garage/lot; 
48. Pest control; 
49. Petroleum bulk plant (storage); 
50. Photostating; 
51. Planing and/or saw mill; 


  52. Plant nursery, growing crops/garden and related sales; 
  53. Printing plant; 


54. Radio studio; 
55. Railroad freight station; 
56. Railroad passenger station; 
57. Rent-alls; 
58. Restaurants (drive-in/drive-thru prohibited); 


  59. Restaurant supply;  
60. Rodeo/rodeo facilities;     


  61. Seed sales and/or storage; 
  62. Security system service;  


63. Shell home display; 
64. Solar farm; 







 


 


66


65. Taxidermist; 
66. Taxi service/limousine service/shuttle service/charter motor coach service; 
67. Television/movie studio/media productions;  
68. Tire sales; 


  69. Trade school; 
  70. Uniform services;  
  71. Utility trailer sales and/or rentals; 
  72. Warehousing and/or distribution; 
   73. Wholesaling; and 
  74. Wrecker, towing, impoundment, and/or automotive recovery/transport. 


C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the M-1 Zoning 
District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
  1. Aircraft Landing Area; 


    2. Amphitheatre; 
    3. Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial), and/or Veterinary 


Clinic; 
  4. Experimental Labs; 
  5. Feed Lot and/or Commercial Barn; 


    6. Home Occupation;  
    7. Outdoor Amusement Facilities, Rides, Structures over thirty-five (35) feet in height, 


including, but not limited to Bungee and Parachute Jumping; 
  8. Recycling Facility;  


    9. Self-Storage Facility;  
  10. Shooting Range, Indoor; 
  11. Shooting Range, Outdoor; 


12. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and uses (see Article V.);  
13. Stadium, Athletic; and  


 14. Wind Farm. 
D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the M-1 Zoning 


District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 


a. Where a central water distribution system is provided:  43,560 square feet 
(one [1] acre) 


b. Where central sanitary sewage and central water distribution systems are 
provided:  21,780 square feet (one-half [.50] acre) 


2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 80 feet 


b. Minor thoroughfare: 65 feet 
4. Rear yard setback: 25 feet 
5. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
6. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District a minimum 


buffer of 75 feet shall be provided adjacent to the lot line in addition to the required 
setback.  The setback shall be measured from the buffer. 


7. Height limit: 35 feet 
8. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area:  70 percent of total lot area 
9. Screening dimensions for storage areas, loading docks and parking (see Article V. 


and the Development Regulations of the County Code.) 







 


 


67


 


Sec. 6-23.  M-2 Manufacturing and Heavy Industrial District. 
A. Description of District.  This district is composed of certain lands and structures providing for 


those industrial uses which cannot comply with the regulations of the M-1 Zoning District and 
located in such a manner as not to be injurious to lands and development in nearby districts. 


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the M-2 Zoning District: 
  1. Acid storage and manufacture; 
  2. Railroad classification and repair yard; 
  3. Truck terminal; 
  4. Ambulance service, including non-emergency medical transport service; 
  5. Armories, for meeting and training of military organizations; 
  6. Automobile, truck, farm equipment, and heavy equipment sales and repairs, paint 


and/or body shop, parts store, including rebuilding of parts, parking lot or garage, tire 
recapping facility, upholstery shop; 


  7. Bookbinding; 
  8. Building construction/contracting and related activities;  


    9. Building supply sales; 
10. Engraving; 
11. Feed, pesticides, and/or fertilizer sales and/or storage; 
12. Freezer locker service; 
13. Freight express office; 
14. Glass manufacturing; 
15. Grading service; 
16. Greenhouse; 
17. Ice storage; 
18. Light manufacturing, including the following: 


a. Appliance and/or electronic device assembly plant, including the 
manufacturing of parts for appliances and/or electronic devices;  


b. Assembly of products from previously prepared materials;  
c. Bottling and/or canning plant; 
d. Ceramic products provided that kilns shall only be by gas and/or electricity;  
e. Construction of signs, including painted signs;  
f. Cooperage;  
g. Ice manufacturing;  
h. Laundry, cleaning and/or dying plants;  
i. Light sheet metal products such as ventilating ducts and eaves;  
j. Manufacturing of food, cosmetic and pharmaceutical products, but not 


including fish and meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar, yeast and rendering 
plants;  


k. Machine and/or welding shop and related activities;  
   l. Other manufacturing, processing, packaging, or handling of a similar nature, 


which shall not emit or produce more smoke, noise, odor, dust, vibration, or 
fumes than the uses listed herein;  


m. Production and/or sales of commercial/industrial hardware, such as tools, 
fasteners, fittings, machine parts, etc.; and 


n. Tinsmith and/or roofing service. 
19. Magazine publication and/or distribution; 


  20. Manufactured home and/or building assembly and/or sales;  
21. Newspaper publication and distribution; 
22. Parking lot and/or garage; 
23. Pest control; 
24. Petroleum bulk plant (storage and/or recycling); 







 


 


68


25. Photostating; 
26. Planing and/or saw mill; 


  27. Plant nursery, growing crops/garden and related sales; 
28. Printing plant; 
29. Public utility facilities; 
30. Railroad freight station; 
31. Seed sales and/or storage; 
32. Solar farm; 
33. Tire recapping; 
34. Warehousing and/or distribution;  
35. Wholesaling; and 


  36. Wrecker, towing, impoundment, and/or automotive recovery/transport. 
C. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the M-2 Zoning 


District, provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional Uses, 
Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial Development 
Standards are met: 
 1. Aircraft Landing Area;  
 2. Experimental Lab; 


   3. Heavy Manufacturing, packaging, processing or handling of materials; 
 4. Home Occupation;  
 5. Junk Yard and/or Auto Grave Yard; 
 6. Landfill; 
 7. Mining and/or Quarrying; 
 8. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and uses (see Article V.);  
 9. Transfer Station for Household/Commercial Garbage and/or Recyclable Materials 


(including processing and handling); and 
  10. Wind Farm. 


D. Dimensional Requirements.  The minimum dimensional requirements in the M-2 Zoning 
District shall be as follows: 
1. Lot area: 87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
2. Lot width: 125 feet 
3. Front yard setback: 


a. Major thoroughfare: 
i. Arterial: 100 feet 
ii. Collector: 80 feet  


b. Minor thoroughfare: 65 feet 
4. Rear yard setback: 25 feet 
5. Side yard setback: 25 feet 


  6. Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District a minimum 
buffer of 75 feet shall be provided adjacent to the lot line in addition to the required 
setback.  The setback shall be measured from the buffer. 


7. Height limit: 35 feet 
8. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area: 70 percent of total lot area 
9. Screening dimensions for storage areas, loading docks, and parking (see Article V. 


and the Development Regulations of the County Code.) 


 


Sec. 6-24.  BTP Business Technology Park District     
A. Purpose.  The purpose of the Business Technology Park District (BTP) is to provide 


a business/employment center in a planned campus setting with internal streets 
serving individual lots that contain a single business or multi-tenant buildings 
housing uses which are free from such nuisances as noise, vibration, smoke, gas, 
fume, odor, dust, radiation or other injurious or noxious conditions related to those 







 


 


69


uses.  Additional requirements would include architectural standards.  This district is 
to provide for high tech firms, light manufacturing/ distribution firms, and 
professional firms with some support establishments (commercial and personal 
services) primarily for the employees.  


B. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in the BTP 
Zoning District: 


   1. Business, professional, and/or government offices; 
     2. Scientific, medical, and/or research laboratories; 
     3. Business support centers and/or call centers; 
     4. Financial, credit, real estate, and/or insurance establishments; 
          5. Publishing and/or printing; 
     6. Computer services and/or information technology; 
     7. Television/radio broadcasting studio, movie/media productions and/or  


  telecommunication; 
  8. Training center, trade school, and/or vocational center; 
  9. Educational/instructional/tutoring facilities, including, but not limited to:  


art; computer; dance; driving and/or DUI; martial arts; music; 
professional/business/trade; and similar facilities; 


10. College and/or university, classrooms and/or administration only; 
   11. Warehousing, wholesaling and/or distribution of products and/or 


merchandise, but not including, retail sales of consumer goods such as are 
usually sold to the general public; 


   12. Shipping and/or courier service; and 
13. Light manufacturing and/or fabricating and/or assembling of products, 


including, but not limited to the following:   
a. Production of food, beverages, cosmetics, and/or pharmaceuticals, 


but not including, fish and meat products, sauerkraut, vinegar, yeast, 
and rendering plants; 


b. Fabrication and assembly of metal, wood, cloth, and/or plastic 
products; and 


c. Production of computer and/or electronic components and products. 
Each BTP development will consist of two (2) basic sets of uses: the business uses 
consisting of Permitted Uses 1. through 9. and the light manufacturing/distribution 
uses consisting of Permitted Uses 10. through 13.    


C.    Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the BTP 
Zoning District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional 
Uses, Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial 
Development Standards are met: 
1. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and uses (see Article 


V.);  
2. Home Occupation; and 
3. College and/or University, including, but not limited to: classrooms, 


administration, housing, athletic fields, gymnasium, and stadium. 
D.    Dimensional Requirements.   The minimum dimensional requirements in the BTP 


shall be as follows: 
  1. Minimum Site Area for a BTP Development: 20 acres 


    2. Lot Area:  87,120 square feet (two [2] acres) 
    3. Lot width: 500 feet 


              4. Front yard setback: 
 a. Major thoroughfare: 


 i.  Major Arterial: 100 feet 
 ii. Arterial:  100 feet 







 


 


70


 iii. Collector:  80 feet 
 b. Minor thoroughfare:  65 feet 


  5. Rear yard setback: 25 feet 
  6. Side yard setback: 25 feet 
  7.  Buffer:  If the rear or side yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a 


minimum buffer of 75 feet shall be provided adjacent to the lot line, in 
addition to the required setback.  The setback shall be measured from the 
buffer. 


  The business use areas shall be separated from the light 
manufacturing/distribution use areas by a 30 foot buffer.     


  8. Height limit: 40 feet 
  9. Lot coverage limit, including structure and parking area:  70 percent of total 


lot area. 
 10. Outside Storage and Refuse Area Requirements.  The following 


requirements shall apply to outside storage and refuse areas.  Where this 
section contradicts any other requirement, the most restrictive shall apply. 


 a. Outside storage of merchandise, equipment, and parts shall be 
allowed in rear yards only, subject to screening, setback and buffer 
requirements.  


 b. All refuse areas shall be allowed in side or rear yards only, shall be 
screened, and comply with the required buffers and setbacks.  


11. Each BTP development shall have a minimum of 500 feet of frontage, and 
access, on an Arterial street as specified by the Fayette County Thoroughfare 
Plan. 


     E. Other Requirements. 
   1. Utilities.  All utilities shall be underground. 


  2. Multi-tenant Buildings. 


a. Location. Developable frontage on a major arterial road to a 
minimum depth of 300 feet shall be reserved for Multi-tenant 
Buildings. 


b. Multi-tenant building in this area will be limited to the 
aforementioned light business uses. 


c.  Support Uses. In addition to the Permitted Uses in section B, no 
more than 20 percent of the floor area of an individual multi-tenant 
building may consist of business operations providing support 
services for the larger development.  Permitted support service uses 
include: 


   (i) Restaurant/restaurant take-out (No drive-through, drive-in, 
or free standing facilities shall be allowed);  


     (ii) Personal services (i.e.:   alterations; barber shop;  beauty 
salon; clothing/costume rentals; counseling services; 
electrolysis and/or hair removal;  fitness center; laundry 
drop-off/pick-up; locksmith; nail salon; photography studio; 
shoe repair; and tanning salon; 


  (iii) Convenience store (no gasoline sales); 
  (iv) Blueprinting, graphic, and/or copying service; 
  (v) Office and/or computer supplies; and 
  (vi) Cellular phone/communication device supplies and/or 


service.  
 F. Rezoning Requirements. The following is required for a rezoning petition for the 


BTP Zoning District in addition to what is normally required for a rezoning petition: 
  1. A Development Plan is required for the rezoning petition and will take the 







 


 


71


place of the required Concept Plan.  The Development Plan, as approved, 
shall establish the layout and uses planned for the development.  Any change 
in the approved Development Plan, which affects the intent and character of 
the development, the land use pattern, the location or dimensions of streets, 
or similar substantial changes, shall be reviewed and approved by the Board 
of Commissioners upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission.  
A petition for a revision of the Development Plan shall be supported by a 
written statement as to why the revisions are necessary. 
The Development Plan shall include what is normally required on the 
Concept Plan, as well as the following; 


    a. A delineation of the business use area and the light 
manufacturing/distribution use area, including the acreage within 
each area and the 30 foot separation buffer; 


 b. A delineation of the internal transportation network, including 
roads, multi-use paths, and inter-parcel access/roads as applicable; 


    c. Requirements of any overlay zone which is applicable to the 
property; and 


 d. Indicate and label existing structures to remain.  
 


Sec. 6-25.  Planned Unit Development. 
A. Purpose.  The intent of this section is to: 


1. Encourage the development of large lots of land as:  Planned Residential 
Developments (PRD), Planned Industrial Parks (PIP), Planned Retreats or Lodges 
(PRL), Planned Entertainment Farming (PEF), Planned Outdoor Recreation (POR), 
and Planned Small Business Center (PSBC); 


2. Encourage flexible and creative concepts in site planning; 
3. Preserve the natural amenities of the land by encouraging scenic and functional open 


spaces; 
4. Accomplish a more desirable environment than would be possible through the strict 


application of minimum requirements of this Ordinance; 
5. Provide for an efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and 


streets and thereby lower development and housing costs; and 
6. Provide an environment of stable character compatible with surrounding areas. 


B. Development standards.  Each Planned Unit Development shall meet the following standards 
in addition to any other as hereinafter set forth: 
1. The development shall utilize creative and flexible design including, but not limited 


to: varied lot sizes, amenities, mixed uses, etc.; 
2. The development shall be compatible with surrounding uses and with the Land Use 


Plan of Fayette County; and 
3. Paving of roads.  Developers of approved Planned Unit Developments shall be 


required to pave all new subdivision streets contained within said development in 
conformance with the rules and regulations of the Development Regulations of 
Fayette County (see County Code.)  Improvements to existing County-maintained 
roads or planned County roads which pass through a Planned Unit Development will 
be handled conditionally at the time of rezoning or at the time of a revision to a 
development plan.  However, in any Planned Retreat or Lodge (PRL), the developer 
shall be required to provide for all-weather roads, as approved by Public Works, 
suitable for the passage of emergency vehicles. 


 C. Relation to zoning districts.  An approved Planned Unit Development shall be considered to 
be a separate zoning district in which the development plan, as approved, establishes the uses, 
restrictions and regulations according to which development shall occur.  Upon approval, the 
zoning map shall be changed to indicate the area as a Planned Unit Development. 







 


 


72


Procedures.  The following procedures shall be followed in the establishment of each and 
every Planned Unit Development: 
1. Pre-Application Conference.  The deadline to submit copies of the Development Plan 


and Letter of Intent shall be the first (1st) of each month by noon.  If the first (1st) of 
the month falls on the weekend or on a holiday, the deadline is automatically 
extended to the next working day by noon. Prior to filing a rezoning petition for a 
Planned Unit Development, the applicant shall meet with the Technical Review 
Committee (TRC) in order to review the general character of the proposed 
development, including, but not limited to:  its scope, nature and location.  At this 
time, the applicant shall be fully advised of the approval procedures contained herein 
and the various information, studies, etc., which the applicant may need in order to 
continue with the said procedures. 


2. Pre-Recommendation Meeting(s).  Prior to filing a rezoning petition for a Planned 
Unit Development and subsequent to the Pre-Application Conference with the 
Zoning Administrator, the applicant shall meet with the Planning Commission in a 
plan review session(s).  At this meeting, the applicant shall be required to review any 
plan with the Planning Commission and provide preliminary data concerning said 
plan as required by the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission may 
require additional Pre-Recommendation Meetings to review said preliminary data 
prior to their pre-recommendation.  


  3. Rezoning Petition.  A rezoning petition for a Planned Unit Development shall only be 
submitted subsequent to the Pre-Application Conference with the Zoning 
Administrator and the Pre-Recommendation Meeting(s) with the Planning 
Commission. This petition shall contain a Development Plan and a written summary 
of intent, and shall show the relation between the proposed development and the 
surrounding area, both proposed and existing. A rezoning petition for a Planned Unit 
Development shall follow the procedures in Article XI. of this Ordinance.  


  4. Development Plan.  The following information shall be submitted as the 
Development Plan: 


   a. General location map; 
   b. Current topographical map clearly showing existing topographic conditions, 


including contour intervals of no more than 20 feet based on field survey or 
photogrammetric methods; 


   c. Map showing the existing flood plains and flood soil as indicated by FEMA; 
   d. Legal description of the subject property; 
   e. Location and use of existing and proposed public, semi-public, or 


community facilities such as schools, parks and other open space. This will 
include areas proposed to be deducted or reserved for community or public 
use; 


   f. Elevations of building types for all non-residential structures which indicate 
the proposed general architectural style and appearance; and 


h. If a proposed development creates special problems or involves unusual 
circumstances, additional information may be required in order to properly 
evaluate the proposal as follows: 
i. Off-street parking and loading plan; 


    ii. Economic feasibility report or market analysis; 
    iii. Area traffic study and circulation plan within the development and 


to and from existing thoroughfares; 
iv. Hydraulic, hydrologic; and drainage engineering studies;  
v. Environmentally sensitive areas, including, but not limited to: 


watershed protection, wetlands, or groundwater recharge, impact 
study; 







 


 


73


    vi. Based on the Pre-Application Meeting with the Zoning 
Administrator and/or the Pre-Recommendation Meeting(s) with the 
Planning Commission, other information as is deemed necessary 
may be requested, in addition any of the aforementioned required 
information (items a. thru h.) may be excluded if deemed not 
applicable. 


5. Summary of Intent.  The written statement submitted with the Development Plan 
shall include the following information: 
a. Statement of the present ownership of all land within the proposed 


development; 
b. Explanation of the character of the proposed development, including, but not 


limited to: a summary of uses,  number and type of dwelling units, a net 
residential density calculation, and minimum standards for floor area, lot 
size, yard and spacing requirements; 


c. General statement of the proposed development schedule and progression of 
unit development or staging; and 


d. Agreements, provisions, and covenants which govern the use, maintenance, 
and protection of the development and any common or open space, including 
the provisions which will organize, regulate and sustain the Property Owners 
Association, where applicable. 


6. Approval. 
a. After review and public hearing, the Board of Commissioners may 


disapprove, approve or approve with modifications the proposed 
development after receiving the recommendations of the Zoning 
Administrator and Planning Commission. 


b. If the proposed development is approved as submitted, the Zoning 
Administrator shall cause the official zoning map to be changed to indicate 
the Planned Unit Development.  If the plan is approved with modifications, 
the applicant shall file written notice of consent to the modification and a 
properly revised Development Plan with the Zoning Administrator prior to 
changing the map.  The Development Plan and all other accompanying 
information shall be properly identified and permanently filed with the 
Zoning Administrator. 


  7. Subdivision Approval. 
a. At the option of the applicant, a preliminary subdivision plat may be filed 


along with the Development Plan in order that tentative approval of the 
subdivision by the Planning Commission may be granted, pending the 
approval by the Board of Commissioners of the Development Plan. 


b. In no case shall final subdivision approval precede the approval of the 
Development Plan. 


c. Site development regulations, specifications, and procedures governing the 
platting of a Planned Unit Development and plat approval shall be in 
accordance with the Fayette County Subdivision Regulations and 
Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


8. Ownership control.  At the time a Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat is approved 
and recorded for a Planned Unit Development, as applicable, the land comprising the 
area for the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall be under one (1) ownership, 
i.e., an individual, a corporation, or some other single legal entity.   


 Individual lots may be sold only after the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat has 
been approved and recorded and the deed contains sufficient covenants assuring the 
continuance of the Planned Unit Development as originally approved and developed. 


  9. Building and Occupancy Permits.  The Zoning Administrator shall approve of the 







 


 


74


issuance of building permits for buildings and structures in the Planned Unit 
Development if they are in substantial conformity with the approved Development 
Plan, the development schedule, and with all other applicable regulations.  A 
certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any completed building or structure if it 
conforms to the requirements of the approved Development Plan and all other 
applicable regulations. 


  10. Revision of Development Plan.  Any change in the approved Development Plan, 
which affects the intent and character of the development, the density or land use 
pattern, the approved uses, the location or dimensions of streets, or similar substantial 
changes, shall be reviewed and approved by the Board of Commissioners upon the 
recommendation of the Zoning Administrator and Planning Commission.  A petition 
for a revision of the Development Plan shall be supported by a written statement as to 
why the revisions are necessary or desirable. 


 D. Planned Residential Development. 
1. Purpose.  The intent of a Planned Residential Development (PRD) is to encourage 


creativity and resourcefulness in residential development and to provide open space, 
parks and recreational facilities for the residents of the development and/or the 
general public. 


2. Permitted Residential Uses.  Planned Residential Developments may contain single-
family dwellings, two-family dwellings, townhouses, or a combination thereof.  
Residential accessory buildings and uses shall also be allowed per Article V. 


3. Permitted Recreational Uses.  A list of proposed recreational uses shall be submitted 
with the Summary of Intent.  Only those uses approved through the rezoning process 
shall be allowed in the PRD. 


4. Permitted Incidental Uses.  The following incidental uses shall be allowed in a PRD: 
a. Day care facility (including an outdoor play area only); 
b. Church and/or other Place of Worship (including a parsonage and outdoor 


play area only); and 
c. School, private (including an outdoor play area but excluding housing or a 


stadium.)  
 The buffers and setbacks for these uses along the exterior boundary of the 


PRD shall be consistent with the applicable Conditional Use Requirements 
listed in Article VII.  


 5. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Uses shall be allowed in the PRD 
Zoning District, provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional 
Uses, Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial 
Development Standards are met: 


 a. Home Occupation; and 
 b. Horse Quarters (see article V. Raising and Keeping Horses in Residential 


Districts.) 
6. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements.  The minimum dimensional 


requirements in the PRD shall be as follows: 
   a. Development size:  100 contiguous acres located within the A-R and/or 


residential zoning districts 
   b. Each single-family dwelling shall be placed on a separate lot. 


c. Side yard setback: 15 feet 
d. Rear yard setback: 30 feet 
e. Maximum density:  Four (4) units per acre (single-family attached); and one 


(1) unit per acre (single-family detached.)  For purposes of this section, 
density shall be interpreted as the number of dwelling units per net acre 
devoted to residential development. 


 







 


 


75


  7. Common Open Space Requirements.  Planned Residential Developments shall meet 
the following common open space requirements: 
a. A minimum of 2,500 square feet per lot shall be reserved for open space.  


The open space shall not be located in the following areas:  street rights-of-
way (public or private); all land located within the 100-year flood plain; 
water impoundments; and all lands proposed to be dedicated to a governing 
authority.   


b. The open space may be publicly owned, privately owned, or be deeded to 
and maintained by the Property Owners Association, comprised of the 
residents of the development.  When the open space is to be deeded to the 
Property Owners Association the initial owner of the development shall be 
responsible for the organization of said association.  The organization, 
responsibilities and financing of the Property Owners Association shall be 
established in appropriate deed covenants, which shall run with the land and 
which shall appear in each and every deed of property given by the initial 
owner. 


c. Approved recreational uses may be located in the open space. 
  8. General Deed Covenants.  Appropriate deed covenants, which shall run with the 


land, shall be made a part of each deed of property given by the initial owner of the 
development in order to ensure the continuance of the Planned Residential 
Development in accordance with all approved plans and this section.  A copy of the 
covenants shall be given to the Zoning Administrator as a part of the record of the 
Planned Residential Development. 


E. Planned Industrial Park. 
1. Purpose.  The intent of a Planned Industrial Park (PIP) is to encourage the 


development of a localized industrial park designed to meet light and heavy industrial 
purposes. 


2. Permitted Uses.  Only those uses (Permitted and Conditional) in the M-1 and M-2 
Zoning Districts shall be proposed for the PIP.  Only those uses approved through the 
rezoning process will be allowed in the PIP. 


  3. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements.  The minimum requirements for a 
PIP shall be as follows: 
a. Location: M-1 or M-2 Zoning District 


   b. The development shall have access and egress only to an Arterial 
Thoroughfare. 


c. Development size: 10 acres 
d. Front, side, and rear yard setbacks along the exterior boundaries of the 


development shall be consistent with either the M-1 or   M-2 Zoning 
District, whichever is applicable. 


e. Height limit: 35 feet 
f. A buffer of 75 feet shall be provided around the periphery of the 


development. 


F. Planned Retreat and/or Lodge.  (Amended 08/25/11) 
1. Purpose.  The intent of a Planned Retreat and/or Lodge (PRL) is to provide a 


development exclusively designed to accommodate the assembly of groups or 
organizations for the purpose of association, education, therapy, or instruction 
through conferences, seminars, and/or camps.  Food and lodging may be furnished 
for a definite and temporary period. 


2. Permitted Uses.   The following uses may be proposed in a PRL: 
 a. Assembly/meeting facilities (indoor and outdoor); 


b. Dining facilities; 
c. Lodges, dormitories, cabins, and/or tent campsites for temporary occupancy; 







 


 


76


d. Recreational facilities, including, but not limited to: recreational 
courts/fields, playgrounds, picnic pavilions, swimming pools; and  


e. Caretaker and/or staff housing. 
In addition, only those uses (Permitted and Conditional) allowed in the A-R Zoning 
District may be proposed for a PRL. Only those uses approved through the rezoning 
procedure will be allowed in the PRL.  


3. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements.  The minimum requirements for a 
PRL shall be as follows: 
a. Location: A-R Zoning District 
b. Development size: 50 contiguous acres 
c. Maximum density: One (1) single-family unit for each 10 net acres of 


the development 
d. The proposed site shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on and 


accesses a Major Thoroughfare, as specified by the Fayette County 
Thoroughfare Plan. 


e. A Site Plan will be required prior to the construction of structures and/or 
recreational facilities, as applicable, per the Development Regulations (see 
County Code.) 


f. Each structure whose purpose is to provide lodging shall have paved access 
to a public street.  Said access shall meet the requirements of the 
Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


g. No structure shall be permitted within 150 feet of the right-of-way (existing 
or required) of any existing street abutting or bisecting the development. 


h. A minimum buffer of 75 feet shall be provided around the periphery of the 
development.  To provide sufficient separation from proposed uses to 
alleviate any adverse effect on the use or usability of abutting or nearby 
properties, said buffer may be increased through the rezoning procedure by 
the Board of Commissioners as a condition of approval and shall be 
indicated on the Development Plan.  Any vehicular or multi-use path access 
proposed within the buffer shall be approved through the rezoning procedure 
and indicated on the Development Plan; conditions of approval may be 
incorporated by the Board of Commissioners. 


i. Height limit: 35 feet 


G. Planned Entertainment Farming. 
1. Purpose.  To allow certain incidental uses to an active farming operation to preserve 


agricultural areas.  An active farming operation is defined as any area of 100 or more 
contiguous acres from which $10,000 or more of agricultural products are grown and 
sold on an annual basis.  Income verification may be required.  Agricultural products 
are defined here as the growing of annual crops, the raising of livestock and/or 
horses, and dairy farming. 


2. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in a PEF: 
a. Single-family dwelling and accessory uses and structures associated with the 


single-family dwelling exclusively as per Article V; 
b. Farm buildings (shall be bonafide structures related to the farming 


operation); 
c. Growing of crops; 
d. Raising and selling livestock; 
e. Dairy farm and production; 
f. Greenhouses and Shrubbery sales; 
g. Farmer's market (limited to sales of crops grown on premises by owner of 


property); 
h. Pick-your-own produce; 







 


 


77


i. Processing of agricultural products (shall meet Conditional Use requirements 
per the A-R Zoning District); 


j. Horse stables and horseback riding; 
k. Horse show (by permit, temporary, fourteen [14] days per year); 
l. Rodeo (by permit, temporary, fourteen [14] days per year); 
m. Petting zoo; 
n. Educational tours; 
o. Picnic area; 
p. Sit down restaurant, banquet facility, bakery and catering (no drive-thru, and 


selling of alcoholic beverages, shall be prohibited) (minimum seating 
capacity of 50 persons); 


q. Gift shop in association with restaurant only; and 
r. Pay fishing and bait sales in association with pay fishing. 


 3. Conditional Uses.  The following Conditional Use shall be allowed in the PUD-PEF 
Zoning District provided that all conditions specified in Article VII.  Conditional 
Uses, Nonconformances, Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone, and Commercial 
Development Standards are met:  Home Occupation. 


4. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements.  The minimum requirements for 
PEF shall be as follows: 
a. Location:  A-R Zoning District 
b. Development size:  100 contiguous acres 
c. Single-family dwellings and those accessory uses and structures associated 


with the single-family dwelling shall meet those requirements established 
within the A-R Zoning District. 


d. All other non-residential structures shall meet the following setbacks: 
i. Front yard: 200 feet 
ii. Rear yard: 100 feet 
iii. Side yard: 100 feet 


e. A Site Plan is required indicating the location of all structures/activities per 
the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


f. All parking and access areas shall be paved and landscaped per the 
Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


g. All service areas shall be screened per Article V. herein. 
h. All parking and service areas shall be to the rear of any restaurant building. 
i. Only structures whose principal purpose is for the storage of farm equipment 


and/or animals may have a metal facade.  All other structures shall have a 
non-metallic facade. 


j. Shall comply with all County, (including Fire Marshal), State and Federal 
requirements. 


H. Planned Outdoor Recreation. 
1. Purpose.  The intent of a Planned Outdoor Recreation Development (POR) is to 


provide the residents of Fayette County adequate recreational opportunities outside of 
existing public facilities, parks, private recreation and amenity areas. 


2. Permitted Uses.  The following Permitted Uses shall be allowed in a POR: 
a. Outdoor athletic fields; 
b. Outdoor athletic courts; 
c. Accessory Uses: 


i. Picnic and playground areas; 
ii. Concession facilities; 
iii. Press box facilities; 
iv. Restroom facilities; 
v. Maintenance and/or equipment facilities; 







 


 


78


vi. Ticket sales facilities; 
vii. Bleachers; 
viii. Dugouts; 
ix. Lights; and 
x. Scoreboards. 


3. Prohibited Uses.  The following uses shall be prohibited in a POR: 
a. Motorized or other wheeled vehicle sports; 
b. Swimming pools and water related activities; 
c. Archery; 
d. Firearms and target range; 
e. Explosives and fireworks; 
f. Paintball and similar activities; and 
g. Amusement park activities and rides. 


4. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements.  The minimum requirements for a 
POR shall be as follows: 
a. Development size:  50 contiguous acres 
b. The development shall have ingress and egress only to an Arterial 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. 
c. Maximum number of outdoor athletic fields and/or courts:  Eight (8) 
d. Setbacks: 


    i. No Permitted Uses shall be allowed within 100 feet of the right-of-
way. 


   ii. No Permitted Uses shall be allowed within 500 feet from any A-R 
or residential zoning district. 


    iii. No Permitted Uses shall be allowed within 50 feet from any non-
residential zoning district. 


e. A buffer of 100 feet plus the required setbacks shall separate all Permitted 
Uses from any A-R or residential zoning district.  Off-street parking areas 
may be located within the setback areas. 


f. Landscaping and buffer areas shall be planted in accordance with the 
Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


g. Paved access and paved parking shall be provided as follows: 
i. 40 spaces per outdoor athletic field; and 
ii. 10 spaces per outdoor athletic court. 


h. Hours of operation are to be determined at the time of development plan 
approval.  No play permitted after 10:00 p.m. 


i. Lights shall be established in such a way that adjacent properties and 
residents are not adversely affected, and that no direct light is cast upon said 
properties and residents.  No lighting permitted after 10:30 p.m. 


j. Adequate trash receptacles and grounds maintenance shall be provided to 
maintain a litter free recreation area.  Dumpsters shall be screened on all 
sides. 


k. Outside loudspeaker system use permitted until 10:00 p.m. 
l. Height limit: 35 feet, with the exception of lights. 


 I. Planned Small Business Center. 
1. Purpose.  The intent of the Planned Small Business Center is to provide a business 


incubator center through a planned, mixed-use nonresidential development consisting 
primarily of a mix of office uses, service uses, and light industrial uses, with limited 
small scale commercial uses as appropriate for the area.  A PUD-PSBC will allow 
innovative and creative design and promote high standards in the development layout 
to alleviate incompatibility between the internal uses in the development to protect 
public safety to the greatest degree possible. 







 


 


79


2. Uses.  Only those uses (Permitted and Conditional) allowed in the O-I, C-C, C-H, 
and M-1 zoning districts shall be proposed for the PUD-PSBC.  Only those uses 
approved through the rezoning process shall be allowed.  


3. Minimum Dimensional and Other Requirements. 
a. Minimum Lot Size:   Minimum of 10 acres. 
b.  The proposed site shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on and 


accesses a Major Thoroughfare, as specified by the Fayette County 
Thoroughfare Plan. 


c. Front, side, and rear yard setbacks and buffers along the exterior boundaries 
of the development shall be consistent with either the O-I, C-C, C-H, or M-1 
Zoning District, as applicable to the use. 


 d. The Development Plan shall indicate the different use areas for the proposed 
development. Appropriate separation, buffering, and vehicular circulation 
between uses internal to the development shall be established to alleviate 
incompatibility and protect public safety. Vehicular access facilities shall be 
designed in a manner to preclude large vehicles (semi-tractor trailers, 
delivery trucks, etc.) from utilizing areas where pedestrians are likely to be 
present. 


 e. Location:  Only those areas indicated in the Fayette County Comprehensive 
Plan shall be given consideration for PUD-PSBC.   


   f. Height limit: 35 feet 
 


Section 5.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE VII. CONDITIONAL USES, NONCONFORMANCES, 


TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR OVERLAY ZONE, AND COMMERCIAL 


DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, enacting a new ARTICLE VII. 


CONDITIONAL USES, NONCONFORMANCES, TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR 


OVERLAY ZONE, AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE VII.  CONDITIONAL USES, NONCONFORMANCES,  


TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR OVERLAY ZONE, AND 
COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 


  


Sec. 7-1.  Conditional Use Approval.  Conditional Uses include certain uses which are allowed in a particular 
zoning district, including the Legal Nonconforming Status (LNS) sub-category, provided that all conditions 
specified under the Zoning Ordinance are met.  The Zoning Administrator shall issue a Conditional Use Permit 
for each use listed below upon compliance with all specified conditions and approvals by the appropriate 
County officials. 


 
A. Special Regulations.  Prior to the issuance of a Conditional Use permit and/or building 


permit, a site plan, as applicable to demonstrate compliance shall be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator and approved by the applicable departments.  This requirement shall apply to 
all Conditional Uses allowed within the various zoning districts except for: farm 
outbuildings, home occupations, single-family residences, and temporary meetings and/or 
events which are conducted no longer than 14 calendar days per year. 


 
B. Conditional Uses Allowed: 


 
1. Adult Day Care Facility.   (Allowed in the C-C, C-H, and O-I Zoning Districts and 


Church or other Place of Worship (see Article VII.)   







 


 


80


a. The facility shall comply with all applicable licensing requirements of the 
State of Georgia.   


b. The hours of operation shall be limited to:  6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.   
 
2. Aircraft Landing Area.  (Allowed in the A-R, M-1, and M-2 Zoning Districts) The 


intent of these rules and regulations is to provide a safer environment for the 
operation of aircraft. 
a. FAA Air Space Clearance approval for visual flying flight operations and 


landing areas shall be required, where applicable. 
b. For any newly developed landing area for fixed wing aircraft, a 1,000 foot 


clear zone as defined by the FAA extending from the end of all runways 
shall be maintained through ownership or easement, and in no case, shall 
the end of a runway be closer than 200 feet from the property line. 


c. Any newly developed landing area for fixed wing aircraft shall be located at 
least 300 feet, as measured from the centerline of the runway, from all 
property lines. 


d. Any on-site roofed structure shall be setback at least 200 feet from the 
nearest point on the centerline of the runway. 


e. Heliport.  (These regulations shall not apply to a hospital which maintains a 
heliport for medical purposes.) 


 i. FAA Air Space Clearance approval for visual flying flight 
operations and landing areas shall be required, where applicable. 


 ii. A Site Plan, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, indicating the 
heliport landing area and center point on the lot and setbacks shall 
be required.  The center point of the heliport landing area shall be 
indicated on the lot. 


 iii. A heliport shall be a minimum of 300 feet from all property lines as 
measured from the center point of the heliport landing area. 


f. Aircraft Hangar.   (Allowed in the A-R, M-1 and M-2 Zoning Districts) 
i. An aircraft hangar shall comply with all of the above criteria of 


Article VII, Aircraft Landing Area. 
ii. Use of an aircraft hangar shall be limited to storage and 


maintenance of aircraft.  Outdoor storage of aircraft parts is 
prohibited.  An aircraft hangar shall not include any living quarters 
or be used for residential purposes. 


iii. In the A-R zoning district, on lots of less than 10 acres in size, there 
shall be a maximum of one (1) detached hangar allowed. 


g. In the A-R zoning district, no trade or business of any kind shall be 
conducted from an aircraft hangar. 


h. In the A-R zoning district, a detached aircraft hangar shall be subject to the 
following: 
i. A detached hangar is an accessory structure which shall require a 


building permit, and shall comply with minimum building setbacks. 
ii. A detached hangar shall not be constructed prior to construction of 


the single-family dwelling. 
iii. A detached hangar shall be located to the side or rear of the 


principal dwelling. 
iv. A detached hangar shall not exceed 5,000 square feet in size 


including workshop, restroom, and storage areas.  
 
3. Amphitheater.  (Allowed C-H and M-1 Zoning Districts) 


a. Hours of operation shall be limited to between the hours of 12:00 noon and 







 


 


81


9:00 p.m. weekdays and 10:00 p.m. weekends (see County Code.) 
b. The outdoor amphitheater shall not be located closer than 300 feet from any 


A-R or residential zoning districts.  


c. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only unless such use is within a 
nonresidential development which has access to a Major Thoroughfare.  


 
4. Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial) and/or Veterinary 


Clinic.   (Allowed in A-R, C-C, C-H, and M-1 Zoning Districts):   
 All structures, pens, runs, or enclosures shall not be located closer than 300 feet from 


any A-R or residential zoning district. 
 
5. Animal Hospital and/or Veterinary Clinic. (excludes commercial and non-


commercial kennel)   (Allowed in O-I Zoning District):    
 All structures shall not be located closer than 55 feet (30 foot buffer and 25 foot 


setback) from any A-R or residential zoning district.  No outside activity (runs, pens, 
or enclosures) or boarding is allowed except during the convalescent period. 


 
 6. Automobile, Truck, Farm Equipment, or Motorcycle, Sales and Incidental Repairs.  


(Allowed in C-H Zoning District)   
a. All Automobile, Truck, Farm Equipment, or Motorcycle Sales facilities shall 


comply with the following conditions:  
i. All activities except sales shall be conducted indoors. 
ii. No outside storage of equipment or parts shall be permitted. 


    iii. No external loud-speakers allowed.   
b. A full range of repairs shall be allowed incidental to a sales use and those 


repairs that are not listed as a permitted use in the C-H Zoning District, shall 
comply with the following:  


    i. All repair activities shall be conducted indoors.   
ii. No outside storage of equipment or parts shall be permitted.   
iii. All overhead doors shall face the side and/or rear yard or be 


screened from view from the street per Article V. of the Fayette 
County Zoning Ordinance or utilizing vegetative materials. 


iv. All wrecked vehicles stored for repair shall be screened in 
accordance with Article V.   


v. Facilities located adjacent to a residentially zoned area shall not 
operate between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.   


vi. No external loud-speakers allowed. 
    


  7. Automobile Service Station, including gasoline sales and/or inside or outside 


emission testing, in conjunction with a Convenience Store.   (Allowed in C-C and   
C-H Zoning Districts) 
a. Service areas, facilities, and gasoline pump islands shall not be located 


closer than 75 feet from a residential or A-R Zoning District. 
b. Underground storage tanks shall be set back no closer than 20 feet from all 


property lines. 
c. A dynamometer shall not be utilized in conjunction with outside emission 


testing. 
 


8. Campground Facilities.  (Allowed in the C-H Zoning District) 
a. Campsites shall be utilized by Recreational Vehicles (as defined herein) and 







 


 


82


by tents (normally associated with outdoor camping), but not by 
manufactured housing (as defined herein.)  


b. Each campsite shall be utilized for short-term occupancy not to exceed 15 
calendar days, provided; however, that the property owner or resident 
manager may permanently occupy one (1) single-family dwelling. 


c. Campground facilities shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a 
Major Thoroughfare (as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare 
Plan.)  All access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only. 


d. The lot area shall be at least 10 acres. 
e. The maximum density shall not exceed four (4) campsites per gross acre. 
f. A minimum 50 foot planted buffer plus all required setbacks shall be 


established around the perimeter of the entire development.  Buffer areas 
shall be continuous except for approved access, utility easements, and signs 
(see Sign Ordinance.) 


g. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas (including campsites) as 
measured from required buffers: 
i. Front yard: 75 feet 
ii. Side yard: 25 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 25 feet 


h. At least 10 percent of the gross acreage shall be reserved for recreational 
areas. 


i. Accessory uses shall be allowed provided that the following requirements 
are met: 
i. Such uses and structures shall be restricted to the use of occupants 


of the park and their guests; 
ii. All structures and use areas shall meet the minimum buffer and 


setback requirements found in subsections f. and g., above. 
iii. Such uses and structures shall be limited to the following:  rental 


offices; shower and restroom facilities; coin-operated laundry 
facilities; convenience stores; and snack bars. 


iv. Total floor area for all structures listed in paragraph (3), above, shall 
not exceed 3,000 square feet. 


 v. The sale of alcoholic beverages and/or automotive gasoline shall be 
prohibited.  


j. The Site Plan for the proposed campground (including all accessory 
structures) shall be approved by the Fayette County Environmental Health 
Department. 


 
 9. Care Home, Convalescent Center and/or Nursing Home.   (Allowed in the C-C, C-H, 


and O-I Zoning Districts) 
a. Minimum lot size:   three (3) acres 
b. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only unless such use is within a 
nonresidential development which has access to a Major Thoroughfare. 


c. A minimum 50 foot buffer plus the required setbacks shall separate all 
buildings from any residential or A-R Zoning District.  The setback shall be 
measured from the buffer. 


d. Minimum setbacks: 
i. Front yard: 100 feet 
ii. Side yard: 50 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 50 feet 







 


 


83


e. The facility shall comply with all licensing requirements of the State of 
Georgia. 


f. Rooms and/or suites may be designed for housekeeping purposes; however, 
a central kitchen, central dining facilities to accommodate a minimum of 50 
percent of the residential capacity at one (1) seating, and central recreational 
facilities shall be provided.     


g. 24 hour staff shall be required. 
h. All rooms and/or suites shall be connected to the aforementioned central 


facilities through internal passageways (i.e. hallways, corridors, etc.) 
     


10. Cemetery.  (Human or Pet) (Allowed in A-R and C-H Zoning Districts) (a Human 
Cemetery is also allowed in conjunction with a Church or other Place of Worship 
(see Article VII.) 
a. Human Cemetery 


i. The facility shall comply with all requirements of the State of 
Georgia. 


ii. Minimum lot area shall be 10 acres. 
iii. A crematorium or mausoleum shall be allowed only in conjunction 


with a cemetery. 
iv. A crematorium shall be set back 300 feet from all property lines. 
v. Grave sites shall meet the setbacks and buffers applicable to the 


underlying zoning district.  
vi. Landscape areas shall be required and planted in accordance with 


the Development Regulations (see County Code.)   
vii. Graves for pets shall meet b. Pet Cemetery, ii., iii., and iv. below.  
 


   b. Pet Cemetery 


    i. Minimum lot area shall be five (5) acres. 
ii. The remains of only one (1) pet shall be buried in a single grave site 


and shall not be stacked one (1) above another. 
iii. The remains shall be a minimum of three (3) feet below the grade. 
iv. Cemetery plots shall be of sufficient size to provide for a minimum 


one (1) foot undisturbed area between graves. 
v. The owner/operator shall maintain and post a copy of the Cemetery 


Rules and Regulations and a current burial plot diagram at all times. 
vi. A pet cemetery shall be maintained in perpetuity via deed 


restrictions. 
vii. Grave sites shall meet the setbacks and buffers applicable to the 


underlying zoning district. 
viii. Landscape areas shall be required and planted in accordance with 


the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 
 


11. Charter Motor Coach Service.  (Allowed in C-H Zoning District) 
a All motor coaches shall be parked to the rear of the principal structure. 
b. All motor coaches shall be screened in accordance with Article V.  
c. Overhead bay doors shall not be open to the street. 
d. The following uses shall be allowed:  administrative office, passenger 


pickup, and storage of motor coaches. 
e. On-site maintenance/repairs are prohibited. 


   


12. Child Care Facility.   (Allowed in C-C, C-H, O-I, A-R, and MHP Zoning Districts, 
and Church and/or other Place of Worship (see Article VII.) 







 


 


84


a. The facility shall comply with all applicable licensing requirements of the 
State of Georgia. 


b. Outdoor play areas shall be located to the side or rear of the principal 
building. 


c. At least 100 square feet of outdoor play area shall be provided for each child 
during the period of maximum attendance. 


d. A fence measuring at least four (4) feet in height shall enclose the entire play 
area. 


e. If the side or rear yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 
50 foot buffer shall be provided adjacent to the lot line.  The side yard 
setback shall be 50 feet.  The rear yard setback shall be 75 feet.   The setback 
shall be measured from the buffer.  Said requirements shall apply to all 
structures and outdoor play areas. 


f. If adjoining a residential or A-R Zoning District, the hours of operation shall 
be limited to:  Monday through Saturday from 6:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., except 
that all exterior activities shall only occur from 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. 


g. A convenient vehicle drop-off area shall be provided which fully covers the 
vehicle when doors are open on both sides of the vehicle, permitting vehicles 
to re-enter the public street in a forward manner. 


h. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a Major 
Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only unless such use is within a 
nonresidential development which has access to a Major Thoroughfare. 


 
13. Church and/or other Place of Worship.  (Allowed in O-I, C-C, C-H, A-R, R-85,     


R-80, R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, and DR-15 Zoning 
Districts) 
a. The lot area shall be at least five (5) acres, and the lot width at the building 


line shall be at least 400 feet. 
b. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only. 


c. A minimum 50 foot buffer plus the required setbacks listed below shall 
separate all buildings and use areas from any residential or A-R Zoning 
District.  The setback shall be measured from the buffer.   However, off-
street parking areas and an unlit tot lot with a maximum size of 2,400 square 
feet may be located within the setback areas. A walking/running path or 
track may be located in the front yard setback.   


d. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas (excluding parking areas and 
tot lots as defined herein.) 
 i. Front yard: 100 feet 
ii. Side yard: 50 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 75 feet 


e. Uses and/or structures incidental to a church shall be limited to: a private 
school, parsonage, gymnasium, pool, playground, tot lot, outdoor athletic 
facility, child care facility, adult day care facility, administration, human 
cemetery (provided that all requirements for a Cemetery herein are met), 
broadcast facility, including a tower (see Article V. General Provisions), and 
seasonal sales (see Article VII. Seasonal Sales as Outdoor Displays) shall be 
allowed provided all buildings and use areas meet the minimum setback and 
buffer requirements.   


 







 


 


85


f. Only portable temporary lighting for athletic facilities shall be permitted and 
the athletic facility shall not be lighted or used after 10:00 p.m.  


g. Child care facilities shall be allowed provided that all requirements for child 
care facilities herein are met (see Article VII. Child Care Facility.) 


h. Adult day care facilities shall be allowed provided that all requirements for 
adult day care facilities herein are met (see Article VII. Adult Day Care 


Facility.) 
i. Landscape areas shall be required in accordance with the Development 


Regulations (see County Code.) 
j. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 


on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential.  The decorative facing shall 
consist of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials 
compatible with the area. 


k. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and 
shall be located to the side/rear of the main sanctuary building. 


l. The construction of one (1) open air pavilion utilized for picnics/social 
gatherings only is allowed under the following conditions: 
i. The pavilion shall be constructed following the construction of the 


main sanctuary building;  
ii. The floor area shall not exceed 40 percent of the square footage of 


the main sanctuary building; and  
iii. The pavilion shall not be lighted or used after 10:00 p.m. 
If the open air pavilion is built in conjunction with lighted restrooms and/or 
an attached storage building, the overall square footage shall not exceed 40 
percent of the main sanctuary building square footage. 
 


14. College and/or University, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 


housing, outdoor athletic facility, gymnasium, and/or stadium.  (Allowed in the A-R, 
BTP, O-I, C-C, and C-H Zoning Districts)   
a. The lot area shall be at least 10 acres. 
b. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only unless such use is within a 
nonresidential development which has access to a Major Thoroughfare.  


c. If the side or rear yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 
50 foot buffer shall be provided adjacent to the lot line. 


d. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas (excluding parking areas) are 
as follows and shall be measured from the buffer, if applicable: 
i. Front yard: 100 feet 
ii. Side yard: 50 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 75 feet 


e. Uses and/or structures incidental to colleges and universities, such as a 
gymnasium, dormitory, fraternity, sorority, and/or outdoor athletic facility 
shall be allowed, provided all buildings and use areas meet the minimum 
setback and buffer requirements specified above. 


f. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 
on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential.  The decorative facing shall 
consist of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials 
compatible with the area. 







 


 


86


g. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and 
shall be located to the side/rear of the main building. 


 
15. Commercial Driving Range and Related Accessories.  Related accessories limited to: 


Putting green, chipping green, sand traps, artificial/natural surface, bunkers, pro 
shop, and snack bar.  (Allowed in C-C, C-H, and A-R Zoning Districts) 
a. All structures, greens, fairways, and parking areas shall be set back at least 


100 feet from any A-R or residential zoning district. 
b. All greens, fairways, and driving areas shall be set back at 50 feet from any 


non-residential zoning district. 
c. Said facilities shall be for daytime use only, except that lighting may be 


provided for facilities which are located more than 350 feet from a single-
family or multi-family residence, provided that lighting is not directly visible 
from said residence(s). 


d. No outside loudspeaker system shall be utilized. 
 


16. Convenience Commercial Establishment.  Facility is limited to the sale of 
prepackaged food products, gasoline, household items, newspapers, magazines, 
sandwiches, and other freshly-prepared foods for off-site consumption.   (Allowed in 
the L-C Zoning District) 
a. Maximum floor area: 3,500 square feet 
b. Accessory structures, including service area canopies used in conjunction 


with the sale of gasoline, shall maintain the same architectural character of 
the principal structure including the pitched roof, and shall be constructed of 
the same materials or materials which simulate same.  An elevation drawing 
denoting compliance with this requirement shall be submitted as part of the 
site plan. 


c. Motor vehicle vacuum cleaners shall be located to the side or rear of the 
principal structure. 


d. Underground storage tanks shall be set back at least 20 feet from all property 
lines. 


e. The number of gasoline pumps shall be limited to no more than six (6) or a 
total of 12 pumping stations.  


 
17. Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas.  (Allowed in subdivisions in the 


A-R, EST, R-85, R-80, R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20,   
DR-15, and C-S zoning districts, with Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat approval.) 
a. Lot area:  Per zoning district 
b. Said area shall be shown on the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat or Minor 


Subdivision Plat and labeled as follows:  "Not a residential building lot, for 
recreational purposes only." 


c. Landscape areas shall be required and planted in accordance with the 
Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


d. In addition to the required landscape areas, a six (6) foot landscape area shall 
be required along the rear property line where adjacent to an A-R or 
residential zoning district and planted in accordance with Side Yard 
requirements in the Development Regulations (see County Code.) 


e. Paved parking area is required per the Development Regulations (see County 
Code.) 


f. No activity and lighting permitted after 10:00 p.m. 
 







 


 


87


g. The construction of one (1) open air pavilion up to 900 square feet utilized 
for picnics and social gatherings shall be allowed.    


 
18. Dry Cleaning Plant.  (Allowed in the C-C and C-H Zoning Districts) 


a. Dry cleaning plants using cleaning systems which make use of solvents rated 
at above 40 by the Underwriter's Laboratories, Inc. Standard of 
Classification known as Class I Systems shall be prohibited; 


b. Dry cleaning plants which use cleaning systems which make use of solvents 
rated at more than five (5) but not less than 40 according to the Underwriter's 
Laboratories, Inc. Standard Classification, known as Class II and Class III 
Systems, shall meet all requirements of the National Fire Safety Association 
Code; 


c. The building for a dry cleaning plant shall not contain more than 4,000 
square feet of floor area inclusive of dry cleaning pickup facility within the 
building; 


d. Fuel for operation of the equipment shall be smokeless fuel; and 
e. Central water and central sanitary sewage systems are required. This shall 


not apply to recyclable hydrocarbon or silicone dry cleaning machinery that 
does not discharge water into the central sanitary sewage system. 


 
19. Experimental Labs.  (Allowed in the C-H, M-1, and M-2 Zoning Districts) 


a. Minimum lot area:  three (3) acres if use is hazardous as defined by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA.) 


b. Said use shall comply with all applicable State and/or Federal licensing 
requirements. 


 


20. Farm Outbuildings, including Horse Stables, Auxiliary Structures, and Commercial 


Greenhouses.  (Allowed in the A-R Zoning District)   
a. Farm Outbuilding.  All structures permitted in this category shall be 


structures related to a bonafide farming operation and shall be utilized as a 
barn for livestock, storing farm equipment, and any other agricultural 
purposes. Farm outbuildings shall be exempt from architectural standards 
(see Article V.)  


b. Commercial Greenhouses.  All structures permitted in this category shall be 
structures related to a bonafide cultivation or production of landscape 
planting materials. Commercial greenhouses shall be exempt from 
architectural standards (see Article V.)   


c. Horse Stables.  All structures permitted in this category shall be related to 
the bonafide shelter and/or boarding of horses.  Riding lessons and boarding 
only shall be permitted; however, a site plan shall be required for these uses. 
Horse Stables are exempt from architectural standards (see Article V.) 


d. Auxiliary Structures.  All structures permitted in this category shall comply 
with the following: 
i. Auxiliary structures shall be utilized for personal use only by the 


residents of the principal structure. 
ii. Auxiliary structures may be utilized as a noncommercial indoor 


training facility and/or artist studio. 
iii. For those uses that have the potential of generating noise levels 


audible to the adjacent properties acoustical treatment 
(soundproofing) shall be required to mitigate the volume of sound. 


iv. Commercial/retail activity shall not be permitted. 
v. An auxiliary structure shall not be utilized in conjunction with a 







 


 


88


Home Occupation. 
vi.  Auxiliary Structures are exempt from architectural standards (see 


Article V.) 
e. Lot size over 10 acres, no restriction of size or number of farm outbuildings, 


horse stables, auxiliary structures, and commercial greenhouses. 
f. Lot size five (5) to 10 acres, one (1) detached farm outbuilding, auxiliary 


structure, commercial  greenhouse, or horse stable consisting of a maximum 
of 1,800 square feet in size.     


Farm outbuildings, auxiliary structures,   horse stables, and commercial greenhouses 
may:    have plumbing and electricity, but shall not be used for residential purposes; 
Farm outbuildings, horse stables, and commercial greenhouses shall not be located 
within 100 feet of the principal residential structure or connected to any structures on 
site.   Farm outbuildings, horse stables, and/or commercial greenhouses may be 
constructed prior to the principal residential structure.  


 
21. Feed Lot and/or Commercial Barn.   Barns and feed lots shall be located at least 100 


feet from all property lines.  (Allowed in the M-1 Zoning District) 
 
22. Golf Course (minimum 18-hole regulation) and Related Accessories.  Related 


accessories are limited to:  putting green, chipping green, sand trap, artificial/natural 
surface, bunker, clubhouse, pro shop, and snack bar.   (Allowed in the C-C, C-H, and 
A-R Zoning Districts)   
a. Said facilities shall be for daytime use only. 
b. All structures, greens, and fairways shall be set back at least 100 feet from 


any property line. 
c. No outside loudspeaker systems shall be utilized. 


 
23. Heavy manufacturing, packaging, processing or handling of materials.  (Allowed in 


the M-2 Zoning District)  Any uses such as the manufacturing of corrosive acids, 
bone distillation, drop forge industry, fat rendering, fertilizer manufacturing, organic 
material reduction, meat processing plants, and similar operations which produce 
noise, odors, dust, fumes, fire hazards, or other nuisance features shall be set back no 
less than 500 feet from any property line.   


 
24. Home Occupation.   (Allowed in A-R,  EST,  C-S,  R-85, R-80,  R-78,  R-75, R-72,   


R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, DR-15,  RMF,  MHP, PUD-PRD, PUD-PRL, 
PUD-PEF, O-I, C-C, C-H, L-C, M-1, M-2, and BTP Zoning Districts)   The intent of 
these rules and regulations is to protect the health, safety and welfare of the general 
public and ensure that home occupations are regulated in a manner so they do not 
adversely impact surrounding residential properties, as residential areas and uses are 
normally separated from non-residential areas and uses.  
a. Residents.  Only residents of the dwelling may be engaged in the home 


occupation within the dwelling.  All non-resident individuals, including 
employees, contractors, or part owners, associated with the home occupation 
shall not be engaged in the home occupation within the dwelling or on the 
premises. 


b. Incidental Use.  The home occupation shall be clearly incidental to the 
residential use of the dwelling and shall not change the essential residential 
character of the building.  


c. Display, Sale. No display of products shall be visible from the street, and 
only products produced on the premises may be sold on the premises. The 
on-premise sale of products produced off the premises shall be prohibited. 







 


 


89


d. Clients/Customers/Students.  The number of clients/customers/ students  on-
premise shall not exceed more than two (2) at a time nor more than a total of 
eight (8) clients in any one (1) day and all services rendered shall take place 
only within the dwelling.  The hours of operation, in the context of clients/ 
customers/students shall be limited to 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., Monday 
through Saturday. 


e. Area.  Use of the dwelling, for the purpose of the home occupation, shall not 
exceed a total of 25 percent of the dwelling. 


f. Number.  No more than four (4) home occupations may be issued per 
dwelling and the cumulative area devoted to the home occupations shall not 
exceed 25 percent of the dwelling. 


g. Alterations.  No internal or external alterations inconsistent with the 
residential use of the building shall be permitted. 


h. Accessory Buildings.  No accessory buildings or outside storage shall be 
used, except as otherwise provided herein.  


i. Instructions and/or Tutoring.  Instruction and/or tutoring including, but not 
limited to:  music, art, crafts, dance, academic, computer, martial arts, and 
speech.  


j. Daycare, Child/Adult.  Daycare shall be limited to no more than three (3) 
children or three (3) adults at any time. 


k. Vehicles.  Only customary passenger vehicles, vans and pick-up trucks shall 
be permitted to remain on the premises in association with a home 
occupation.  Said vehicles cannot exceed two (2) axles, 22 feet in length, 10 
feet in height, and/or 8,000 pounds (curb weight.) No tow and/or rollback 
trucks shall be allowed to remain on the premises.  A trailer used in 
association with the home occupation shall be permitted to remain on the 
premises.   The aforementioned vehicles or trailer used in association with 
the home occupation may be stored in a detached garage. 


l. Uses.  The following and similar uses shall not be considered home 
occupations: automobile service station; automobile and related vehicular 
sales lot on-premise; on-premise automobile, motorcycle, and/or farm/heavy 
construction equipment repair or service/maintenance; ambulance service; 
beauty salon, barber shop, rescue squad; on-premise amusement or 
recreational activities (commercial); animal hospital; commercial kennel, 
veterinarian clinic with or without  animal boarding place; pawn shops; acid 
storage and manufacturing; heavy manufacturing; fortune teller; palm reader; 
taxidermy, on-premise welding; on–premise pet grooming; on-premise 
medical/dental facilities; on-premise repair service (bicycle, lawn mower, 
small engine, and appliance); tire sales and storage; tanning salon;  funeral 
services; tattooing; and on-premise massage therapy. 


 
25. Horse Quarters in Residential Zoning Districts.  (Allowed in EST, R-85, R-80, R-78, 


R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, C-S, and PUD-PRD Zoning 
Districts) 
a. Minimum lot size:   10 acres 
b. Minimum side yard setback:  50 feet 
c. Minimum rear yard setback:  75 feet 
d. Horse quarters shall not be located within 100 feet of the principal 


residential structure or connected to any structures on site; however, horse 
quarters may be constructed prior to the principal residential structure. 


e. Horse quarters shall not exceed the square footage of the principal dwelling 
or 2,400 square feet, whichever is less. 







 


 


90


f. Only one (1) horse quarter structure shall be permitted and shall not be 
counted as an accessory structure. 


g. Riding lessons and boarding are prohibited. 
 h. Number of horses (see Article V.) 
 
26. Horse Show, Rodeo, Carnival, and/or Community Fair.  (Allowed in the A-R and  


C-H Zoning Districts) 
a. Said horse show, rodeo, carnival, and/or community fair shall not be 


operated longer than 14 calendar days per year. 
b. Tents shall require the approval of the Fayette County Fire Marshal. 
c. Off-street parking shall be required. 
d. Outdoor lighting for activities shall not be permitted after 10:00 p.m. 


 
27. Hospital.  (Allowed in the C-C, C-H, O-I, and A-R Zoning Districts) 


a. Minimum lot size:  10 acres 
b. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a major arterial as 


designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All access is limited 
to the major arterial only unless such use is within a nonresidential 
development which has access to a major arterial.  


c. A minimum 50 foot buffer plus the required setbacks shall separate all 
buildings from any residential or A-R Zoning District. 


d. Minimum setbacks: 
i. Front yard: 100 feet 
ii. Side yard: 50 feet 
iii. Rear yard: 50 feet 


e. Support services, such as pharmacies, public cafeterias, and gift shops are 
allowed, provided such services are in conjunction with and accessory to, the 
hospital structure.  Such businesses shall be conducted within the primary 
use structure and shall not exceed 10 percent of the primary structure floor 
area.  No outside advertising is allowed. 


f. Heliport. 
 
28. Hotel and/or Bed and Breakfast. (Allowed in the O-I Zoning District) 
 A minimum 30 foot buffer plus the required setbacks shall separate all buildings and 


use areas from any residential or A-R Zoning District.  However, off-street parking 
areas may be located within the setback areas.   
 


29. Junk Yard and/or Auto Grave Yard.  (Allowed in the M-2 Zoning District) 
a. Minimum lot size: 10 acres 
b. Maximum site area: 25 acres 
c. A minimum 100 foot buffer shall be provided along every property line, 


including public rights-of-way, so that junk is not visible from a public street 
or adjoining properties.  


d. All structures and storage areas shall be set back at least 200 feet from a 
public street and/or adjoining residential or A-R Zoning Districts. 


 


Kennel.  (see Animal Hospital, Kennel (Commercial or Non-Commercial) and/or      


 Veterinary Clinic)    
 
 
30. Landfill.  (Allowed in the M-2 Zoning District) 


a. Minimum lot size: 20 acres 







 


 


91


b. A minimum 100 foot buffer shall be provided around the entire site so that 
landfill operation activities are not visible from adjoining properties or any 
public street.  Said buffer shall provide 100 percent screening from adjoining 
residences prior to commencing operations. 


c. Landfill operations shall be set back at least 200 feet from a Major 
Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. 


d. The landfill shall comply with all of the State of Georgia and Federal 
requirements. 


e. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a Major 
Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only. 


 
31. Laundromat, Self-Service or Otherwise.  (Allowed in the C-C and C-H Zoning 


Districts) 
 Central water and central sanitary sewage systems are required. 


   


32. Mining and/or Quarrying.  (Allowed in the M-2 Zoning District) 
a. Ingress and egress to and from the facility shall be limited to an arterial as 


designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.   
b. A minimum 100 foot buffer shall be required adjacent to residential or A-R 


Zoning Districts. 
c. No activity involving blasting or the operating of machinery shall occur 


within 500 feet of a residential or A-R Zoning District. 
d. All activity involving blasting or the operating of machinery shall be limited 


to daylight hours. 
e. The operation shall comply fully with all of the State of Georgia and Federal 


requirements. 
 
33. Non-Emergency Medical Transport Service.  (Allowed in the O-I Zoning District) 


a. The service shall comply with all licensing requirements of the State of 
Georgia.   


b. Parking of all medical transport vehicles is allowed in the side and/or rear 
yard(s) only in designated parking spaces.  Medical transport vehicles shall 
be screened from the street via a fence or wall.  The fence or wall shall be 
located between the designated parking spaces and the street.  Said fence or 
wall shall be limited to wood, brick, stone, or concrete/concrete block with 
architectural treatment, or other architecturally engineered facades which 
match these materials and shall be a minimum height of eight (8) feet.   


    c. No on-site vehicle maintenance or fueling facilities are allowed.   
 
34. Outdoor Amusement Facilities, Rides, Structures over 35 feet in height, including, 


but not limited to Bungee and Parachute Jumping.  (Allowed in the C-H and M-1 
Zoning Districts) 
a. Where applicable, all State of Georgia Codes, Rules, and Regulations shall 


apply. Verification that state requirements are met shall accompany the 
application for a Conditional Use Permit. 


b. All structural and support parts shall not be located closer than 300 feet from 
any A-R or residential zoning district. 


c. Any structure, ride, etc. erected in connection with an outdoor amusement 
activity, over 35 feet in height, shall be dismantled upon the closing of the 
business or activity in question. 


d. Any structure, ride, etc. over 35 feet in height, or with elements over 35 feet 







 


 


92


in height, shall be surrounded by a six (6) foot high fence with a locked gate 
when the facility is not in use.  A four (4) inch sphere shall not be able to 
pass through any section of the fence or gate. 


e. The structure shall be designed to fall entirely within the boundaries of the 
site should structural failure occur. 


 
35. Private School, including, but not limited to: classrooms, administration, 


playground, housing, outdoor athletic facility, gymnasium, and/or stadium.  
(Allowed in A-R, R-85, R-80, R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70, R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40,     
R-20, DR-15, O-I, C-C, and C-H Zoning Districts) 
a. Minimum lot size:  five (5) acres 
b. Such use shall only be permitted on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only unless such use is within a 
nonresidential development which has access to a Major Thoroughfare.  


c. If the side or rear yard abuts a residential or A-R Zoning District, a minimum 
50 foot buffer shall be provided adjacent to the lot line.  The side yard 
setback shall be 50 feet.  The rear yard setback shall be 75 feet. The setback 
shall be measured from the buffer.  Said requirements shall apply to all 
structures, outdoor playground areas, and/or athletic facilities. 


d. Lighting for outdoor athletic facilities shall not be permitted after 10:00 p.m. 
e. Student drop-off and vehicular turn-around facilities shall be provided on the 


site. 
f. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 


on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential.  The decorative facing shall 
consist of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials 
compatible with the area. 


g. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and 
shall be located to the side/rear of the main building. 


h. The construction of one (1) open air pavilion utilized for picnics/social 
gatherings only is allowed under the following conditions: 


i. The pavilion shall be constructed following the construction of the main 
school building; 
ii. The floor area cannot exceed 40 percent of the square footage of the 


main school building; and 
iii. The pavilion may not be lighted or used after 10:00 p.m. 
If the open air pavilion is built in conjunction with an attached storage 
building, the overall square footage shall not exceed 40 percent of the main 
school building square footage. 


 
36. Processing, packaging or handling of perishable agricultural products grown on 


premises (i.e. fruits and vegetables.) (Allowed in the A-R Zoning District) 
 a. Minimum lot area:  five (5) acres 


b. All structures shall be set back at least 100 feet from any property line. 
c. No structure shall exceed 5,000 square feet of floor area (interior 


measurements.) 
d. There shall be no outside storage of packaging materials, pallets, and all 


other items involved in the processing and packaging of said agricultural 
products. 


 







 


 


93


37. Recreation centers and similar institutions owned by non-profit organizations as so 


registered with the Georgia Secretary of State Office.  (Allowed in the A-R Zoning 
District) 
a. The lot area shall be at least five (5) acres, and the lot width at the building 


line shall be at least 400 feet. 
b. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a Major 


Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only. 


c. A minimum 50 foot buffer plus the required setbacks listed below shall 
separate all buildings from any residential or A-R Zoning District.  The 
setback shall be measured from the buffer. 


d. Minimum setbacks for structures and use areas. 
i. Front yard: 100 feet 
ii. Side yard:  50 feet 
iii. Rear yard:  75 feet 


e. All buildings, other than storage buildings, shall maintain a decorative facing 
on those portions of the building which face public streets and any property 
zoned residential or agricultural-residential.  The decorative facing shall 
consist of brick, stone, stucco, wood, or similar building materials 
compatible with the area. 


f. Accessory structures such as a storage building, detached garage, pavilion, 
and/or pool shall comply with the buffer and/or setback requirements and 
shall be located to the side/rear of the main building. 


g. The construction of one (1) open air pavilion shall not exceed 1,800 square 
feet, shall be utilized for picnics/social gatherings and shall not be lighted or 
utilized after 10:00 p.m. 


 
38. Religious Tent Meeting.  (Allowed in A-R, C-C, C-H, and O-I Zoning Districts)   


a. Said meetings shall not exceed 14 days per year at the same site. 
b. Tents shall require the approval of the Fayette County Fire Marshal. 
c. Off-street parking areas shall be required. 
d. All activities shall cease by 10:00 p.m. 


 
39. Recycling Facility.  (Allowed in the M-1 Zoning District) 


a. All separation and processing (baling, compacting, grinding, or shredding) 
shall occur entirely within an enclosed building. 


b. A convenient paved drop-off area shall be provided, permitting vehicles to 
re-enter the public street in a forward manner.  Traffic circulation patterns 
shall be indicated on the site plan. 


c. All outside storage of recyclable materials shall be on a paved surface within 
fully enclosed bins with hinged lids or other access points which can be 
closed. 


d. All outside storage areas shall be totally screened according to the 
Development Regulations.  Storage bins can not be a greater height than the 
screening (see County Code.) 


 
40. Seasonal Sales, Outdoor.  (Allowed in C-C and C-H Zoning Districts and Church 


and/or other Place of Worship, see Article VII.) 
a. Seasonal sales shall be limited to:  October 1 to January 31; limited to 


properties zoned C-C and C-H; and on-site church or other places of 
worship.  The A-R Zoning District, which has a bona fide farming operation, 
is exempt from seasonal sales requirements; 







 


 


94


b. Location of seasonal sales and outdoor display, as well as, the temporary 
stand or tent, shall be exempt from Article V. Screening Standards, except as 
provided herein; 


c. Location of seasonal sales as outdoor displays, as well as, structures 
(temporary stand or tent), shall comply with zoning requirements for 
setbacks; 


d. Outdoor sales of seasonal agricultural products shall be limited to: natural 
Christmas trees, natural wreaths, pumpkins and gourds, hay, straw, fruits, 
vegetables, nuts, and natural plants; 


e. Outdoor lighting for activities shall not be permitted before 7:00 a.m. or after 
10:00 p.m.; 


f. Off-street parking shall be required; 
g. Along with the completed application, a sketch or diagram of the proposed 


site showing dimensions of the area utilized, the proximity to buildings, 
parking lots, right-of-way, setbacks, and any proposed structure (temporary 
stand or tent) and temporary signage as regulated by the Sign Ordinance 
shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department; and 


h. Location of seasonal sales and outdoor display, as well as, the temporary 
stand or tent, shall be removed and cleared within 48 hours of the end of 
operation as indicated on the Conditional Use Permit. 


 
41. Self-Storage Facility.   (Allowed in M-1 and C-H Zoning Districts)  


a. The maximum size of a storage bay shall be 550 square feet.  
b. All buildings shall maintain a decorative facing on those portions of the 


building which face public streets and any property zoned residential or 
agricultural-residential.  The decorative facing shall consist of brick, stone, 
stucco, or similar building materials compatible with the area. The 
Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone shall apply when applicable.   


c. Aisleways adjacent to storage bays shall be used both for circulation and 
temporary customer parking while using storage bays.  The minimum width 
of these aisleways shall be 25 feet as measured from the closest part of the 
structure including any overhang.   


d. Storage of vehicles, boats, and trailers, shall be located in the rear yard only 
and be screened from view from adjacent residential areas and public roads 
with any combination of privacy fence and/or berm, and vegetation. Covered 
vehicle storage up to 850 square feet per parking space, shall be allowed 
provided it does not exceed 25 percent of the overall gross square footage of 
all buildings. All covered storage shall have a peaked roof, be closed on any 
side that is visible from a residential or A-R zoning district or from any 
street, and shall be built of materials consistent with the main structure. 
Aisles adjacent to boat and RV parking shall be a minimum of 50 feet wide 
unless it is angled parking.   


e. The accessory use of truck rental parking may be allowed within the front 
yard provided the landscaping along the front property line includes a two 
(2) foot berm with double the minimum planting requirements. 


f. All outdoor lighting shall be shielded away from adjacent residential uses.   
g. No exterior loudspeakers or paging equipment shall be permitted on the site.  


 
42. Shooting Range, Indoor.  (Allowed in C-H and M-1 Zoning Districts) 


a. The indoor shooting range shall meet all applicable standards established in 
the NRA Range Source Book.  Documentation indicating compliance with 
the aforementioned standards shall be submitted with the site plan. 







 


 


95


b. The indoor shooting range shall meet all applicable State and Federal 
Regulations including, but not limited to: the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources, Environmental Protection Agency and Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration.  Documentation indicating compliance with the 
aforementioned regulations shall be submitted with the site plan.  


c. The indoor shooting range shall meet Section 12-26 (Fayette County Noise 
Control Ordinance) of the Fayette County Code. 


 
43. Shooting Range, Outdoor.  (Allowed in A-R and M-1 Zoning Districts) 


a. The outdoor shooting range shall meet all applicable standards established in 
the NRA Range Source Book.  Documentation indicating compliance with 
the aforementioned standards shall be submitted with the site plan. 


b. The outdoor shooting range shall meet all applicable State and Federal 
Regulations including, but not limited to: the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources, Environmental Protection Agency and Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration.   Documentation indicating compliance with the 
aforementioned regulations shall be submitted with the site plan. 


c. The outdoor shooting range shall meet Sections 12-5 (Discharging Firearms) 
and 12-26 (Fayette County Noise Control Ordinance) of the Fayette County 
Code. 


 
44. Single-Family Residence and accessory structures and/or uses (see Article V.)  


(Allowed in the C-C, C-H, L-C, M-1, M-2, O-I, and BTP Zoning Districts) 
a. Said residence shall be a single-family detached residence. 
b. Said residence shall not be less than 1,200 square feet, and said residence 


shall not be allowed in subdivision developments as defined by the 
Subdivision Regulations of Fayette County. 


 
45. Stadium, Athletic.  (Allowed in the C-H and M-1 Zoning Districts) 


The athletic stadium shall not be located closer than 300 feet from any A-R or 
residentially zoned property. 


 
47. Temporary Tent Sales.  (Allowed in the C-C and C-H Zoning Districts) 


a. Said tent sales shall not be operated longer than 28 calendar days per year; 
b. Tents shall require the approval of the Fayette County Fire Marshal; 
c. Off-street parking shall be required; 
d. Outdoor lighting for activities shall not be permitted before 7:00 a.m. or after 


10:00 p.m.; 
e. Location of outdoor sales, as well as, a temporary tent: 


i.  Shall comply with zoning requirements for setbacks. 
ii. Shall be exempt from screening (see Article V.), except where 


provided herein. 
iii. Shall be removed and cleared within 48 hours of the end of 


operation as indicated on the permit. 
 


48. Transfer Station for Household/Commercial Garbage and/or Recyclable Materials 


(including processing and handling.) (Allowed in the M-2 Zoning District) 
a. Minimum lot size:  10 acres 
b. Transfer station operations shall be set back at least 200 feet from an arterial 


as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan. 
c. The transfer station shall comply with all licensing requirements of the State 


of Georgia. 







 


 


96


d. Such uses shall be permitted only on a lot which fronts on a Major 
Thoroughfare as designated by the Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  All 
access is limited to the Major Thoroughfare only. 


 
49. Wind Farm.  (Allowed in the M-1 and M-2 Zoning Districts) The setbacks shall be 


equal to the height of the wind turbine, including the blades, or the applicable zoning 
district setbacks, whichever are greater. 


 


Sec. 7-2.  Nonconformances. 


A. Nonconforming Lots.   
A legally existing lot of record which fails to comply with the provisions herein, as of November 13, 
1980, or as the result of subsequent amendments, or due to the acquisition of property for a public 
purpose, a rezoning, or a variance, shall be considered a legal nonconforming lot and may be utilized 
for the establishment of uses or the placement of structures and improvements, as long as, all 
applicable regulations can be met.  Where the dimensional requirements of the zoning district cannot 
be met in terms of the placement of structures and improvements, a variance authorized by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals shall be required.   Any reduction in the land area of a legal nonconforming lot other 
than an acquisition for a public purpose which serves to make the lot more nonconforming shall result 
in a loss of the legal nonconforming lot status.  However, any addition of property to a legal 
nonconforming lot which serves to make the lot more conforming shall not result in the loss of the 
legal nonconforming lot status. 
Landlocked Property.  In the event property is landlocked, as of the effective date of November 13, 
1980, the property owner shall be entitled to building permits, provided the property owner has 
acquired a 20 foot easement to a public street, and said easement has been duly recorded and made a 
part of the property deed. In the event said property is divided into two (2) or more lots, no further 
building permits shall be issued until each lot complies with the requirements of Street Frontage for 
Access. 
Creation of a Legal Nonconforming Lot for Enhancements to a Development.  Said lot shall not be 
utilized for the permitted or conditional uses of the zoning district in which the lot is located and the 
lot is not required to meet the applicable minimum lot size, lot width, or road frontage requirements.  
Said enhancements shall include stormwater facilities, tot lots, decorative features (such as 
landscaping, arbors, fences/walls, fountains, sculptures, benches, arches, etc.), signs and the 
preservation of historic and agricultural structures for ornamentation (see Nonconforming Structures.) 
A tot lot shall only be equipped with playground equipment (swing set, slide, teeter totter, monkey 
bars, sandbox, etc.) intended for small children.  A minimum 15 foot setback shall be maintained for 
any playground equipment or any historic or agricultural structures utilized for ornamentation.    The 
lot must be labeled: “Not a Building Lot” on the Preliminary Plat and/or the Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat, as applicable.  The lot shall be under the ownership of the Home Owner’s 
Association, Property Owner’s Association, or Developer/Property Management entity, as applicable. 
Creation of a Legal Nonconforming Lot for a Legal Nonconforming Cemetery or Burial Ground.   
The creation of a lot intended for the sole purpose of containing a legal nonconforming cemetery or 
burial ground is allowed.  Said lot is not required to meet the applicable minimum lot size, lot width, 
or road frontage requirements.  The boundary of the lot shall be set back a minimum of five (5) feet 
from the location of any grave.  A legal nonconforming cemetery or burial ground shall be indicated 
on a preliminary plat, final plat, minor subdivision plat, and/or site plan, as applicable.  A minimum 20 
foot public access to a legal nonconforming cemetery or burial ground shall be maintained either 
through fee simple ownership or an easement. 
Individual lots, parcels, or tracts affected by proposed rezonings which are initiated by a party other 
than the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, shall meet the minimum lot size, lot width, and 
road frontage requirements of this Ordinance, except as otherwise provided herein.  Combination or 
division of lots to achieve compliance with said requirements shall be accomplished as a condition of 
rezoning approval.  







 


 


97


Consideration for the Rezoning of Legal Nonconforming Lots.  Any legal nonconforming lot may be 
considered for rezoning to another zoning district where the lot would be made nonconforming by said 
rezoning.  Factors of consideration, in addition to those enumerated in Article XI., would include the 
following: 
1. The degree of increase or reduction of the nonconformity of existing structures located on the 


subject property; and 
2. The current zoning and land use designations of adjoining lots as indicated on the Land Use 


Plan. 
Where the dimensional requirements of the zoning district cannot be met in terms of the placement of 
new structures, a variance authorized by the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be required. 
Consideration for the Rezoning of Illegal Nonconforming Lots.  An illegal nonconforming lot may be 
considered for rezoning to a Legal Nonconforming Status (LNS) sub-category of the same zoning 
district.  For the purposes of this section, an illegal nonconforming lot is a lot which does not comply 
with the minimum lot area (acreage), minimum lot width at the building line, and/or the minimum 
required road frontage; whereas, a variance cannot be granted for said deficiencies by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals (see Article IX.)  The status of any existing legal nonconforming uses or structures 
will be evaluated and addressed during the rezoning procedure.  After approval of the rezoning, any 
existing illegal nonconforming structure(s) which are to remain will need a variance authorized by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals (see Article IX.)  The continuation of an illegal nonconforming use is 
prohibited.  The petition for rezoning to a LNS sub-category of the same zoning district shall be 
evaluated per the following factors, in addition to those listed under Article XI. Policies, Procedures 
and Standards Governing Amendment:   
1. Whether the applicant is a bona-fide purchaser in good faith of said illegal nonconforming lot 


without the knowledge of any illegal nonconformance and has provided documentation that 
there was no disclosure of nonconformance made at the time of acquisition of the property 
and that the property was acquired with a non-contingent contract, as applicable. 


2. Whether the applicant created the illegal nonconforming lot by any of his/her actions or has a 
familial relationship to an individual that created the illegal nonconforming lot.  


3. Whether the applicant has attempted to acquire more property from adjacent properties to 
bring the illegal non-conforming lot into compliance.  The applicant shall provide written 
information documenting such attempt(s) and the result of such attempt(s). 


4. Whether the applicant has executed and signed an affidavit affirming all of the above are true 
and correct. 


5. Whether the County issued any building permit(s) for any structure(s) on the illegal 
nonconforming lot including the circumstances involved with the issuance of said permits.  


6. Whether the subject property is developed or vacant.  A vacant lot created after the effective 
date of (insert date of ordinance approval) shall not be given consideration for rezoning to a 
(LNS) sub-category of the same zoning district. 


Where the dimensional requirements of the zoning district cannot be met in terms of the placement of new 
improvements, a variance authorized by the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be required.  In the event that a 
landlocked Illegal Nonconforming Lot is rezoned to a Legal Nonconforming Status, a 20 foot easement to a 
public street that has been duly recorded and made a part of the property deed shall be required prior to the 
issuance of building permits. 
B. Nonconforming Uses. 


Nonconforming Open Uses of Land.  Any legally existing open uses of land which fails to comply 
with the provisions herein, as of November 13, 1980, or as the result of subsequent amendments, or 
due to the acquisition of property for a public purpose, a County initiated rezoning, or a variance, shall 
be considered a legal nonconforming open use of land.   Said uses consist of storage yards, vehicle and 
trailer sales lots, auto wrecking, junk yards, golf driving ranges, miniature golf, and similar open uses 
where the only buildings on the lot are incidental and accessory to the open use of the lot, and where 
such use of the land is not permitted to be established herein, shall be governed by the following 
restrictions in addition to other requirements herein. 







 


 


98


1. When a legal nonconforming open use of land has been changed to a conforming use, it shall 
not thereafter be used for any nonconforming use. 


2. Legal nonconforming open uses of land shall not be changed to any use but conforming uses. 
3. A legal nonconforming open use of land shall not be enlarged to cover more land. 
4. When any legal nonconforming open use of land is discontinued for a period in excess of six 


(6) months, any future use of the land shall be limited to those uses permitted in that zoning 
district under the provisions herein.  Vacancy and/or non-use of the land, regardless of the 
intent of the owner or tenant, shall constitute discontinuance under this provision. 


Nonconforming Use of a Structure.  Any legally existing use of a structure which fails to comply with 
the provisions herein, as of November 13, 1980, or as the result of subsequent amendments, or due to 
the acquisition of property for a public purpose, a County initiated rezoning, or a variance, shall be 
considered a legal nonconforming use of a structure.  Said uses shall be governed by the following 
restrictions: 
1. A legal nonconforming use of a structure may be changed to another nonconforming use upon 


a finding by the Zoning Board of Appeals that the proposed nonconforming use is similar in 
its operation and effect on surrounding properties.   


2. A legal nonconforming use of a structure shall not be changed to another nonconforming use 
that generates more automobile or truck traffic; creates more noise, vibration, smoke, dust or 
fumes; is a more intensive use of the structure than the existing nonconforming use; or is in 
any way a greater nuisance to the adjoining properties than the existing nonconforming use. 


3. A legal nonconforming use of a structure shall not be extended or enlarged except into 
portions of the structure which, at the time the use became nonconforming, were already 
erected and arranged for, or designed for, such nonconforming use, except as provided herein. 
No alterations shall be made in any structure occupied by a nonconforming use, which would 
in any way increase the floor space, area, or volume of space occupied by the use. 


4. When any legal nonconforming use of a structure is discontinued for a period in excess of six 
(6) months, any future use of the structure shall be limited to those uses permitted in that 
zoning district, except as otherwise provided for herein.  Vacancy and/or non-use of the 
building, regardless of the intent of the owner or tenant, shall constitute discontinuance under 
this provision. 


Request for Change of the Legal Nonconforming Use of a Structure.  The Zoning Board of Appeals 
may authorize, upon appeal in specific cases, a change in the legal nonconforming use of a structure in 
accordance with the provisions herein. 
Request for Extension or Enlargement of the Legal Nonconforming Use of a Structure.  The Zoning 
Board of Appeals may authorize upon appeal in specific cases an extension or enlargement of an 
existing legal nonconforming use which the Board is specifically authorized to consider under the 
terms herein.  Said extensions may be granted in an individual case upon a finding by the Board that: 
1. The use is a legal nonconforming use as defined in these regulations; 
2. The legal nonconforming use is in full compliance with all requirements of these regulations 


applicable to nonconformances; and 
3. The extension of said legal nonconforming use will not further injure a permitted use on 


adjacent property. 
Continuance of a Legal Nonconforming Use.  The Zoning Board of Appeals may allow a legal 
nonconforming use to be re-established after discontinuance for six (6) consecutive months where it is 
deemed by the Zoning Board of Appeals that: 
1. The design, construction, and character of the land, building, or structure is not suitable for 


uses permitted in the zoning district in which the legal nonconforming use is situated; and 
2. Undue hardship to the property owner would result in not allowing the continuance of a legal 


nonconforming use; and 
3. Adjacent property would not be unduly damaged by such continuance; and 
4. The use is to be identical to the prior legal nonconforming use. 
 







 


 


99


C.  Nonconforming Structures. 
Nonconforming Structures.  Any legally existing structure, which fails to comply with the provisions 
herein, as of November 13, 1980, or as the result of subsequent amendments, or due to the acquisition 
of property for a public purpose, a rezoning, or a variance, shall be considered a legal nonconforming 
structure and shall be allowed to remain. The enlargement, expansion, or extension of a legal 
nonconforming structure which serves to increase the nonconformance, either vertical and/or 
horizontal, shall only be made with the authorization of the Zoning Board of Appeals.  Where the 
Zoning Board of Appeals is required to determine whether a nonconforming structure may be 
enlarged, expanded, or extended, the provisions of a Request for a Variance (Article IX.) shall be 
considered. 
Restoration and Re-Use of Nonconforming Historic Structures. Nonconforming historic structures 
previously used for purposes not permitted in the zoning district in which they are located shall be 
governed by the following restrictions: 
1. The structure and previous use shall be identified in the Architectural Survey of Fayette 


County.  The re-use of the historic structure will be subject to the regulations of the 
Nonconforming Use of a Structure (Article VII.)   


2. The structure itself shall be the subject of restoration.  Any extension, enlargement, or 
alteration of the structure that does not comply with the minimum requirements of this 
ordinance is subject to approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 


3. Areas of consideration for approval of such a request include, but are not limited to: 
a. Restriction of allowable uses; 
b. Parking requirements; and 
c. Buffer and landscaping requirements. 


Use of Historic Residential Structures and Agricultural Structures in Residential Subdivisions.  The 
preservation of historic residential structures listed in the Architectural Survey of Fayette County and 
agricultural structures are allowed in residential subdivisions to preserve the character of Fayette 
County as these structures can be used as residences, community facilities, or as ornamentation for the 
subdivision.  Existing structures used for a community facility shall meet all applicable building and 
safety codes and will be regulated as a Conditional Use under Developed Residential 


Recreational/Amenity Areas.  The use of these structures will be subject to the approval of the Zoning 


Board of Appeals in terms of any nonconformance with the applicable zoning district.   
Reconstruction of Legal Nonconforming Structures.  When a legal nonconforming structure is 
damaged by fire, flood, wind or act of God, such structure may be reconstructed as a legal 
nonconforming structure only if the cost of reconstruction totals less than 75 percent of the current fair 
market value of the structure for tax purposes. Reconstruction costs shall include labor, materials, 
appliances, devices, and fixtures required for the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (per 
applicable International Residential Code and International Building Code.)  The "value of the 
structure" shall not include the value of any accessory building, well, septic tank, or utility in 
determining the extent of the damage.  
Maintenance or Repair of Legal Nonconforming Structures.  The normal maintenance and repair of a 
legal nonconforming structure, as is required to keep it in a safe and sound condition, may be made.  
However, if the structure falls into a state of disrepair where the cost of the maintenance and/or repair 
is 75 percent or greater of the current fair market value of the structure for tax purposes, the structure 
must be removed and/or brought into compliance. Reconstruction costs shall include labor, materials, 
appliances, devices, and fixtures required for the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (per 
applicable International Residential Code and International Building Code.) 
A property that is improved with  a legally existing structure, which would become nonconforming in 
terms of the setbacks only within the zoning district for which a rezoning is being sought, may be 
considered for rezoning, except as otherwise provided in Article VI. O-I. and Article VII. 
Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone.  Upon approval of the rezoning request, a variance authorized 
by the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be necessary for the structure to remain within the setback (see 
Article IX.) Any enlargement, expansion, or extension of said structure which serves to increase 







 


 


100


nonconformance, either vertical and/or horizontal, shall only be made with the authorization of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals.  Any new structure shall comply with the dimensional minimum 
requirements herein. 
Legally Existing Structures. A property that is improved with a legally existing structure, which would 
become nonconforming in terms of the architectural requirements within the Zoning Ordinance, may 
be considered for rezoning.  Upon approval of the rezoning request, said structure shall be considered 
as a legal nonconforming structure in terms of architectural requirements and be allowed to remain in 
its architectural character, except as is required in a Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone regarding 
enlargement of an existing nonconforming structure. 
A property that is improved with a legally existing structure, which would become nonconforming in 
terms of the maximum height limits within the Zoning Ordinance, may be considered for rezoning. 
Upon approval of the rezoning request, said structure shall be considered as a legal nonconforming 
structure in terms of height limits and be allowed to remain at said height. 
A property that is improved with a legally existing residential structure, which would become 
nonconforming in terms of the minimum square footage requirements within the zoning district for 
which a rezoning is being sought, may be considered for rezoning.  Any actions necessary to achieve 
compliance will be handled through conditions of rezoning approval.  
A property that is improved with legally existing accessory structures, which would become 
nonconforming in terms of the accessory structure requirements within the Zoning Ordinance, may be 
considered for rezoning. Any actions necessary to achieve compliance will be handled through 
conditions of rezoning approval, except as otherwise provided herein. 
Illegal Nonconforming Uses.  Notwithstanding any other provisions herein to the contrary, as to 
nonconforming uses, which were illegal when they were commenced, or which became illegal 
thereafter, prior to the adoption of this ordinance, or amendment hereto, this section shall be deemed 
to impose additional regulations only. It shall not be held or construed to be permissive of such illegal 
use, nor as recognizing any right to the continuance of an illegal use, except in those instances where 
the illegal use was rendered conforming by the inclusion of the land, whereon such use was conducted 
within a zoning district, wherein such use is permitted, as shown upon the Official Zoning Map of 
Fayette County. 


 


Sec. 7-3.  Changes in Zoning.   
 Any nonconformances produced by a change in zoning district boundaries initiated by the County or 


ordinance regulations after the date of adoption on November 13, 1980, shall also be governed by the 
provisions of Article VII. 


 


Sec. 7-4.  Illegal Nonconforming Uses.   
 Notwithstanding any other provisions herein to the contrary, as to nonconforming uses which were 


illegal when they were commenced, or which became illegal thereafter prior to the date of  November 
13, 1980, or amendment hereto, this section shall be deemed to impose additional regulations only. It 
shall not be held or construed to be permissive of such illegal use, nor as recognizing any right to the 
continuance of an illegal use, except in those instances where the illegal use was rendered conforming 
by the inclusion of the land, whereon such use was conducted within a zoning district, wherein such 
use is permitted, as shown upon the Official Zoning Map of Fayette County. 


 


Sec. 7-5.  Transportation Corridor Overlay Zone       


For the purposes of Section 7-5., a development shall be defined as the land where the construction of 
improvements to support nonresidential uses is proposed, including: a petition to rezone the land, the 
subdivision of property through a preliminary, final, and/or minor subdivision plat, and/or the 
submittal of a site plan.    
A. SR 54 West Overlay Zone.  All property and/or development which have road frontage and/or 


access on SR 54 West with nonresidential use or zoning shall be subject to the following 
regulations, in addition to the zoning district requirements, and other development regulations 







 


 


101


which apply. The intent of the overlay is to set standards specifically to Hwy 54 from 
Fayetteville to Peachtree City.  
1. The purpose of the SR 54 West Overlay Zone is to achieve the following:  


a. To promote and maintain orderly development and an efficient traffic flow 
in highway corridors; 


b. To maintain a non-urban separation between Fayetteville and Peachtree City 
along SR 54 West; and 


c.   To protect the aesthetics for existing and future residential areas in this 
Highway Corridor. 


2. Access to each nonresidential property and/or development shall be from SR 54 West 
or an adjacent street designated as an Arterial or Collector on the Fayette County 
Thoroughfare Plan.  All access points shall be required to comply with Fayette 
County Development Regulations (see County Code.)   


3. Dimensional Requirements.   
a. All parking areas shall be located at least 50 feet from any State Route right-


of-way. 
b. Front yard setbacks on SR 54 West for all structures, including gasoline 


canopies, shall be 100 feet. 
c. Berms for nonresidential zoning districts: Berms when required as a 


condition of zoning, shall be a minimum of four (4) feet in height, and shall 
be placed to the inside of the applicable buffer.   


d. If the side yard abuts a nonresidential zoning district, all impervious 
surfaces, other than approved access, shall be located a minimum of 10 feet 
from the side property line. 


4. Architectural Standards.  Structures shall maintain a residential character.  Elevation 
drawings denoting compliance with the following requirements shall be submitted as 
part of the Site Plan: 
a. A pitched peaked (gable or hip) roof with a minimum pitch of four and one-


half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot, including gasoline canopies and accessory 
structures and shall be of a type and construction complimentary to the 
facade.  A pitched mansard roof facade with a minimum pitch of four and 
one-half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot and a minimum height of eight (8) feet 
around the entire perimeter of the structure can be used if the structure is two 
(2) stories or more or the use of a pitched peaked roof would cause the 
structure to not meet the applicable height limit requirements.  The mansard 
roof facade shall be of a residential character with the appearance of 
shingles, slate or terra cotta; 


 b. Gasoline Canopy.  Gasoline canopies shall also comply with the following 
requirements:   
 i. Gasoline canopies, in conjunction with a convenience store, may 


reduce the pitch to a minimum of 3” to 12” to permit the height of 
the peak of the roof to be equal to or no more than five (5) feet 
above the peak of the roof of the convenience store. 


ii. The vertical clearance under the gasoline canopy shall not exceed a 
maximum of 18 feet in height.   


iii. The support columns for the gasoline canopies shall match the 
façade of the convenience store. 


iv. The gasoline canopy roof shall match the architectural character, 
materials, and color of the convenience store.   


c. All buildings shall be constructed in a residential character of fiber-cement 
siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl siding, brick/brick 
veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including synthetic stucco); 







 


 


102


d. Framed doors and windows of a residential character. To maintain a 
residential character, large display windows shall give the appearance of 
smaller individual panes and framing consistent with the standard residential 
grid pattern for doors and windows. This does not apply to stained glass 
windows for a church or other place of worship.  Large display or storefront 
windows shall have a minimum two (2) foot high knee wall consisting of 
fiber-cement siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl 
siding, brick/brick veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including 
synthetic stucco); and  


e. The design of accessory/out lot buildings shall be consistent with and 
coordinate with the architectural style inherent in the primary structure on 
the property.  


              f. When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by 50 percent or less, 
the enlargement does not have to meet the aforementioned Architectural 
Standards, but does have to match the architectural design of the existing 
nonconforming structure.  This exemption shall only apply to the first 
occurrence of any enlargement after the effective date of January 24, 2008.  
Only one (1) structure per lot shall be entitled to the exemption.  


 When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by more than 50 
percent the entire nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance 
with the aforementioned Architectural Standards.   


 This exemption shall expire January 24, 2015, seven years from the effective 
date of January 24, 2008.  After the expiration date, the entire 
nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance with the 
aforementioned Architectural Standards when any enlargement is made.  


 
Note:   (These architectural standards shall exclude the areas of the Hospital District which includes that area 


north of S.R. 54 West, east of Tyrone Road, and west of Sandy Creek Road) 


 


5. Architectural  Option. 


An owner/developer may exercise an Architectural Option for structures within the 
Overlay Zone on lots adjacent to a municipality where a nonresidential architectural 
character has been established in the area.  The purpose of this option is to achieve 
compatibility with surrounding areas, consistency throughout the development and 
greater creativity.  A photographic architectural character inventory of the buildings 
within the area shall be submitted.  Full color architectural elevation drawings of the 
proposed nonresidential architectural style for all building facades shall be submitted. 
Multiple buildings within a development shall have comparable architectural 
characteristics consisting of similar architectural design and elements, building 
materials and colors.  Elevations shall be reviewed and approved by the Board of 
Commissioners and shall follow the procedure established in Article XI. Any change 
to the approved architectural elevation drawings shall follow the aforementioned 
procedure. 


6. Landscape Requirements. In addition to the standard requirements of the landscape 
ordinance, the following landscape requirements shall apply to the Overlay Zone: 
a. Street Frontage.  Landscape area: 50 feet along the right-of-way of SR 54 


West.  The first 25 feet as measured from the right-of-way is for required 
landscape planting only.  The remaining 25 feet may be used for septic 
system placement; underground stormwater detention systems; and the 
following stormwater management facilities/structures if designed in full 
accordance with the specifications provided in the most current edition of the 
Georgia Stormwater Management Manual; vegetated channels, overland 







 


 


103


flow filtration/groundwater recharge zone, enhanced swales, filter strips, and 
grass channels.  Septic systems and stormwater structures shall be exclusive 
of each other and the minimum distance of separation between wastewater 
and stormwater structures shall be established by the Environmental Health 
Department and the County Engineer.  Utilities (including underground 
stormwater piping) and multi-use path connections may be located anywhere 
within the landscape area.    


b. Side Yard Landscape Area: 10 feet in depth along side property lines unless 
adjacent to a residential district where buffer requirements will apply. 


7.  Use of Existing Structure:  When property containing legally conforming structures, 
under the current zoning, is rezoned to O-I the dimensional requirements shall be 
reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any encroachment by the 
structures and said structures shall be considered legal nonconforming structures. 


8.  Lighting and shielding standards.  Lighting shall be placed in a manner to direct 
light away from any adjacent roadways or nearby residential areas.  


 9.  Special Locational and Spatial Requirements.    
a. No more than 50 percent of the required parking can be located in the front 


yard along the State Route as established by the front building line of any 
structure located on the site.   


   b. No outside storage allowed. 
c. All roof-top heating, ventilation, and air conditioning equipment and 


satellite/communications equipment shall be visually screened from adjacent 
roads and property zoned residential or A-R.  The screen shall extend to the 
full height of the objects being screened.   


d. For all new construction, garage doors and bays associated with any use 
within the district shall be located on the side or rear of the principal 
building, and not facing SR54. 


B. SR 85 North Overlay Zone.   All property and/or development within 1,000 feet of the right-
of-way of SR 85 North with nonresidential use or zoning shall be subject to the requirements 
of the SR 85 North Overlay Zone.  The intent of the overlay is to set standards specific to SR 
85 North from the city limits of the City of Fayetteville north to the Fayette-Clayton county 
line.   
1. The purpose of the SR 85 North Overlay Zone is to achieve the following: 


a. To establish and maintain a scenic gateway into Fayette County, which 
projects an image of our quality lifestyle.   


b. To promote and maintain orderly development and the efficient movement 
of traffic on SR 85 North. 


c. To protect the aesthetics for existing and future development in this highway 
corridor.   


2. Access to each nonresidential property and/or development shall be from SR 85 
North or an adjacent street designated as an Arterial or Collector on the Fayette 
County Thoroughfare Plan. All access points shall be required to comply with 
Fayette County Development Regulations.   


3. Dimensional Requirements 
a. All parking areas shall be located at least 50 feet from any State Route right-


of-way. 
b.  Setbacks will be as follows: 


i. Front yard setback on State Route 85 North: 100 feet 
ii. Gasoline Canopy:  Front yard setback on State Route 85 North:  85 


feet    
c. Berms for nonresidential zoning districts: Berms when required as a 


condition of zoning shall be a minimum of four (4) feet in height and shall 







 


 


104


be placed to the inside of the applicable buffer. 
4. Architectural Standards   


a. All buildings of which any portion of said building is constructed within 
1,000 feet of the right-of-way of S.R. 85 North shall be constructed of 
brick/brick veneer, fiber-cement siding (ie: Hardi-plank), rock, stone, cast-
stone, split-face concrete masonry unit (rough textured face concrete block), 
stucco (including synthetic stucco), and/or wood siding.   


b. The design of accessory/out lot buildings shall be consistent with and 
coordinate with the architectural style inherent in the primary structure on 
the property.  


 c. When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by 50 percent or less, 
the enlargement does not have to meet the aforementioned Architectural 
Standards, but does have to match the architectural design of the existing 
nonconforming structure. This exemption shall only apply to the first 
occurrence of any enlargement after the effective date of January 24, 2008.  
Only one (1) structure per lot shall be entitled to the exemption.   


 When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by more than 50 
percent, the entire nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance 
with the aforementioned Architectural Standards.  


 This exemption shall expire on January 24, 2015, seven (7) years from the 
effective date of January 24, 2008.  After the expiration date, the entire 
nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance with the 
aforementioned Architectural Standards when any enlargement is made.  


  5. Landscape Requirements:  
In addition to the standard requirements of the Landscape Ordinance, the following 
landscape requirements shall apply to the Overlay Zone: 
a. Street Frontage.  Landscape area:  50 feet along the right-of-way of SR 85 


North.  The first 25 feet as measured from the right-of-way is for required 
landscape planting only.  The remaining 25 feet may be used for septic 
system placement; underground stormwater detention systems; and the 
following stormwater management facilities/structures, if designed in full 
accordance with the specifications provided in the most current edition of the 
Georgia Stormwater Management Manual; vegetated channels, overland 
flow filtration/groundwater recharge zone, enhanced swales, filter strips, and 
grass channels.  Septic systems and stormwater structures shall be exclusive 
of each other and the minimum distance of separation between wastewater 
and stormwater structures shall be established by the Environmental Health 
Department and the County Engineer. Utilities (including underground 
stormwater piping) and multi-use path connections may be located anywhere 
within the landscape area. 


b. Side Yard Landscape Area. 10 feet in depth along side property lines unless 
adjacent to a residential district where buffer requirements will apply.  


6.  Use of Existing Structure.  When property containing legally conforming structures, 
under the current zoning, is rezoned to O-I the dimensional requirements shall be 
reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any encroachment by the 
structures and said structures shall be considered legal nonconforming structures. 


7. Lighting and shielding standards.  Light shall be placed in a manner to direct light 
away from any adjacent roadways or nearby residential areas.   


8.  Special Locational and Spatial Requirements.  
a. Outside storage of merchandise or equipment and parts shall be allowed in 


the rear yards only, subject to minimum screening, setback and buffer 
requirements.  Outside storage shall not exceed 25 percent of the gross floor 







 


 


105


area of all structures per lot. 
b. All roof-top heating, ventilation, and air conditioning equipment and 


satellite/communications equipment shall be visually screened from adjacent 
roads and property zoned residential or A-R.  The screen shall extend to the 
full height of the objects being screened.   


c. For all new construction, garage doors and bays associated with any use 
within the district shall be located on the side or rear of the principal building, 
and not facing SR 85. 


C.  General State Route Overlay Zone.  All property and/or development which have road 
frontage and/or access on State routes with nonresidential use or zoning shall be subject to the 
following regulations, in addition to the zoning district requirements and other development 
regulations which apply.  This Overlay Zone specifically excludes SR 54 West, SR 85 North, 
and SR 74 North for which other Overlay Zones have been established herein.  The 
Architectural Standards of this Overlay Zone Specifically excludes the L-C zoning district, for 
which other architectural standards have been established.  
1. The purpose of the General State Route Overlay Zone is to achieve the following:   


a. To promote and maintain orderly development and an efficient traffic flow 
in highway corridors; 


b. To protect existing and future residential areas near highway corridors; and  
c. To protect the aesthetics for existing and future residential areas in this 


highway corridor. 
2. Access to each nonresidential property and/or development shall be from a State 


Route or an adjacent street designated as an Arterial or Collector on the Fayette 
County Thoroughfare Plan.  All access points shall be required to comply with 
Fayette County Development Regulations 


3.  Dimensional Requirements.   
a. All parking areas shall be located at least 50 feet from any State Route right-


of-way. 
b. Front yard setbacks on all other State Routes for all structures, including 


gasoline canopies, shall be 100 feet. 
c. Berms for nonresidential zoning districts: Berms when required as a 


condition of zoning shall be a minimum of four (4) feet in height, and shall 
be placed to the inside of the applicable buffer.   


4.  Architectural Standards.  Structures shall maintain a residential character.  Elevation 
drawings denoting compliance with the following shall be submitted as part of the 
Site Plan.   
a. A pitched peaked (gable or hip) roof with a minimum pitch of four and one-


half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot including gasoline canopies and accessory 
structures and shall be of a type and construction complimentary to the 
facade.  A pitched mansard roof facade with a minimum pitch of four and 
one-half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot and a minimum height of eight (8) feet 
around the entire perimeter of the structure can be used if the structure is two 
(2) stories or more or the use of a pitched peaked roof would cause the 
structure to not meet the applicable height limit requirements.  The mansard 
roof facade shall be of a residential character with the appearance of 
shingles, slate or terra cotta.    


b. Gasoline Canopy.   Gasoline canopies shall also comply with the following 
requirements:   
i. Gasoline canopies, in conjunction with a convenience store, may 


reduce the pitch to a minimum of 3” to 12” to permit the height of 
the peak of the roof to be equal to or no more than five (5) feet 
above the peak of the roof of the convenience store. 







 


 


106


ii. The vertical clearance under the gasoline canopy shall not exceed a 
maximum of 18 feet in height.   


iii. The support columns for the gasoline canopies shall match the 
façade of the convenience store.   


iv. The gasoline canopy roof shall match the architectural character, 
materials, and color of the convenience store.   


c. All buildings shall be constructed in a residential character of fiber-cement 
siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl siding, brick/brick 
veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including synthetic stucco) on 
those portions of the building facing front and side yards and/or any property 
zoned agricultural-residential or residential.   


d. Framed doors and windows of a residential character.  To maintain a 
residential character, large display windows shall give the appearance of 
smaller individual panes and framing consistent with the standard residential 
grid pattern for doors and windows.  This does not apply to stained glass 
windows for a church or place of worship.  Large display or storefront 
windows shall have a minimum two (2) foot high knee wall consisting of 
fiber-cement siding (i.e.: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl 
siding, brick/brick veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including 
synthetic stucco.)  


e. The design of accessory/out lot buildings shall reflect and coordinate with 
the general architectural style inherent in the primary structure on the 
property. 


f. When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by 50 percent or less, 
the enlargement does not have to meet the aforementioned Architectural 
Standards, but does have to match the architectural design of the existing 
nonconforming structure. This exemption shall only apply to the first 
occurrence of any enlargement after the effective date of January 24, 2008.  
Only one (1) structure per lot shall be entitled to the exemption.   
When an existing nonconforming structure is enlarged by more than 50 
percent, the entire nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance 
with the aforementioned Architectural Standards.   
This exemption shall expire on January 24, 2015, seven (7) years from the 
effective date of January 24, 2008.  After the expiration date, the entire 
nonconforming structure shall be brought into compliance with the 
aforementioned Architectural Standards when any enlargement is made.  


5. Architectural  Option. 
An owner/developer may exercise an Architectural Option for structures within the 
Overlay Zone on lots adjacent to a municipality where a nonresidential architectural 
character has been established in the area.  The purpose of this option is to achieve 
compatibility with surrounding areas, consistency throughout the development and 
greater creativity.  A photographic architectural character inventory of the buildings 
within the area shall be submitted.  Full color architectural elevation drawings of the 
proposed nonresidential architectural style for all building facades shall be submitted. 
 Multiple buildings within a development shall have comparable architectural 
characteristics consisting of similar architectural design and elements, building 
materials and colors.  Elevations shall be reviewed and approved by the Board of 
Commissioners and shall follow the procedure established in Article XI. Any change 
to the approved architectural elevation drawings shall follow the aforementioned 
procedure. 


 6. Landscape Requirements.  In addition to the standard requirements of the landscape 
ordinance, the following landscape requirements shall apply to the Overlay Zone: 







 


 


107


a. Street Frontage.  Landscape area: 50 feet in depth along State Route 
frontage.  The first 25 feet as measured from the right-of-way are for 
required landscape planting only. The remaining 25 feet may be used for 
septic system placement; underground stormwater detention systems; and the 
following stormwater management facilities/structures if designed in full 
accordance with the specifications provided in the most current edition of the 
Georgia Stormwater Management Manual; vegetated channels, overland 
flow filtration/groundwater recharge zone, enhanced swales, filter strips, and 
grass channels.  Septic systems and stormwater structures shall be exclusive 
of each other and the minimum distance of separation between wastewater 
and stormwater structures shall be established by the Environmental Health 
Department and the County Engineer.  Utilities (including underground 
stormwater piping) and multi-use path connections may be located anywhere 
within the landscape area.   


b. Side Yard Landscape Area.  10 feet in depth along side property lines unless 
adjacent to a residential district where buffer requirements will apply. 


7. Use of Existing Structure.  When property containing legally conforming structures, 
under the current zoning, is rezoned to O-I the dimensional requirements shall be 
reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any encroachment by the 
structures and said structures shall be considered legal nonconforming structures. 


8. Lighting and shielding standards.  Lighting shall be placed in a manner to direct 
light away from any adjacent roadways or nearby residential areas.   


9. Special Locational and Spatial Requirements.    
a. No more than 50 percent of the required parking can be located in the front 


yard along the State Route as established by the front building line of any 
structure located on the site.    


b. Outside storage of merchandise or equipment and parts shall be allowed in 
the rear yards only, subject to minimum screening, setback and buffer 
requirements.  Outside storage shall not exceed 25 percent of the gross floor 
area of all structures per lot. 


c. All roof-top heating, ventilation, and air conditioning equipment and 
satellite/communications equipment shall be visually screened from adjacent 
roads and property zoned residential or A-R.  The screen shall extend to the 
full height of the objects being screened.   


d. For all new construction, garage doors and bays associated with any use 
within the district shall be located on the side or rear of the principal 
building, and not facing a State Route. 


D. S.R. 74 North Overlay Zone.  All property and/or development which have frontage on and/or 
access to SR 74 North with nonresidential use or zoning shall be subject to the requirements 
of the SR 74 North Overlay Zone.  The intent of the overlay is to set standards specific to SR 
74 North from Sandy Creek Road to the Fulton County line to achieve the goals of the SR 74 
North Overlay District contained in the Fayette County Comprehensive Plan. 
1. Purpose.  The purpose of the SR 74 North Overlay Zone is to achieve the following: 


a. To maintain the efficient traffic flow of SR 74 North as the County’s main 
connection to Interstate 85;    


b. To enhance and maintain the aesthetic qualities of the corridor, as it is the 
gateway into Fayette County; and 


c. To protect existing and future residential areas in the SR 74 North corridor. 
 2. Access.  


a. West Side of SR 74 North Access and Internal Roadways. An internal 
collector road connecting all three of the large tracts identified in the Fayette 
County Comprehensive Plan, in the SR 74 North Overlay District properties 







 


 


108


will be required, from the existing median break at Thompson Road south to 
Kirkley Road.  The remaining large tract in the unincorporated County will 
be limited to one (1) right in/right out curb cut on SR 74 North for the 
construction of a street to provide internal access in the tract.  Lots created in 
conjunction with the development of these tracts will not be allowed 
individual curb cuts on SR 74 North or Kirkley Road.      


 The design of the collector road will require left turn lanes at the 
intersections of SR 74 North and Kirkley Road as well as all intersections 
internal to developments.  Final design approval of these intersections will 
be made by the County Engineer. 


b. East Side of SR 74 North Access and Internal Roadways.  To maintain 
efficient and safe operations on SR 74 North it is required that a parallel 
service drive be developed approximately 400 feet east of SR 74 North.  
This service drive shall be constructed when improvements are made to the 
portion of the property.  The service drive will connect to the service drive 
being developed in Fairburn from Milam Road southwards to the Fayette 
County line. Within Fayette County this service drive will extend from the 
Fulton County line into the property just north of the golf recreation facility. 
 In addition, all residential properties proposed to be accessed through non-
residentially zoned properties along SR 74 shall be accessed via a public 
road built to County standards and dedicated to the County. Those affected 
properties are identified and addressed in the Fayette County Comprehensive 
Plan.  


c. West Side of SR 74 North Multi-use Path System.  In order to provide for 
alternative modes of transportation (including accommodation of golf cart, 
bicycle and pedestrian traffic), a multi-use path system is required as an 
integral component of site development. The multi-use path system will 
connect all three (3) of the large tracts identified in the Fayette County 
Comprehensive Plan, in the SR 74 North Overlay District, and will be 
constructed in conjunction with the roads.  Said multi-use path system shall 
connect to any existing or proposed external multi-use paths. In the cases 
where a planned future multi-use path is to be located on abutting parcels, an 
alignment shall be established and the internal facilities shall be developed 
so as to provide for connection at the property line. 
On roadways with a planned multi-use path system the public right-of-way 
will be used for location of the path system components. The path will 
consist of a 10 foot wide paved surface and stabilized shoulders that extend 
two feet beyond the paved surface.  Path construction will consist of a 
minimum of four inches of gravel base with two inches of asphalt.  Final 
design approval of the multi-use path design and construction in the right-of-
way will be made by the Division of Public Works. 


3. Dimensional Requirements.   
a. All parking areas shall be located at least 50 feet from any State Route right-


of-way. 
 b. Front yard setback on S.R. 74 North: 100 feet                        


c. Berms for nonresidential zoning districts: Berms, when required as a 
condition of zoning, shall be a minimum of four (4) feet in height.   


4. Architectural Standards.  
a. West Side of SR 74 North Architectural Standards:    
 i. All buildings shall be constructed of brick/brick veneer, wood, 


fiber-cement siding (i.e.: Hardi-plank), rock, stone, cast-stone, split-
face concrete masonry unit (rough textured face concrete block), 







 


 


109


architectural precast concrete wall panels, stucco (including 
synthetic stucco) or any architecturally engineered facades which 
simulate these materials. 


  ii. The design of accessory structures shall be consistent with and 
coordinate with the architectural style inherent in the primary 
structure on the property. 


iii. No horizontal length of a roofline shall exceed 50 linear feet without 
a variation in elevation.  Said variation in elevation shall not be less 
than two (2) feet.  


iv. No blank or unarticulated horizontal length of a building facade 
shall exceed 25 linear feet without a variation in architectural 
elements, including but not limited to, building materials, colors, 
textures, offsets, or changes in planes. 


b. East Side of SR 74 North Architectural Standards:   
i. A pitched peaked (gable or hip) roof with a minimum pitch of four 


and one-half (4.5) inches in one (1) foot.  A pitched mansard roof 
facade with a minimum pitch of four and one-half (4.5) inches in 
one (1) foot and a minimum height of eight (8) feet around the 
entire perimeter of the structure can be used if the structure is two 
(2) stories or more or the use of a pitched peaked roof would cause 
the structure to not meet the applicable height limit requirements.  
The mansard roof facade shall be of a residential character with the 
appearance of shingles, slate or terra cotta:    


ii. All buildings shall be constructed in a residential character of fiber-
cement siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl 
siding, brick/brick veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco 
(including synthetic stucco);  


iii. Framed doors and windows of a residential character.  To maintain a 
residential character, large display windows shall give the 
appearance of smaller individual panes and framing consistent with 
the standard residential grid pattern for doors and windows.  This 
does not apply to stained glass windows for a church or place of 
worship.  Large display or storefront windows shall have a 
minimum two (2) foot high knee wall consisting of fiber-cement 
siding (ie: Hardiplank), wood siding, wood textured vinyl siding, 
brick/brick veneer, rock, stone, cast-stone, or stucco (including 
synthetic stucco);  


iv. The design of accessory structures shall reflect and coordinate with 
the general architectural style inherent in the primary structure on 
the property including the roof pitch. 


5. Landscape Requirements: In addition to the standard requirements of the Landscape 
Ordinance, the following landscape requirements shall apply to the Overlay Zone: 
a. Street Frontage.   SR 74 (Major Arterial) - Landscape area: 50 feet along the 


right-of-way of SR 74 North.  The first 25 feet as measured from the right-
of-way is for required landscape planting only.  The remaining 25 feet may 
be used for septic system placement; underground stormwater detention 
systems; and the following stormwater management facilities/structures, if 
designed in full accordance with the specifications provided in the most 
current edition of the Georgia Stormwater Management Manual: vegetated 
channels, overland flow filtration/ groundwater recharge zone, enhanced 
swales, filter strips, and grass channels.  Septic systems and stormwater 
structures shall be exclusive of each other and the minimum distance of 







 


 


110


separation between wastewater and stormwater structures shall be 
established by the Environmental Health Department and the County 
Engineer. Utilities (including underground stormwater piping) and multi-use 
path connections may be located anywhere within the landscape area. 


b.   Side Yard Landscape Area.  10 feet in depth along side property lines, unless 
adjacent to a residential district where buffer requirements will apply. 


6. Lighting. 
a. Shielding standards. Lighting shall be placed in such a fashion as to be 


directed away from any adjacent roadways for nearby residential areas.  
b. Fixture height standards. Lighting fixtures shall be a maximum of 35 feet in 


height within the parking lot and shall be a maximum of 10 feet in height 
within non-vehicular pedestrian areas. 


  7. Additional Requirements.  
a. All refuse areas and equipment shall be allowed in the side or rear yards only 


and shall be screened. 
b. All roof-top heating, ventilation, and air conditioning equipment and 


satellite/communications equipment shall be visually screened from adjacent 
roads and property zoned residential or A-R.  The screen shall extend to the 
full height of the objects being screened.  


c. Bay doors shall not be allowed to directly face SR 74 North. 
d. All utilities shall be underground. 


8. Use of Existing Structure.  When property containing legally conforming structures, 
under the current zoning, is rezoned to O-I, the dimensional requirements shall be 
reduced to the extent of, but only at the location of, any encroachment by the 
structures and said structures shall be considered legal nonconforming structures. 


 


Sec 7-6.  Commercial Development Standards.        
A.  Architectural and site design standards and guidelines for structures 5,000 square feet or 


greater (this applies to a single structure) that are located in the area north of SR 54 West, east 
of Tyrone Road, and west of Sandy Creek Road.  This area shall also be known as the Fayette 
County Community Hospital District (Hospital District.) 
1. Lighting: 


a. Consistency. Lighting shall be designed in a consistent and coordinated 
manner for the entire site. The lighting and lighting fixtures shall be 
integrated and designed so as to enhance the visual impact of the project on 
the community and/or blends into the landscape. 


b. Shielding standards. Lighting shall be placed in such a fashion as to be 
directed away from any adjacent roadways or nearby residential areas. 


c. Fixture height standards. Lighting fixtures shall be a maximum of 35 feet in 
height within the parking lot and shall be a maximum of 10 feet in height 
within non-vehicular pedestrian areas. 


d. Design standards. Lighting shall be used to provide safety while accenting 
key architectural elements and/or to emphasize landscape features. Light 
fixtures shall be designed as an integral design element that complements the 
design of the project. This can be accomplished through style, material or 
color (excluding fluorescent and neon, primary and/or secondary colors) or 
be designed to blend into the landscape through the use of dark colors such 
as bronze. Mill finish is not permitted. 


2.   Service Function Areas (SFA's) including, but not limited to loading, storage, 
mechanical equipment, and solid waste disposal. 
a. Buffering and screening standards. Loading areas or docks, trash 


collection/compaction/ recycling, mechanical equipment, vehicular storage 







 


 


111


(excluding new and used cars), roof top equipment and other service 
function areas shall be fully screened from view of adjacent properties and 
roadways at ground view level. 


b. Materials and design standards. Screening material and design shall be 
consistent with design treatment of the primary facades of the structure on 
site. 


 3.  Drive-through lane standards: 
Drive-through windows shall not be placed between the building and a public road 
right-of-way. 


4. Pedestrian access standards: 
a. Pedestrian ways, linkages and paths shall be provided from the building 


entry(s) to all parking areas and out lots. Pedestrian ways shall be designed 
to provide access between parking areas and the building entrance(s) in a 
coordinated and safe manner. Pedestrian ways may be incorporated within 
required landscape areas, provided the landscape area is not less than 10 feet 
in width on average. Shared pedestrian walkways are required between 
adjacent projects. 


b. Pedestrian crosswalks at building perimeter. Building perimeter crosswalks 
shall be designed and coordinated to move people safely to and from 
buildings and parking areas by identifying pedestrian crossings with signage 
and variations in pavement materials or markings. 


c. Minimum dimensions. Pedestrian walkways shall be a minimum of five (5) 
feet wide. 


d. Materials. Pedestrian walkways and crosswalks shall be consistent with the 
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Accessibility 
Guidelines. Materials may include specialty pavers, concrete, colored 
concrete or stamped pattern concrete. 


5. Building design: 
a. Building orientation standards. Facades/elevations that are visible from an 


arterial or collector street constitute an affected facade. Any facade that 
fronts on a right-of-way shall have two (2) of the following design features; 
i.  Windows at a minimum of 25 percent of the affected facade. All 


doors and windows shall be divided or made to appear as if divided 
into more than two (2) smaller panes either through framing or the 
use of mullions. 


ii. Projected covered public entry with a minimum of 25 percent of 
each projected wall space devoted to windows. (This figure is non-
cumulative.)  


iii. Covered walkway (excluding canvas type) provided with six (6) 
inch columns or better, attached to the building at a minimum 
extension of eight (8) feet wide. The walkway shall be a minimum 
of eight (8) feet in height with a maximum of 10 feet in height and 
shall extend the full length of the affected facade. 


iv.  Canopies/awnings of a fixed nature. 
b.  Facade/wall height transition. New developments that are located within 


300 feet of an existing building and are more than twice the height of, or are 
half of the height of or less than any existing building shall provide 
transitional massing elements to transition between the existing buildings of 
lower height within 300 feet, and the proposed development. Any building 
that is more than two (2) stories shall have massing for any possible future 
neighboring development. 


  







 


 


112


c.  Facade standard. All buildings shall be designed with consistent 
architectural style. In the case of out lot buildings, all exterior facades shall 
adhere to the requirements of this section with respect to architectural design 
treatments for all facades. All exterior facades shall be designed to employ 
the following design treatments: 
i. All buildings shall maintain a facade of brick, stone, or stucco. 


    ii. Windows shall not appear to be false or applied. 
iii. No horizontal length and/or uninterrupted curve of a building facade 


or roofline shall exceed 25 linear feet and shall have architectural 
elements along a minimum of 50 percent of their horizontal length 
per affected side. These features include, but are not limited to: 
display windows; projected entry areas; and/or other such design 
elements as proposed by the architect. 


 


Section 6.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE IX.  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, 


enacting a new ARTICLE IX.  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE IX.   ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 


Sec. 9-1.  Membership. 


A. Membership and Appointments.  The Fayette County Zoning Board of Appeals shall consist 
of five (5) members residing within the County and shall be appointed by the Board of 
Commissioners of Fayette County.  None of the Board members shall hold any other public 
office, except that one (1) member may also be a member of the Planning Commission.  The 
Zoning Board of Appeals members shall be removed by the Board of Commissioners for 
cause, upon written charges, and after public hearing.  Any member of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall be disqualified to act upon a matter before the Zoning Board of Appeals with 
respect to property in which the member has an interest.  It may be deemed cause for removal 
should any Zoning Board of Appeals member fail, without proper reason, to attend three (3) 
consecutive meetings. 


B. Term of Office.  The term of office for each member of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be 
for three (3) years.  It is the intent of this section that their terms be staggered with no term 
limitation.   Any vacancy in the membership shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same 
manner as the initial appointment. 


C. Compensation.  The Zoning Board of Appeals members shall receive compensation for their 
service as determined by the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County. 


 


Sec. 9-2.  Rules and Procedures.   


The Zoning Board of Appeals shall elect one (1) of its members as Chairman and another as Vice-Chairman, 
each serving for one (1) year, or until re-elected, or a successor is elected. The Vice-Chairman shall have the 
authority to act as Chairman in the Chairman's absence.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall appoint a 
Secretary who shall be an employee of Fayette County.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall have authority to 
adopt Rules of Procedure.  (Note only:  Rules of Procedure adopted by the ZBA on June 27, 2011.)  Meetings 
of the Zoning Board of Appeals may be held at the call of the Chairman.  The Chairman may administer oaths 
and compel the attendance of witnesses by subpoena.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall keep Minutes of its 
proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating 
such fact, and shall keep records of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be 
immediately filed in the Planning and Zoning Department and shall be public record.  The decisions of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals shall contain a statement of the subject matter being considered by the Zoning Board 
of Appeals, the decisions of the Zoning Board of Appeals, and the grounds for its decision reduced to written 







 


 


113


form.  The full text shall be sent to the appellant.  An application which seeks the same relief in regard to the 
same property shall not be accepted for a period of six (6) months following the date of the written decision 
from said application. 
  


Sec. 9-3.  Administrative Assistance.   


The Zoning Administrator shall provide such technical, administrative, clerical assistance, and office space as 
is required by the Zoning Board of Appeals to carry out its function under the provisions herein. 


 


Sec. 9-4.  Public Hearing. 


A. Place, Time, and Date.  The public hearings shall be conducted as follows:   
1. Place: Fayette County Administrative Complex  
2. Time and Date:  Fourth Monday, 7:00 p.m.   
Any changes from the standard schedule for public hearings will be published in the 
newspaper which carries legal advertisements for the County in compliance with the 
requirements for public notification as provided herein. 


B. Notice of Hearing Shall be Given.  Before making its decision on an appeal, a request for a 
variance, or any other matter within the Zoning Board of Appeals’ purview, the Zoning Board 
of Appeals shall hold a public hearing thereon.  At least 15 calendar days notice of the time 
and place of such hearing shall be sent to the appellant/petitioner by certified U.S. Mail to the 
appellant/petitioner's last known address.  Such notice shall contain the name of the appellant/ 
petitioner; the date, time, and place set for the hearing; and a brief statement of the nature of 
the hearing. 


C. Public Notice in Newspaper.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall cause public notice of the 
hearing to be published in the legal organ of Fayette County, at least 15 calendar days but not 
more than 45 calendar days, prior to the date of the public hearing. 


D. Posting of Sign(s). 
1. A sign shall be posted on property.  One (1) sign is required for each street frontage 


of said property.  The sign shall be posted consistent with the requirements for 
newspaper notification.  


2. Signs used for posting property shall be a minimum of 18 inches by 18 inches and 
shall indicate the application number, the time, date, and place of the hearing. 


3. A refundable sign deposit shall be required for each sign at the time of application. 
E. Who May Appear.  Any party may appear at the public hearing in person or by agent or 


attorney. 
F. Zoning Board of Appeals’ Decision.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall approve, deny, or 


table each application by a public vote.  An action to table shall include justification of such 
action and a specific meeting date at which the application is to be reconsidered.   


  If there is not a full Zoning Board of Appeals board present at the public hearing, the 
Petitioner may request to table the petition to the next Zoning Board of Appeals public 
hearing, provided the Petitioner requests to table the agenda item prior to the presentation. 


  A new legal advertisement will not be required with an announcement to a specific meeting 
date if an application is tabled; however, the property shall be reposted with new signage 
indicating the new public hearing dates. 


G. Time Limit on Zoning Board of Appeals’ Decision.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall reach 
a decision following a public hearing within 45 calendar days or the application shall be 
deemed to be approved.  


H. “Writ of Certiorari” (Appeal.)  An applicant has 30 calendar days from the date of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals’ decision to file a “Writ of Certiorari” (Appeal) with the Superior 
Court of Fayette County. 


 


Sec. 9-5.  Powers and Duties. 


A. Appeals from Actions of the Zoning Administrator.  The Zoning Board of Appeals shall hear 







 


 


114


and decide upon appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, decision, 
or determination made by the Zoning Administrator in the enforcement of these regulations. 
1. Who May Appeal.  Appeals to the Zoning Board of Appeals may be taken by any 


person aggrieved or by an officer, department, or board of Fayette County affected by 
any decision of the Zoning Administrator.  Such appeals, specifying the grounds 
thereof shall be filed with the Planning and Zoning Department no later than 30 
calendar days after the date of notification of the Zoning Administrator’s decision.  
The Zoning Administrator shall forthwith transmit to the Zoning Board of Appeals 
all the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from was taken. 


2. Legal Proceedings Stayed.  An appeal stays all legal proceedings in furtherance of 
the action appealed from, unless the Zoning Administrator certifies to the Zoning 
Board of Appeals that by reason of facts stated in the certificate a stay would, in the 
Zoning Administrator's opinion, cause imminent peril to life and property.  In such a 
case, proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than by a restraining order from a 
court of competent jurisdiction. 


3. Extent of the Zoning Board of Appeals’ Power.  The Zoning Board of Appeals may, 
in conformity with the provisions of these regulations, reverse or affirm the order, 
requirement, decision, or determination of the Zoning Administrator.  The Zoning 
Board of Appeals may direct the issuance of a permit.  It shall be the duty of the 
Zoning Administrator to carry out the decisions of the Zoning Board of Appeals. 


B. Request for a Variance.  The Zoning Board of Appeals may authorize, upon appeal in specific 
cases, a variance from the terms of these regulations as will not be contrary to the public 
interest where, owing to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of these 
regulations will, in an individual case, result in practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship, so 
that the spirit of these regulations shall be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and 
substantial justice done.  However, a variance shall not be granted for a reduction in lot size, 
lot width, road frontage, or any requirements of a Conditional Use with the exception of a 
legal nonconforming Conditional Use (see Article VII.), or a use of land, building, or 
structure that is prohibited in the zoning district at issue, except as otherwise provided herein. 
A variance may be granted in an individual case upon a finding by the Zoning Board of 
Appeals that the following exists: 
1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece 


of property in question because of its size, shape or topography; and 
2. The application of these regulations to this particular piece of property would create a 


practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship; and 
3. Such conditions are peculiar to the particular piece of property involved; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair 


the purposes and intent of these regulations; provided, however, no variance may be 
granted for a use of land, building, or structure that is prohibited herein; and 


5. A literal interpretation of this Ordinance would deprive the applicant of any rights 
that others in the same zoning district are allowed; and 


6. The Zoning Board of Appeals may impose or require conditions, as may be 
necessary,  to protect the health and safety of workers and residents in the 
community; to protect the value and use of property in the general neighborhoods; 
and provided that wherever the Board shall find, in the case of any approval granted 
pursuant to the provisions of these regulations, that any of the conditions upon which 
such approval was granted are not being complied with, said Zoning Board of 
Appeals shall rescind and revoke such  approval after giving due notice to all parties 
concerned and granting full opportunity for a  hearing.   


7. In exercising the above powers, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall not consider any 
nonconforming use of neighboring lands, structures or buildings in the same zoning 
district, and no permitted use of lands, structures, or buildings in other zoning 







 


 


115


districts as grounds for the issuance of a variance. 
C. Compliance with Standards.  Where an application to the Board is initiated due to an existing 


violation of the Zoning Ordinance and said application is denied, the violation shall be 
required to be corrected within 10 calendar days of such denial, or as specified by the Board, 
if a greater time period is necessary.  The maximum extension of the time shall not exceed 30 
calendar days. 


D. Forms.  Appeals, requests for variances, or any other matter within the Zoning Board of 
Appeals’ purview shall be made on forms, as applicable, provided by the Zoning 
Administrator; and all information requested on the forms shall be provided by the appellant.  
Forms shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator along with the necessary fees.  No form 
shall be accepted by the Zoning Administrator unless it contains all pertinent information and 
is accompanied by the required fee. 


 


Section 6.  The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance (2010), as amended, is hereby further amended by 


deleting ARTICLE XI.  POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS GOVERNING 


AMENDMENTS in its entirety, and in lieu thereof, enacting a new ARTICLE XI.  POLICIES, 


PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS GOVERNING AMENDMENTS to read as follows: 


ARTICLE XI.  POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND STANDARDS GOVERNING AMENDMENTS 


  


Sec. 11-1.  Intent.  


The purpose of this Article is to describe and establish procedures for making changes to the Official Zoning 
Map (i.e., rezoning of properties) and amending the text of this Ordinance.  Such actions require legislative 
approval by the Board of Commissioners in order to be enacted. 


 


Sec. 11-2.  Technical Evaluation and Qualification of Properties. 


A. Every petition for a legislative change shall be subject to a technical evaluation.  The 
evaluation shall be conducted by the Zoning Administrator who shall coordinate a review of 
the proposal with all appropriate County departments and public agencies.  Following the 
evaluation, the Zoning Administrator shall prepare a report containing recommendations to be 
presented to the Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners. 


B. The Zoning Administrator shall distribute copies of applications for amendment to the 
Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners.  In addition, the members of the 
Technical Review Committee (TRC) shall be supplied with copies of each application.  Each 
department head or his/her designee shall return his or her comments, in writing, to the 
Zoning Administrator per the deadline established by the Planning & Zoning Department. 


C. Any lot(s) affected by proposed rezonings which are initiated by a party other than the Board 
of Commissioners of Fayette County shall each be of sufficient size and shape to meet all 
requirements of this Ordinance, except as otherwise provided in Article VII.  Combination or 
division of lots, in accordance with County regulations, shall be accomplished as a condition 
of approval prior to the approval of any permits or applications. 


D. A property which is improved with existing structures and which would become 
nonconforming within the zoning district for which the rezoning is sought may be considered 
for rezoning (see Article VII.) 


 


Sec. 11-3.  Public Hearings. 


A. Date, Place, and Time.  The public hearings shall be conducted as follows: 
1. Place: Fayette County Administrative Complex 
2. Time and Date: 


a. Planning Commission:  First Thursday, 7:00 p.m. 
b. Board of Commissioners:  Second and Fourth Thursdays, 7:00 p.m. 







 


 


116


Any changes from the standard schedule for public hearings will be published in the newspaper which 
carries legal advertisements for the County in compliance with the requirements for public notification 
as provided herein. 
B. Conduct of Hearing.  Public hearings on amendments shall be conducted with 15 minutes 


provided for the proponents and 15 minutes provided for the opponents of an application for 
rezoning.  If necessary, the Chairman or Vice-Chairman may allocate an equal amount of 
additional minutes for both the proponents and the opponents.  An applicant may reserve part 
or all of the allotted time for rebuttal. 
1. Decisions.  Recommendations of the Planning Commission and the decision of the 


Board of Commissioners on applications for rezoning shall be made subsequent to 
the public hearing. 


2. Minutes.  The Minutes of any public hearing/workshop/meeting shall be maintained 
with the zoning decision entered thereon.  The Minutes shall be kept as public 
records. 


 


Sec. 11-4.  Initiation of Amendments.   
Applications to amend the text of this Ordinance may be initiated by the Planning Commission, the Board of 
Commissioners, or by a member of the general public. The Planning Commission, the Board of 
Commissioners, a property owner, or the authorized agent of a property owner may initiate an application to 
amend the official zoning map (rezone property.)  When an agent is authorized to act on behalf of an owner, 
such certificate of authorization shall be notarized on the rezoning application.  All information and required 
fees shall be received by the Zoning Administrator by the deadline date for filing. 
 


Sec. 11-5.  Limitation on Re-applying and Withdrawal.  


If the zoning decision of the Board of Commissioners is to deny a rezoning of property, then an application for 
the same property may not be re-submitted for rezoning until the expiration of at least six (6) months, 
immediately following the date of denial.  An application for a map amendment shall not be withdrawn by the 
applicant after the legal advertising as required herein, except as provided herein. 
 


Sec. 11-6.  Appeal.   


An applicant has 30 calendar days from the date of the Board of Commissioners rezoning decision to file an 
Appeal with the Superior Court of Fayette County. 
 


Sec. 11-7.  Application for Amendment.   


Any citizen filing an application to amend the text or the official zoning map may obtain an application from 
the Zoning Administrator.  Applications to amend the text or the official zoning map shall be submitted on 
forms, as applicable, provided by the Zoning Administrator. 
 


Sec. 11-8.  Planning Commission Recommendation. 


A. The Planning Commission shall make a recommendation of approval, denial, table, or 
withdrawal without prejudice on each application.  An action to table shall include a 
justification of such action and a specific meeting date at which the application is to be 
reconsidered.   
If there is not a full board present at the public hearing, the petitioner may request to table the 
petition to the next Planning Commission public hearing, provided the petitioner requests to 
table the agenda item prior to the presentation.   
A new legal advertisement will not be required with an announcement to a specific meeting 
date if an application is tabled; however, the property shall be reposted with new signage 
indicating the new public hearing dates. 


 In addition, the Planning Commission may recommend amendments to the applicant's request 
which would reduce the land area for which the application is made, change the zoning 
district requested to one which is less intense, or recommend conditions which may be 







 


 


117


deemed advisable so that the purpose of this ordinance will be served and the public health, 
safety, and welfare secured.   


B. A report of the Planning Commission's recommendation shall be submitted to the Board of 
Commissioners. The report shall contain the recommendation of the Planning Commission, 
all grounds therefore, and shall be signed and approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of 
the Planning Commission. 


C. If the Planning Commission fails to submit a report within 100 calendar days from the date of 
the acceptance of the completed amendment application, the application shall be forwarded to 
the Board of Commissioners with no recommendation.  Actions of the Planning Commission 
which contribute to the delay, such as the lack of a full board or tabling the petition, shall 
count toward the 100 calendar days.  Actions by the petitioner, such as a request to table, shall 
not count toward the 100 calendar days. 


    


Sec. 11-9.  Public Hearing before the Board of Commissioners. 


A. After receipt of the Planning Commission's report and recommendation on the proposed 
amendment, the Board of Commissioners shall hold a public hearing.  The Board of 
Commissioners may approve, deny, or table an application.  An action to table shall include a 
justification of such action and a specific meeting date at which the application is to be 
reconsidered. A new legal advertisement will not be required with an announcement to a 
specific meeting date; however, the property shall be reposted with new signage indicating the 
new public hearing dates. 


B. In addition, the Board of Commissioners may approve an amendment with a reduction in the 
land area requested, change the zoning district requested (as long as such change is to a less 
intense zoning district), or add or delete conditions of zoning which will enhance the health, 
safety and welfare of the County. 


C. The Board of Commissioners may, by a majority vote of all members, allow an application to 
be withdrawn without prejudice with regards to the waiting period required by a denial. 


D. The decision of the Board of Commissioners shall be contained in a written report prepared 
by the Clerk of the Board of Commissioners.  The report shall contain the decision of the 
Board of Commissioners, all grounds therefore, and shall be signed and approved by the 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Board of Commissioners.   


 The Clerk shall provide a copy of the report to the Zoning Administrator, which copy shall 
become a part of the application file, and shall send one (1) copy to the applicant by certified 
mail. 


 


Sec. 11-10.  Conditional Approval.   


Any application for an amendment may be approved subject to conditions which relate to the use, occupancy, 
or development regulations for the property contained in the petition.  Conditions imposed on the property may 
only be more restrictive than the requirements of any zoning district and other applicable parts of this 
Ordinance as may apply to the property.  The following policies shall apply: 


A. Controls Proposed by Applicant.  An applicant may propose controls to be considered by the 
Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners.  Such proposed controls may include 
plans, limitations of use and occupancy, or more restrictive development standards than would 
otherwise be applied to the property. 
 
1. Such proposed controls may be eliminated or changed into conditions of approval as 


submitted, or they may be eliminated, modified, or extended. 
2. The Board may choose to incorporate, as conditions of approval, selected restrictions, 


or requirements which were not included in the request for controls submitted in the 
original application. 


B. Consent Not Required.  Approval of applications subject to conditions may occur with or 
without the consent of the applicant. 







 


 


118


C. Conditions shall be Permanent.  All conditions imposed by action of the Board of 
Commissioners shall remain on the subject property regardless of changes in ownership. 


D. Changes to Conditions.  Conditions shall be changed only through the amendment process by 
which they were established or when expressly overridden by a State government authority 
taking precedence over the area of regulation. 


 


Sec. 11-11.  Standards for Map Amendment (Rezoning) Evaluation.   


All proposed map amendments shall be evaluated with special emphasis being placed on the relationship of the 
proposal to the Land Use Plan and related development policies of Fayette County.  The Zoning Administrator 
shall prepare a report for each proposed map amendment which shall recommend a course of action including 
recommended conditions, if any.  The following factors shall be considered by the Zoning Administrator, the 
Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners when reviewing a request for rezoning: 


A. Whether the zoning proposal is in conformity with the Land Use Plan and policies contained 
therein; 


B. Whether the zoning proposal will adversely affect the existing use or usability of adjacent or 
nearby property; 


C. Whether the zoning proposal will result in a use which will or could cause an excessive or 
burdensome use of existing or planned streets, utilities, or schools; 


D. Whether there are other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and development of 
the property which give supporting grounds for either approval or disapproval of the zoning 
proposal. 


 


Sec. 11-12.  Public Notification. 


A. Newspaper.  Notice of scheduled hearings shall be published in the newspaper of general 
circulation within the County in which are carried the legal advertisements of the County. 
1. The notice shall be published at least seven (7) days prior to the public hearing before 


the Planning Commission, but not more than 45 calendar days, nor less than 15 
calendar days prior to the public hearing before the Board of Commissioners.  In the 
event that the time-frames above cannot be met with one (1) advertisement, the notice 
shall be published twice. 


2. The notice shall contain the dates of the public hearings before the Planning 
Commission and the Board of Commissioners. 


3. Public notification shall include at a minimum the time, date, place, purpose of the 
hearing, location, boundary description, area of the property, and the current and 
requested zoning classifications. 


B. Posting of Sign(s). 
1. A sign shall be posted on property for which the rezoning is sought.  One (1) sign is 


required for each street frontage of said property.  The sign shall be posted consistent 
with the requirements for newspaper notification.  


2. Signs used for posting property shall be a minimum of 18 inches by 18 inches and 
shall indicate the application number, the time, date, place, purpose of the hearings, 
and the current and requested zoning classifications. 


3. A refundable sign deposit shall be required for each sign at the time of application for 
rezoning. 


 
C. Applicant Notification. 


1. Upon certification by the Zoning Administrator that an application is complete, a 
notice giving the date, time, and place of the public hearings shall be given by 
certified mail to the applicant. 


2. The Clerk to the Board of Commissioners shall notify the applicant by mail of any 
action (including tabling of action) taken by the Board of Commissioners.  All 
actions of the Board shall be deemed to be effective as of the date of the action. 







 


 


119


 


Sec. 11-13.  Zoning Reversion.   


Within three (3) years of the date of rezoning, rezoned property shall be utilized for uses allowed in the new 
zoning district or substantial development shall be demonstrated toward such utilization.  Failure to so utilize 
or demonstrate substantial development may subject the property to consideration for reversion to the previous 
zoning classification.  In such event, public hearings shall follow the established procedures for rezoning 
petitions herein and a final decision shall be rendered by the Board of Commissioners. 
 


Sec. 11-14.  Responsibilities of the Zoning Administrator.   


The Zoning Administrator shall have the following responsibilities associated with receiving and processing all 
amendment applications: 


A. Receive all applications and supporting information and collect all fees at the time of initial 
filing; 


B. Maintain a log of all applications; 
C. Return incomplete applications and all supporting information to the applicant upon 


determination that an application is incomplete with reasons for the determination; 
D. If the application is complete, issue a notice that lists the dates, times, and places of all 


hearings that are scheduled for the application; 
E. Establish and maintain a file for each application which shall contain: 


1. Copies of all materials submitted by the applicant; 
2. Correspondence, records, reports, and exhibits produced during processing; 
3. Minutes and all actions taken by the Planning Commission and the Board of 


Commissioners on an application; and 
4. All follow-up activities, if any, including re-filing of additional requests, copies of 


citations or violations and any other significant materials. 
F. Prepare a map for all map changes (rezoning), which shall show the location and dimensions 


of the subject property of the petition, all properties within at least 1,000 feet of the subject 
property, and the zoning districts thereon; 


G. Transmit to the appropriate departments within five (5) working days after the deadline for 
submissions, all materials to be evaluated; 


H. Schedule and provide notice for all public hearings, including the posting of the property, as 
required herein; 


I. Transmit the recommendation of the Planning Commission to the Board of Commissioners at 
least 14 calendar days prior to the scheduled public hearing before the Board of 
Commissioners; and 


J. Update the official Zoning Map. 


 


Section 7. That the preamble of this Ordinance shall be considered to be and is hereby incorporated by 
reference as if fully set out herein. 
 


Section 8.  a. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that all Sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Article are and were, upon their enactment, believed 
by the Board of Commissioners to be fully valid, enforceable and constitutional. 
 


b. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that, to the greatest extent 
allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance is 
severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance. It is 
hereby further declared to be the intention of the Board of Commissioners that, to the greatest extent 
allowed by law, no Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Article is mutually dependent 
upon any other Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Article. 
 


c. In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Article shall, for any 







 


 


120


reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable by the valid 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, it is the express intent of the Board of 
Commissioners that such invalidity, unconstitutionality or unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent 
allowed by law, not render invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining 
phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or Sections of the Article and that, to the greatest extent 
allowed by law, all remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and Sections of the Article shall 
remain valid, constitutional, enforceable, and of full force and effect. 
 


Section 9.  All ordinances or resolutions and parts of ordinances or resolutions in conflict herewith are 
hereby expressly repealed except those provided for herein. 
 


Section 10.  The effective date of this Ordinance shall be the date of adoption unless otherwise 
specified herein. 
 
 So ordained this 24th day of May, 2012, by the  
 


      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 


      FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA 


 


 


 


      ____________________________ 


      HERBERT FRADY, CHAIRMAN 


 


ATTEST: 


 


 


 


_________________________ 


CLERK/DEPUTY CLERK 


 





		Planning and Zoning- County C...er 20 Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- County Code Chapter 20 Backup-Reduced Size






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of staff's recommendation to contract with Diversified Electronics, Inc. for a $1,000 fee on an as needed basis, to review 


the county's inventory of Existing or Planned Tower Sites as required by Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Article V., 5-44, and to 


authorize the Chairman to sign the contract and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Per the recommended amendments to the Zoning Ordinance concerning Standards for Telecommunications Antennas and Towers, staff 


is requesting the ability to engage an independent expert to review the existing inventory of towers and any other planned towers 


whenever a proposed tower cannot meet the separation requirements between towers.  Peachtree City and Gwinnett County use an 


independent expert to evaluate cell tower applications and some of the requirements and language from these ordinances were used to 


formulate the County's ordinance concerning this subject.  The inventory of existing and planned towers is required for a request to 


reduce or waive the separation requirement which is considered in public hearings before the Planning Commission and the Board of 


Commissioners, and its purpose is to indicate that no other towers within the search area can accommodate the applicant's antenna.   


 


Staff recommends entering into a contract with Diversified Electronics Incorporated to do the review of the inventory of existing and 


planned towers on as as needed basis for a fee of $1,000. 


 


This request is in conjunction with the request to approve Resolution 2012-12 establishing an application fee that would offset the $1,000 


cost from Diversified Electronics Incorporated resulting in no cost to Fayette County if this requirement ever come into play.


Consideration of staff's request to enter into a contract with Diversified Electronics, Inc. for a $1,000 fee on an as needed basis, to review 


the inventory of Existing or Planned Tower Sites as required by Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Article V., 5-44, and to authorize the 


Chairman to sign the contract and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


There would not be any cost to the county. Fees would be imposed on applicants if needed.


Yes Wednesday, April 4, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Old BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012















































State of Georgia 


County of Fayette 


  


RESOLUTION  


 2012 -12 


 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FEES AS REQUIRED BY THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING 
ORDINANCE FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADMINISTRATION OF CERTAIN 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS, SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS AND SIGN ORDINANCE. 
 
 Whereas, The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Article X, Schedule of Fees, requires the  
 Board of Commissioner to establish a schedule of fees from time for the  purpose of allaying the cost of 
administering certain requirements of Fayette County’s Zoning Ordinance, Development Regulations, 
Subdivision Regulations, and Sign Ordinance;  
 
 Now, therefore, the fees indicated below as the “Fayette County Planning and Zoning 
Department Schedule of Fees” are hereby established and shall become effective upon passage of this 
resolution: 
 


FAYETTE COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT 


SCHEDULE OF FEES 


 
The fees below are payable to the Fayette County Planning and Zoning Department: 


 


REQUEST FOR REZONING (Filing for a change of zoning classification, including required Public 
Hearings before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners) 
 
NUMBER OF ACRES                                                                                                                    FEE 
0-5 acres ………………………………………………………………………………………….$250.00* 
6-20 acres…………………………………………………………………………………………$350.00* 
21-100 acres………………………………………………………………………………………$450.00* 
101+ acres………………………………………………………………………………………...$550.00* 
 
*  An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property).  Staff is required to post one 
(1) public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property to be rezoned.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the 
Planning & Zoning Department within five (5) working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign deposit 
can be reimbursed  
 


REQUEST FOR A VARIANCE, A CHANGE OF USE, AN EXTENSION OR ENLARGEMENT 


OF A NONCONFORMING USE, OR A CONTINUANCE OF NONCONFORMANCE FROM 


THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
$175.00* plus $25 for each additional variance requested  
 
An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property).  Staff is required to post one 
public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the Planning & Zoning 
Department within five working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign deposit can be reimbursed. 


 
REQUEST FOR ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCE ……………………………………………. $50.00 


 


 


 







APPLICATION FEE FOR PUBLIC HEARINGS REQUIRED TO REDUCE OR WAIVE 


REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE V., STANDARDS FOR TELECOMMUNICATIONS 


ANTENNAS AND TOWERS OF THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE 
 
$175.00 which includes the reduction or waiver of one requirement, plus $25 per each additional 
reduction or waiver of a requirement, and an additional $1,000.00 for the reduction or waiver of the 
separation requirements between towers 
 
An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property.)  Staff is required to 
post one public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the 
Planning & Zoning Department within five working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign 
deposit can be reimbursed. 
 
REVIEW OF FINAL PLAT or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT    
 
A fee of $100.00 per lot shall be imposed for all residential and nonresidential lots except that the fee for 
the first three (3) lots of a residential subdivision shall be $35.00 per lot. Any applicant whose final plat is 
returned for resubmission due to deficiencies and such deficiencies are not corrected when resubmitted, 
shall incur an additional fee of $5.00 per lot for the additional review required.   
 
REVIEW OF FINAL PLAT REVISION or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT REVISION  
 
All revisions to final plats or minor subdivisions plats shall have imposed thereon the following fees: 
 
No lots added: ………………………………………………………….$25.00 plus advertising cost, if any 
Lots added: ……………………………………………………………..$100.00 per lot 
 
REQUEST FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS (Administrative)…………………….......$30.00 
 
SITE PLAN REVIEW (NONRESIDENTIAL) AND COMPLIANCE FEES 
 
Less than one (1) acre……………………………………………………………………………..$150.00 
One (1) to five (5) acres…………………………………………………………………………...$200.00 
Five (5) to ten (10) acres…………………………………………………………………………..$250.00 
More than ten (10) acres…………………………………………………………………………..$300.00* 
* plus $50.00 for every five (5) acres or fraction thereof in excess of ten (10) acres                                                                            
 
Note:  If a site plan is resubmitted without previously-noted deficiencies corrected, the applicable fee 
from the above schedule shall be DOUBLED. 
 
LAND DISTURBANCE PERMIT   


 
Land Disturbance Permits are imposed and collected by the Stormwater Management Department 
 
SIGN PERMIT FEES 
 
Banners and Signage During Construction…………………………………………………………$10.00 
Permanent signs smaller than 60 square feet……………………………………………………….$30.00 
Permanent signs larger than 60 square feet………………………………………………………...$30.00* 
* Plus $3.00 for each square foot in excess of 60 square feet. 
 
Note:  The fee for placing or erecting a sign without a permit shall be an amount that is DOUBLE the 
amount of the applicable fee from the schedule above. 







 


 


 


TEMPORARY STRUCTURE PERMIT 
 
Office Trailer, Storage Trailer or Guardhouse………………………………………………………$25.00 
Office Trailer, Storage Trailer or Guardhouse – Renewal…………………………………………..$25.00 
Mobile Classroom…………………………………………………………………………………...$50.00 
Mobile Classroom – Renewal……………………………………………………………………….$50.00 
 


MISCELLANEOUS OTHER  FEES 


 


SITE RE-INSPECTION FEE……………………………………………………………………. $25.00 
 


COPIES 
 
Copies in excess of 10 pages…………………………………………………………………. 25 cents each 
11” x 17” or larger copies………………………………………………………………………...$2.00 each 
 
Note:  There are no fees associated with a “Courtesy Review” of a Site Plan or Plat, a Zoning 
Confirmation Letter, or a Pre-Application Conference with a Conceptual Plan Review, Master Plan 
Review or Preliminary Plat. 
 
 So resolved this 24th day of May, 2012, by the 
 
       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
       FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
Attest: 
       _____________________________ 
_______________________________   Herbert Frady, Chairman 
Clerk/Deputy Clerk 





		Planning and Zoning- Tower In...eview Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Tower Inventory Review Backup

		Planning and Zoning- Tower Inventory Review Backup

		Planning and Zoning- Resolution  2012-12 Backup.pdf








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina/Dennis Dutton


Consideration of Petition No.  1223-12, Ricardo Alegria and Landria Toogood Alegria, Owners, Richard A. Diment, Esq., Agent, request 


to rezone 1.36 acres from R-70 to R-20 to bring a single-family dwelling lot into compliance.  This property is located in Land Lot 74 of the 


7th District, fronts on Ellison Road and Tyrone Road, and being Lot 2 of Ramonaland Subdivision.


Staff has recommended approval of Petition Number 1223-12 to rezone 1.36 acres from R-70 to R-20 in order to develop a Single-Family 


Dwelling Lot, with one recommended condition. 


 


The Planning Commission has also unanimously (5-0) recommended approval of Petition Number 1223-12 with one condition.  The 


Planning Commission cited that the reason for their recommendation was because the request is in compliance with the Fayette County 


Comprehensive Plan. 


 


The recommended condition from both staff and the Planning Commission is: 


 


That the applicant brings the residential structure into compliance with the R-20 zoning district prior to the revision of the Final Plat.  This 


can be achieved either by adding square footage to the residential structure to bring it into compliance or through a variance, approved 


by the Zoning Board of Appeals, to reduce the square footage requirement.  If the variance is denied, square footage shall be added to 


the residential structure prior to the revision of the Final Plat.  (This requirement is required for compliance with the Zoning Ordinance,) 


Approval of Petition No. 1223-12, Ricardo Alegria and Landria Toogood Alegria, Owners, Richard A. Diment, Esq., Agent, request to 


rezone 1.36 acres from R-70 to R-20 to bring a Single-Family Dwelling Lot into compliance.  This property is located in Land Lot 74 of the 


7th District, fronts on Ellison Road and Tyrone Road, and being Lot 2 of Ramonaland Subdivision.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, May 24, 2012













































































































		Planning and Zoning- Petition 1223-12 Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Petition 1223-12 Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Resolution 2012-12 for establishing fees, as required by the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, for costs associated with 


the administration of certain requirements of the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Development Regulations, Subdivision Regulations, 


and the Sign Ordinance.


From time to time, the County establishes fees for specified services. The County's land use and development-related ordinances, 


including the Zoning Ordinance, Development Regulations, Subdivision Regulations and Sigh Ordinance have various fees associated 


with them, which were updated by Resolution most recently in 2010. 


 


This request is in conjunction with Planning and Zoning's request to enter into a contract with Diversified Electronics Incorporated  to 


review the county's existing Inventory of Existing or Planned Tower Sites as is needed in the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Article 


V., 5-44. Specifically, this request would establish fees to cover the costs associated with the administration of the requirements of the 


Zoning Ordinance related to cell towers and antennas. 


 


The resolution would amend the current Fee Schedule by setting the application fee for Public Hearings Required to Reduce or Waive 


Requirements to $175.00 which includes the reduction or waiver of one requirement, $25 per each additional reduction or waiver of a 


requirement,and an additional $1,000 for the reduction or waiver of the separation requirements between towers.  An additional $1,000 


for the reduction or waiver of the separation requirements between towers.  An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing 


sign posted on property.


Adoption of Resolution 2012-12 for establishing fees, as required by the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, for costs associated with the 


administration of certain requirements of the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Development Regulations, Subdivision Regulations, and 


the Sign Ordinance.


Not Applicable.


Yes Friday, May 4, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Old BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







State of Georgia 


County of Fayette 


  


RESOLUTION  


 2012 -12 


 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING FEES AS REQUIRED BY THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING 


ORDINANCE FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADMINISTRATION OF CERTAIN 


REQUIREMENTS OF THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, DEVELOPMENT 


REGULATIONS, SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS AND SIGN ORDINANCE. 


 


 Whereas, The Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, Article X, Schedule of Fees, requires the  


 Board of Commissioner to establish a schedule of fees from time for the  purpose of allaying the cost of 


administering certain requirements of Fayette County’s Zoning Ordinance, Development Regulations, 


Subdivision Regulations, and Sign Ordinance;  


 


 Now, therefore, the fees indicated below as the “Fayette County Planning and Zoning 


Department Schedule of Fees” are hereby established and shall become effective upon passage of this 


resolution: 


 


FAYETTE COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT 


SCHEDULE OF FEES 


 
The fees below are payable to the Fayette County Planning and Zoning Department: 


 


REQUEST FOR REZONING (Filing for a change of zoning classification, including required Public 


Hearings before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners) 


 


NUMBER OF ACRES                                                                                                                    FEE 
0-5 acres ………………………………………………………………………………………….$250.00* 


6-20 acres…………………………………………………………………………………………$350.00* 


21-100 acres………………………………………………………………………………………$450.00* 


101+ acres………………………………………………………………………………………...$550.00* 


 
*  An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property).  Staff is required to post one 


(1) public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property to be rezoned.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the 


Planning & Zoning Department within five (5) working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign deposit 


can be reimbursed  


 


REQUEST FOR A VARIANCE, A CHANGE OF USE, AN EXTENSION OR ENLARGEMENT 


OF A NONCONFORMING USE, OR A CONTINUANCE OF NONCONFORMANCE FROM 


THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 


$175.00* plus $25 for each additional variance requested  
 


An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property).  Staff is required to post one 


public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the Planning & Zoning 


Department within five working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign deposit can be reimbursed. 


 


REQUEST FOR ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCE ……………………………………………. $50.00 


 


 


 







APPLICATION FEE FOR PUBLIC HEARINGS REQUIRED TO REDUCE OR WAIVE 


REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE V., STANDARDS FOR TELECOMMUNICATIONS 


ANTENNAS AND TOWERS OF THE FAYETTE COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE 


 


A fee of $175.00 which includes the reduction or waiver of one requirement, plus $25 per each additional 


reduction or waiver of a requirement, and an additional $1,000.00 for the reduction or waiver of the 


separation requirements between towers shall be imposed. 


 


An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property.)  Staff is required to 


post one public hearing sign per each road frontage of the property.  If the sign frame(s) is returned to the 


Planning & Zoning Department within five working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign 


deposit can be reimbursed. 


 


REVIEW OF FINAL PLAT or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT    
 


A fee of $100.00 per lot shall be imposed for all residential and nonresidential lots except that the fee for 


the first three (3) lots of a residential subdivision shall be $35.00 per lot. Any applicant whose final plat is 


returned for resubmission due to deficiencies and such deficiencies are not corrected when resubmitted, 


shall incur an additional fee of $5.00 per lot for the additional review required.   


 


REVIEW OF FINAL PLAT REVISION or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT REVISION  
 


All revisions to final plats or minor subdivisions plats shall have imposed thereon the following fees: 


 


No lots added: ………………………………………………………….$25.00 plus advertising cost, if any 


Lots added: ……………………………………………………………..$100.00 per lot 


 


REQUEST FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS (Administrative)…………………….......$30.00 


 


SITE PLAN REVIEW (NONRESIDENTIAL) AND COMPLIANCE FEES 
 


Less than one (1) acre……………………………………………………………………………..$150.00 


One (1) to five (5) acres…………………………………………………………………………...$200.00 


Five (5) to ten (10) acres…………………………………………………………………………..$250.00 


More than ten (10) acres…………………………………………………………………………..$300.00* 


* plus $50.00 for every five (5) acres or fraction thereof in excess of ten (10) acres                                                                                      


 


Note:  If a site plan is resubmitted without previously-noted deficiencies corrected, the applicable fee 


from the above schedule shall be DOUBLED. 


 


LAND DISTURBANCE PERMIT   


 


Land Disturbance Permits are imposed and collected by the Stormwater Management Department 


 


SIGN PERMIT FEES 
 


Banners and Signage During Construction…………………………………………………………$10.00 


Permanent signs smaller than 60 square feet……………………………………………………….$30.00 


Permanent signs larger than 60 square feet………………………………………………………...$30.00* 


* Plus $3.00 for each square foot in excess of 60 square feet. 


 


Note:  The fee for placing or erecting a sign without a permit shall be an amount that is DOUBLE the 


amount of the applicable fee from the schedule above. 







 


 


 


TEMPORARY STRUCTURE PERMIT 


 


Office Trailer, Storage Trailer or Guardhouse………………………………………………………$25.00 


Office Trailer, Storage Trailer or Guardhouse – Renewal…………………………………………..$25.00 


Mobile Classroom…………………………………………………………………………………...$50.00 


Mobile Classroom – Renewal……………………………………………………………………….$50.00 


 


MISCELLANEOUS OTHER  FEES 


 


SITE RE-INSPECTION FEE……………………………………………………………………. $25.00 


 


COPIES 


 


Copies in excess of 10 pages…………………………………………………………………. 25 cents each 


11” x 17” or larger copies………………………………………………………………………...$2.00 each 


 


Note:  There are no fees associated with a “Courtesy Review” of a Site Plan or Plat, a Zoning 


Confirmation Letter, or a Pre-Application Conference with a Conceptual Plan Review, Master Plan 


Review or Preliminary Plat. 


 


 So resolved this 24
th
 day of May, 2012, by the 


 


       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 


       FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA 


 


Attest: 


       _____________________________ 


_______________________________   Herbert Frady, Chairman 


Clerk/Deputy Clerk 





		Planning and Zoning- Resolution 2012-12 Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Resolution 2012-12 Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Public Works/SPLOST Phil Mallon


Consideration of staff's recommendation to award Bid #833 Culvert Pipe Material, for the West Fayetteville Bypass Project (SPLOST) 


and the Merrydale Lane Project, to low bidder Foley Products Company, in the total amount of $36,973.44, and to authorize the 


Chairman to sign a forthcoming contract and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


This bid was issued to provide concrete culvert pipe material needed for two Fayette County projects.   One project, the West Fayetteville 


Bypass - Phase II, Section 1, requires the installation of four (4) parallel runs of 72" diameter culvert pipe (total of 256-feet) for an  


existing stream crossing on what was formerly known as Tillman Road.   Work within the stream is authorized under the project's 


Regional General Permit No. 1, issued by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.   The other project is  a Capital Improvement Project 


facilitated by Storm Water Management staff to replace approximately 80-feet of deteriorating 72" diameter corrugated metal pipe with 


reinforced concrete pipe on Merrydale Lane. 


 


Advertisement for the supply of needed pipe was bid competitively.   We received responses from three (3) different suppliers, and based 


on our evaluation of those bids, the low bidder is Foley Products Company.   Our recommendation is to award this contract to Foley 


Products Company. to supply and deliver the needed storm drainage pipe.


Consideration of staff's request to award Bid #833 Culvert Pipe Material, for the West Fayetteville Bypass Project (SPLOST) and the 


Merrydale Lane Project, to low bidder Foley Products Company, in the total amount of $36,973.44, and to authorize the Chairman to sign 


a forthcoming contract and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Funding for the SPLOST portion is  to come from Account Fund #321 40220 541210 R-5C. 


Funding for the Capital Improvement Project portion is to come from Account Fund #375 40320 541210 2320D.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


New BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







 


Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov


 
 
 
 
 
To:  Jack Krakeel 
 
From:  Ted L. Burgess 
 
Date:  May 7, 2012 
 
Subject: Bid #833 – Culvert Pipe 
 
The Purchasing Department issued Invitation to Bid #833 for 72-inch reinforced concrete culvert 
pipe, gaskets, pop-it plugs, and gasket lubricant.  The materials will be used for the West 
Fayetteville Bypass where it crosses Whitewater Creek, and to replace failing corrugated metal 
culvert pipe on Merrydale Drive at Gay Creek. 
 
Invitations were direct-mailed to 15 contractors.  In addition, invitations were extended via the 
Fayette News, the county website, Georgia Local Government Access Marketplace 
(www.glga.org), and Channel 23.  Three contractors responded to the invitation to bid (please 
see the attached spread sheet). 
 
Foley Products Company was the low bidder for both projects.  Public Works has recommended 
awarding the contract to Foley Products Co.  I concur with the recommendation. 
 
Attachment 



http://www.glga.org/





RESPONDENT TOTAL BID
Unit
Price


Extended
Price


Unit
Price


Extended
Price


Unit
Price


Extended
Price


Foley Products Co. $108.39 $27,747.84 $0.00 $27,747.84 $108.39 $8,671.20 $0.00 $8,671.20 $12.32 $554.40 $36,973.44
Hanson Pipe & Precast, Inc. $128.46 $32,885.76 $1,396.80 $34,282.56 $128.46 $10,276.80 $436.50 $10,713.30 $38.00 $76.00 $45,071.86
Rinker Materials $114.56 $29,327.36 $0.00 $29,327.36 $114.56 $9,164.80 $0.00 $9,164.80 $30.00 $30.00 $38,522.16


Gasket Lube


BID NUMBER: _____#833_____________________________
BID NAME: _______CULVERT PIPE MATERIAL  ________
OPENING DATE: __THURSDAY, MAY 3, 2012____


72” Dia. C-Wall, Class III 
Reinforced Concrete Pipe, 


including Gasket and Pop-it 
Plug for each lift hole, 1’-


10’ Deep


72” Dia. C-Wall, Class III 
Reinforced Concrete Pipe, 


including Gasket and Pop-it 
Plug for each lift hole, 1’-


10’ Deep


Total Bid - 
West 


Fayetteville 
Bypass


Shipping
And


Delivery


Shipping
And


Delivery


Total Bid - 
Merrydale 


Drive





		Public Works- Bid 833 Culvert Pipe Agenda Request File.pdf

		Public Works- Bid 833 Culvert Pipe Backup

		Bid 833 Culvert Pipe - Purchasing Backup 1.pdf

		Bid 833 Culvert Pipe - Purchasing Backup 2

		Sheet1










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Public Works Phil Mallon


Discussion of Fayette County's transportation projects for the Atlanta Regional Commission's PLAN 2040 Limited Update / Transportation 


Improvement Program (TIP) Project Solicitation.


The Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) is accepting project nominations for a limited update to PLAN 2040.  The update has four 


program areas:  1) Last Mile Connectivity; 2) General Purpose Roadway Operations and Safety Program; 3) Freight Operations and 


Safety Program; and 4) Transit Preventive Maintenance and Capital Program.   


 


The focus of this solicitation is for projects that can be "shovel ready" for Fiscal Year 2014.  Funding is very limited and ARC is asking 


that each County submit a comprehensive list (i.e., including cities) of eligible projects by May 25, 2012.  A 20% local match is required 


for all projects selected for funding. 


 


Fayette County staff met with representatives from Fayetteville, Peachtree City, and Tyrone to identify the top candidate projects for 


Fayette County.  Our recommendations are provided in the backup information to this agenda request.


Approval to submit recommended projects to the Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) in response to the PLAN 2040 Limited Update / 


TIP Project Soliciation.


Funding, at 20% of the project value(s), will be required if project(s) are accepted into the TIP.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Note:  Fayette County, like all counties and jurisdictions, will need to submit a comprehensive list of eligible projects on May 25, 2012.


New BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







2- lo -201'2.. 


Last Mile Connectivity Program 


Program Goals 
To implement planning and capital improvements for safe bicycle and pedestrian travel in the 
region, consistent with regional goals and objectives, that support the 2007 Atlanta Region 
Bicycle Transport.ation and Pedestrian Walkways Plan and PLAN 2040. Providing safe bicycle 
and pedestrian options, coupled with transit, improves livability and provide residents with 
more affordable transportation options and access to economic opportunities, while also 
improving physical activity and public health indicators. 


Funding Details 
Note that all funding levels are subject to reevaluation following the 1st quarter TIP 
administrative modifications and as more information becomes known about the federal 
transportation reauthorization pracess. 


The Last Mile Connectivity Program includes $50 million (includes minimum 20% match 
amount) in the FY 2012 -2017 TIP. Funds will be available starting in FY 2014 through FY 2017. 
Expected funding in FY 2014, the focus of this solicitation process, is $12.5 million (matched). 
The minimum federal funding award for a project, or for a program comprised of multiple 
smaller projects, will be $500,000. The maximum federal funding award will be $2,000,000. 


Recommended Emphasis Areas 
•	 Safe access to transit and schools 


•	 Hazardous roadway crossings 
•	 Regional bicycle mobility network 
•	 Local pedestrian and bicyclist circulation within activity centers 
•	 Bicycle and pedestrian planning assistance to local governments 


•	 Bicycle and pedestrian safety education 


Eligible Project Types (Examples) 
This is not an exhaustive list. Other projects which are consistent with program goals and the 
recommended emphasis areas will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 


•	 ADA-compatible sidewalks & crossings 


•	 Bicycle and pedestrian friendly 


resurfacing projects 


•	 Bike lanes and bikeable shoulders 


•	 Curb ramp, crosswalk, signal upgrades 


•	 Mid-block crossings along transit routes 


and other locations with high pedestrian 


traffic or documented safety issues 


•	 Bike lanes on approach to transit 


stations and stops 


•	 Bicycle stair channels at transit 


stations 


•	 Safe bicycle parking 


•	 Community-wide bicycle and 


pedestrian transportation plans 


•	 ADA Transition Plans 


•	 Signage programs 


•	 Multi-use pathways (non


recreational) 







General Purpose Roadway
 
Operations and Safety Program
 


Program Goals 
The General Purpose Roadway Operations and Safety Program supplements other operations 
and safety programs in the FY 2012-2017 TIP by implementing projects that improve traffic 
operations and safety along roadways and at key intersections. Potential projects include cost
effective solutions such as intersection improvements and signal upgrades. The program 
objectives address congestion relief, safety, and support for economic development. 


Program Details 
Note that all funding levels are subject to reevaluation following the 1st quarter TIP 
administrative modifications and as more information becomes known about the federal 
transportation reauthorization process. 


The General Purpose Roadway Operations and Safety Program includes $50 million (includes 
minimum 20% match amount) in the 2012-2017 TIP. Funds will be available starting in FY 2014 
through FY 2017. Expected funding in FY 2014, the focus of this solicitation process, is $12.5 
million (matched). The minimum federal funding award for a project, or for a program 
comprised of multiple smaller projects, will be $500,000. The maximum federal funding award 
will be $2,000,000. 


Recommended Emphasis Areas 
•	 Address critical safety, congestion and maintenance- needs 
•	 Small-scale projects requiring none or very limited right-of-way acquisition 
•	 Projects that improve safety for all transportation users (including pedestrians, bicyclists, 


trucks, cars, and transit). 
•	 Focus on regional thoroughfares, but consider other well-documented crash hot spots 


•	 Consider needs of the transportation disadvantaged in the prioritization and design of 
projects 


Eligible Project Types (Examples) 
This is not an exhaustive list. Other projects which are consistent with program goals and the 
recommended emphasis areas will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 


•	 Intersection improvements • Multimodal safety and accessibility 


•	 Shoulder improvements improvements 


•	 Median construction (access • ATMS and incident management 


management) programs 


•	 Traffic signal modernization and • Limited-scope capacity
 


synchronization improvements
 







Freight Operations and Safety Program
 


Program Goals 
The goal of the Freight Operations and Safety Program is to enhance, as quickly and efficiently 
as possible, the regional freight transportation network that serves the regional economy. The 
focus of this program is short term projects with high cost/benefit ratios that can be 
implemented without excessive delays. Closer alignment of the planning horizons of private 
industry (which tend to be shorter) and public organizations (which tend to be longer) will 
create a collaborative atmosphere to achieve tangible program results. 


Program Details 
Note that all funding levels are subject to reevaluation following the 1st quarter TIP 
administrative modifications and as more information becomes known about the federal 
transportation reauthorization process. 


The Freight Operations and Safety Program includes $75 million (includes minimum 20% match 
amount) in the FY 2012 -2017 TIP. Expected funding in FY 2014, the focus of this solicitation 
process, is $18.75 million (matched). The minimum federal funding award for a project, or for a 
program comprised of multiple smaller projects, will be $500,000. The maximum federal 
funding award will be $3,000,000. This is a jointly-funded ARC/GDOT program. 


Recommended Emphasis Areas 
•	 Demonstrate benefits for goods movement 
•	 Focus on the regional freight infrastructure defined as: 


o	 limited Access Highway Network 
o	 ASTRoMaP System 
o	 NHS Intermodal Connectors 
o	 Railroads/crossings 


•	 Projects must come from an adopted state, regional, or local plan 
•	 Projects must demonstrate a strong likelihood of completion within the TIP period 


•	 None or very limited ROW acquisition needed 


•	 Projects likely to receive a categorical exclusion from the federal NEPA process 


•	 Prioritize deliverability ("use it or lose it") over equitable geographic allocations 


Eligible Project Types (Examples) 
This is not an exhaustive list. Other projects which are consistent with program goals and the 
recommended emphasis areas will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 


•	 Adding auxiliary lanes • Signal timing 


•	 Increasing turning radii • Truck routing signage 


•	 Intersection signalization • Truck friendly lanes 


•	 Shoulder improvements • Roundabouts 


•	 Median construction (access • Truck Parking
 


management) ITS
• 







Transit Preventive Maintenance and Capital Program 


Program Goals 
To implement capital improvements to address the deteriorating state of good repair of the 
regional transit systems, consistent with the goals of PLAN 2040. To provide assistance to 
transit oper:ators to help sustain and enhance existing transit services. Having safe and 
affordable transit options adds value to the regional economy, improves livability, and provides 
much-needed modal options to access jobs, education, healthcare, and other quality of life 
activities. An efficient transit system also serves as a lifeline to residents in the region who are 
transit dependent. 


Funding Details 
Note that all funding levels are subject to reevaluation following the 1st quarter TIP 
administrative modifications and as more information becomes known about the federal 
transportation reauthorization process. 


The Transit Preventive Maintenance and Capital Program includes $150 million (includes 
minimum 20% match amount) in the FY 2012 -2017 TIP. Funds will be available starting in FY 
2012 through FY 2017. Expected funding in FY 2012, the focus of this solicitation process, is $25 
million (matched). There is no minimum or maximum federal funding award for a project, or 
for a program comprised of multiple smaller projects. 


Recommended Emphasis Areas 
• Preventive maintenance 


• Capital investments 
• State of good repair 
• ADA complementary paratransit services 


Eligible Project Types (Examples) 
This is not an exhaustive list. Other projects which are consistent with program goals and the 
recommended emphasis areas will be considered on a case-by-case basis. The eligibility of some projects 
may change based on the federal funding source(s) dedicated to the program. A review of potential 
funding sources will be completed by February 24, 2012 and this list will be updated as necessary. 


• Bus replacement/overhaul • Security equipment 
• Maintenance and passenger facilities • Hardware and software 
• Paratransit services • ADA/pedestrian/bicycle facilities to 
• Tracks/signals/communication upgrades improve access to transit services 







Candidate Projects for Plan 2040 Limited Update - For Discussion Purposes


P. Mallon, Fayette County, revised 5-16-2012


ID Name and Description Rational Cost Estimate and Source Implementation Schedule Jurisdiction Local Match Notes


R-14,            


I-6


Lafayette Avenue Extension and Signal - 


installation of new traffic signal on SR 85 


and extension of Lafayette Avenue to 


Church Street


Support redevelopment by providing roadway 


network around the downtown area.  


Compliments existing LCI projects.  Apply under 


Roadway Operations and Safety.  High crash rate 


along State Routes in Fayetteville.


$600,000 per 2003 CTP PE:  Complete;                                     


2013 update PE and ROW;                   


2014 CST


Fayetteville $120,000 Top Priority for Fayetteville (D. Easterbrook 5/10/12)


TR-14 Stars Mill Path Connection Project - 


Expansion of multi-use path network along 


Redwine Road and SR74 for connection to 


the Stars Mill school complex


This would be the 5th project along Redwine Road 


with the long-range goal of provide path 


connectivity between Fayetteville, Peachtree City 


and the unincorporated County.  This project 


focuses on providing safe access from SR 74 and 


existing paths along Redwine Road to the Stars 


Mill School complex.  The project would 


compliment the Safe Routes to School project 


currently being completed.


$800,000 based on existing 


SRTS project


PE  2013;                                


ROW 2014;                                            


CST 2015   Construction may 


be moved to 2014 if no ROW 


is required, as was the case 


for the SRTS project.


Fayette County 


and Peachtree 


City


$160,000 Project scope to include, but not be limited to, 


work on Redwine Road between Preserve Place to 


Summer Place; along Panther Path from Redwine 


Road to schools, and along SR 74 between 


Millpond Manor and The Chimneys subdivision.  


Project to also evaluate feasibility of safely 


connecting to properties on west side of SR 74.  


NA Resurfacing - bundle of three roads within 


Tyrone, Brooks and unincorporated County 


needing resurfacing


The three roads (Hwy 85C, Brooks Woolsey Road, 


and Castlewood) are all in need of resurfacing and 


they all serve multiple jurisdictions, including 


Brooks, Tyrone, Coweta County, Spalding County 


and Fayette County.  Hwy 85C and Brooks 


Woolsey are Rural Major Collectors.  The segment 


of Hwy 85C would complete the resurfacing 


started in 2010 with ARRA funds.


$846,000 based on 


estimated material cost of 


$90,000 per mile; County to 


provide equipment and 


labor


PE and Env. Certification in 


2013.  Paving in 2014.


Fayette County, 


Town of 


Brooks, Town 


of Tyrone


$169,200                       


(to be prorated 


among County and 


Towns)


1. Hwy 85C, from Woods Rd to County Line (3.5 


miles); 2. Brooks Woolsey Road, from Antioch to 


Hwy 85C (4.1 miles); and 3. Castlewood Road, 


from Main Street to County Line (1.8 miles).  


Preconstruction Eng. & Env. work to include 


addition of bike lane along Brooks Woolsey road, 


if feasible.  Cost estimates includes line work.





		Public Works- PLAN 2040 Limited Update Agenda Request with Backup

		Public Works- PLAN 2040 Limited Update Agenda Request File.pdf

		Public Works- PLAN 2040 Limited Update Backup



		Plan 2040 Limited Update 5-16-12 Version.pdf










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Public Works Phil Mallon


Consideration of proposed funding categories for Transportation Referendum discretionary money.


If approved by voters on July 31, 2012, the Transportation Referendum would distribute 15 percent of the collected sales tax back to local 


governments for use on discretionary transportation projects.  Fayette County (including municipalities) is expected to receive over 


$45,600,000 back for discretionary use.  Of this amount, unincorporated Fayette County would receive approximately $26,482,000 during 


the ten year period. 


 


In lieu of specific projects, staff proposes that the Board adopt several funding categories with spending ranges that guide how the money 


is spent.  The proposed categories and spending ranges (expressed as a percentage of revenue) are provided with the back-up material 


to this agenda request, along with a Transportation Investment Act (TIA) summary package. 


 


The proposed categories and spending values reflect input provided by the Board during the March Retreat and at previous workshop 


meetings. 


 


Approval of the proposed funding categories for the Transportation Referendum discretionary money.


Not Applicable.


Yes Saturday, March 10, 2012


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







Fayette County 


Transportation Referendum 


Draft Discretionary Project Categories 
 


 


 


Category 1 – New Capacity and Paving Projects   10 to 20% of Discretionary Funds 


This category funds projects that improve the County’s road network by 1) constructing new roads; 2) 


adding lanes to an existing road; or 3) paving gravel roads.  One project specifically identified for delivery 


under this Category is the SR 54 to First Manassas Mile Connector (NW-009).  This is a new road 


construction project with a preliminary cost estimate of $2,000,000.   


 


Category 2 – Safety and Operational Improvements  35 to 45% of Discretionary Funds 


This category funds projects that provide safety or operational improvements to the existing road 


network.  Types of projects envisioned for this category include signalization of an intersection; 


conversion of a stop control intersections to roundabouts; addition of turn lanes and/or deceleration 


lanes; installation of sidewalks, bicycle or multiuse paths for pedestrian/cyclist safety; corridor safety 


improvements (e.g, widen shoulders, install guard rails, establish clear zones), etc.   


 


Category 3 – Road and Bridge Operations and Maintenance 25 to 35% of Discretionary Funds 


This category funds preventative maintenance and repairs on existing roads and bridges.  Work activities 


may include but are not limited to asphalt resurfacing, milling, patching, sign replacement, striping and 


bridge repairs per inspection reports from the Georgia Department of Transportation.   


 


Category 4 – Equipment Replacement    5 to 10% of Discretionary Funds 


This category funds replacement and/or new equipment for the County’s Road Department.  The 


Department’s fleet includes an asphalt paving machine, pneumatic-tire and steel drum rollers, dump 


trucks, tractors, motor graders, trailers, crew cab trucks, and a variety of off-road heavy equipment.  


Much of the Department’s equipment is old and in need of replacement.   


 


Category 5 – Contingency and Administration   5 to 15% of Discretionary Funds 


This category serves two purposes.  First, it funds administrative costs associated with implementation 


of the Transportation Referendum.  Second, it provides a small amount of contingency in case of project 


overruns during implementation of the other Fayette-sponsored TIA projects.  As projects are 


completed, the contingency reserve shall be drawn down and re-directed to one of the other 


Discretionary Fund Categories.   







1 


 


TIA and Fayette County 
May 7, 2012 


 
What is the TIA? 
The Transportation Investment Act of 2010 is State Legislation that creates the 
opportunity for residents to vote on a one-cent sales tax to fund transportation 
improvements throughout a ten-county Atlanta Region (other regions across the State 
of Georgia will vote on their list of projects independent of our region).  In the Atlanta 
Region, the list of projects was developed during the summer and fall of 2011 by a 
Roundtable of county commissioners and mayors.  The final list was unanimously 
approved by the Roundtable on October 13, 2011 and reflects significant input from the 
public and local officials.     
 
 
Why have a regional TIA referendum? 
The purpose of the TIA is to allow voters to decide if they support funding a specific list 
of regional transportation projects with a ten-year, one-cent sales tax.  Traditional 
funding sources, such as the gasoline tax, are not sufficient to meet the growing 
congestion, safety and maintenance problems in the Atlanta region.  Also, since the TIA 
is regional in scope it allows for the development of projects that cross jurisdictional 
lines which can be difficult with traditional local SPLOSTS.   
 
 
When is the TIA vote? 
Tuesday, July 31, 2012. 
 
 
Can Fayette, or any County, opt-out? 
No.  If the majority of voters in the region vote yes, then the TIA passes for the entire 
region and the sales tax will go into effect January 1, 2013.  If the majority of voters in 
the region vote no, then the TIA does not pass for any part of the region.   
 
 
What are the predicted TIA revenues? 
For the 10-County Atlanta Region the 100 percent Baseline Value for 2013 to 2022 is 
$7,223,732,208 (expressed in 2011 dollars).   
 


 85 percent of this revenue ($6,140,172,377) will be used to deliver all projects on 
the Atlanta Region’s Final Investment List, which includes over 150 projects;   


 15 percent of the revenue ($1,083,559,831) will be distributed to the region’s 
counties and cities for local, discretionary transportation projects.   


 
The revenue estimates were developed by the State Economist.   







2 


 


 
 
What’s the return to Fayette County? 
If approved, the TIA sales tax would raise an estimated $190,238,475 from Fayette 
County during the ten-year period between 2013 and 20221.  In return, the following 
projects would be delivered for use/benefit by the County citizens: 
 


 Ten projects sponsored by Fayette County; 


 Three projects proximate to (or partially within) Fayette County but sponsored 
by others; 


 Approximately $45,606,000 for spending on local, discretionary projects; and 


 Delivery of the remaining regional projects on the Final Investment List. 
 
Excluding the amount of Federal Aid programed as “matching” dollars for three of the 
projects, the total return to Fayette County for the first three bulleted items is 
$217,016,000.  See the attached Table of Projects for the list of projects in and around 
Fayette County.   
 
 
What are the impacts to transportation? 
Collectively, the 13 projects most important to Fayette County have the following 
transportation goals: 
 


1. Improve Capacity and Operational Efficiency of State Routes – State Routes are 
the backbone of transportation within Fayette County and several segments 
need upgrades to meet existing and growing traffic demands.  The TIA includes 
three widening or operational improvement projects along SR 85; two projects 
along the SR 92 corridor (totaling nearly 12 miles); and a widening project on SR 
54 east of Fayetteville.   


2. Relieve Congestion in Peachtree City and Fayetteville – Intersections of State 
Routes within the County’s largest cities are among our most congested areas 
and have some of the highest crash rates.  One method for helping these 
locations is to provide new connectivity so drivers have options for avoiding 
these areas.  The MacDuff Parkway extension project, which includes a bridge 
over the railroad, provides an option for the SR 54/74 intersection in Peachtree 
City.  The East Fayetteville Bypass provides similar relief for downtown 
Fayetteville and multiple intersections along SR 85.   


3. Improve Access to I-85 – Many citizens within Fayette County commute to the 
airport, Atlanta and beyond and inadequate access to I-85 is a significant source 
of frustration and delay.  The I-85/SR 74 interchange project uses TIA money to 
match programmed Federal Aid to rebuild this interchange to improve capacity 
and safety.  The SR 92 to SR 138 connector project improves connectivity 







3 


 


between these roads (via upgrades to existing roads or construction of new 
road) and thereby improves access to I-85 via SR 138.   


4. Expand Multiuse Path Network – Within Peachtree City multiuse paths provide a 
real and viable alternative to travel by automobile.  The TIA includes two path 
projects that would expand the existing path network to serve several major 
employers within Peachtree City, including the Federal Aviation Administration 
facility, Storage Xxtra, Cooper Lighting, SANY America and Sigvarius.    


 
 
What is “Discretionary”? 
In addition to funding the projects on the Final Investment List, 15 percent of the TIA 
taxes collected in the Region will be returned directly to local jurisdictions for spending 
on any transportation-related item.  The return to Fayette County over the ten year 
period is estimated at $45,606,0002.  The breakdown by jurisdiction is as follows: 
 


 Unincorporated Fayette County – $26,482,000; 


 Peachtree City – $10,462,000; 


 Fayetteville – $5,033,000; 


 Tyrone – $2,981,000; 


 Brooks – $543,000; and 


 Woolsey – $105,000. 
(all values are ten-year totals) 


 
Each jurisdiction is responsible for determining how it will spend its discretionary 
money.  As an example, unincorporated Fayette County may allocate its money to 
resurfacing, equipment replacement, safety improvements, path projects, etc.  
Disbursements to local governments would begin in the spring of 2013.   
 
What if TIA doesn’t pass? 
If the TIA is voted down then:  1) there would be no regional transportation sales tax; 2) 
funding levels would remain at current levels; and 3) there would be no discretionary 
money.  Additionally, every jurisdiction in the region will see an increase in the match 
requirements for the Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG) program from 
10% to 30%3.  The match increase would only apply if the TIA is voted down region-wide 
(i.e., it is not a function of how a specific County votes, only the total vote of the ten-
county region).   
 
Without TIA, it is likely, although not certain, that three of the projects on the “Table of 
Projects” would continue to move forward, even if at reduced scope.  These include TIA-
CL-012 (SR 54 Widening), TIA-FS-008 (I-85 & SR 74 Interchange); and some portion of 
the East Fayetteville Bypass projects (TIA-FA-003 and TIA-FA-004).  The other projects 
have no “back-up” funding source at this time.   
 







4 


 


 
 
Impact of TIA on I-85 and SR 74 Interchange 
Currently there is a private-public partnership funding a study at this interchange to 
identify one or more alternatives for improvements.  Without passage of TIA, the 
project has $12.6 million programmed for construction in or after 2020.  With TIA, the 
project would have $22.5 million in funding and a construction timeframe of 2016-2019.   
 
Transit in Fayette County 
The TIA does not have any transit projects (bus, light rail, heavy rail, etc.) in Fayette 
County4.   
 
The Final Investment List does, however, include a regional mobility call center (TIA-AR-
044) that may be used by citizens in Fayette needing transportation services, such as 
senior citizens or persons with disabilities.  Fayette Senior Services would likely be one 
group within Fayette that coordinates with the regional mobility call center.   
 
 
Transit and the TIA 
Although there are no transit projects in Fayette County, the TIA allocates 
approximately 52% (or $3.185 billion) of the projected revenue to a variety of transit 
projects including bus, rail and state of good repair (all in Counties other than Fayette).  
The projects were nominated for the TIA by Counties supportive of transit and who 
were willing to have a portion of their “return” go towards transit instead of road 
projects.   
 
Because of the large costs associated with certain types of transit projects, the TIA does 
not fully fund all phases of certain transit projects.  In addition, several people/groups 
have raised concerns about long-term (i.e., beyond ten years) operation and 
maintenance costs associated with transit projects that are beyond the scope of the TIA.   
 
Please see the Project Fact Sheets for more information on the individual projects and 
what will be delivered under the TIA.   
 
Sources of additional information 
There are several sources of information on TIA available on-line.  Two sites with factual 
information on the legislation, list of projects, frequently ask questions, revenue 
projects and other topics are the webpages maintained by the Atlanta Regional 
Commission and the Georgia Department of Transportation.   


 http://www.metroatlantatransportationreferendum.com/  


 http://www.dot.state.ga.us/localgovernment/FundingPrograms/transreferendu
m/Pages/default.aspx 


 



http://www.metroatlantatransportationreferendum.com/

http://www.dot.state.ga.us/localgovernment/FundingPrograms/transreferendum/Pages/default.aspx

http://www.dot.state.ga.us/localgovernment/FundingPrograms/transreferendum/Pages/default.aspx





5 


 


Additional information from Fayette County may be obtained by calling 770-320-6010 or 
emailing publicworks@fayettecountyga.gov.   
 
Notes: 
 
1. For perspective, Fayette collected approximately $97,584,000 during the County’s five-year 


transportation SPLOST in place from April 2005 thru March 2010.  The TIA, however, has several sale 
tax exemptions that were not in effect for Fayette’s transportation SPLOST.  These include: motor 
fuel; jet fuel; off-road fuel for heavy-duty, farm or agricultural equipment; locomotive fuel; public 
mass transit fuel; the sale or use of energy used in manufacturing or processing tangible goods; and, 
building and construction materials.  In addition, the TIA tax would only be levied on the first $5,000 
of any transaction involving the sale or lease of a motor vehicle.   
 


2. Discretionary money (i.e., 15% of the total revenue) will be allocated to each jurisdiction by the 
Georgia State Financing & Investment Commission using the GDOT’s Local Assistance Road Program 
(LARP) formula.  This formula is a function of a jurisdiction’s population and centerline road miles 
relative to the region.  If the TIA is approved, disbursements to local governments will begin in spring 
2013.   
 


3. Under the LMIG program, unincorporated Fayette typically receives approximately $430,000 per year 
to assist with road projects.  A change in match requirements from 10 to 30% would increase the 
County’s contribution towards the LMIG projects from $43,000 to $129,000 per year.  The 
incorporated areas would see a similar percent increase in their local match requirement.   


 
4. Concept 3 is the Atlanta region’s official long-term transit vision.  The original plan, approved in 2008, 


included several potential public transit projects in Fayette, including a commuter rail line thru 
Tyrone and Peachtree City; arterial rapid bus routes on SR 85 and SR 54; and an express bus route 
into Peachtree City.  Concept 3 is in the process of being updated and all of the transit projects in 
Fayette are removed in the new plan.  The ARC Board is expected to adopt the new plan in 2013.  
Furthermore, none of these projects are supported in the TIA or PLAN 2040, the region’s Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) which prioritizes funding for all types of transportation projects through 
the year 2040.   


 



mailto:publicworks@fayettecountyga.gov





COWETA


CLAYTONFULTON


SPALDING


§̈¦85


74


54


138


279


85


314


54


74


92


85


KELLY DR


HU
IET


 RD


MA
SK


 R
D


TDK BLVD


SUN RD


LO
R IN


G L
N


CR
AB


AP
PL


E L
N E


TRAMMELL RD


OM


IN RD


S 
KI


TE 
LA


KE 
RD


BRADLEY D R


HUDDLESTON RD


HELMER RD


CRABAPPLE LN W


WINDGATE RD


GRADY AVE


S PEACHTREE PKWY


KITE LAKE RD


HAMPTON RD


SPEAR RD


MILAM RD


JIMMIE 
MAYFIELD 


AVE


GRAVES RD


SEAY RD


MORGAN RD


FA
RR


 R
D


OLD FOR D RD


JENKINS RD


PORTER RD


WHITE RD


LOWERY RD


CHAPPELL RD


EASTIN RD


PALMETTO RD


BANKS RD


HOOD AVE


QU
AR


TE
R S 


RD


PRICE RD


MCIN
TO


SH 


TRL
BR


OO
KS 


RD


CASTLEWOOD RD


CO
AS


TL
INE 


RD


MCINTOSH RD


CROSSTO WN DR


MCBRIDE RD


CORINTH RD


HILO RD


OL
D 


SE
NO


IA 
RD


H A
R D


Y R
D


BROGDON RD


MCDONOUGH RD


CO
UN


T Y 
LIN


E 
R D


DAVIS RD


SWANSON RD


RIVERS RD


MORGAN MILL RD


LEES LAKE RD


WES
TB


RID
GE 


RD


KENWOOD RD


DOGWOOD TRL


OLD GRE
EN


VIL
LE 


RD


MASK RD


LEES MILL RD


EBENEZER CHURCH RD


INM AN 
RD


N 
PEACHTREE PKW


Y


HARP RD


S JEFF DAVIS DR


RISING STAR RD


NEW HOPE RD


TYRONE RD


GOZA RD


ROBINSON RD


SANDY CREEK RD


BE
AU


RE
GA


RD 
BL


VD


N 
JE


FF 
DA


VI
S D


R


NELMS RD


BRAELINN RD


FLAT CREEK RD


OLD N ORTO
N 


RD


KEDRON DR


LONGVIEW 
RD


PADGETT RD
LESTER RD


FL
AT 


CR
EE


K 
TR


L


BERNHARD RD


AD
AM


S R
D


G ING ER 
CAKE RD


BA
NK


ST
OWN RD


EL
LIS


ON
 R


D


ANTIOCH RD


GR
AN


T 
RD


EBENEZER 
RD


WO
OL


SE
Y BR


OO
KS 


RD


SE
NO


IA 
RD


HIGHWAY 85 CONNECTOR


RE
DW


IN
E R


D


FS-008


FA-010


FA-022


FA-026


FA-005


FA-004


FA-003


CL-014


FA-014


FA-013


CL-012


FA-006


FA-028


Transportation 
Investment Act of 2010


Fayette County


Project ID Project Name


DiscretionaryLocal Discretionary Projects (projected ten-year total)


FA-003 East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 1 (South) from South Jeff Davis Road to SR 54 (East 
Lanier Avenue) -New Alignment and Widening


FA-004 East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 2 (North) from SR 54 (East Lanier Avenue) to SR 85 - 
New Alignment and Widening


FA-005 MacDuff Parkway Extension Phase 2 - New Alignment to Connect SR 54 to SR 74


FA-006 SR 85 Phase 1 from Bernhard Road to Grady Avenue - Widening                                                                                                                                  
(project delivery includes an additional $12M in federal funding )


FA-010 South Industrial Park Path Connection


FA-013 SR 92 from Jimmy Mayfield Boulevard to McBride Road - Widening


FA-014 SR 85 from Bernhard Road to SR 74 - Operational Improvements


FA-022 Southeast Industrial Park Path Connection


FA-026 SR 92 to SR 138 Connector - New Alignment from SR 138 in Fulton County to SR 92 in 
Fayette County


FA-028 SR 92 (Forrest Avenue) from SR 85 (Glynn Street) in Fayette County to Oakley Industrial 
Boulevard in Fulton County - Operational Improvements


Project ID Project Name


CL-012
SR 54 (Fayetteville Road) from McDonough Road in Fayette County to US 19/41 (Tara 
Boulevard) in Clayton County Widening                                                                                             
(project delivery includes an additional $32,080,00 in federal funding )


CL-014 SR 85 from Pointe South Parkway in Clayton County to Roberts Drive in Riverdale - 
Widening


FS-008 I-85 South at SR 74 - Interchange Improvements                                                                                                                                                              
(project delivery includes an additional $11,250,000 in federal funding )


Fayette Projects on the $6.14 Billion Constrained Project List


Non-Fayette Projects-of-Interest on the $6.14 Billion Constrained Project List







Table of Projects


Transportation Investment Act - Fayette County


   


Project ID Project Name
 Sponsored by 


Fayette 


Sponsored by 


Others


Year


Discretionary Projects (County and Cities)


 NA Local Discretionary Projects (projected ten-year total) $45,606,000 2013-2022


State Route Improvements


TIA-FA-006 SR 85 Phase 1 from Bernhard Road to Grady Avenue - Widening                                    


(project delivery includes an additional $12M of federal funding )


$12,000,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-014 SR 85 from Bernhard Road to SR 74 - Operational Improvements $5,900,000 2013-2015


TIA-CL-014 SR 85 from Pointe South Parkway in Clayton County to Roberts Drive in 


Riverdale - Widening


$22,200,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-013 SR 92 from Jimmy Mayfield Boulevard to McBride Road - Widening $15,900,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-028 SR 92 (Forrest Avenue) from SR 85 (Glynn Street) in Fayette County to Oakley 


Industrial Boulevard in Fulton County - Operational Improvements


$20,000,000 2016-2019


TIA-CL-012 SR 54 (Fayetteville Road) from McDonough Road in Fayette County to US 19/41 


(Tara Boulevard) in Clayton County - Widening                                                                                    


(project delivery includes an additional $32,080,000 of federal funding )


$8,100,000 2013-2015


Congestion Relief / New Capacity in Peachtree City and Fayetteville


TIA-FA-005 MacDuff Parkway Extension Phase 2 - New Alignment to Connect SR 54 to SR 74 $6,400,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-003 East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 1 (South) from South Jeff Davis Road to SR 54 


(East Lanier Avenue) - New Alignment and Widening


$35,000,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-004 East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 2 (North) from SR 54 (East Lanier Avenue) to 


SR 85 - Operational Improvements


$14,000,000 2016-2019


 TIA Funding Commitment 


1 of 2 5/1/2012







Table of Projects


Transportation Investment Act - Fayette County


   


Project ID Project Name
 Sponsored by 


Fayette 


Sponsored by 


Others


Year


 TIA Funding Commitment 


Improved Access to Interstate


TIA-FS-008 I-85 South at SR 74 - Interchange Improvements                                                                


(project delivery includes an additional $11,250,000 in federal funding )


$11,250,000 2016-2019


TIA-FA-026 SR 92 to SR 138 Connector - New Alignment from SR 138 in Fulton County to SR 


92 in Fayette County


$18,300,000 2016-2019


Multiuse Paths in Peachtree City


TIA-FA-010 South Industrial Park Path Connection $1,210,000 2013-2015


TIA-FA-022 Southeast Industrial Park Path Connection $1,150,000 2013-2015


TIA Investment (excluding Federal Aid contribution) $175,466,000 $41,550,000


Total Project Value (including Federal Aid contribution) $187,466,000 $84,880,000


Table Notes


1.  The "Project ID" matches the ID used in the Atlanta Region's Final Investment List, which includes over 150 discrete projects.


2.  Projects "Sponsored by Fayette" are projects located partially or entirely in Fayette County and will be managed by Fayette or the GDOT.


3.  Projects "Sponsored by Others" are projects of particular benefit to Fayette County but located partially or entirely in another County and will


     be managed by that County or the GDOT.


4.  "Year" indicates the tentative schedule for construction activities.    


2 of 2 5/1/2012







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐003


Project Name East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 1 (South) from South Jeff Davis 
Road to SR 54 (East Lanier Avenue) ‐ New Alignment and Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is one of two segments, totaling 6.2 miles, which comprise the East Fayetteville Bypass.  Segment 1, the southern section, is 4.2 
miles long and a combination of new road construction and improvements to existing roads.  The project extends from the existing 
intersection of South Jeff Davis Road, County Line Road, Inman Road and North Bridge Road and extends north to SR 54.  A portion of the 
project straddles the Fayette and Clayton County line.  The project consists of a two‐lane road but with 120' wide right‐of‐way for possible 
future expansion to four lanes.  Access management along the corridor and intersection optimization are key components of the design.  
The purpose of the project is to improve north‐south connectivity through Fayette County and provide network options around downtown 
Fayetteville.  Doing so will ease existing congestion problems in Fayetteville and improve safety at several problematic intersections.  The 
project will serve residents of Fayette, Clayton and Spalding Counties and is expected to carry heavy commuter traffic to and from the 
Atlanta area, including the airport. The project is in PLAN 2040, is a Regional Strategic Thoroughfare System (RSTS) future alignment, and is 
supported by the Southern Regional Accessibility Study and Fayette County's 2003 and 2010 Comprehensive Transportation Plans.  The 
project complements the East Fayetteville Bypass, Segment 2 (TIA‐FA‐004).  Design work is already underway.   ARC regional travel demand 
model calculations indicate that the completed project will reduce congestion along SR 54 by 36% compared to current conditions, even 
after accounting for several years of growth in development and traffic volumes between today and when the project is completed.  The 
total cost of the project is $35,000,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as a line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned in 2015


FA‐236A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: South Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$35,000,000


$35,000,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 4.2


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 2


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐004


Project Name East Fayetteville Bypass Segment 2 (North) from SR 54 (East Lanier 
Avenue) to SR 85 ‐ New Alignment and Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is one of two segments, totaling 6.2 miles, which comprise the East Fayetteville Bypass.  Segment 2, the northern section, is 2.0 
miles long and is predominantly a corridor improvement project along existing Corinth Road.  The project extends from the intersection of 
Corinth Road and SR 54 north to the intersection of Corinth Road and SR 85.  Approximately 0.3 miles of the project is within Clayton 
County.  Changes to Corinth Road include minor realignments, horizontal and vertical curve improvements, shoulder widening, drainage 
improvements, access management, and intersection optimization.  The project scope includes acquisition of 120' wide right‐of‐way to 
accommodate potential future widening of the bypass.  The purpose of the project is to improve north/south connectivity through Fayette 
County and provide network options around downtown Fayetteville.  Doing so will ease existing congestion problems in Fayetteville and, 
subsequently, improve safety at several problematic intersections.  The project will serve residents of Fayette, Clayton and Spalding 
Counties and is expected to carry heavy commuter traffic to and from the Atlanta area, including the airport.  The project is in PLAN 2040, is 
a Regional Strategic Thoroughfare System (RSTS) future alignment, and is supported by the Southern Regional Accessibility Study and 
Fayette County's 2003 and 2010 Comprehensive Transportation Plans.  The project complements the East Fayetteville Bypass, Segment 1 
(TIA‐FA‐003).  Design work is already underway.  ARC regional travel demand model calculations indicate that the completed project will 
reduce congestion along McDonough Road by 9% compared to future conditions without the project.  The total cost of the project is 
$14,000,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as a line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned in 2018‐2030 timeframe


FA‐236B


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: South Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$14,000,000


$14,000,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 2.0


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 2


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐005


Project Name MacDuff Parkway Extension Phase 2 ‐ New Alignment to Connect SR 
54 to SR 74 ‐ New Alignment


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is the construction of a collector road from the end of MacDuff Parkway (off of SR 54), through undeveloped land (in Peachtree 
City and Unincorporated Fayette County), over an existing railroad (grade separated crossing with bridge) and terminating at the northern 
end of Kedron Drive (off of SR 74). The project will also involve the signalization of the intersection with MacDuff Parkway Extension and 
Senoia Road. This project will improve regional mobility by helping to mitigate traffic congestion at SR 54/SR 74 Intersection.  The design 
plans for the roadway extension are complete and were approved by the City of Peachtree City. The bridge plans for the grade separated 
crossing are near completion. However due to the economy, the project was halted. The City will have to re‐do any environmental 
permitting at this point and finish the bridge design.  The project is identified and supported by PLAN 2040.  ARC regional travel demand 
model calculations indicate that the completed project will reduce congestion along adjacent sections of SR 54 by 8% compared to future 
conditions without the project.  The total cost of the project is $6,400,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040


N/A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$6,400,000


$6,400,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 1.9


Lanes (Current) 0


Lanes (Proposed) 2


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐006


Project Name SR 85 Phase 1 from Bernhard Road to Grady Avenue ‐ Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is a 5.4 mile long road widening project along SR 85, south of Fayetteville.  The project's limits are Bernhard Road to the south 
and Grady Avenue to the north.  Growth within Fayetteville and surrounding regions has resulted in safety and congestion problems at 
various locations along this portion of SR 85.  Areas of particular concern are existing lane reductions within the city limits of Fayetteville 
(between Ramah Road and Grady Avenue) and two school zones located between the Goza and Harp Road intersections.  Operational 
improvements are proposed along SR 85 south of Bernhard Road (see TIA‐FA‐014).  The purpose of the project is to improve safety (e.g., at 
the Harp Road & SR 85 intersection) and reduce congestion.  The project is consistent with PLAN 2040, is entirely located on a Regional 
Thoroughfare, and is a designated Truck Route in the Atlanta Region Freight Mobility Plan (ARFMP).  The corridor is a major commuter 
corridor for Fayette, Coweta and Spalding Counties.  Preliminary Engineering work (PE) has been authorized by the GDOT.  ARC regional 
travel demand model calculations indicate that the completed project will reduce congestion along the corridor by 40% compared to 
current conditions, even after accounting for several years of growth in development and traffic volumes between today and when the 
project is completed.  The total cost of the project is $24,000,000, of which $12,000,000 will be funded under TIA and the remaining 
$12,000,000 covered by traditional federal formula funds. 


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as line item in PLAN 2040 with northern section 
planned for construction in 2018‐2030 timeframe and southern 
section planned for construction beyond 2040


FA‐085; ASP‐FA‐348


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$12,000,000


$24,000,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $12,000,000
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 5.4


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 4


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐010


Project Name South Industrial Park Path Connection


Project Type Bike/Ped


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project consists of a 10' wide asphalt multi‐use path with 2' shoulders starting at the recently finished Flat Creek Bridge which connects 
the industrial park to the existing 100+ mile network of multi‐use paths.  This project will enhance pedestrian/bicyclist/golf cart safety, 
relieve SR 74 congestion, entice international industries to locate within the region, and provide a clean, safe transportation alternative to 
work other than the automobile.  This path will connect the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) facility, the existing GDOT tunnel under 
SR 74 South to the Baseball & Soccer Complex, and numerous regional employers such as Storage Xxtra, Cooper Lighting, SANY America, 
and Sigvarius.  The logical termini for the path will be at Dividend Drive, which connects to the Atlanta Regional Airport (Falcon Field), the 
rest of the industrial park and the LCI activity center on SR 54.  The project complements the Southeast Industrial Park connection (TIA‐FA‐
022).  The total cost of the project is $1,210,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040, but consistent with plan 
emphasis on expanding modal options


N/A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
1 (2013‐2015)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$1,210,000


$1,210,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 2.5


Lanes (Current) N/A


Lanes (Proposed) N/A


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Project Description Summary | South Industrial Park Path Connection 
Peachtree City, Georgia


START


FINISH


SOUTH INDUSTRIAL PARK 


PATH CONNECTION


Project Location within


Fayette County, Georgia


TUNNEL







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐013


Project Name SR 92 from Jimmy Mayfield Boulevard to McBride Road ‐ Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is a 3.4 mile long road widening (two to four lanes) along SR 92, south of Fayetteville.  The project's limits are McBride Road to 
the south and Jimmy Mayfield Boulevard to the north.  Growth within Fayetteville and surrounding areas has resulted in safety and 
congestion problems at multiple locations along this segment of SR 92.  The corridor experiences delays during morning and afternoon 
commute times because of the traffic volumes (AADT of 17,100 near Hilo Road) and the large number of subdivision and side‐street 
intersections.  Long‐range operational improvements are proposed for SR 92 south of McBride (see TIA‐FA‐027).  The purpose of the project 
is to improve safety (multiple intersection improvements needed) and reduce congestion.  The project is supported by PLAN 2040 and 
entirely located on the Regional Thoroughfare Network.  The corridor is a major commuter corridor for Fayette and Spalding Counties.  ARC 
regional travel demand model calculations indicate that the completed project will reduce congestion along the corridor by 32% compared 
to current conditions, even after accounting for several years of growth in development and traffic volumes between today and when the 
project is completed.  The total cost of the project is $15,900,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as a line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned beyond 2040


ASP‐FA‐003


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: South Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$15,900,000


$15,900,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 3.4


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 4


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐014


Project Name SR 85 from Bernhard Road to SR 74 ‐ Operational Improvements


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project is a 3.3 mile long operational improvement project along SR 85, south of Fayetteville.  The project's limits are SR 74 to the south 
and Bernhard Road to the north.  Improvements will target safety and efficiency improvements at existing intersections, such as 
realignments and addition of turn lanes.  A road widening project is proposed on SR 85 north of Bernhard Road (see TIA‐FA‐006).  The 
purpose of the project is to improve safety and traffic flow via intersection upgrades.  Fayette County's 2010 Comprehensive Transportation 
Plan determined this segment of SR 85 could handle future traffic demands with cost‐effective operational improvements in lieu of 
widening.  This is also consistent with the County's land use plan for the area.  The AADT on SR 85 north of the SR 74 intersection is 
approximately 11,000 vpd.  The project is entirely located on a Regional Thoroughfare, and is a designated Truck Route in the Atlanta 
Region Freight Mobility Plan (ARFMP).  The corridor is a major commuter corridor for Fayette, Coweta and Spalding Counties.  A widening 
project for this segment of SR 85 is included in the PLAN 2040 aspirations list.   The total cost of the project is $5,900,000, which will be 
entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040, but consistent with plan 
emphasis on low cost operational improvements instead of major 
capacity expansion; widening project is proposed beyond 2040


N/A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
1 (2013‐2015)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$5,900,000


$5,900,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 3.3


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 2


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐022


Project Name Southeast Industrial Park Path Connection


Project Type Bike/Ped


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project consists of a 10' wide asphalt with 2' shoulders that will start at the recently finished Flat Creek Bridge which connects the 
industrial park to Peachtree City's existing 100+ mile network of multi‐use paths.  This project will enhance pedestrian/bicyclist/golf cart 
safety, relieve SR 74 congestion, and provide a clean, safe transportation alternative other than use of an automobile to get from home, to 
work, and to shopping.  From the bridge the proposed path will travel north along a greenbelt/sewer line easement behind several 
industrial employers to the retail/restaurant corridor on Crosstown Drive. The project will follow an existing unpaved trail currently used by 
joggers and mountain bikers.  However, since the path is dirt and lacks any formal connection to the adjacent industrial tenants, employees 
drive to work instead of using alternative modes of transportation (walking, bike, golf cart, etc.) and thus add to congestion on SR 74 South  
several times each day.  Crosstown Drive serves as the retail corridor to Braelinn Village Shopping Center, medical offices, residences, and 
parks.  The second part of this path will cross Crosstown Drive (at‐grade) and connect the retail on Crosstown Court to the existing path 
network.  Both of the retail centers are highly utilized by the industrial tenants.  This project complements the South Industrial Park Path 
connection (TIA‐FA‐010).  The total cost of the project is $1,150,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040, but consistent with plan 
emphasis on expanding modal options


N/A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
1 (2013‐2015)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$1,150,000


$1,150,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 1.6


Lanes (Current) N/A


Lanes (Proposed) N/A


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Project Description Summary | Southeast Industrial Park Path Connection
Peachtree City, Georgia


START


FINISH


SOUTHEAST INDUSTRIAL PARK 


PATH CONNECTION


Project Location within


Fayette County, Georgia







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐026


Project Name SR 92 to SR 138 Connector ‐ New Alignment from SR 138 in Fulton 
County to SR 92 in Fayette County


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project will improve connectivity between two Regional Thoroughfares, SR 92 in north Fayette County and SR 138 in south Fulton 
County, and increase accessibility to and from Interstate I‐85.  The existing roads between SR 92 and SR 138 are under‐designed and not 
suited for the growing traffic volumes (i.e., Lester Road and Peters) or located along an industrial park (i.e., Oakley Industrial Boulevard) and 
not suited for heavy commuter traffic.  The project is conceptual; no work on alignment alternatives has been completed.  For cost 
estimating purposes, a widening of Peters Road to four lanes (approximately 2.2 miles in length) was assumed, although other options exist 
to meet the project goals.  The cost estimate included the addition of turn lanes, two traffic signals and the GDOT's typical urban cross‐
section.  A scoping study is recommended at the start of the project to evaluate alternatives and determine feasibility.  The project is 
recommended in Fayette County's 2010 CTP.  TIA funding is requested for all phases of the project.  The project will enhance safety, relief 
congestion and spur economic growth via new development and/or redevelopment.  Jurisdictions impacted by the project will include the 
Counties of Fayette and Fulton, the Cities of Fairburn and Union City, and the Christian City community.  ARC regional travel demand model 
calculations indicate that the completed project will reduce congestion along the corridor by 30% compared to current conditions, even 
after accounting for several years of growth in development and traffic volumes between today and when the project is completed.  The 
total cost of the project is $18,300,000, which will be entirely funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040


N/A


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$18,300,000


$18,300,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 2.2


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 4


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FA‐028


Project Name SR 92 (Forrest Avenue) from SR 85 (Glynn Street) in Fayette County 
to Oakley Industrial Boulevard in Fulton County ‐ Operational 
Improvements


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project involves operational improvements along a portion of SR 92 with the goal of improving traffic flow and safety, particularly at 
intersections.  The project is 9.7 miles long and extends from Fayetteville to Oakley Industrial Boulevard near Fairburn and Union City.  The 
project complements the proposed widening of SR 92 south of Fayetteville (TIA‐FA‐013), the SR 92 and Hood Avenue Connector proposed 
in Fayetteville (TIA‐FA‐002), and the SR 92 to SR 138 Connector (TIA‐FA‐26).  Based on concepts proposed in Fayette County's 2010 CTP, 
Fayetteville and Fayette County prefer that operational improvements be considered in lieu of traditional widening wherever traffic studies 
show adequate level of service can be maintained.  This approach is economically efficient and is consistent with the County's Land Use 
Plan.  The traffic on this segment of SR 92 is approximately 12,460 vehicles per day (vpd) south of Westbridge Road and 8,590 vpd north of 
Peters Road.  SR 92 is a major commuter corridor for Fayette, Spalding and other Counties.  The project is supported in Fayette County's 
2010 Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) and the region's PLAN 2040 (aspirations element).  The corridor is part of the Thoroughfare 
Network and included on the Regional Truck Route Network.  The project will start with a traffic study along the corridor, followed by 
prioritized improvements, as funding allows.  The total amount of TIA funding committed to advance the scope of this project is 
$20,000,000.


PLAN 2040 Status Not identified as a line item in PLAN 2040, but consistent with plan 
emphasis on low cost operational improvements instead of major 
capacity expansion; widening project is proposed beyond 2040


ASP‐FA‐347


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$20,000,000


$20,000,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 9.7


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 2


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐CL‐012


Project Name SR 54 (Fayetteville Road) from McDonough Road in Fayette County 
to US 19/41 (Tara Boulevard) in Clayton County ‐ Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project will widen SR 54 (Fayetteville Road) from McDonough Road to US 19/41 (Tara Boulevard).  The 5.5 mile long project will 
provide an urban four‐lane roadway with 12' wide travel lanes, a 24' wide raised median, 4' wide bicycle lanes, and urban shoulders 
consisting of curb and gutter, grassed strip, and 5' wide sidewalk on both sides of the roadway.  This project will provide last mile 
connectivity as it links to existing four‐lane sections in both Fayette and Clayton Counties.  Several intersections within the project limits 
experience a high level of crashes.  The Clayton Transportation Plan, using the ARC regional travel demand model, analyzed this project and 
determined it will provide a 49% reduction in peak hour delay, a 77% reduction in congestion and a 48% reduction in total delay compared 
to today's conditions.  The project is included in Georgia DOT’s Construction Work Program, ARC RTP, Clayton County’s Transportation Plan, 
Fayette County’s Transportation Plan, ARC’s Atlanta Region Bicycle Transportation and Pedestrian Walkways Plan, and ARC’s Southern 
Regional Accessibility Study and SR 54 is identified as a Regional Thoroughfare and as a Regional Truck Route.  SR 54 provides a critical 
regional travel corridor between Clayton County and Fayette County and between the Cities of Jonesboro and Fayetteville.  Currently, 
design plans are complete with Georgia DOT acquiring the necessary right of way.  The project should be “shovel ready” when TIA2010 
funds become available with funding being utilized for the construction phase. The total cost of the project is $40,180,000, of which 
$8,100,000 will be funded under TIA and the remaining $32,080,000 covered by traditional federal formula funds.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as a line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned in 2018‐2030 timeframe


CL‐041


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
1 (2013‐2015)


Location: South Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$8,100,000


$40,180,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $32,080,000
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 5.5


Lanes (Current) 2


Lanes (Proposed) 4


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐CL‐014


Project Name SR 85 from Pointe South Parkway to Roberts Drive ‐ Widening


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project will widen SR 85 from Pointe South Parkway to Roberts Drive.  The 3.2 mile project will provide an urban six‐lane roadway with 
12' wide travel lanes, a 20' wide raised median, and urban shoulders consisting of curb and gutter, grassed strip, and 5' wide sidewalk on 
both sides of the roadway.  The project will reduce congestion and improve safety and mobility.  SR 85 is identified as the most congested 
corridor in Clayton County by ARC and the Clayton Transportation Plan identified high frequency crash locations at 6 intersections.  The 
Clayton Transportation Plan, using the ARC regional travel demand model, analyzed this project and determined it will provide a 46% 
reduction in peak hour delay, a 53% reduction in congestion and a 47% reduction in total delay compared to today's conditions.  The project 
is included in Georgia DOT’s Construction Work Program, ARC RTP, Clayton County’s Transportation Plan, Fayette County’s Transportation 
Plan, and ARC’s Southern Regional Accessibility Study and SR 85 is identified as a Regional Thoroughfare.  SR 85 provides a critical regional 
travel corridor for Clayton and Fayette Counties and connects both to I‐75.  As stated in the Fayette Transportation Plan, SR 85 is the main 
access for Fayette County to I‐75.  This project has been in Georgia DOT’s program for many years with design originally authorized in 1992.  
The requested funding will be utilized for all aspects of the project.  The total cost of the project is $22,200,000, which will be entirely 
funded under TIA.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as a line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned in 2018‐2030 timeframe


CL‐015


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: South Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$22,200,000


$22,200,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $0
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length 3.2


Lanes (Current) 4


Lanes (Proposed) 6


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.







Transportation Investment Act of 2010     
Final Investment List                                  
Project Fact Sheet (FINAL - January 2012)* 


Identification TIA‐FS‐008


Project Name I‐85 South at SR 74 ‐ Interchange Improvements


Project Type Roadway


Description, 
Purpose and 
Benefits


This project will provide improvements at the I‐85 South at SR 74 (Joel Cowan Parkway) interchange.  Located about 10 miles southwest of 
Hartsfield‐Jackson International Airport, the subject interchange modifications will include ramp improvements that extend the interchange 
footprint in either direction toward the SR 92 and the Bohannon Road overpasses.  Key stakeholders in the project are motorists from 
Fayette and Fulton Counties as well as the municipalities of Fairburn, Tyrone, and Peachtree City.  The existing design of the interchange at 
the current traffic volumes results in significant transportation inefficiencies by delaying offramp movements, creating backups on I‐85, 
limiting left‐turn storage on the overpasses, and creating unsafe speed differences on I‐85.  These conditions place a disproportionate 
burden on the drivers as well as the homes and businesses they represent, resulting in high stress levels, lost productivity, and economic 
attrition.  The goal of the project will be to reconstruct the design features necessary to improve the level of service for the interchange.  
Future traffic conditions and the pace of development warrant improvements to avoid significant negative impacts to the level of service on 
I‐85 and SR 74.   SR 74 is designated as both a Regional Thoroughfare and a Regional Truck Route.  ARC regional travel demand model 
calculations indicate that the completed project, based on an initial design concept, will reduce congestion on the I‐85 southbound offramp 
by 64% compared to current conditions, even after accounting for several years of growth in development and traffic volumes between 
today and when the project is completed.   The total cost of the project is $22,500,000, of which $11,250,000 will be funded under TIA and 
the remaining $11,250,000 covered by traditional federal formula funds.


PLAN 2040 Status Project identified as line item in PLAN 2040 with construction 
planned for 2018‐2030 timeframe


FS‐AR‐182


Funding 
Commitments 


Implementation 
Band


Construction likely to occur in Band 
2 (2016‐2019)


Location: Southwest Subregion


Related Project Numbers:


Road Capacity Expansion
Road Asset Management
Road Safety / Operations
Freight / Logistics


Aviation
Bicycle / Pedestrian
Transit Network Expansion
Transit Operations / Maint.


*  Additional local funds may be 
identified prior to the referendum to 
deliver some projects.


TIA Funds


Local Funds* $0


$11,250,000


$22,500,000Total Funding


Federal Funds $11,250,000
(all amounts shown 
in current year 2011 
dollars) 


Project Length N/A


Lanes (Current) N/A


Lanes (Proposed) N/A


These fields 
are only 
applicable to 
certain types 
of projects.


miles


* This fact sheet provides supplemental scope information related to projects approved by the Atlanta Regional Roundtable on October 13, 2011.  For certain project 
types, it may also include performance data derived through a technical analysis conducted by the Atlanta Regional Commission following approval of the investment list.  
Grammatical corrections and clarifications were also made to the text as necessary.  No changes to project scopes, schedules or budgets were made.  For the original fact 


sheets, as approved by the Roundtable, refer to the Final Report available at www.atlantaregionalroundtable.com.





		Public Works- TIA Discretionary Money Agenda Request File.pdf

		Public Works- TIA Discretionary Money Backup

		Discretionary Spending Categories.pdf

		Fayette TIA Summary Package 5-8-12

		TIA and Fayette County 5-7-12.pdf

		TIA Project Map 4-23-12

		b 5-1-12

		Project Fact Sheets (13) plus path images

		TIA Project Fact Sheets (13).pdf

		South Industrial Park Path Connection

		Southeast Industrial Park Path Connection












COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Road Andy Adams


Approval of staff's recommendation to award Bid #832 for dust control on gravel roads to South Eastern Road Treatment, for the 


application of calcium chloride, in the amount of $2,912 per mile for 15.648 miles, in an amount not to exceed $45,600, and to authorize 


the Chairman to sign any contract or document contingent the County Attorney's review.


Every year, the Road Department enters into a contract  for dust control and stabilization of the county's gravel roads.  On March 30, 


2012, the Purchasing Department released Invitation to Bid #832 for the application of calcium chloride (or an equivalent product) to 


15.648 miles of gravel road.  These invitations were directly mailed to 14 contractors and the invitations were also extended via the 


Fayette Daily News, the county's website, Georgia Local Government Access Marketplace (www.glga.org) and Channel 23. 


 


South Eastern Road Treatment was the only vendor who responded to the bid.  Upon receiving only one bid, Purchasing staff contacted 


the distributor of calcium chloride in this region, and the distributor confirmed that South Eastern Road Treatment is, currently, their only 


customer for this product.   


 


South Eastern Road Treatment's price per mile has remained relatively stable over time, and when in the past they have had a 


competitor, the competitor's bid price is substantially higher. 


 


Approval of staff's request to award Bid #832 for dust control on gravel roads to South Eastern Road Treatment, for the application of 


calcium chloride, in the amount of $2,912 per mile for 15.648 miles, in an amount not to exceed $45,600, and to authorize the Chairman 


to sign any contract or document contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


This request is funded in the Road Department's Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Budget.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012







 


Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov


 
To:  Jack Krakeel 
 
From:  Ted L. Burgess 
 
Date:  May 10, 2012 
 
Subject: Bid #832 – Dust Control & Road Stabilization 
 
Each year, the Road Department enters into a contract for dust control and stabilization of the 
county’s gravel roads.  According to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the benefits of a 
stabilized road surface include reduced distresses like washboarding and loss of skid resistance, 
and less need for performing blade maintenance.  Chlorides are the most commonly used 
products across the U.S. for this purpose. 
 
On March 30, 2012 the Purchasing Department released Invitation to Bid #832.  It requested bid 
prices for the application of calcium chloride to 15.648 miles of gravel roads (an addendum 
clarified that a product equivalent to calcium chloride would be acceptable).  Invitations were 
direct-mailed to 14 contractors.  In addition, invitations were extended via the Fayette News, the 
county website, Georgia Local Government Access Marketplace (www.glga.org), and Channel 23.   
 
One contractor, South Eastern Road Treatment, responded to the invitation to bid.  The company 
has been a consistent bidder over time for this work.  Over the last three years, two other 
contractors have submitted bids – B&B Oil Company and Wright’s Hydroseeding.  In the past, 
B&B Oil Company had offered calcium chloride but discontinued its use, they say, because they 
could not compete with the price offered by South Eastern Road Treatment.  B&B currently offers 
a treatment product called Ultra Bond, but it is approximately twice the cost of calcium chloride. 
 
For work done in 2011, Wright’s Hydroseeding had submitted a bid for calcium chloride treatment, 
but it was 5.6 times the cost of South Eastern Road Treatment’s bid. 
 
Upon receiving only one bid for the current work, Purchasing staff contacted the distributor of 
calcium chloride in this region.  The distributor confirmed that South Eastern Road Treatment is 
currently their only customer for this product. 
 
South Eastern Road Treatment’s price per mile of treatment has remained relatively stable over 
time.  For example, it was $2,745.60 per mile in 2009 and 2010, $2,534.47 per mile in 2011, and 
bid at $2,912.00 for 2012.  When they have had competition, their competitors’ prices were 
significantly higher (please see attached spread sheet). 
 
The Road Department recommends awarding the bid to South Eastern Road Treatment.  I 
concur with their recommendation. 
 
Attachment 



http://www.glga.org/





Calendar Bid Price
Year Bid # Vendor Product Per Mile
2009 675 South Eastern Road Treatment Calcium Chloride $2,745.60


B&B Oil Company Calcium Chloride 4,071.51       


2010 751 South Eastern Road Treatment Calcium Chloride 2,745.60       
B&B Oil Company Ultra Bond 5,702.40       


2011 787 South Eastern Road Treatment Calcium Chloride 2,534.47       
Wright's Hydroseeding Calcium Chloride 14,293.20     


2012 832 South Eastern Road Treatment Calcium Chloride 2,912.00       


Fayette County, Georgia
Dust Control & Road Stabilization Treatment


P:\Ted B\Road Dept\832 Dust Control History.xls





		Road- Bid 832 Dust Control Agenda Request File.pdf

		Road- Bid 832 Dust Control Backup

		Bid 832 Dust Control - Purchasing Backup 1.pdf

		Bid 832 Dust Control - Purchasing Backup 2

		Detail










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Public Works / SPLOST Phil Mallon


Consideration of staff's request to approve the proposed Project Framework Agreement between Fayette County and the Georgia 


Department of Transportation (GDOT) for the replacement of the McIntosh Road bridge over the Flint River (SPLOST Project Number 


B-6), and authorization for the Chairman to sign the agreement contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


The attached Project Framework Agreement (PFA) establishes the Preconstruction Engineering responsibilities of Fayette County and 


the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) for the bridge replacement project on McIntosh Road at the Fayette-Spalding County 


border.  As this project progresses, additional Specific Activity Agreements for Right-of-Way, Utility Relocation, Testing, and Construction 


will be provided. 


 


A copy of the Project Framework Agreement is attached as backup, and the GDOT reference number for this project is BRSLB-1059-00


(002), PID 331650. 


 


 


Approval of staff's request to approve the proposed Project Framework Agreement between Fayette County and the Georgia Department 


of Transportation (GDOT) for the replacement of the McIntosh Road bridge over the Flint River (SPLOST Project Number B-6), and 


authorization for the Chairman to sign the agreement contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Funding for Preconstruction Engineering responsibilities is available from the Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) 321 


category; specifically SPLOST Project Number B-6.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


New BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Keith Golden, P.E., Commissioner 


One Georgia Center, 600 West Peachtree Street, NW 
Atlanta, Georgia 30308 
Telephone: (404) 631-1000 


;rIcIn/ash Byrdje @-r;) 


October 5, 2011 


The Honorable Herbert E. Frady, Chairman 
Fayette County Board of Commissioners 
140 Stonewall Avenue West 
Fayetteville, GA 30214-2198 


Dear Chairman Frady: 


Enclosed is the Project Framework Agreement (PFA) detailing Preliminary Engineering commitments for 
Project BRSLB-1 059-00(002), Fayette I Spalding Counties, PID 331650-. This project will replace the existing 
bridge on CR 360 I Mcintosh Rd., east of Brooks, at the Flint River. As outlined in the PFA, the Department is 
partially funding the construction using state and federal sources. In addition to providing PE, Fayette County 
is expected to provide right of way, utility relocation, testing and partial construction funding for the project. 
Construction on this project is currently proposed for FY 2013. 


Please review the attached agreement and if satisfactory, execute the (3) originals, and return them to this office. 
Once received, I will forward for GDOT signatures and then send you a copy of the fully executed agreement 
for your file. As mentioned in the PFA, additional Specific Activity Agreements for Right of Way, Utility 
Relocation, Testing and Construction will be sent at the appropriate time. 


Should you have any questions about items contained in this agreement, please contact Jack Reed at (706) 646
6982. 


Sirfjrely, .. 


~~Af:.lt.-
David B. Millen, P.R.L.S. 
District Engineer 


DBM:AJR 
Enclosures (3) 
cc: Bob Rogers, w/attachment 
Jeremy T. Busby RECEIVED 


OCT 13 2011 


PUBLIC WORKS 







srLclS, 'B - b
 


GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Keith Golden, P.E., Commissioner 


One Georgia Center, 600 West Peachtree Street, NVV 
Atlanta, Georgia 30308 
Telephone: (404) 631·1000 


January 19,2012 


The Honorable Herbert E. Frady, Chairman 
Fayette County Board of Commissioners 
140 Stonewall Avenue West 
Fayetteville, GA 30214-2198 


Dear Chairman Frady: 


Enclosed is a revised Attachment A for the Project Framework Agreement (PFA) detailing Preliminary 
Engineering commitments for Project BRSLB-1059-00(002), Fayette I Spalding Counties, PID 331650-. This 
project will replace the existing bridge on CR 360 I Mcintosh Rd., east of Brooks, at the Flint River. As 
outlined in the PFA, the Department is partially funding the construction using federal sources. In addition to 
providing PE, Fayette County is expected to provide right of way, utility relocation, testing and partial 
construction funding for the project. Construction on this project is currently proposed for FY 2013. 


Please review the attached revised Attachement A and if satisfactory, initial the (3) originals, and return them to 
this office. Once received, I will forward to our GDOT Atlanta office. They will replace the existing 
Attachment A within the PFA Fayette County has signed. Once the revised PFA has been executed by GDOT 
and returned to me, I will send you a copy of the fully executed agreement for your file. As mentioned in the 
PFA, additional Specific Activity Agreements for Right of Way, Utility Relocation, Testing and Construction 
will be sent at the appropriate time. 


Should you have any questions about items contained in this agreement, please contact Jack Reed at (706) 646
6982. 


Siilerely, , 


4!~(;16.~ 
David B. Millen, P.R.L.S. 
District Engineer 


DBM:AJR 
Enclosures (3) RECEIVED 
cc:	 Bob Rogers, w/attachment 


Jeremy T. Busby FEB 01 2012 


PUBLIC WORKS 







AGREEMENT
 


BETWEEN
 


DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
 


STATE OF GEORGIA
 


AND
 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT NAME
 


FOR 


TRANSPORTATION FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS 


This Framework Agreement is made and entered into this day of 


20_, by and between the DEPARTMENT OF 


TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the Slate of GeorQia, hereinafter called Ihe 


"DEPARTMENT', and Fayette Countyr acting by and through its Board of 


Commissioners, hereinafter called the "LOCAL GOVERNMENT', 


WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT has represented to the 


DEPARTMENT a desire to improve the transportatior'l facitily described in 


Attachment A, i:ltlached and incorporated herein by referar'lce and hereinafter 


referred to as the "PROJECT'; and 


WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT has represented to the 


DEPARTMENT a desire to participate in certair'l activities ir'lcluding the funding of 


certain portions of the PROJECT and the DEPARTMENT has relied upon such 


representations; and 


WHEREAS, /he DEPARTMENT has expressed a willir'lgness to participate in 


certair'l activities of ihe PROJECT as set forth in this AgreemenJ, and 


1 







~~1650-, Fal""'" I Spold;n9 


WHEREAS. the DEPARTMENT has provided an estimated cosl 10 lhe 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT for its participalion in certain activities of the PROJECT; 


00' 
WHEREAS, the Constitution aulhorizes intergovernmental agreements 


whereby slale and local entities may conlracl wilh one another "for joint services, for 


the provision of services, or for the joint or separale use of facilities or equipment; 


but such conlracts must deal with aclivilies, services or tacUities which the parties 


are authorized by law to undertake or provide." Ga. Constitution Article IX, §lll, ~I(a) 


NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made and of the 


benefits to flow from one to the other, the DEPARTMENT and lhe LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT hereby agree each with the other as fo~ows. 


1. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT has applied for and received "Qualification 


Certification" 10 administer federal-aid projects. The GDOT Local Administered 


Project (LAP) Certification Committee has reviewed, confirmed and approved the 


certification for the Locat Government to develop federal project(s) within the scope 


of its certification using the DEPARTMENTS Local Adminislered Project Manual 


procedures, The Local Government shall contribute to the PRQJECT by funding all 


or certain portions of the PROJECT costs for the preconstruction engineering 


(design) activities, hereinafter referred to as "PE", all reimburseable utility 


relocations, all non-reimburseabte utilit,'es owned by lhe LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 


railroad costs, right of way acqUisitions and construction, as specified in Attsl;hment 


A, attached hereto and incorporllted herein by reference. In addilion, the September 


2
 







;n165"-, Fayette I Spalding 


17,2010 Plal1ning Office memorandum litled ·Preliminary Engineering Oversight for 


Project Managers/Project Delfvery Staff", outlines the five (5) conditions when the 


local govemmel1t will be requested to fund the PE oversight activities at 100%. 


Attached as Attachment "C' al1d il1corporated herein by reference. B:penditures 


il1curred by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT prior to the execution of this AGREEMENT 


or subsequel1t fundil\g agreements shall not be considered for reimbursement by the 


DEPARTMENT. PE ell:per,dilures incurred by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT after 


ell:ecution of this AGREEMENT shall be reimbursed by the DEPARTMENT once a 


written notice te proceed is given by the DEPARTMENT. 


2. The DEPARTMENT shall contribute to the PROJECT by fUl1dil1~ all or 


certain portions of the PROJECT costs for the PE, right of way acquisitiol1s, 


reimbursable utility relocahons, railroad costs, or construction as specified in 


Attachment A and if nOlle of the five (5) conditions apply from the Planning Office 


memorandum dated September 17,2010. 


3. The DEPARTMENT shall provide a PE Oversight Estimate to the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT, attached as Attachment "0" al1d incorporated herein by reference. 


The LOCAL GOVERNMENT will be responsible for providing 100% of the 


DEPARTMENT's PE Oversight Estimate by or before Right of Way Authorization for 


LOCAL LET PROJECTS.; The LOCAL GOVERNMENT will be responsible for 


providing 100% of the amount staled DEPARTMENT's PE Oversight Estimate by or 


before Construction Authorizallon for GDOT LET PROJECTS. 


If the PE Oversight estimate exceeds $50.000, a minimum of $50,000 will be 


required to be paid at the time of the Project Framework: Agreement execution. The 


,
 







~:;16~O·. Fay... t Spakling 


remaining PE Oversig11t balance shall be provided by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to 


the DEPARTMENT by or before Right of WflY Authorization or fl! any time if PE 


funds are depleted within $5,000.00 of the available funds encumbered for LOCAL 


LET PROJECTS: The remaining PE OVt1rsight balance will be provided by the 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT to the DEPARTMENT by or before Construction 


Authorization for GDOT LET PROJECTS. 


4. It is understood and agreed by the DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT that the fundiTlg portion as identified in Attflchmem "A" of this 


Agreement oniy applies to the PE. The Right of Way and Construction funding 


estimate levels as specified in Attachment "A" are provided herein for planning 


purposes and do not wnslitute a funding wmmitment fur right of way flnd 


wnstruction. The DEPARTMENT will prepare LOCAL GOVERNMENT Specific 


Activity Agreements for funding applicflble to Right of Way or Construction whE!n 


appropriate. 


Further, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT ShfllJ be respon!lible for repayment of 


any expended federal funds if the PROJECT does not proceed forward to 


completion due to a lack of available funding in future PROJECT phases, changes in 


local priorities or cancellation of the PROJECT by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


wi""oul concurrence by 1he DEPARTMENT. 


5. In flccon:tance with Georgia Code 32-2-2, The LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


shflll be responsible for ali costs for the continual maintenance flnd operations of any 


and all sidewalk.6 and the gmss strip between !he curb and sidewalk within the 


PROJECT limits. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall also be respon6ible for the 


4
 







331 ....0-, Fayenal Spalding 


continual maintenance and operation of all lighting systems installed to illuminate 


any ruundabouts constructed as part of this PROJECT. Furthermore, the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT shall also be responsible for the maintaining of aU landscaping 


installed as part of any roundabout constructed as part of this PROJECT. 


6. Both the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the DEPARTMENT hereby 


acknowledge that Time is of the Essence. It is agreed that both parties shall adhere 


to the schedule of activities currenlly established in the approved Transport:ltion 


Improvement Program/State Transportation Improvement Program, hereinafter 


referred \0 as "TIP/STIP". Furthermore, all parties shall adhere to the detailed 


project schedliie as appruved by the DEPARTMENT, attached as Attachment Band 


incorporated herein by reference. In the completion of respective commitments 


contained herein, If a change in the schedule is needed, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


shall notify the DEPARTMENT in writing of the proposed schedule change and the 


DEPARTMENT shall ackno'N/edge the change through written respollse letter; 


provided that the DEPARTMENT shall have final authority for approving any change. 


If, for allY reason, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT does not produce acceptable 


deliverables in accordance with the approved schedule, the DEPARTMENT 


reserves the right to delay the PROJECT's implementation until funds can be re


identified for right of way or construction phases, as applicable. 


7. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall certify that the regulations for 


"CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCES WITH FEDERAL PROCUREMENT 


5
 







"J!!>5D-, F"~ I Sp.ldin~ 


REQUIREMENTS, STATE AUDIT REQUIREMENTS, and FEDERAL AUDIT 


REQUIREMENTS" are understood and will comply in full wilh said provisions. 


8, The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall accomplish the PE aclivilies for the 


PROJECT. The PE activities shall be accomplished in accordance with the 


DEPARTMENT's Plar: Developmenl Process hereinafter referred to as "PDP", the 


applicable guidelines of Ihe American Association of Slate Highway and 


Transportation Officials, hereinafter referred to as "AASHTO", the DEPARTMENT's 


Standard Specifications Conslruclion of Transportation Systems, and all applicable 


design guidelines and policies of the DEPARTMENT to produce a cost effecli"e 


PROJECT. Failure to follow the PDP and all applicable guidelines and poiicies will 


jeopardize the use of Federal Funds in some or all catagories outlined in this 


agreement, and it shall be the responsibility of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to make 


up the loss of that funding. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT's responsibility for PE 


acti"ilies shall include, but is not limited to the following items: 


a. Prepare the PROJECT Concept Report and Design Data Book in 


accordEl'1G€ with the forma! used by the DEPARTMENT. The concepl for the 


PROJECT shall be developed to accommodate the future traffic "olumes as 


generated by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT as provided for inoaragraph 7b 


and approved by the DEPARTMENT. The concept report shall be approved 


by the DEPARTMENT prior to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT beginning further 


development of the PROJECT plans. It is recognized by the parties that the 


approved concept may be updated or modified by the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT as required by the DEPARTMENT and re-approved by the 


6
 







DEPARTMENT during the c;ourse of PE due to updated guidelines, public; 


input, enVironmental requirements, Value Engirreering recommendations, 


Public; Inlerest Determination (PID) for utiiilies, utility/raiiroad conflicts, or right 


of way considemtions. 


b. Prepare a Traffic Study for the PROJECT that includes Average 


Daily Traffic, hereinafter referred to as "ADr', volL'mes for the base year (year 


the PROJECT is expected to be open 10 (raffic) and design year (base year 


plus 20 years) along with Design Hour Volumes, heminafler referrod to as 


"DHV", for the design year. DHV includes morning (AM) and evening {PM} 


peak.s and other significant peak. times. The Study shall show all through and 


turning movement volumes al intersections for the ADT and DHV volumes 


and shall indicate the percentage of trucks on the facility. The Study shall also 


include signal warrant evaluations for any additional proposed signals on the 


PROJECT. 


c. Preparo environmental sludies, documentation, reports and 


complete Environmantal Document for the PROJECT along with all 


environmental re-evaluations required that show the PROJECT is In 


oompiiance with the provisions of the National Environmental Poiicy Act or lhe 


Georgia Environmental Policy Act as per the DEPARTMENT's Environmental 


Procedures Manual, as appropriate to the PROJECT funding. This shall 


include any and aR archaeological, historical, ecological, air. noise, 


community involvement, environmental juslice, flOOd plains, underground 


storage tanks, and hazardous wasle site studies required. The completed 


EnVironmental Document iJpproval shall occur prior to Right of Way funding 


7
 







authorization A re-€valuation is required for any design change es described 


in Chapler 7 of the Environmental Procedures Manual, In addilion, a re


evaluation document appro\/a! shall occur prior to any Federal funding 


aUlhorizations if the lale>;l approv'ed document is more than 6 months old. 


The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall submit to the DEPARTMENT all studies, 


documents and reports for review and approvai by the DEPARTMENT. the 


FHWA and other environmentai resource agencies. The LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT shall provide Environmental staff to attend all PROJECT 


reialed meetings where Environmental issues are discussed. Meetings 


inckJde, but are nol Iimiled to, COI1cept, field plan reviaws and value 


engineering studies. 


d. Prepare aU PROJECT public hearing and public information dispiays 


and conduct all required publk:; hearings and public information meellngs with 


appropriate staff in accordance with DEPARTMENT practice. 


e Perform all surveys, mapping, Soil investigations and pavement 


evaluations needed for design 01 the PROJECT as per lhe appropriate 


DEPARTMENT Manual. 


1. Perform ail work required to obtain all applicable PROJECT permits, 


including, but not Iimiled to, Cemetery, TVA and US Army Corps of Engineers 


permits, Stream Buffer Variances and Federal Emergency Management 


Agency (FEMA) approvals. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall provide all 


mitigalion required for the project, including bul not Iimiled to permit related 


mitigation. All mitigation cosls are considered PE cosls PROJECT permits 


and non-constructiofl related miligalion must be oblained and compleled 3 


,
 







3J16~, FOyellel Sl>.ld;"~ 


months prior 10 the 'Scheduled let dale. These effortlj shall be coordinated 


with the DEPARTMENT. 


g. Prepare the stormwater drainage design for the PROJECT and any 


required hydraulic studies for FEMA Floodways within the PROJECT limits. 


Acqu;re of all necessary permits associated with the Hydrology Study or 


dminage design. 


h Prepare utility relocation pians for the PROJECT following the 


DEPARTMENT's poUcies and procedures for identification, coordination and 


connict resolution of existing and proposed utility facilities on the PROJECT. 


These policies and procedures. in part, require the Local Government to 


submit all requests for existing, proposed, and relocaled facilities to each 


utility owner within the project area. Copies or all such correspondence, 


including executed agreements for reimbursable utility/railroad relocations, 


shall be forwarded 10 the DEPARTMENT's Project Manager and the District 


Ulilities Engineer and require that any conflicts with the PROJECr be 


resolved by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT. If it is determined that the 


PROJECT is located on an on-system route or is a DEPARTMENT LET 


PROJECT, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the District Utilities Engineer 


shall ensure that permit applications are approved for each utility company 


in conflict with the project. If it is determined through the DEPARTMENT's 


Project Manager and State Utjijties Office during the concept or design 


phases the need to utilize Overhead/Subswface Utility Engineering, 


hereinafler referred to as "SUE", to obtain the existing uliiilies, the LOCAL 


9
 







331651).-, F0'lO'I>11 S"" 10;"\1 


GOVERNMENT shall be respon3ible for acquiring those services. SUE 


costs are considered PE costs. 


i. Prepare, ir, Engli'Sh units, Preliminary Construction plans, Right of 


Way pian'S and Final Construction plans that include the appropriate 


sections listed in the Plan Presen'.alion Guide, hereinafter referred to as 


"PPG", for all phases of the PDP. All draftirlg and desigrl work performed Orl 


lhe project shall be done utilizing Microsta~orl VBi and InRoads software 


respectively using the DEPARTMENTs Electronic Data Guidelirles. The 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall further be respOrlslble for making all revisiOrls 


\0 the final right of way plans arld construction plans, as deemed rlecessary 


by the DEPARTMENT, for whatever reaSOrl, as needed \0 acquire the right 


of way and construct the PROJECT. 


j. Prepare PROJECT cost estimates for COrlstruction, Right of Way 


arld Ulility/rallroad relocation alOrlg with a Benefit Cos!. t1ereinafter referred 


to a3 "B/C ratio" at tt1e following project stages: Concept, Preliminary Field 


Plan Review, Right of Way plarl approval (Right of Way cost only), Final 


Field Plan Review arld Firlal Plan submission using the applicable method 


approved by the DEPARTMENT. The cost estimates and BfC ratio shall 


a!so be updated annually if the rloted project stages occur at a longer 


fraquency, Failure of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to provide time~ and 


accurate cost estimates and BIC ratio may delay the PROJECT's 


implementation UrllR additiorlal fUrlds can be identified for rigtrt of way or 


construction, as applicable 


10 







3J 165'J., F.1"'f!e I Spalding 


k. Provide certification, by a Georgia Registered Professional 


Engineer, that the Design and Construction plans have been prepared under 


the guidance of the professional engineer and are in ae<:ordanoo with 


AASHTO and DEPARTMENT Design Policies. 


I. Provide certification, by a Level II Certified Design Professional that 


the Erosion Control Plans have been prepared under the guidance of the 


certified professional in accordance with the current Georgia National 


Pollutant Discharge Elimination System. 


m, Provide a written certification that all appropriate staff (employees 


and consultants) involved in the PROJECT have attended or are scheduled to 


attend the Department's PDP Treining Course. The written certification shall 


be received by the Department no later than the first day of February of every 


calendar year until all phases have been completed. 


9. The Primary Consultant finn or subconsultants hired by the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT to provide services on the PROJECT shall be prequalified with the 


DEPARTMENT in the appropriate area-classes. The DEPARTMENT shall, on 


request. furnish the LOCAL GOVERNMENT with a list of prequalified C<lnsultant 


finn!! in the appropriate area-classes. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall comply 


with all applicable state and federal regulations for the procurement of design 


services and in accordance with the Brooks Architect-Engineers Act of 1972, better 


known as the BrookS Act, for any consultant hired to perform work on the PROJECT. 


11
 







3~lB~()', F'jetle! Spiliding 


10 The DEPARTMENT shall review and has approval authority for all 


a5pern of the PROJECT provided however this review and approval does no! 


relieve the LOCAL GOVERNMENT of its responsibilities under the terms of this 


agreement. The DEPARTMENT will work with the FHWA to obtain all needed 


approvals as deemed net:essary with information furnished by the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT. 


11 The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for the design of all 


bridge(s) and preparation of any required hydraulic and hydrological studies within 


the limits of Ihis PROJECT in accordance with the DEPARTMENT's policies and 


guidelines. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall perform all neccssary survey efforts 


in order to complete the hydraulit: and hydrologit:al studies and the design of the 


bridge(s). The final bridge plans shall be incorporated into this PROJECT as a part 


of this Agreement. 


12. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT unless otherwise noted in attachment "A'" 


shall be responsible for funding all LOCAL GOVERNMENT owned utility relocations 


and all other reimbursable utility/railroad costs. The utility costs shall int:lude but are 


not limited to PE, easement acquisition, and construction activities necessary for the 


utility/railroad to accommodate the PROJECT. The terms for any such reimbursable 


relocations shall be laid out in an agreement that is supported by plans, 


specifications, and itemized t:osts of the work: agreed upon and shall be executed 


prior to certification by the DEPARTMENT. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall certify 


vie written letter to the DEPARTMENT's Project Manager and District Utilities 


12
 







Engineer thal all Utility owners' exsiting and proposed facilities are shown on the 


plans with no connicts 3 monlhs prior to advertising the PROJECT fot bids and that 


any required agreements for reirbursable utility/railroad costs have been fully 


executed. Further, this cerMcation letter:sha(f state that the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


understands Ihat it is responsible for the costs of any additional reimbursable 


utility/railroad confilcls thaI arise during constl1.Jl;(ion. 


13. The DEPARTMENT wlll be responsible for all railroad coordination on 


DEPARTMENT Let and/or State Route (On-System) projects; the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT shall address concerns, commenll!, and requiremenls to the 


salisfaction of the Railroad and the DEPARTMENT. If the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


is shown to LET the construction in Attachment "A" on off-system roules, the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for all railroad coordination and addressing 


concerns, commenLs, and requiremenls Lo the satisfaclion of fhe Railroad and the 


DEPARTMENT for PROJECT. 


14. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for acquiring a Value 


Engineering Consullant for the DEPARTMENT to conduct a Value Engineering 


Study if the total estimated PROJECT cost is $10 million or more. The Value 


Engineering StUdy cost is considered a PE cos!. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall 


provide projecl ralaled design data and plans to be evaluated in the study along with 


appropriate staff to present and answer queslions abouL the PROJECT to the stUdy 


Jeam. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall provide responses to the study 


recommendalions indicating whether they will be implemented or not. If oot, a valid 


13
 







~:; I~O-, Fayeftol6palding 


response for not implementing shall be provided. Total project costs include PE, 


right of way, and construction, reimbursable utility/railroad costs. 


15. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT, unless shown otherwise on Attachment A, 


shall acquire the Right of way in accordance with the Jaw and the rules and 


regulations of the FHWA induding, but not limiled 10, Tille 23, United States Code; 


23 CFR 710, eL Seq., and 49 CFR Part 24 and the rulell and regulations of the 


DEPARTMENT. Upon the DEPARTMENT's approval of the PROJECT right of way 


plans, verification that the approved environmental document is valid and current, a 


written notice to proceed will be provided by the DEPARTMENT for the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT to stake the right of W<rj and proceed with all pre-acquisition right of 


way activities. The LOCAL GOVERNEMENT shall not proceed to property 


negotiation and acqUisition whether or not the right of way funding is FederElI, State 


or Local, until the right of w<rj agreement named "Contract for the Acquisition of 


Right of Way" prepared by the DEPARTMENT's Office CJf Right of Way is executed 


between the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the DEPARTMENT Failure of the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT to adhere to the provisions and requirements specmed in the 


acqL'isition contract may result in the loss of Federal funding for the PROJECT and it 


will be the responsibility of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to make up the loss of that 


funding. Right of way costs eligible for reimbursement include land and improvement 


costs, property damage ~alues, relocation aSsistance e:w;penses and contracted 


property management costs. Non reimbursable right 01 way costs include 


administrative e:w;penses such as appraisal, consultant, attomey fees and any in


house property management or staff e:w;penses. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall 


14
 







:;3'65(1.. Fayalli> I Spakling 


certify thai all required righl of way is obtained and cleared of obstructions, including 


underground storage tanks, 3 months prior to advertising the PROJECT for bids. 


16. The DEPARTMENT unless otherwise shown in Attachment "A" shall be 


responsible for Letting the PROJECT to construction, solely responsible for 


executing any agreements with all applicable utility/railroad companies and securing 


and awarding the construction conlract faT the PROJECT when the following items 


have been completed and submitted by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT: 


a. Submittal of acceptable PROJECT PE activity deliverables noted in 


this agreement. 


b. Certification that all needed rights of way have been obtained and 


cleared of obslructions. 


c. Certification that the environmental document is current and all 


needed permits and mitigation for the PROJECT have been obtained. 


d. Certification that all Utility/Railroad facilities, exist,ng and proposed, 


within the PROJECT limits are shown, any conflicts have been resolved and 


reimbursable agreements, if applicable, are executed. 


If the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is shown to LET Pre construction in Attachment "A", 


the LOCAL GOVERNMENT Shall provide lhe above deliverables and certifications 


and shall follow the requirements staled in Chapters 10, 11, 12 and 13 of the 


DEPARTMENT"s Local Administered Project Manual. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


shall be responsible for providing qualif'ed construction oversight with their 


personnel or by employing a Consultant firm prequalified in Area Class 8,01 to 


perform construction oversighL. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible 


15
 







3~165ll-, F.yette I Sp"oin. 


for employing a GDOT prequalified consultant in area classes 6.04a and 6.04b for all 


materials testing on the PROJECT, with the exception of field concrete testing. All 


materials testing, including field concrete testing shall be performed by GDOT 


certified technicians who are certified for the specific testing they are pertorming on 


the PROJECT. The testing firm(s) and the individual technicians must be submitted 


for approval prior to Construction. 


17. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall provide a review and recommendation 


by the engineer 01 record concerning all shop drawings prior to the DEPARTMENT 


review and approval. The DEPARTMENT shall have final authority concerning all 


shop drawings, 


18. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT agrees that all reports, plans, drawings, 


stUdies, specifications, estimates, maps, computations, computer files and printouts, 


and any other data prepared under the terms of this Agreement shall become the 


property of Ihe DEPARTMENT if the PROJECT is being let by the DEPARTMENT. 


This data shall be organized, indexed, bound, and delivered to tl'1e DEPARTMENT 


no later than the advertisement of the PROJECT for letting. The DEPARTMENT 


shall have the right to U$e this material without lestriction or limtlation and without 


compensation to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 


19. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for Ihe professional 


quality, technical accuracy, and the coordination of all reports, designs, drawings, 


specifications. t'Ind other services furnished by or on behalf of the LOCAL 


16
 







GOVERNMENT pursuant to this Agreamenl. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall 


correct or revise, or cause to be corrected or revised, any errors or deficiencies in 


the reports, designs, drawings, specifications, and other services furnished for this 


PROJECT. Failure by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to address the errors, omissions 


or deficiencies within 30 days of notification shall cause lt1e LOCAL GOVERNMENT 


to assume all responsibility for construction delays and supplemental agreements 


caused by the errors and deficiencies. All revisions shall be coordinated with the 


DEPARTMENT prior to issuance. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall also be 


responsible for any claim, damage, loss or expense, to the extent allowed by law 


thet is attributable to errors, omissions, or negligent acts related to the designs, 


drawings, specifications, and other services furnished by or on behalf of the LOCAL 


GOVERNMENT pursuant to this Agreement. 


20. The DEPARTMENT shall be furnished with a copy of all contracts and 


agreements belween the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and any other agency or 


contractor associated with construction activities. The DEPARTMENTs Project 


Manager shall be the primary point of contact unless otherwise specified. 


21. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT Shall provide the DEPARTMENT with a 


detailed project schedule that reflects milestones, deliverebles with durations for all 


pertinent activities to develop critical path elements. An electronic project schedule 


shall be submitted to the Project Manager after execution of this agreement. 


17
 







This Agreement is made and entered into in FULTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, and 


shall be governed and construed 'Jnder lhe laws of Ihe State of Georgia. 


The covenant'3 herein contained shall, except as otherwise provided. accrue 


to the banefrl of and be binding upon the successorn end assigns of the parties 


hereto. 


18
 







331SW-, F.yette I Spalding 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL GOVERNMENT have 


caused these presents to be executed 


rep resentatives. 


DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION 


BY: ====c----
Commissioner 


ATIEST: 


Treasurer 


under seal by their duly authorized 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT NAME 


BY: 


Name
 
Title
 


Signad, saaled and delivered this 
day of 


20_, in the presence of: 


Witness 


Notary Public 


This Agreement approved by Local
 
Govemment, the day of
 
____,20_,
 


Attest 


Name and Tille 


FEIN: 


19
 







~/~/Z012 


Attachment "A" Funding Sources and Distribution 
. Project No.: BRSLB-1059-00(002). PI NO 331650- FAYETTE / SPALDING Ing Form for A rovar 


! I 
c .f 
~ j 


1 
2 


Preliminary "Ena1neerlna  Phase I GOOT Overslaht for PE (Phase 1)2 
Preliminary Ena:ln••rlng Grand Total 


(Pha.e 1)2 


0% 
.~ 


Percentase 


so.OO 
$0.00 


PEAmount 


$0.00 
.SO.OO 


Maximum PE 
Partlclpatl.on Amount 


1$) 


St.t. 
Fede,.1 


Partlclpa.nt 
PEActlvity 


Sponsor 


local 
Government 


.20%<'-:;, 
/;8Q%":: 


PercentaBe Amount 


"'12.578'.00 


$50.312.00 
Stat. 


Fed.,..1 


Partlcl pant 


,'3", •.: ."" .. ;.-'1 
·1~"'.,"" J 


Percent••• 


$12.578.00 


Amount 


$50.312.00 


3 .1oCm.. ~oo.ooo.oo N/A Local ':.0%' SO~OO Loal .•;' .83%. ·1. $300.lloo.00 
4 0%'. so.OO SO.OO Oth.r .'0%,' $0.00' Oth.r .... \1'_-.>-, ,094._.''''',· ..~" ,~I· so;()().. 


:Total ··1~. $300,ooij;llQ,: .0%:' ." :~··'·;"$62,li!lio.odit.'.\;' 1,'. ': ~ .. ' ...::tQdl(..c· .;~. ';;' ...:~I,":::Y$~~ 


I 
f 


Rlllht of Way  Ph••e II 


Percent.ge 


'0 


ROW Amount 


$0.00 


Maxlmui'nROW 
Participation Amount 


($) 
Participant Acquisition By: 


Acquisition 
Fund By: 


1 0%' $0.00 Federal 


Local 


Government 


L,ocal 


Government
'tl 


i 
2 '0% $0.00 $0.00 State 
3 100% $99.596.49 N/A local 


4 0%. SO.OO $0.00 Other 


Togi ·.1~ .. '$99iS~49: 


~ 


I 
utility Relocation - Phase IV 


Utility Funding By: 
Railroad Fund'ina 


By: 


i local Government, Local Government 


1~ ~ 


j 


I 
Construction  Phase III 


Percentage CST Amount 


Maximum CST 
p'artlcip-iltlon Amount 


($) 
' Pa~lclp.nt Letting By: 


1 76.9'1(,· $2.239.171.00 $2,239.171.00 Feder.I, 


GOaT2 0:0% N/A N/A Stat. 


3 .2301% $672870.95 N A Loal , 


4 0.0%' '$0.00 $0.00 Oth.r 


Tot.1 100.0% .' $Z:912'ib41'9S-


j ~ 


I
>


! 


GOOT OV8rslllht for CST (Phase 111)2 


Testina (Phase V) 
. Fundlna By: 


Inspection (Phase 


VI) Fundln. BV: 


Local Government Local Government 


1~ 1~ 


= 


! = p 
Grand Total - Phases II through III 


Percentage CST Amount 
Maximum ROW 


Partlcipat1a:n Amount 


($) 
Participant 


1 .76.9%.. ~$2~2.:J;gi.1:~.1':b,(t. . "?$Q,~o..o: Federal 
2 0.0% .$.Q~oit '$:o~o.Q;., State 
3 23.1%· .$6:Z2;8:~D~~S:': . ,~t/Ji.<' Local 
4 0;0'" ·$0:;00 >$0,:09 • Other 


ITotal T1oo.o~ 1$2,912,0,,41,95 I $0.00 I 


The funding portion identified in Attachment "AU only applies to PE. The Right of Way and Construction 


funding estimates are prOVided for planning purposes and do not constitute a funding commitment for right 


of way and construction. 


1. The Maximum allowable GoOT participating amounts for PE phase are shown above. Local Government 


\Nill only be reimbursed the percentaa_ of the Invoiced .mounts up to but not to accrued exceed the 


maximum amount Indicated. 


2'GDOTOversight for PE (Phase l) Is detalled'in Attachment "0". 


3'The GOOT Oversight check shall be remitted to the District Planning and Programmina Engineer alona with 


the signed Project Framework Agreement (PFA). 


4. Right-of-Wav and Construction amounts shown are for bud~et plannlnR purposes onlv. 


NOTE: Separate GoOT P.O.s will be established for each funding phase, 







331650 , Fayette I Spalding 


ATTACHMENT "B" Project Timeline 
3,31650-, Fayette l Spalding 


Proposed Project Timeline 


Environmental Phase 


Concept Phase 


Preliminary Plan Phase 


Right of Way Phase 


Deadlines for Execute 07/2011 04/2012 08/2013 
Responsible Parties Agreement (Approve (Approve Env. (Authorize 


Concept) Document) Const. fullds) 


Annual Reporting Requirements 


The Local Government shall provide a written status report to the Department's Project Manager with the actual phase completion date(s) 
and the percent complete/proposed completion date of incomplete phases. The written status report shall be received by the Department no 
later than the first day of February of every calendar year until all phases have been completed. 


09/2012 
(Authorize Right 


of Way funds) 


21
 







,
,,







lil~ 


"
, J j;§g UL 


<l'2'" ~l fg ,• ~ ~ ~ 
"• l!" ~~. " ..." "l',,~l: " 


g.~


~ 


,
H. J ,•


! 
•!" 


-


,
, 


, '"
o 
i"


" 
~ '" '!lll:.~ "" .. ::~'i 0'['-'"•• " " 8'- r 81;1


~ <. J J, ~ • 1.9 o-~ ~ ~'ll-~ ~ ~. 
" • ••, l, I " .- .,
'!<~ •• ~ '!l·~" ~'" U 


R ~a"- ~~ • 1 H J ·
~ 
." 


E H,. t 
.' ~:£ J. .. ~ <,~'~ ,I t ! • ';;;1 • ::-~h 


l<~~~-~ '1 ·, ~ 


Sl 


.. t H ,• jlilh ... -=:1 l , •, 5 I
, IH !." , • - ~~~ ,,-,. ,• ,• ]~.~ , ,•"J- ~ ~ 'Ii §"If ·r•• , ".. • -, 


:;B~ 
• 
'" ".


• • ,, ,., , . 
.iii" 1JIll! .' , ·" .'~ !f' 


..!; ~ , ,." " •, I l ,'1'- f' 11! ... !~g'l 
..,~O .,.1: ~~ • , • ,~ 8" .~ .' .i h , ! • j '! I '" i:l'" >-~~'ii ~'0 . ", ~, ,• ·.' ,li~ 


. ,. 
~ ] 


-
Sl 


ij 
~~"'~'- :, 0.",. 85"" 1l" i '" ~ ,[a ~ 1


".~,. ... I , ! • I ~ ,t -aE • Q.1l'-ORr- ~ ~- •, " ! RO"18 , ,! " , • 
o"5 'e gIf .aIi i -:2 Ii "' 1:J~


r-~-~" , ~~ .', ",8~i! 
0" 


Ii S.t~i .~ 11'10 ~-8~ [~ t. h 
il '-:Il • " ~i H l I .' H '8, 5"'- $ 
._"l! 1l 
~",j8 ~ lJ _ U , ,• ··H .. i';~-8 ,~U,",,;"',2 " ,! !l" ,i~, ~~ 


~ r 
~;6 "" 'J 1!,. ." r "[ " ,.OJ t- i'"lill liE 


<0 <, ~ 
0


o·T,0 d " '1> ' , • ,0 
~ 


~; "
"
< " • , 


<:>.Ii' " -," 0 ~.t'lll i ~


~ 


I 


' .• 


, ••


V 







• • 


• • 


"2 
" <5,,
• "• ,•> , 


"
, 


•"
 


,, f
 
-, 


IJ
U 
l••I


•• •
l 


~ 
• ,• , !• 


, • l
",, li~ I, 
• fA , 


, ~ 


! 
~ 


,, , 
!,
 
I
 
1, 
1 
i, 
i 


,;, 


• 
• ,•" 
• 
<" 


•
.I 


• 
>•
 ,• 
""
 "•
 







1 
,
 


"•" 1
 


l
•

"
 


1•, 
iii , 
~ 


tc-
c J, 


~
, , 


~ ~ - t· .,0 , ,"• 
" ,E , 
" ,


~ 
• 


~. ~
, 


0 , , , ,, • 
F'~


c , 
<.0 ~ , 


a'S• 
".


0 •... 'E , , , .• S], I , 
:3' .~, , •" 1 ;; .~, • •• • •• • , •••,


0 


,, ,, 
j 


!, 
j, 
,,, 
I,,,
• 





		SPLOST- Project Framework Agreement Agenda Request File.pdf

		SPLOST- Project Framework Agreement Backup

		1

		SPLOST-PFA McIntosh Rd Bridge (B-6) Back up.pdf

		PFA for McIntosh Rd Bridge (B-6).pdf

		q










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also 


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Sheriff's Office Captain Michelle Walker, if needed


Approval of a request from the Sheriff's Office to amend the State Confiscated Revenue Budget Account by $1,188.69 for abandoned 
monies which have been ordered retained for law enforcement enhancement as required by law.


In the course of various investigations, the Fayette County Sheriff's Office holds various types of property or evidence for court 
proceedings.  After disposition of any criminal or civil procedures the property is either destroyed or retained for law enforcement use and 
enhancement.


Approval of a request from the Sheriff's Office to amend the State Confiscated Revenue Budget Account by $1,188.69 for abandoned 
monies which have been ordered retained for law enforcement enhancement as required by law.


No funding is required.  This request will revise the Fiscal Year 2011-2012 State Confiscated Revenue Account (21030003-351370) to 
$2,364.99.


No


No


Yes


No


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012








MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Board of Commissioners


 April 26, 2012


 7:00 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette


County’s Website at  www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then


“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single


topic can be heard.


                       


The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on April 26, 2012, at 7:00 p.m. in the


Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville, Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Herb Frady, Chairman


Robert Horgan, Vice Chairman


Steve Brown


Lee Hearn


Allen McCarty


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator


Scott Bennett, County Attorney


Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant


 Floyd L. Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk
______________________________________________________________________________________


Chairman Frady called the meeting to order.


Commissioner Hearn offered the Invocation.


Pledge of Allegiance.  


Acceptance of Agenda:  


Commissioner Brown moved to accept the Agenda as published.  Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion. No


discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


Public Comment:


Randy Ognio: Mr. Randy Ognio pointed out several items on the Agenda and commented on each of them.  He asked


where the money originally came from in order to construct Fire Station Number 4, and said it would be nice for the


County to be transparent on these issues.  He asked if grant money being applied for by the Promise Place had any


guarantee of staying in Fayette County, and noted that the Board’s decision would simply ratify a decision that was made


earlier in the month.  He thought that citizens should have the opportunity to vote on whether or not they wanted to permit


alcohol sales on Sunday.  He complained that the Recreation Commission’s Needs Assessment Survey was a waste


of money, that it was overly frustrating, and did not provide trustworthy findings.  He suggested that if parents want their


children to play at parks then they should raise the money themselves in order to fund the parks.  He commented that







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 2


the County would have to pay to have someone remove the trees at the Snead Road West paving project since they


were badly damaged when they were taken down, and he said this was another evidence of poor planning.  He added


that paving Snead Road West was a waste of the County’s tax money, and that the effort was once again taken to benefit


developers.  He closed his remarks by questioning how long Bernhard Road would remain closed, and implied that the


County was frustrating people by not providing them proper information on the road closure.  


Chairman Frady replied that the road will be closed for approximately six months.


Consent Agenda:


Commissioner Horgan moved to approve Consent Agenda Items 1-7.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The


motion passed unanimously.


1. Approval of staff’s recommendation to create a capital project budget account for the Public Safety
Headquarters/EOC using the funds in the amount of $1.3 million available in Capital Project No. 0550B.
A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 1", follows these minutes and is made an official part
hereof.


2. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #823 to Tribond, American Facility Services, and Chi-
Ada Corp. for custodial services at the Water System Offices, Public Works, Driver Services, Public
Defenders, 911 and the Library effective July 1, 2012 at an aggregate yearly cost of $27,671.52.  A copy
of this request, identified as “Attachment 2", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


3. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #824 to Star Valley Landscape Solutions, 3-D
Landscaping & Lawn Services, Inc. and North Georgia Landscaping & Construction Group LLC. for the
Justice Center, Brooks Park, Kiwanis Park, and McCurry Park Grass Mowing, effective July 1, 2012, at
an aggregate yearly cost of $58,212.05 or $57,764.05 with a 2% discount from 3-D Landscaping.  A copy
of this request, identified as “Attachment 3", follows these minutes and is made an official part herof.


4. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Criminal Investigations
Division by $1,529.97 for reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various Federal agencies.
A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 4", follows these minutes and is made an official part
hereof.


5. Ratification of the Board’s action on April 12, 2012 to approve the request from Promise Place for
authorization to file a grant application in Fayette County’s name with the Department of Community
Affairs in the amount of $30,000; and authorization for the Chairman to execute said application pending
review of the County Attorney.  A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 5", follows these
minutes and is made an official part hereof.


6. Approval of Resolution No. 2012-09 authorizing a referendum election on July 31 to determine whether
or not the package sales by retailers of package malt beverages, wine and distilled spirits in
unincorporated Fayette County should be allowed on Sundays.  A copy of this request and Resolution
2012-09, identified as “Attachment 6", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.


7. Approval of minutes for the April 12, 2012 Board of Commissioners’ meeting.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 3


Old Business:


1. Discussion of the Fayette County Parks and Recreation Needs Assessment Survey Results as
presented by Darryl Hicks of the Fayette County Recreation Commission.


Mr. Darryl Hicks, Vice-Chairman of the Recreation Commission, spoke about the methodology behind and the


findings of the Needs Assessment Survey with the Board.  


He reminded the Board that in September 2011, he asked for the Board’s permission to conduct a survey in


order to gauge what the citizens were looking for with regard to recreation needs in Fayette County.  He also


reminded the Board that a previous Needs Assessment Survey had been conducted in 2003, but it was later


determined that the 2003 survey did not necessarily reflect Fayette County’s needs.  Mr. Hicks informed the


Board that for this survey to be conducted, the Recreation Commission decided to obtain the help of a


professional , and that the Recreation Commission decided to use statistical information in order to determine


whether or not Fayette’s citizens responded statistically.  He addressed Mr. Ognio’s concern about the survey


by briefly discussing how the statistical survey and the statistical method works.  He noted that the survey


presented to the Board was based on 1,600 responses out of approximately 106,000 citizens who live in


Fayette County, and he contrasted those responses to Presidential Election surveys that provide reasonable


indications based off of a sample of 500 voters.  Mr. Hicks explained that although 1,600 citizens responded


to the survey, 319 of them did not complete the survey and 1,336 did complete the survey.  He informed the


Board that the, statistically speaking, out of 106,000 citizens a sample size of 383 responses would be


sufficient, meaning Fayette County had a great statistical response.  He also added that the 319 citizens who


did not complete the survey constituted 19% of the responders, and that still made Fayette County’s survey


statistically valid because, in general, a survey will have 20-25% of responders who do not complete the survey.


He continued that the survey was designed to capture zip codes, and based on the zip codes it was determined


that the survey captured a fair representation from across Fayette County.  He explained that the survey also


worked to draw a distinction between youth programs and adult programs, and that respondents with children


between the ages of 8 - 18 answered questions about youth programs and all others answered questions about


adult programs.  He clarified that neither the survey or its results were intended to push the Commissioners to


make a decision, but that they were presented for informational purposes only.


Concerning the results of the survey, Mr. Hicks informed the Board that 71% of the responders like walking


trails, that the most popular youth sports were soccer, baseball, and basketball, and that most popular adult


sports were swimming and tennis.  The survey also revealed that people were also interested in other activities


not directly related to sports that would fall into the categories of fitness programs, nature programs, and leisure


programs.  He emphasized that survey indicated that swimming is on the minds of many of the responders, and


that while it was a more expensive program, the people were interested in aquatic centers and related


opportunities.  He speculated that while the population ages, this request would continue to increase.  He spoke


about some of the other findings of the survey such as the desire for cultural, leisure, and nature programs.


He noted that the number one request from citizens, namely walking trails and bicycle paths, were not the most


expensive desire, and neither was the third most sought after desire– nature centers and trails.  However, he


stated that the second most sought after desire, aquatic centers and swimming, was the most expensive


request.


After speaking about other statistics such as the distance citizens live in relation to the parks, their knowledge


of Parks and Recreation’s activities, and what would prevent someone from enjoying the park, Mr. Hicks spoke


about the survey’s results pertaining to how to pay for the programs, activities, and facilities.  He informed the







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 4


Board that the survey indicated that the people did not want to pay more taxes, but that the survey also


indicated that the people are interested in discussing how to pay for the programs so long as they do not have


to pay for them alone.  He floated the possibility of a public / private relationship or partnership that could be


established to provide the needs as indicated.


Mr. Hicks told the Board that the Recreation Commission thought long and hard about how to ensure all of the


citizens had a chance to participate in the survey.  He explained that the Recreation Commission went to every


local official and stakeholder in the County to receive input on the survey as it was being framed.  He said the


survey was then published in the local newspaper, placed on all of the jurisdictions’ websites, was sent home


with students, and was included with water bills.  He stated that the number of responses was excellent and


spastically valid and met all of the qualifications needed for the County to learn information.  He stated that the


verbatim survey and responses would be provided to the Board, and that he hoped he had the Board’s blessing


to take the results to the other jurisdictions, talk to them about the findings, and then return to the Board with


the next step of the process.


Chairman Frady thanked Mr. Hicks, the Recreation Commissioner, Parks and Recreation Director Anita Godbee


and her staff, and those who conducted the survey.  He said the survey provided great information and he


understood why questions had to be asked about how to pay for the needs.  He said a survey that did not


address that element would be worthless.  Commissioner Horgan agreed that the information was great, was


money well spent, and that it would help provide information for other areas of government as it helped


measure what the citizens were concerned about.  Commissioner Brown stated that he had one issue with the


survey when it was being beta-tested, and that was a question that asked responders to rank programs from


1 to 10, and that it was forcing him to rank something he did not care anything about.  He was glad to see those


corrections were made, and that it gave a truer perspective on what people really did care about.  He continued


that his biggest concern was for a comprehensive plan that did not just include the “County’s offerings but also


those of the towns and cities.”  He stressed that there needed to be a discussion on what could be done in


order to avoid duplication of services.  He said he looked forward to hearing of the discussions from the other


jurisdictions about the survey as they worked to figure out how to combine of their efforts.  Mr. Hicks agreed


with Commissioner Brown saying that his concern was shared by everyone who wanted Fayette County to


maximize all of its services with no duplication in costs.  Commissioner Hearn thanked Mr. Hicks for his work,


as well as all other who had input with the survey.  He said the survey provided good information, that it was


comprehensive, that it was work well done, and that it would help the Board make better decisions.


Commissioner McCarty said that he noticed that the survey indicated that the people did not want to pay more


taxes, so there would have to be some hard work involved in order to figure out how to meet the peoples’


needs.


County Administrator Jack Krakeel reminded the Board that when the Recreation Commission asked


permission to conduct the survey, that the survey was to be Phase One of a four-phase process.  He then


asked Mr. Hicks if a time frame had been established to complete the other phases specifically in light of the


upcoming budget discussions.  He said his concern was to ensure that Fayette County was properly positioned


for the next fiscal year.  Mr. Hicks replied that he intended to return to the Recreation Commission next month


to share the results of his various meetings with the jurisdictions. He said that he would return to the Board


shortly thereafter with guidance and direction from the Recreation Commission, and that when he returned he


would be speaking about goals for Fayette County.  Chairman Frady noted that the Board often gets criticized


for not being transparent, but that the fact remains that many people do not come to Commissioners’ meetings.


He explained that this work really began in 2007, but when “people start paying attention to the last inning of


a ball game, they usually don’t know what happened in the first eight.”  







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 5


The Board took no action on this item.  A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 7", follows these


minutes and is made an official part hereof.


New Business:


1. Consideration of proposed revisions to the Parks and Recreation Policy and Procedures Manual.


Recreation Commission Chairman Charles McCollum thanked the Commissioners for their support of the


Needs Assessment Survey, and he thanked Mr. Hicks and all involved for their work in the matter.  He then


reminded the Board that in 2009, the Board of Commissioners approved a Policies and Procedures Manual for


the Recreation Association and for all of the youth associations.  He said since that approval, the Recreation


Commission reviews the policies and procedures every year around September and October to discuss issues


that have arisen.  He explained that the latest review began in October 2011, and during its review, the


Recreation Commission met with all of the associations who had gripes and complaints.  He told the Board that


based on their discussions with those associations, the Recreation Commission had prepared proposed


revisions to the Parks and Recreation’s Policies and Procedures Manual for the Board’s approval.  He said


those changes could be found on pages 2, 12, 22, 24, 26, 39 and 40 of the manual, and he concluded his


opening remarks saying another review would be held next year as well.


Commissioner Brown questioned if the Policies and Procedures Manual mandated the size of tournaments


since it allows for each association to have one tournament without having to pay fees to use the field.  He


explained that soccer tournaments could be very large and could use up a lot of resources, and if there was


a way to scale down the size of the tournament or to charge a fee for trash pickup or something similar.  Mr.


McCollum replied that the associations still have to pay a “cleanup deposit fee” to the Recreation Department,


and as long as everything is put back in order they could get their deposit fee back.


Commissioner Horgan noted that it appeared there was little information provided on the issue of background


checks, and he asked who was the ultimate person in the associations who would ensure all of the eligible


people  had passed a background check.  Mr. McCollum answered that background checks are the


responsibility of each association’s Board of Directors.  He further explained that any coach who steps on the


field, a team mom, the person who goes into a dugout, and those who stand on the sidelines of a football game


have to pass a background check.  He continued that Parks and Recreation Director Anita Godbee stays on


top of the background checks as well.  Commissioner Brown asked if the Fayette County Sheriff’s Office


conducted the background checks, and Mr. McCollum replied they were conducted by the Fayette County


Marshal’s Office.


Commissioner Hearn said the revisions looked appropriate and well thought out, but since the manual was a


“living, breathing document” other problems would be zeroed in on and addressed.  He thanked those who


worked on the revisions.  Commissioner McCarty agreed with Commissioner Hearn.


County Administrator Jack Krakeel reminded Mr. McCollum and the Board that when the Policies and


Procedures Manual was discusses four year earlier, there was a good amount of discussion concerning “half


county fees”, and that the recommendations to the policy removed that threshold.  He explained that current


policies are that out of county people who use Fayette County parks pay twice as much as citizens of Fayette


County who use the facilities.  He specified that he was talking about the Brooks area of the county because


there are some associations  that have catchment areas that go beyond the Fayette County border so that







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 6


those who belong to those associations and play in Fayette County are “forced into that geographic area.”  He


asked if that concern from four years ago had been resolved.  Mr. McCollum replied that the issue had been


resolved, and explained the issue further and the steps taken to resolve it.


Commissioner Brown moved to approve staff’s request to revise the Parks and Recreation’s Policies and


Procedures Manual as presented by the Fayette County Recreation Commission.  Commissioner Horgan


seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 8",


follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


2. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to dispose of timber associated with the Snead Road West
project.  


Public Works Director Phil Mallon reminded the Board that the Snead Road West project is similar to other


projects that involve the removal of trees.  He told the Board that prior to starting a project, Public Works


typically meets on an informal basis with local timbering companies before projects begin by bringing them to


the site and asking them if they have interest and suggestions on bidding for the trees.  He said staff’s


consistent experience is there is not much of a market out there with regard to tree removal, and that he had


spoken to his counterparts in Clayton and Douglas Counties who had similar results with their projects.  He said


despite those results, staff took the time to locate interest for the trees at the Snead Road West project and had


the expected results, so the County removed the trees.  He said the plan was then to go through the bid


process in order to have someone take the trees, but that the Purchasing Department raised questions about


the disposal of County property and the need to get the Board’s approval to remove the trees.  He then asked


the Board for approval to remove the trees and to dispose of them however possible, even through a site like


GovDeals.


Commissioner Brown asked if timber was a common item on GovDeals since he was used to seeing items such


as vehicles and office equipment on the site.  Mr. Mallon replied he was not sure if it was a common item., that


he was open to ideas on how to dispose of the trees, and would ensure they were removed or taken away in


a transparent manner.  He mentioned that there is a lot of hardwood, and that hardwood is taken back to the


Public Works Department where it is run through a sawmill and used for trailer beds or other purposes.  Mr.


Mallon added that the remaining lumber could also be taken to the landfill to be eventually burned up or ground


up, but both of those options were expensive.  Chairman Frady suggested that if the lumber was ground up


then the citizens could use the grindings for their gardens and yards.  


Commissioner Brown moved to approve staff’s recommendation to dispose of timber from the Snead Road


West project via a requisition, GovDeals, or other advertising means.  Chairman Frady seconded the motion.


The motion passed unanimously.


Mr. Mallon informed the Board that is was not a traditional move to ask the Board to approve of the disposal


of lumber, and he asked if it was the Board’s desire that he get approval each time lumber had to be removed.


Commissioner Hearn answered that the Board needed to give Mr. Mallon the flexibility to remove the lumber


in the most efficient method possible.  Mr. Mallon suggested that requests to conduct similar projects that would


require the removal of lumber could be worded to give that explicit permission.  The Board consented to that


suggestion.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment  9", follows these minutes and is made an official


part hereof.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 7


Administrator’s Reports:


New Budget Meeting Date Scheduled for May 24, 2012: County Administrator Jack Krakeel reminded the


Commissioners that staff had previously scheduled the Board for the dates of May 8 and May 9 to hold budget meetings,


but now there is a conflict that requires the cancellation of the meeting on May 8.  He requested a replacement date from


the Board so that staff could be properly prepared to provide it with the budget information and schedule any meetings


that may be needed.  He asked if the Board could find a date during the week of May 21, 2012.  The Board consented


to meet on May 24, 2012 for several hours prior to the regularly scheduled Board of Commissioners meeting.  It was


further agreed that the meeting would begin at 4:00 p.m., and that the SPLOST meeting would be cancelled to


accommodate this request. 


Announcement of Retirement: County Administrator Jack Krakeel announced that during the previous two days he


delivered to the Board his official notification of his retirement date from Fayette County Government.  He announced


that his retirement would become effective July 1, 2012.  He stated that he has had a tremendous career with Fayette


County from a personal perspective, having worked for Fayette County for 28 years, but in consultation with his family


and after much thought and consideration, he determined it was the appropriate time to retire.  He said he wanted to


make the announcement collectively to the Board, even though he had spoken individually to each Commissioner, but


also to inform his staff who have been wondering about this issue.  He told the Board that he has appreciated the


confidence the Board has had in him for the last five years and he thanked the Board for the opportunities that were


presented to him over these 28 years.


Commissioner Brown thanked Mr. Krakeel for his service.


Commissioner McCarty requested that Mr. Krakeel make himself available to the Board for a while until someone could


take his place.  Mr. Krakeel replied that he would be more than glad to assist the Board through a transition process


since it is permissible in the County’s retirement plan to do that for certain key positions.  He said this is a decision that


the Board would have to make, but he repeated that he would certainly be willing to assist the County through the


appropriate transition process after the July date.  Chairman Frady said he had spoken to Mr. Krakeel about this issue,


and that Mr. Krakeel had indicated he would make himself available up until the first of the next year.  He continued that


in the process of the budget and other issues going on, he thought it would be appropriate for the Board to keep Mr.


Krakeel on in that capacity even though he would get a salary without benefits.  Mr. Krakeel clarified that the way the


Internal Revenue Service’s (IRS) regulations work regarding a transitional period for key employees that have effectively


retired, those individuals are not permitted to draw their retirement pay since they would continue in the same capacity


as they are currently employed; although they are effectively, for the purposes of the retirement plan, retired July 1, 2012.


He further clarified that everything else would stay the same concerning compensation, benefit levels, but that individual


would not be eligible to draw retirement until after employment is terminated.


Chairman Frady told Mr. Krakeel that he had been with Fayette County for 20 out of Mr. Krakeel’s 28 years with the


County, and he said that Mr. Krakeel had been very outstanding in everything he endeavored to do for the County


through his assignments.  He continued that Mr. Krakeel has had national attention from Fire Services throughout the


United States, and that he had reached the pinnacle of success. He thanked Mr. Krakeel for his service, said he had


enjoyed working with him, and he added that Mr. Krakeel is a hard worker who gets the job done, and that he and the


current and past Boards have appreciated him as well.  The Board and audience applauded Mr. Krakeel.  Chairman


Frady closed saying the Board is not looking forward to Mr. Krakeel leaving the County.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 8


Attorney’s Reports: 


Remarks about County Administrator Jack Krakeel:  County Attorney Scott Bennett began by saying he works with
County Administrator Jack Krakeel every day, and that he did not think people realize how much Fayette County would


miss him and how much he does.  He said he has worked with more than a few city managers and county administrators


and county managers, and that he hoped everyone appreciated all Mr. Krakeel does.  He said when someone works


in other governments, such as he has done, it is easy to see how things do not run at times, but by working at Fayette


County he has seen how the work is done.  He continued that the way Mr. Krakeel has structured the County’s Policy


Manual, through the efforts to work on the County’s Code, and the other “big things that happen here” since Mr. Krakeel


became the County Administrator, coupled with the day to day tasks, should be appreciated by the citizens of Fayette


County.


Remarks about the NAACP Lawsuit:  County Attorney Scott Bennett informed the Board that Fayette County made


the news recently concerning a judge vacating the Consent Order pertaining to the County’s lawsuit with the National


Association for the Advancement of Colored People’s (NAACP) and the Fayette County Board of Education (BOE).  He


said that there is probably a question out there about why did Fayette County get involved with the BOE’s business to


start with, but the answer is that the County intervened and filed a motion to vacate that order.  He explained that the


reason Fayette County took that step, as spelled out in the order, was because there were intimations and statements


in the Consent Order that made it appear that the NAACP was the prevailing party and that the allegations in their


complaint were true, and that there was a Section 2 Violation.  He said the remedy that was agreed to did not fashion


a Section 2 Violation since it did not create a minority-majority district of a cohesive voting block.  He continued


explaining that Fayette County’s problem with the Consent Order was that the County was still fighting a lawsuit that the


BOE had the judge sign off saying the County would lose the lawsuit without that understanding being established.  He


informed the Board that the one thing the judge ordered in the order vacating the Consent Order was whether or not


there had been established a Section 2 Violation.  He concluded that Fayette County’s interests were directly effected,


that the intent was not to keep the BOE from doing what it wants since there is another way to accomplish what they


want to do without the judge getting involved, but they did not take that path.  He continued that in the Order to Vacate,


the judge pointed out that the order was presented to him as a Consent Order, but they did not notify the judge that


Fayette County had no part in it or agree to it or had even seen it.  He said the judge was under the impression that


Fayette County had no problem with it, so one of the reasons he Vacated his Order was to give Fayette County a chance


to present a case as to why the order was inappropriate.  He clarified that the County did not just jump into the BOE’s


business and stop them from doing what they wanted to do, but that the County took the effort because the BOE’s


decision had an adverse impact on a case that the County is moving forward with.  He added that the briefs for this case


were due next week, and then the week after that for responses, and the judge will set a hearing up after those response


briefs are filed to consider this issue.  


Chairman Frady asked if this has effect on the County’s reapportionment work.  Mr. Bennett replied that the


reapportionment, meaning the County’s attempt to have five districts with at-large voting, is a separate lawsuit from the


previous discussion, and that issue is pending with the Justice Department.  He said the judge has approved the


proposed five-district map, but now the Justice Department needs to approve it under Section 5.


Commissioners’ Reports:


Commissioner Allen McCarty: Commissioner McCarty told County Administrator Jack Krakeel that he did not always


agree with what he did, but he did what his instructions were and he did it well.  He said Mr. Krakeel did one of the finest


jobs at doing his job of anyone that he has ever worked with, and he thanked Mr. Krakeel for his work.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
April 26, 2012
Page 9


Commissioner Lee Hearn: Commissioner Hearn replied to Mr. Randy Ognio that the roadwork at State Route 85 and


Bernhard Road is a Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) project, and GDOT has complete control on that


project.  He said the County would be happy to pass the information along and ask for a finish date, but the GDOT often


does only what it wants to do on construction projects in Fayette County.  He then thanked Chief Financial Officer Mary


Holland and said it was good to see her in the audience.  In jest, he told County Administrator Jack Krakeel that he, as


Fire Chief, often talked him into more work than he should have committed to as the Public Works Director in terms of


grading fire stations, and hauling dirt, and resurfacing.   He then told Mr. Krakeel that the Board does appreciate the work


he has done, that he would be sorely missed, and that he thought there would be some “fish that will be taking it on th


chin” as a result of his retirement.


Executive Session:


Real Estate Acquisition and Litigation: Chairman Frady moved to recess into Executive Session to discuss Real


Estate Acquisition and Litigation matters.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.  The motion passed


unanimously.


The Board recesses into Executive Session at 8:03 p.m. and returned to Official Session at 8:20 p.m.


Executive Session Affidavit: Chairman Frady asked the record to reflect that the Board discussed Real Estate


Acquisition and Litigation matters during Executive Session and that no decisions had been made.  


Commissioner Brown moved to authorize the Chairman to sign an Executive Session Affidavit stating Real Estate


Acquisition and Litigation matters were discussed in Executive Session.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.


The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the Executive Session Affidavit, identified as “Attachment 10,” follows these


minutes and is made an official part hereof.  


Adjournment:  


Commissioner Brown moved to adjourn the April 26, 2012 Board of Commissioners meeting.  Commissioner Hearn


seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.


The Board of Commissioners adjourned the April 26, 2012 Board of Commissioners meeting at 8:20 p.m.


___________________________________                               __________________________________________


     Floyd L. Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk              Herbert E. Frady, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,


Georgia, held on the 24th day of May 2012.


___________________________________


    Floyd L. Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also 


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Sheriff's Office Captain Michelle Walker, if needed


Approval of the Sheriff's Office request to declare 20 cellular telephones, wireless internet cards, and related ancillary equipment as 


unserviceable, and to dispose of said items.


The Fayette County Sheriff's Office has a total of 20 unusable, broken and/or obsolete cellular telephones and wireless internet cards.  


Items for disposal/destruction also include numerous chargers, adapters, holders and batteries.  These items are county property and 


must be disposed of or destroyed in an appropriate manner.


Approval of the Sheriff's Office request to declare 20 cellular telephones, wireless internet cards, and related ancillary equipment as 


unserviceable, and to dispose of said items.


No funding is required for this request.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012








MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Board of Commissioners


May 2, 2012
 3:30 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at  www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on Wednesday, May 2, 2012, at 3:30
p.m. in the Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville,
Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Herb Frady, Chairman
Robert Horgan, Vice Chairman
Steve Brown
Lee Hearn


Commissioner Absent: Allen McCarty


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney
Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant


 Floyd Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk
______________________________________________________________________________________


Chairman Frady called the meeting to order at 3:39 p.m.


Acceptance of Agenda:


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve the Agenda as presented.  Commissioner Brown seconded the motion.
No discussion followed.  The motion carried 4-0.  Commissioner McCarty was absent for the duration of the meeting.


PRESENTATION / RECOGNITION:


1. Presentation by Becky Smith, Executive Director of Fayette FACTOR (Fayette Alliance Coordinating
Teamwork, Outreach and Resources) concerning participating in a program known as the Underage
Drinking Prevention Initiative.







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 2


Executive Director of Fayette FACTOR Becky Smith and Dawn Oparah explained the grant that they were
awarded for the Underage Drinking Prevention Program.  The Board commended them on the work involved
in obtaining this grant as well as this initiative to get teens as well as members of the community involved in
this Program.   A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 1", follows these minutes and is made an
official part hereof.


OLD BUSINESS:


2. Further discussion of Commissioner Allen McCarty’s request to halt plans for construction of Phase
III of the West Fayetteville Bypass and to begin construction of the East Fayetteville Bypass.


Due to the absence of Commissioner McCarty, there was a consensus of the Board to place this item on the
May 10, 2012 Board of Commissioners’ meeting for discussion.  A copy of this request, identified as
“Attachment 2", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


3. Further discussion of the proposed replacement of the bridge that crosses the Flint River on McIntosh
Road at the Fayette and Spalding County border.


Public Works Director Phil Mallon began his presentation by saying the discussion at hand concerned the
replacement of a bridge on McIntosh Road that crosses the Flint River at the Fayette-Spalding County border.
He said this bridge replacement project was identified in Fayette County’s 2003 Comprehensive Transportation
Plan (CTP), and that it is eligible for Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) funds.  Mr. Mallon told
the Board that the bridge was originally built in 1950 and he spoke about the size of the bridge before he
informed the Board that the bridge has a sufficiency rating of 9.2 out of 100.  He explained that the lowest score
possible on a sufficiency rating is zero, and that the highest and best score possible is 100.  He also told the
Board that the bridge has a low vehicle count of about 1,300 daily, and that the posted speed limit on the bridge
is 35 miles per hour.


Mr. Mallon reminded the Board that in September 2009, the Fayette County Board of Commissioners approved
the project to repair the bridge, and that since that time various and required pre-construction engineering
studies have been conducted including environmental history studies and archeological studies.  He also noted
that since the approval, staff held a public meeting to talk about a detour for the bridge and to provide general
information to the public.  He explained that as progress continues toward the repair of the bridge, the County
continually receives updated cost estimates, and that in December 2011, staff sent a detailed cost estimate to
Spalding County along with a draft Intergovernmental Agreement clarifying each jurisdictions’ responsibilities
before an agreement is reached with the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT).  He continued that
Spalding County indicated they did not have enough money to pay their share so they asked Fayette County
to “get” the GDOT to increase its level of funding.  He reported that Fayette County took those efforts, as
requested, and that the GDOT agreed to increase its funding from approximately $1.5 million to $2.2 million.
Mr. Mallon reported that Fayette County then sent another updated draft Intergovernmental Agreement to
Spalding County that reflected the GDOT’s elevated level of funding.  He reported that Spalding County again
indicated that they did not have enough funding, and asked for either Fayette County or the GDOT to pay more
for the project.  He informed the Board that staff responded by putting the pressure back onto Spalding County
for them to make a case to the GDOT for more funding, however, Spalding County has not been successful
in its efforts.  Mr. Mallon concluded his presentation by asking the Board’s direction on how to proceed.







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 3


Chairman Frady asked how much money has Fayette County already spent on the project, and Mr. Mallon
replied that Fayette County has already spent approximately $92,000.  Chairman Frady recalled that on
February 20, 2012 that he, County Administrator Jack Krakeel, and Mr. Mallon met with Spalding County
Commission Chairman Eddie Freeman about this project, and asked for either a commitment or some feedback
from Spalding County.  He noted, however, that no information has been provided to Fayette County since that
time.  He continued that both he and Mr. Krakeel also called Mr. Freeman last week about the project, and that
it seemed to him that Spalding County did not have money and that they had no hope of obtaining money for
the project.  Commissioner Hearn added that he had spoken to Spalding County Administrator William Wilson
about this issue, and he was not given the impression that Mr. Wilson had received all of the needed
information about this project.  He then asked how much progress had Fayette County made in regard to
completing its pre-construction engineering work.  Mr. Mallon and Mr. David Jaeger of Mallett Consulting, Inc.
replied that the environmental study was nearly complete and that preliminary plans had already been
submitted to the GDOT.  They stated that once the environmental work is completed, right-of-way acquisition
could begin, and that the actual repair work was slated to begin in Fiscal Year 2014.  


Commissioner Brown noted the bridge’s low sufficiency rating and asked if the bridge was safe enough for a
school bus or a fire engine to drive across.  Mr. Jaeger replied that he would be very hesitant to recommend
driving a fire engine across the bridge.  Commissioner Hearn added that if a bridge had a 10-ton weight limit
then it would be safe for a school bus to drive across, but he did not recall what the weight limit was for the
McIntosh Road bridge.  He also explained that the bridge’s safety rating is determined by the GDOT who
conducts bi-annual inspections of the bridge, informs the County how to “post” the bridge, and provides
recommendations for repairs.  He concluded that the bridge is safe based on the current posted loads.
Commissioner Brown replied that his fear was that if the bridge continues in its current state without any repairs,
and given the fact that there is an Automatic Aid Agreement between Fayette County and Spalding County, that
as heavy fire engines cross the bridge to respond to emergencies they would be putting themselves into
jeopardy.  Commissioner Hearn agreed that fire engines did not need to cross the bridge.  Commissioner Brown
suggested that the Board should hold a serious discussion on this issue in order to possibly alter the Automatic
Aid Agreement.  He also asked if Mr. Krakeel had a position on County’s agreement with Spalding County and
utilizing the bridge.  Mr. Krakeel replied that by not using the McIntosh Road bridge, alternative routes would
have to be utilized even though those routes would increase emergency response times.  He added that there
were ways to modify the current agreement to ensure personnel are safe by not utilizing the McIntosh Road
bridge.


Commissioner Horgan asked if Spalding County would pay for any work at all such as legal expenses for the
procurement of right-of-ways.  Mr. Mallon answered that the cost of acquiring right-of-ways would be split
between Fayette County and Spalding County with each jurisdiction responsible for their own right-of-ways.
Chairman Frady asked if SPLOST funds were already being used in the work, and he was informed they were
being used pursuant to the 2003 CTP.  Mr. Krakeel added that based on his conversations with counterparts
in Spalding County, he was not under the impression that they held right-of-way issues as critical.  


Commissioner Brown suggested, based on Commissioner Hearn’s comments that the Spalding County
Administrator seemed to not be completely informed on the project, that perhaps some of the Spalding County
Commissioners were also unaware of the project.  He suggested that Fayette County could make a
presentation to the Spalding County Board of Commissioners with the possibility of gaining that County’s
support.  Mr. Krakeel replied that he had called the Spalding County Administrator and did not receive a return
call, and Chairman Frady agreed that the Spalding County Board might not be communicating.  Commissioner
Hearn agreed with Commissioner Brown’s suggestion saying it would give a better understanding of Spalding







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 4


County’s position, and he volunteered to take Mr. Mallon with him in order to make a presentation to the
Spalding County Board of Commissioners.  Commissioner Brown agreed by saying that Commissioner Hearn
could go as a representative of the Board.


The Board consented to authorize staff to continue with the pre-construction engineering work required for the
repair of the McIntosh Road bridge, and to authorize Commissioner Hearn and Mr. Mallon to present a case
to the Spalding County Board of Commissioners.  The Board took no formal action on this item.  A copy of this
request, identified as “Attachment 3", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


NEW BUSINESS:


4. Discussion of funding the position of Constable for the Fayette County Magistrate Court.


County Administrator Jack Krakeel reminded the Commissioners that he provided a memo to the Board that
he wrote to Chief Magistrate Judge Robert A. Rupenthal about a Constable position which was vacated two
or three weeks ago.  He said that when the position was vacated, he held a conversation with Judge Rupenthal
about cost-saving efficiencies by not replacing the Constable position.  He told the Board that this discussion
was based on information he received from the Fayette County Sheriff’s Department indicating they had the
capability and capacity to fulfill the duties expected of a Constable.  He said that during his discussion with
Judge Rupenthal, the Judge expressed his concerns with the suggestion to replace the Constable position with
Sheriff’s deputies.  Mr. Krakeel reported that he relayed to the Judge that he understood the concerns, but that
his proposal was based solely from a cost-efficiency view and was not an attempt to undermine the Judge’s
authority.  He continued that last week, he received a letter from Judge Rupenthal indicating that he intended
to pursue filling the Constable position.   Mr. Krakeel acknowledged that typically this type of issue is discussed
during budget workshop meetings, however, since the Judge had expressed interest in filling the position, he
thought it best to have the Judge discuss the issue with the Board.  He clarified that the intention of this
discussion was to give him direction on how the Board wanted to proceed and so that Judge Rupenthal could
best determine how to move forward.  Mr. Krakeel then invited Judge Rupenthal to speak to the Board.


Judge Rupenthal thanked the Board for giving him the opportunity to speak about Mr. Krakeel’s proposal
concerning the Constable position.  He stated that he was against the proposal, but that his opposition was not
based on an immediate reaction or an attempt to protect the position.  He explained that is opposition to the
proposal was formed after carefully considering the situation and what is best for his department, for Fayette
County, and for the citizens.  He suggested that the proposal was wrong and improper for three reasons,
specifically: 1) the proposal was against the controlling statutes; 2) the proposal was bad policy and practice;
and; 3) the proposal was “bad economics”.  His first position was that the controlling statutes, based on existing
local legislation, authorized him to appoint a Constable.  His second position was that the Constable position
should not be “cast aside” so easily since the position was specialized and since there are 28 years of practice
allowing the Magistrate Judge to appoint a Constable.  His third position was that eliminating the Constable
position was bad economics since the Constable, who makes about $58,000 a year in total, collected
$164,848.25 in service fees last year.  Concerning his third position, Judge Rupenthal stated that it would take
two Sheriff’s deputies to do the work of one Constable, and their work would be less efficient since the
Constable position requires training and specialized work.


Chairman Frady agreed that the Magistrate Judge had the right to appoint a Constable, but the Board had an
obligation to fund the position.  He explained the Board might miss an opportunity to save money if it did not
discuss this issue with the Judge, and that the County could save money by allowing a Sheriff’s deputy to fill







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 5


the position.  Judge Rupenthal disagreed that appointing a Sheriff’s deputy to the position of Constable would
save the County money, and he added that a fourth reason why he disagreed with the proposal was that
citizens who rely on the Magistrate Court need a person who is able to properly serve papers.  He realized that
the Sheriff’s deputies are good people who are trying, but, since they were prone to make mistakes the Court
would have to correct mistakes while not being able to do so.  Chairman Frady asked if the Judge was
insinuating that Sheriff’s deputies do not know how to serve papers.  Judge Rupenthal replied that there was
a particular way that the Magistrate Court trains its personnel to serve papers and that Sheriff’s deputies do not
currently know how to serve Magistrate Court papers right now– albeit they would improve given time.  He
repeated that one of his concerns was that when complaints came, whether in the short term or in the long
term, he could only listen to the complaints but would not have the ability to solve the complaints.


Commissioner Horgan mentioned that when he came to the meeting he wanted to eliminate the Constable
position and utilize the Sheriff’s deputies in order to save money, but since he did not realize the history of the
position and the amount of service fees collected by the Constable, his position had been swayed.  


County Attorney Scott Bennett interjected that the Judge has the ability to appoint a Sheriff’s deputy as
Constable, just as he does when the Constable is away on vacation.  He said that it was misleading to suggest
that a Sheriff’s deputy could not serve as a Constable.  He agreed that the Magistrate Judge has the authority
to appoint a Constable, but there was nothing in the law prohibiting the Judge from naming a Sheriff’s deputy
as Constable.  Mr. Bennett also added that, regardless of who is appointed Constable, the same service fees
would still be collected, and that the revenue would not fall off simply because a Sheriff’s deputy is collecting
the fees.  Judge Rupenthal agreed that the same fees would be collected, but that it would take two Sheriff’s
deputies to do the work of one Constable.


Commissioner Horgan asked how many papers, on average, did a Constable serve each month.  Judge
Rupenthal replied that the annual total for 2011 was 4,270 papers, not to mention 322 evictions. He reminded
the Board that evictions are very personal issue, spoke about the Landlord-Tenant Laws, and stated a
Constable had to be physically present for evictions.  Commissioner Horgan acknowledged that as a landlord
he understood how touchy evictions could be and he understood the difference between a Constable showing
up for an eviction versus a Sheriff’s deputy.  


Judge Rupenthal also expressed concerns about how proposal was being handled since, if the Board wanted
to resolve this issue, it should have given him more than a week’s time to prepare his case.  Commissioner
Horgan asked if the Constable’s position had been budgeted.  Mr. Krakeel replied that the position was in the
current budget, and that he wanted to clarify some issues.  First, Mr. Krakeel reminded the Board and the Judge
that he does not approve budgets but that he recommends budgets to the Board.  Judge Rupenthal agreed with
that clarification.  Second. Mr. Krakeel reminded the Board that this discussion came up since he was under
the impression that Judge Rupenthal was going to start the process of filling the Constable position this week,
and that was the reason why the proposal was being dealt with at this time as opposed to being heard at the
budget hearings.  Third, he apologized if he misunderstood the intention of Judge Rupenthal’s letter, but it was
clear to him that the Judge was intent on beginning the process of hiring a Constable this week.  He agreed
that even though he had a substantive and different opinion than Judge Rupenthal had on this matter, so he
felt it was appropriate for the Judge to make his case prior to budget discussions.


Commissioner Brown mentioned that he too was unaware that the Constable position generated $164,000 in
fees and that, understanding a newly hired Constable would make less than $40,000 a year, he did not think
the Constable position was a problem.  







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 6


Chairman Frady asked Judge Rupenthal if he had truly considered using a Sheriff’s deputy as a Constable.
Judge Rupenthal replied that he had studied that possibility, and had spoken to other Chief Magistrate Judges
from other counties about that possibility.  He answered that he was convinced that there would be problems
if a Constable is not operating under a judge’s direct authority, and those problems would be service problems
that would increase complaints and reduce efficiency.  He told the Board that people love living in Fayette
County due to the service they receive, and that the Constable position had been fine-tuned, after 28 years of
existence, in order to serve the people of Fayette County.


Commissioner Brown asked if the Board should place this discussion on the next possible agenda  since Judge
Rupenthal would “remain in limbo” until a decision was made.  Commissioner Horgan asked if a Board decision
was truly needed for this issue.  Mr. Krakeel replied that Board action would not be required in this matter since
his proposal would affect the proposed Fiscal Year 2013 budget and not the current budget.  Chairman Frady
reminded everyone that this discussion was for informational purposes only, and that since the County had not
yet reached the end of the Fiscal Year 2012 budget, if Judge Rupenthal wanted to hire a Constable, he could
do so.  Chairman Frady added that when the discussions occur for the proposed Fiscal Year 2013 budget, this
proposal could be further addressed at that time.  Judge Rupenthal thanked the Board for hearing him and then
left the meeting.


Mr. Krakeel clarified the intention of his proposal and stressed that he was not attempting to eliminate a position
while someone was currently in the position.  He explained that when the opportunity arose due to a vacancy
in the position, he had a discussion to learn if the duties and responsibilities of a Constable could be absorbed
by existing staff, and that he was informed by the Sheriff that his deputies could do the work.  Mr. Krakeel
continued that he understood Judge Rupenthal’s concerns and he was empathetic to them, but that he also
has a responsibility to the Board to attempt to find every opportunity to be as efficient as possible in light of the
budgetary constraints.  Chairman Frady replied that Mr. Krakeel did the right thing, that everyone respected
the Judge’s authority to appoint his own Constable, but that it was also understood that the Board had the
responsibility to fund the position.


The Board consented to authorize the Chief Magistrate Judge to hire a Constable for the remainder of Fiscal
Year 2012 as budgeted and consented to discuss the proposal further at the upcoming Fiscal Year 2013
Budget Workshops.  The Board took no formal action on this item.  A copy of this request, identified as
“Attachment 4", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


5. Discussion of staff’s request for consideration of proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code
of Ordinances, Chapter 3 Alcoholic Beverages, Article IV. On-Premises Consumption Dealers, Division
1 Generally, Sec. 3-180.6 Closing Hours, which would allow the Sunday sales of Beer, Wine, and / or
Distilled Spirits for On-Premise Consumption.


Zoning Coordinator Robyn Wilson, representing the Planning and Zoning Department, informed the Board that
the County had received requests from the  five businesses licensed in Fayette County for on-premises
consumption of alcohol, and that the County already allows “pouring” on Sundays.  She informed the Board that
the proposed amendments to the existing regulations would approve the requests by allowing approved
establishments to sell alcohol by the drink on Sunday.  Chairman Frady asked if the proposed amendments
had any relation to packaged alcohol sales, and Mrs. Wilson replied the proposed amendments were not
related to packaged alcohol sales.  Mrs. Wilson explained that Georgia State Law allows for on-premises
consumption on Sundays, however, the Fayette County Code of Ordinances does not.  She clarified that if the
Board chose to approve on-premises consumption on Sunday then it would have to amend the Fayette County







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 7


Code of Ordinances, but that decision would not require a Public Hearing.  She then asked the Board if it
wanted to proceed with the request, and if so, should she place the proposed amendments on the next Consent
Agenda.


Commissioner Horgan asked who had requested on-premises sales on Sundays.  Mrs. Wilson replied that
Franks at the Old Mill, The Italian Oven, Metro Sports Bar, Whitewater Creek Country Club, and The Links
made the request.  Mrs. Wilson added that all of those establishments serve beer and wine, and that three of
those five serve distilled spirits.  She continued that if the two establishments who do not serve distilled spirits
chose to do so, they would have to be approved by Fayette County since they would have to meet certain
requirements such as setbacks in order to obtain the appropriate license.


Commissioner Brown asked what other jurisdictions were doing pertaining to this issue.  Mrs. Wilson replied
that other jurisdictions in Fayette County allowed for on-premises sales on Sundays.  County Attorney Scott
Bennett added that while he knew that Peachtree City allowed for on-premises sales he did not know what the
other jurisdictions allowed.  Chairman Frady said he had no problem moving forward with the request and
placing the proposed amendments on the next Consent Agenda.


The Board consented to allow the proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code to be placed on the May
10, 2012 Board of Commissioners Consent Agenda.  The Board took no formal action on this item.  A copy of
this request, identified as “Attachment 5", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


6. Discussion by the Solid Waste Department of proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code,
Chapter 19, Utility Regulations, Article IV, Solid Waste Management.


Director of Stormwater Management, Vanessa Birrell, stated that her proposed amendments were intended
to delete sections of the Fayette County Code that are out of date, and she quipped that in this case, as it
pertained to Solid Waste Management, all of the current sections were out of date.  Commissioner Brown asked
if the reason all of the sections are out of date was that all of the landfills are closed.  Mrs. Birrell affirmed that
the landfills are closed, except for a reserve section of a landfill, and that was why the Fayette County Code
sections were out of date.  Chairman Frady and Commissioner Horgan stated they had no problems with
making the changes.


The Board consented to place the proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code on the May 10, 2012
Consent Agenda.  The Board took no formal action on this item.  A copy of this request, identified as
“Attachment 6", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof. 


7. Discussion concerning a request from the Director of the Water System to allow Mallett Consulting to
prepare specifications and to issue bids for the Flint River pump station at a cost of $19,750.00.


Water System Director Tony Parrott informed the Board that when the Flint River Pump Station first became
operational it had the ability to pump eight million gallons a day from the Flint River, however, during the years
that capacity has increased to fourteen million gallons a day, when available.  He told the Board that pumping
water at such a large capacity from the Flint River also includes pumping up “trash”, or debris, from the river
that affects the pumps and causes serious damage to them.  He noted that during the past winter, all of the
pumps went out of service and the County lost flow that could have been used to supply Lake Horton.  He
informed the Board that one of the available options to correct the problem was a “trash screen” that
continuously operates when the pumps are running and can be modified and placed into the pump house.  He







Minutes
May 2, 2012
Page Number 8


reminded the Board that projects like the one requested would have to be engineered and would have to be
approved by the State of Georgia’s Department of Natural Resources’ (DNR) Drinking Water Program.  He
mentioned that after the project is put out to bid that other vendors would be able to submit their bids if they
have similar equipment that meet specifications.  He closed his remarks by asking the Board for approval to
have Mallett Consulting, Inc. conduct the engineering process and to start the approval process with the
Department of Natural Resources.


Commissioner Hearn asked about how the trash screen would work.  Mr. Parrott replied that the trash screen
is a continuous loop, and as water is pumped in the “trash” is caught on the outside of the loop.  He continued
that as the trash reaches the top of the loop it dumps over a ledge and available water would then flush the
debris back into the river.  Commissioner Hearn clarified that the debris would not make it to the pumps, and
Mr. Parrott agreed that it debris would not make it to the “wet well”.  Mr. Parrott mentioned that the current
system in operation has a screen that has to be manually lifted up and cleaned, but due to the amount of water
being pumped in, that system was no longer practical.


Commissioner Brown asked if this proposed system was the only system or method available, and if other
alternatives had been researched.  Mr. Parrott replied that vendors would be able to provide other options or
alternatives during the bidding process, and that there is more than one vendor who manufactures traveling
screens. Commissioner Brown asked if staff had settled on using the traveling screen with no other options.
Mr. Parrott answered that staff intended to use the traveling screen, as proposed, but that, if a contractor
wanted to provide the County with another option during the bid process, staff would consider it.


Commissioner Horgan asked how the project would be funded, and Mr. Parrott replied that the Water System
has a budgeted Renewal & Extension Fund that would be used to pay for the project.


The Board consented to authorize staff to place the request on the May 10, 2012 Consent Agenda.  The Board
took no formal action on this request.  A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 7", follows these minutes
and is made an official part hereof.


8. Discussion of a request from the Director of the Water System to allow Mallett Consulting to develop
the specification package and to issue bids for the replacement of the Supervisory Control And Data
Acquisition (SCADA) System at a cost of $12, 900.00.


Water System Director Tony Parrott informed the Board that the County’s water treatment plants have a
computer system, referred to as a Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) system, that enables
plant operators to utilize various readings and to have various operational controls such as “tell[ing] what is in
the water tanks, to turn valves off and on, to provide water to the City of Fayetteville, to know what is going on
at the plant and at the different buildings since not every building is staffed.”  He told the Board that the SCADA
system had been operation since it was first installed at the Crosstown Water Plant in 1986, and that the system
had been added to since that time such as when the South Fayette Water Plant was built ten years ago.  Mr.
Parrott informed the Board that the Water System has reached a point where equipment for the SCADA system
needs to be either rebuilt or replaced, and that the radio system was required to move from an analog to digital
system.  He concluded that staff was seeking the ability to address all of the issues at one time in order to meet
the needs.







Action Agenda
May 2, 2012
Page Number 9


Commissioner Brown asked if these were packaged systems since he assumed that every water plant across
the country had similar systems.  Mr. Parrott replied that other water plants have different modules and have
different systems, and that those different modules and systems are put together as a package.  He continued
that after the project is put to bid, interested vendors would be able to present their various packages or
components for consideration.  


Commissioner Hearn asked why a SCADA system was important to the County.  Mr. Parrott replied that years
ago, as an example, staff would have to be physically sent to water tanks to determine how much water was
in them. Now, with the SCADA system, staff would be able to simply look at a screen to determine that
information, and would be able to obtain other types of information such as the water pressure throughout
various parts of the Water System, to be able to read valves, and to be able to read the flow of water. 


The Board consented to authorize staff to place this request on the May 10, 2012 Consent Agenda.  The Board
took no formal action on this request.  A copy of this request, identified as “Attachment 8", follows these minutes
and is made an official part hereof.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS:  County Administrator Jack Krakeel stated that the budget books for next week’s
budget meeting on Wednesday, May 9, 2012 at 5:00 p.m. were available and ready for the Board members to pick up.


ATTORNEY’S REPORTS:  County Attorney Scott Bennett remarked on a newspaper article that appeared in the paper
today  the County Administrator Jack Krakeel’s participation in the early retirement plan that was offered to 44 eligible
employees.  He said there was a suggestion to hire an outside attorney to review this issue as to whether or not it was
legal.  He said he had reviewed this issue and consulted with the Human Resources staff regarding GEBCorp who
administers the retirement plan.  He pointed out that the County had engaged the attorneys for GEBCorp to complete
this plan to make sure it was compliant and met all of their standards and they determined that, under the terms of the
plan, Jack Krakeel was an eligible participant in the plan and the early retirement option.  He said he had also received
from the Human Resources Director Connie Boehnke a copy of Mr. Krakeel’s employment contract.  He noted that in
paragraph 14.1, the contract stated “the employee (Mr. Krakeel) shall be part of the County’s general employee pension
program and for purposes of an early retirement benefits shall be eligible consistent with the requirements for retiring
members of the organization’s public safety departments.”  He noted that when he began his employment as County
Attorney, Mr. Krakeel was the Interim County Administrator.  He said he was part of negotiating Mr. Krakeel’s contract
with the Board of Commissioners in 2008 as well as the contract renewal in 2010.  He said one of Mr. Krakeel’s concerns
about taking the County Administrator’s position was the fact that he had been a Fayette County employee for over 20
years and he did not want to give up what he had earned in retirement in the plan.  He said Mr. Krakeel wanted to make
sure he was eligible for whatever might occur with retirement.  He stated that provision was specifically included to be
“really clear”.  He said he did not feel there was a legal issue with regard to whether Jack Krakeel was eligible to
participate in the plan.  He remarked that Mr. Krakeel’s contract states that he is eligible to participate in the plan and
GEBCorp states that Mr. Krakeel is eligible.  He said he did not know what possible legal argument or claim could be
made that he is not eligible.  He said there was a second part of the plan that was raised about whether or not Mr.
Krakeel’s participation in formulating the plan was an issue.  He felt there were two issues to be considered there
including (1) as part of the Board’s retreat the plan was discussed thoroughly about what was being offered and what
employees would be eligible which was only 6% of the County work force; and (2) currently the expectation was that
approximately one half of the eligible participants would take the plan.  He pointed out that this says something about
where the plan falls from a generosity level and what employees would be getting from the plan.  He said he did not see
anything here that would raise red flags with him.  He said he sees a plan where it was 50/50 for employees to take the
plan.  







Action Agenda
May 2, 2012
Page Number 10


Attorney Bennett said if the Board wanted to review this issue further, it was the Board’s decision to make.  He said he
had looked at this and had reviewed this issue and he did not know what else could be done or what else could be
determined.  He said he just wanted to make the Board aware of the fact that he had reviewed this and these are the
conclusions that he had reached.  He said if the Board wanted him to look at anything else, he would be glad to.


Chairman Frady agreed with Attorney Bennett and he said this situation was part of the negotiations that took place that
Mr. Krakeel would be put in a position to retire when he was ready and the Board voted on this package of retirement
in order to save money in the approximate amount of $800,000 to $1,000,000 in funds.  He said this was an opportunity
that this Board gave to all of the eligible employees.  He said it was unacceptable to him that anyone would even bring
this issue up and he felt it reflected that they just did not know the facts.


COMMISSIONERS REPORTS: Commissioner Brown said he had submitted an e-mail to the Board to place an item on
an agenda to discuss Mr. Krakeel proposing the defined benefit plan and now being eligible for the early retirement plan.
He said the only issue that he had was someone in the position of authority who was orchestrating the plan, looked over
the plan, and then decided to take the plan.  He said if he had been aware of a proposed early retirement plan he would
have suggested Mr. Krakeel step aside and someone else formulate the plan.  He said he understood the County
Attorney had reviewed this situation, but he was interested in having an independent authority look at it and someone
who was not subject to the County Administrator.  He said if that person says the plan is good, then he was 100% in
favor of it.  


County Attorney Scott Bennett emphasized that he does not work for Mr. Krakeel and does not answer to him.  He said
he works for the Board of Commissioners.  He said if he thought that he was not competent, or prejudiced, or could not
give an opinion, then he would not give one.  


Commissioner Brown said personally he would feel more comfortable if an independent person could come in and look
at the information.  He repeated that if the outside person said the plan was “alright” then he would be fully in support
of it.  


Chairman Frady interjected that the plan came from GEBCorp, and that their attorneys “set up this early retirement plan”.
He said the County Attorney was asked to give the Board his opinion and he has done so.  He said he was in favor of
this plan and would not recommend spending more money to get another same opinion.  He said this would be a waste
of taxpayers’ dollars.  


Commissioner Horgan felt this discussion was “crazy”, was an attack on the integrity of a man who has been with the
County for 28 years, and was “totally uncalled for”.







Action Agenda
May 2, 2012
Page Number 11


ADJOURNMENT:


Commissioner Horgan moved to adjourn the meeting at 5:07 p.m.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  No
discussion followed.  The motion carried 4-0.  Commissioner McCarty was absent.


___________________________________                               __________________________________________
     Floyd Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk                      Herbert E. Frady, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24th day of May 2012.


___________________________________
    Floyd L. Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk








AgendaAgendaAgendaAgenda
Board of Commissioners


May 24, 2012
 7:00 P.M.


Call to Order, Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  


Acceptance of Agenda.


PUBLIC HEARING:


1. Consideration of Petition No. 1223-12, Ricardo Alegria and Landria Toogood
Alegria, Owners, Richard A. Diment, Esq., Agent, request to rezone 1.36
acres from R-70 to R-20 to bring a single-family dwelling lot into compliance.
This property is located in Land Lot 74 of the 7th District, fronts on Ellison
Road and Tyrone Road, and being Lot 2 of Ramonaland Subdivision.


2. Consideration of Ordinance No. 2012-09 approving proposed amendments
to the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 20, Zoning Ordinance
regarding Articles, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 and 11.


3. Consideration of Resolution No. 2012-11 approving proposed amendments
to the Fayette County Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Element, and Future
Land Use and Narrative by providing for the consideration of rezoning an
Illegal Nonconforming Lot to a Legal Nonconforming Lot Status (LNS) sub-
category of the same zoning district based on certain factors.


PUBLIC COMMENT:


CONSENT AGENDA:


4. Approval of staff’s recommendation to modify the award of Bid #823 by
rescinding the award to clean the E-911 Communications Center to American
Facility Services, Inc; by awarding the bid to clean the E-911 Center to
Tribond, LLC.; and by authorizing the Chairman to sign any contracts or
documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


5. Approval of a request from the Sheriff’s Office to amend the State Confiscated
Revenue Budget Account by $1,188.69 for abandoned monies which have
been ordered retained for law enforcement as required by law.


6. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the
Criminal Investigations Division by $541.62 for reimbursement for employees
assigned to work with various federal agencies.


7. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to declare 20 cellular telephones,
wireless internet cards, and related ancillary equipment as unserviceable, and
to dispose of said items.


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
Herb Frady, Chairman


Robert Horgan, Vice Chairman
Steve Brown
Lee Hearn


Allen McCarty


i


STAFF
Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney


Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk
Floyd Jones, Chief Deputy Clerk


i


MEETING LOCATION
Public Meeting Room
Administrative Complex
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214


i


MEETING TIMES
2nd and 4th Thursday each month 7:00 pm


i


COMMISSION OFFICE
Administrative Complex


Suite 100
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214
Phone: 770.305.5200
Fax: 770.305.5210


i


WEB SITE


www.fayettecountyga.gov


i


E-MAIL


administration@fayettecountyga.gov







Agenda
May 24, 2012
Page Number 2


8. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid # 832 for dust control on gravel roads to South Eastern Road
Treatment, for the application of calcium chloride, in the amount of $2,912 per mile for 15.648 miles, in an
amount not to exceed $45,600, and to authorize the Chairman to sign any contract or document contingent
upon the County Attorney’s review.


9. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #826 Water Bills and Envelopes Printing to both If Its Printed!
in the amount of $4,991.25 for water bill forms, and to Mac Paper Converters in the amount of $13,340.13 for
envelopes, at an aggregate amount of $18,331.38, and to authorize the Chairman to sign any agreements
contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


10. Approval of the Water System’s request to authorize the Chairman to sign a Release for Construction
Agreement, an Underground Distribution Agreement, and an Easement Agreement between Fayette County
and Georgia Power for electrical service to be supplied to the Lake McIntosh Raw Water Pump Station,
contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


11. Approval of the April 26, 2012 Board of Commissioners Minutes and the May 2, 2012 Board of Commissioners
Workshop Minutes.


OLD BUSINESS:


12. Update from the County Administrator on the proposed merger of the County Water System and the City of
Fayetteville Water Department.


13. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to contract with Diversified Electronics, Inc. for a $1,000 fee on an as
needed basis, to review the county’s inventory of Existing or Planned Tower Sites as required by Fayette
County Zoning Ordinance, Article V., 5-44, and to authorize the Chairman to sign the contract and related
documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


14. Consideration of Resolution No. 2012-12 for establishing fees, as required by the Fayette County Zoning
Ordinance, for costs associated with the administration of certain requirements of the Fayette County Zoning
Ordinance, Development Regulations, Subdivision Regulations, and the Sign Ordinance.


15. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to prepare specifications and to issue bids
for the Flint River Pump Station at a cost of $19,750.


16. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to develop the specification package and
to issue bids for the replacement of the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) System at a cost
of $12,900.


NEW BUSINESS:


17. Discussion on how the Board wishes to proceed in its efforts to hire a new County Administrator.







Agenda
May 24, 2012
Page Number 3


18. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #833 Culvert Pipe Material, for the West Fayetteville
Bypass Project (SPLOST) and the Merrydale Lane Project, to low bidder Foley Products Company, in the total
amount of $36,973.44, and to authorize the Chairman to sign a forthcoming contract and related documents
contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


19. Consideration of staff’s request to approve the proposed Project Framework Agreement between Fayette
County and the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) for the replacement of the McIntosh Road bridge
over the Flint River (SPLOST Project No. B-6), and authorization for the Chairman to sign the agreement
contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


20. Consideration of proposed funding categories for Transportation Referendum discretionary money.


21. Discussion of Fayette County’s transportation projects for the Atlanta Regional Commission’s PLAN 2040
Limited Update / Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Project Solicitation.


22. Update on current SPLOST Projects by the Public Works Director.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS:


ATTORNEY’S REPORTS:


COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS:


ADJOURNMENT:








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also 


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Sheriff's Office Captain Michelle Walker, if needed


Approval of the Sheriff's Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Criminal Investigations Division by $541.62 for 
reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various federal agencies.


The Fayette County Sheriff's Office Criminal Investigations Division receives monies for reimbursement of overtime funds from various 
federal programs for personnel assigned to work investigations in cooperation with these agencies.


Approval of the Sheriff's Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Criminal Investigations Division by $541.62 for 
reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various Federal agencies.


No funding is required.  Approval of this request will revise the Criminal Investigation Division's Overtime Budget (10030321-511300) to 
$155,379.10.


No


No


Yes


No


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Administration Jack Krakeel


Update from the County Administrator on the proposed merger of the County Water System and the City of Fayetteville Water 
Department.


Over the course of the last several months multiple meetings have been held with the City Manager regarding the feasibility of the merger 
of the organizations' water systems including the development of financial parameters associated with the merger. City officials have met 
with their bond counsel for outstanding water/sewer bonds and have determined that a merger will not meet the covenants of their bond 
instruments. Subsequently the City has proposed a direct sale of their water system to the County. Staff requests direction as to the 
BOC's interest in a direct purchase of the Fayetteville Water System. Should the BOC determine that they have an interest in pursuing a 
direct purchase, one of the initial requirements would be to have an evaluation of the net worth of the City's water system assets. 
Preliminary information received from the City indicates that the cost to conduct a valuation of the system is approximately $15,000. The 
City has requested a cost share of the analysis if the BOC has an interest in pursuing a direct purchase. 
 
It should be noted that the County would more than likely have to issue revenue bonds to cover the purchase price of the City's assets 
subsequent to valuation and payment structure for the assets.


Does the BOC have an interest in pursuing the feasibility of a direct purchase of the Fayetteville Water System? 


If the Board concurs, then  authorization would be required to expend up to $7,500 for the engagement of a consultant to conduct a 
system valuation. 


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Old BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of staff's recommendation to award Bid #826 Water Bills and Envelopes Printing to both If Its Printed! in the amount of 


$4,991.25 for water bill forms, and to Mac Paper Converters in the amount of $13,340.13 for envelopes, at an aggregate amount of 


$18,331.38, and to authorize the Chairman to sign any agreements  contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Every month, the Fayette County Water System prints approximately 30,000 water bills and mails them to its customers.   


 


The recommended bid is for printing 363,00 water bill forms, 363,000 #10 special window envelopes, 369,000 #9 regular envelopes, and 


50,000 #10 window envelopes.  Due to their volume, these water bill forms and envelopes will be delivered to the Water System in three 


shipments over the course of the year. 


 


The low bidder for the water bill forms was J.J. Collins Printers, however, they could not hold firm on their price after June 3, 2012.  The 


second lowest bidder was Level One, but they did not include inside delivery charges.  The third lowest bidder was Envelopes and 


Forms, Inc., however quality and service issues have been experienced in the past.  Therefore, the recommended bidder is If Its Printed! 


 


All of the requested envelopes are requested to be provided by Mac Paper Converters.  Mac Paper Converters was the low bidder for the 


#10 window envelopes.  Envelopes and Forms, Inc. and Husky Envelope were the lowest and second lowest bidders, respectively, for 


both the #10 special window envelopes and #9 regular envelopes.  Envelopes and Forms, Inc., as noted above, has had service issues 


in the past, and Husky Envelopes could not hold firm on their bid price after September 30, 2012.


Approval of staff's recommendation to award Bid #826 Water Bills and Envelopes Printing to both If Its Printed! in the amount of 


$4,991.25 for water bill forms, and to Mac Paper Converters in the amount of $13,340.13 for envelopes, at an aggregate amount of 


$18,331.38, and to authorize the Chairman to sign any agreements  contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Funding is available in the Water System's Office Supply budget.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Invitations to bid were mailed directly to 23 vendors.  This invitation was also extended through Fayette Daily News, the county's website, 


Georgia Local Government Access Marketplace (www.glga.org), and Channel 23.  Ten contractors responded to the invitation to bid.


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012







 


Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov


 
 
To:  Jack Krakeel 
 
From:  Ted L. Burgess 
 
Date:  May 8, 2012 
 
Subject: Bid #826 – Water Bills and Envelopes 
 
The Purchasing Department issued Invitation to Bid #826 for the purchase of 363,000 water bill 
forms; 363,000 #10 special window envelopes; 369,000 #9 regular envelopes; and 50,000 #10 
window envelopes.  Due to the volume involved, the water bills and envelopes are to be delivered 
to the Water System in three shipments over the next year. 
 
Invitations were direct-mailed to 23 vendors.  In addition, invitations were extended via the 
Fayette News, the county website, Georgia Local Government Access Marketplace 
(www.glga.org), and Channel 23.  Ten contractors responded to the invitation to bid (please see 
the attached spread sheet). 
 
Water Bill Forms: 
For the water bill forms, J.J. Collins Printers submitted the apparent lowest price.  They stated, 
however, that they would hold the price firm only until June 3, 2012.  The apparent second-lowest 
bid, from Level One, did not include inside delivery charges, which is important because the 
Water System facility does not have a loading dock.  The third-lowest bid was from Envelopes & 
Forms, Inc., which has previously had quality and service issues with the Water System.  The 
Water System recommends awarding the water bill forms to If Its Printed!. 
 
Envelopes: 
Envelopes and Forms, Inc. was apparent the low bidder for #10 special window envelopes and 
#9 regular envelopes.  However, past vendor issues were reported as stated above.  Husky 
Envelope was the apparent second-lowest bidder for #10 special window envelopes and #9 
regular envelopes, but they would only hold their prices firm until September 30, 2012. 
 
Mac Paper Converters was the next- lowest bidder for #10 special window envelopes and #9 
regular envelopes.  They were the lowest bidder for #10 window envelopes.  The Water System 
recommends awarding all three envelope types to Mac Paper Converters. 
 
Based on the bid stipulations and exclusions, and the other issues stated above, I support the 
Water System’s recommendations. 
 
Attachment 



http://www.glga.org/





WATER 
BILL 


(363,000)


#10 SPECIAL 
WINDOW 


ENV. 
(363,000)


#9 REG 
ENV.   


(369,000)


#10 
WINDOW 


ENV.   
(50,000)


      TOTAL 
BID PRICE


EDGETHON CORP DBA TAMPA ENVELOPE No Bid $7,568.55 $6,162.30 $1,042.50 $14,773.35


ENVELOPES & FORMS, INC., DBA "SUREBILL" $4,850.00 $5,576.00 $4,559.00 $800.00 $15,785.00


HARRIS FORMS $5,844.30 $9,528.75 $7,361.55 $1,612.50 $24,347.10


$6,058.47 $9,100.00 $7,688.93 $1,304.00 $24,151.40


HUSKY ENVELOPE $6,650.16 $6,759.06 $4,623.57 $931.00 $18,963.79


IF ITS PRINTED! $4,991.25 $8,105.79 $6,693.66 $1,027.50 $20,818.20


J.J. COLLINS PRINTERS $4,395.93 No Bid No Bid No Bid $4,395.93


LEVEL ONE $4,846.05 $7,459.65 $5,405.85 $1,027.50 $18,739.05


MAC PAPER CONVERTERS $6,860.70 $7,452.39 $5,335.74 $552.00 $20,200.83


THE PRINTING CO-OP $5,437.74 $9,423.48 $7,664.13 $1,395.00 $23,920.35


Water Bill:
J.J. Collins Printers: They would hold bid price firm only until June 3, 2012.
Level One: States bid prices do not include inside delivery charges.  They also state their prices may change if estimated quantities vary.
Envelopes & Forms, Inc (DBA Surebill): The Water System reports previous quality and service issues with this vendor.


Window Envelopes & #9 regular envelopes:
Envelopes & Forms, Inc (DBA Surebill): The Water System reports previous quality and service issues with this vendor.
Husky Envelope: They would hold bid price firm only until September 30, 2012.


BID: __________#826 WATER BILL & ENVELOPE PRINTING______________________
OPENING DATE: _________3:00PM, TUESDAY, APRIL 3, 2012______________________


HEIMLICH BUSINESS SOLUTIONS INC. DBA HB 
SOLUTIONS


COMPANY NAME


P:\Ted B\Water Sys\826 Bills & Envelopes\826 Tally.xls





		Water- Bid 826 Water Bills and Envelopes Agenda Request File.pdf

		Water- Bid 826 Water Bills and Envelopes Backup

		Bid 826 Bills & Envelopes - Purchasing Backup 1.pdf

		Bid 826 Bills & Envelopes - Purchasing Backup 2

		Sheet1










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Buildings and Grounds Greg Ownby


Approval of staff's recommendation to modify the award of Bid #823 by rescinding the award to clean the E-911 Communications Center 


to American Facility Services, Inc.; by awarding the bid to clean the E-911 Center to Tribond, LLC.; and by authorizing the Chairman to 


sign any contracts or documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review. 


Recently the Purchasing Department issued Invitation to Bid #823 to establish a 12-month contract for cleaning six County facilities, 


among which was the E-911 Communications Center.  The low bidder for the E-911 Center was American Facility Services, Inc.  On April 


26, 2012, the Board of Commissioners awarded Bid #823 to three vendors who would clean the six facilities, and American Facility 


Services was awarded the bid to clean the E-911 Command Center. 


 


Upon being notified they had won the bid to clean the E-911 Center, American Facility Services responded that they could not clean the 


E-911Center at their bid price of $214.00 per month unless they were awarded other facilities as well.  Purchasing staff contacted the 


second lowest bidder for the E-911Center, Real Clean RCI, who gave the same response. 


 


The third lowest bidder, Tribond, LLC, whose bid for cleaning the E-911Center is $261.60, is also the lowest bidder for four of the other 


facilities. 


 


Staff is requesting that the County rescind awarding of Bid #823 to American Facility Services, Inc, to allow the second-lowest bidder to 


rescind its bid, and to award Bid #823 for the cleaning of the E-911 Center to Tribond, LLC. in the amount of $261.60 monthly.


Approval of staff's recommendation to modify the awarding of Bid #823 by rescinding the award to clean the E-911 Center to American 


Facility Services, Inc., by awarding the bid to clean the E-911 Center to Tribond, LLC., and by authorizing the Chairman to sign any 


contracts or documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review. 


Approval of staff's request would result in a monthly charge of $261.60 to clean the E-911 Center.  This equates to an aggregate cost of 


$3,139.20.  This cost has been budgeted in the Fiscal Year 2013 911 Communication budget for Janitorial Services.


Yes Thursday, April 26, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


By rescinding the County's original bid award to American Facility Services and by awarding the bid to Tribond, LLC., the County will 


experience a monthly increase of expenditures by $47.60.


ConsentThursday, May 24, 2012







 


Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov


 
 
To:  Jack Krakeel 
 
From:  Ted L. Burgess 
 
Date:  May 10, 2012 
 
Subject: Bid #823 Award Adjustment – Facility Cleaning Services 
 
The Purchasing Department issued Invitation to Bid #823 to establish a 12-month contract for 
cleaning Water System, Public Works, E-911 Command Center, Library, McElroy House, and 
Public Defender facilities.  Twenty three vendors responded to the invitation to bid.  At the April 
26, 2012 meeting, the Board of Commissioners awarded cleaning contracts as follows: 
 


Water System   Tribond, LLC 
Public Works   Tribond, LLC 
McElroy House  Tribond, LLC 
Public Defender  Tribond, LLC 
E-911 Command Center American Facility Services, Inc. 
Library    Chi-Ada Corporation 


 
When the Purchasing Department notified American Facility Services that they had been 
awarded the E-911 Command Center, they responded that they could not do this at their bid 
price of $214.00 per month, unless they were awarded other facilities as well.  Purchasing staff 
contacted the second-lowest bidder, Real Clean RCI at $239.80, who gave the same response. 
 
The third-lowest bidder was Tribond, LLC, who had also been lowest bidder on four of the other 
facilities.  Their bid for the E-911 Command Center was $261.60 per month. 
 
Building and Grounds Maintenance recommends that the lowest and second-lowest bidders for 
cleaning the E-911 command center be allowed to rescind their bids, and that the contract with 
Tribond, LLC be expanded to include the facility. 
 
I concur with their recommendation.  This would result in a monthly increase of $47.60 in 
cleaning contracts that will cost $2,353.56 per month (please see attachment). 
 
 
Attachment 







RESPONDENTS NAME
FAYETTE CO.


WATER SYSTEM
FAYETTE CO.


PUBLIC WORKS
MCELROY HOUSE


(DMV)
PUBLIC DEFENDERS


OFFICE
FAYETTE CO.


E-911 COMM. CENTER
FAYETTE CO.


LIBRARY
A-ACTION JANITORIAL SERVICE $548.00 $220.00 $260.00 $200.00 $300.00 $1,701.00
AMERICAN FACILITY SERVICES, INC. $519.00 $199.00 $216.00 $152.00 $214.00 $1,950.00
ASSOCIATION MANAGEMENT GROUP $975.00 $450.00 $495.00 $450.00 $725.00 $6,495.00
BUILDING MAINTENANCE SERVICES, INC. $435.00 $350.00 $375.00 $265.48 $376.68 $1,800.00
C & T JANITORIAL SERVICES $810.00 $409.00 $409.00 $409.00 $599.00 $0.00
CHI-ADA CORPORATION $644.83 $248.26 $269.17 $218.66 $308.83 $1,204.28
 CNR RESTORATIONS GROUP LLC $1,166.00 $448.91 $486.64 $339.57 $479.60 $2,506.73


DREAM TEAM SERVICES INC. DBA DREAM TEAM 
BLDG. MAINT. $745.00 $389.00 $389.00 $367.00 $586.00 $2,158.00


DREAM TEAM SERVICES INC. with 1% Discount $737.55 $385.11 $385.11 $363.33 $580.14 $2,136.42
HAND CLEANING SERVICES $700.00 $425.00 $550.00 $400.00 $400.00
IMAGANN CLEANING SERVICE, INC. $715.00 $550.00 $550.00 $450.00 $557.00 $1,663.00
INTERCONTINENTAL COMMERCIAL SERVICES, 
INC. (ICS, INC.) $680.00 $340.00 $350.00 $330.00 $550.00 $1,750.00
J & M CLEANING SERVICES $3,500.00 $2,300.00 $2,500.00 $1,850.00 $2,200.00 $6,500.00


J & S CONTRACT CLEANING:
    Monthly janitorial services $561.17 $240.50 $320.67 $240.50 $360.75 $4,810.00
    Carpet cleaning (assumes twice per year)* $133.33 $40.00 $45.00 $37.50 $50.83 $375.00
    Strip / wax tile floors(assumes twice per year)* $8.33 $24.17 $27.50 $8.33 $0.00 $67.50
        Total J&S Contract Cleaning $702.84 $304.67 $393.17 $286.33 $411.58 $5,252.50


KAIJAY C1 ENTERPRISE LLC $675.00 $330.00 $330.00 $325.00 $425.00 $2,300.00
OJS SYSTEMS $694.00 $342.00 $363.00 $338.00 $544.00 $1,944.00
PERFORMANCE CLEANING GROUP $565.00 $225.00 $220.00 $175.00 $335.00 $3,500.00
REAL CLEAN RCI $477.00 $183.65 $199.08 $138.92 $239.80 $3,128.07
SIMPLY CLEAN CLEANING $2,260.00 $1,050.00 $1,150.00 $950.00 $1,300.00 NO BID
SMITTY'S CAREFUL CLEANING SERVICE INC. $676.28 $260.37 $282.25 $196.95 $278.17 $2,119.44


THE DREXAL GROUP, LLC. $550.00 $325.00 $325.00 $300.00 $500.00 $2,100.00
THE DREXAL GROUP, LLC.  With 10% DISCOUNT $495.00 $292.50 $292.50 $270.00 $450.00 $1,890.00


TRIBOND, LLC $424.00 $163.24 $176.96 $123.48 $261.60 $3,951.24
WHITLEY CLEANING SERVICES (W.C.S., INC.) $700.00 $365.00 $378.00 $350.00 $550.00 $2,525.00
WILSONET ENTERPRISES $1,350.00 $610.00 $650.00 $460.00 $750.00 $3,322.00


*J&S bid the following on an "Each Time" basis (translated to a monthly basis above for comparison):
Carpet cleaning: semi-annual or as needed 800.00                             240.00                            270.00                                 225.00                                       305.00                                            2,250.00                 
Strip/wax tile floors: semi-annual or as needed 50.00                               145.00                            165.00                                 50.00                                         405.00                    


MONTHLY BID PRICE


BID NUMBER: ___           #823 CLEANING SERVICES                               


P:\Ted B\Cleaning & Janitor\823 Cleaning Svcs.xls





		Building and Grounds- Bid 823 Agenda Request File.pdf

		Building and Grounds- Bid 823 Backup

		BID 823 Adjusted - Clean E911 Backup 1.pdf

		BID 823 Adjusted - Clean E911 Backup 2

		Sheet1














COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also 


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Consideration of staff's recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to prepare specifications and to issue bids for the Flint River Pump 


Station at a cost of $19,750.


At the time the Flint River pump station was designed, it's permitted withdrawal rate was about 8 million gallons a day.  Today, the Flint 


River pump station is withdrawing14 million gallons daily, meaning raw water is being withdrawn from the creek at a higher velocity and 


with more debris.  Although the original design has worked well in the past, it is now causing an overburden of debris into the base of the 


pump station.  Strainer baskets on the bottom of the pumps clog up and collapse due to the pump trying to pull water with too much 


debris in it.   


 


A long term solution to this problem is to install a traveling screen that will continuously remove debris from the water flow.  It would be 


mounted up at the floor level of the pump station and would extend into the wet well.  It would be in constant movement any time the 


pump is running, and the debris would be pulled along the screen.  At the top of the screen there is a wash system that would wash the 


debris off into a drain pipe which would flow back to the creek.   


 


There is an equipment cost estimate that ranges from between $200,000 to $225,000. A second estimated cost, ranging from between 


$100,000 to $150,000, has been factored for installation of the equipment, an electrical upgrade, and other related work.  


Approval of staff's recommendation to allow Mallett Consulting to prepare specifications and to issue bids for the Flint River Pump Station 


at a cost of $19,750.


Funding for this request is available in the Renewal & Extension Fund.  Mallett Consulting's Design Fee for this request is $19,750.00.


Yes May 2, 2012, May 10, 2012


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


This request was voted upon at the May 10, 2012 Board of Commissioners meeting resulting in a 2-2-0 decision, meaning no action was 


taken.  Chairman Frady was not present and did not vote on this item. Staff respectfully requests that it be reconsidered by the full Board.


Old BusinessThursday, May 24, 2012







Flint River Pump Station 


From Bridge 


Front 


Rear of Building 


North Woolsey, 0.91 Mi  







Flint River Pump Station Floor Plan 







Flint River Pump Station 







Flint River Pump Station 





		Water- Flint River Pump Station Screen Agenda Request File.pdf

		Water- Flint River Pump Station Screen Backup







